NK-MYELOID CELL INTERACTIONS IN THE TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT: IMPLICATIONS FOR CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

EDITED BY: Erik Wennerberg, Andreas Lundqvist, Yumeng Mao and Dimitrios Mougiakakos <u>PUBLISHED IN: Fr</u>ontiers in Immunology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88971-271-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88971-271-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

NK-MYELOID CELL INTERACTIONS IN THE TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT: IMPLICATIONS FOR CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

Topic Editors:

Erik Wennerberg, Institute of Cancer Research (ICR), United Kingdom Andreas Lundqvist, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden Yumeng Mao, Uppsala University, Sweden Dimitrios Mougiakakos, University of Erlangen Nuremberg, Germany

Citation: Wennerberg, E., Lundqvist, A., Mao, Y., Mougiakakos, D., eds. (2021). NK-Myeloid Cell Interactions in the Tumor Microenvironment: Implications for Cancer Immunotherapy. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88971-271-7

Table of Contents

- 04 Editorial: NK-Myeloid Cell Interactions in the Tumor Microenvironment: Implications for Cancer Immunotherapy Erik Wennerberg, Andreas Lundqvist, Yumeng Mao and Dimitrios Mougiakakos
- **07** *NK Cell Interaction With Platelets and Myeloid Cells in the Tumor Milieu* Stefanie Maurer and Lucas Ferrari de Andrade
- Prostate Cancer Peripheral Blood NK Cells Show Enhanced CD9, CD49a, CXCR4, CXCL8, MMP-9 Production and Secrete Monocyte-Recruiting and Polarizing Factors
 Matteo Gallazzi, Denisa Baci, Lorenzo Mortara, Annalisa Bosi, Giuseppe Buono,

Angelo Naselli, Andrea Guarneri, Federico Dehò, Paolo Capogrosso, Adriana Albini, Douglas M. Noonan and Antonino Bruno

31 Cytokines Orchestrating the Natural Killer-Myeloid Cell Crosstalk in the Tumor Microenvironment: Implications for Natural Killer Cell-Based Cancer Immunotherapy

Silvia Gaggero, Kristina Witt, Mattias Carlsten and Suman Mitra

43 The Natural Killer–Dendritic Cell Immune Axis in Anti-Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy

Erin E. Peterson and Kevin C. Barry

50 Interaction Between MDSC and NK Cells in Solid and Hematological Malignancies: Impact on HSCT

Nicola Tumino, Anna Laura Di Pace, Francesca Besi, Linda Quatrini, Paola Vacca and Lorenzo Moretta

60 Harnessing the cDC1-NK Cross-Talk in the Tumor Microenvironment to Battle Cancer

Johanna Bödder, Tasmin Zahan, Rianne van Slooten, Gerty Schreibelt, I. Jolanda M. de Vries and Georgina Flórez-Grau

- 73 Platelet-Mediated Protection of Cancer Cells From Immune Surveillance – Possible Implications for Cancer Immunotherapy Laurent Schmied, Petter Höglund and Stephan Meinke
- 80 Therapeutic Approaches Targeting the Natural Killer-Myeloid Cell Axis in the Tumor Microenvironment

Larissa S. Carnevalli, Hormas Ghadially and Simon T. Barry

92 NK Cells and PMN-MDSCs in the Graft From G-CSF Mobilized Haploidentical Donors Display Distinct Gene Expression Profiles From Those of the Non-Mobilized Counterpart

Andrea Pelosi, Francesca Besi, Nicola Tumino, Pietro Merli, Linda Quatrini, Giuseppina Li Pira, Mattia Algeri, Lorenzo Moretta and Paola Vacca

- 104 Natural Killer Cell Interactions With Myeloid Derived Suppressor Cells in the Tumor Microenvironment and Implications for Cancer Immunotherapy Cristina Zalfa and Silke Paust
- 132 Characterization and Manipulation of the Crosstalk Between Dendritic and Natural Killer Cells Within the Tumor Microenvironment Benedikt Jacobs, Veronika Gebel, Lukas Heger, Victoria Grèze, Hansjörg Schild, Diana Dudziak and Evelyn Ullrich





Editorial: NK-Myeloid Cell Interactions in the Tumor Microenvironment: Implications for Cancer Immunotherapy

Erik Wennerberg^{1*}, Andreas Lundqvist², Yumeng Mao³ and Dimitrios Mougiakakos⁴

¹ Division of Radiotherapy and Imaging, The Institute of Cancer Research, London, United Kingdom, ² Department of Oncology-Pathology, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden, ³ Science for Life Laboratory, Department of Immunology, Genetics and Pathology, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden, ⁴ Department of Medicine 5 for Hematology and Clinical Oncology, Friedrich Alexander University (FAU), Erlangen, Germany

Keywords: NK cells, myeloid cells, dendritic cells, MDSCs (myeloid-derived suppressor cells), cancer immunotherapy, platelets, cytokines

Editorial on the Research Topic

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Marina Cella, Washington University School of Medicine in St. Louis, United States

> *Correspondence: Erik Wennerberg erik.ag.wennerberg@gmail.com; erik.wennerberg@icr.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to NK and Innate Lymphoid Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 01 June 2021 Accepted: 18 June 2021 Published: 01 July 2021

Citation:

Wennerberg E, Lundqvist A, Mao Y and Mougiakakos D (2021) Editorial: NK-Myeloid Cell Interactions in the Tumor Microenvironment: Implications for Cancer Immunotherapy. Front. Immunol. 12:718844. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.718844

NK-Myeloid Cell Interactions in the Tumor Microenvironment: Implications for Cancer Immunotherapy

Over the last decades, immunotherapy has revolutionized cancer treatment. The emergence of immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI) targeting PD-1 and CTLA-4, has rendered many aggressive cancers treatable and even curable. However, ICI often fails to generate sustained responses, particularly in patients with low or absent pre-existing T cell immunity. In order to turn these "cold" tumors "hot", initiation of *de novo* tumor-specific immune responses is required, a process which is dependent on the actions of innate immune cells, and whose infiltration and function is highly impacted by the composition of the tumor microenvironment (TME).

Natural killer (NK) cells are innate lymphoid cells that play essential roles in cancer immunosurveillance and anti-tumor immunity due to their unique ability to identify and kill tumor cells by recognizing missing-self and induced stress ligands. The cytolytic potential of NK cells can be harnessed for treatment of advanced cancers through adoptive cell transfer therapies and by augmenting their function and persistence *in vivo*. Recently discovered bi-directional crosstalk between NK cells and certain subsets of dendritic cells (DCs), which are the key orchestrators of initiating, maintaining and regulating anti-tumor immunity, has shed new light on the role of NK cells in shaping adaptive immune responses in cancer. Importantly, emerging evidence of how NK cell function is suppressed by myeloid cells in the TME, warrants a re-examination of how cancers evolve to specifically evade NK cell killing *via* recruitment and polarization of tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs).

Here, we present a collection of reviews, mini-reviews and original research articles which discern the interactions between NK cells and myeloid cell subsets, how their crosstalk regulates the anti-tumor immune response, and how it can be manipulated to potentiate cancer immunotherapies.

Editorial: NK-Myeloid Cell Interactions in Tumors

NK-DC INTERACTIONS

Recent work has highlighted that NK cells and DCs, and in particular conventional type 1 DC, (cDC1) engage in an intercellular crosstalk to coordinate adaptive immunity against cancer. Furthermore, this crosstalk has also been linked to increased survival and responses to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy in patients with metastatic melanoma. In this edition, Peterson and Barry review recent findings on the role of NK cells and cDC1s in protective immune responses to cancer and immunotherapy, as well as current therapies targeting this NK cell-cDC1 axis. In addition, Bödder et al. discuss the function of cDC1s and NK cells, their bidirectional crosstalk and potential strategies to improve cancer immunotherapy. In the TME, different DC subsets can display tumor-promoting or -inhibiting characteristics. To this end, Jacobs et al. discuss recent findings on the interaction of DCs and NK cells under physiological conditions and within the TME. In addition, they discuss potential strategies to overcome the immunosuppressive outcome of the DCs and NK cells interaction within the TME.

NK-PLATELET INTERACTIONS

Emerging evidence reveal that the interaction between platelets and tumor cells in peripheral blood is an important factor to support dissemination of cancer. Platelets can also produce high levels of TGF- β to support an immunosuppressive TME. Schmied et al. review the interplay between platelets and NK cells in solid tumors and also discuss how these could apply to hematological malignancies. They furthermore explore the possible implications for NK cell therapy in patients with solid tumors and patients who depend on frequent platelet transfusions. The activating receptor NKG2D induces NK cellmediated killing of tumor cells by recognition of stress-induced ligands. Platelets can shield tumor cells directly from engagement of NK cell-mediated attack by cleaving such stress-induced ligands from tumor cells. To this end, Maurer and de Andrade discuss the underlying mechanisms of NK cell control by platelets with a focus on NKG2D and its ligands, providing a perspective to exploit these pathways with novel immunotherapeutic approaches.

NK-MDSC INTERACTIONS

MDSC is a heterogeneous population that contains a range of immature cells with potent inhibitory functions against antitumor immunity. MDSC can be divided broadly into monocytic and polymorphonuclear (PMN) subsets according to the lineage origin and cell morphology. A wealth of literature evidence demonstrates that MDSC can regulate NK cell function in health and disease. In this special issue, Pelosi et al. investigated the effects of G-CSF mobilization treatment on NK cells and PMN-MDSC in healthy individuals. The authors demonstrated that G-CSF mobilization reduced the cytolytic functions of NK cells against a leukemia cell line. Marked changes of gene expression profiles were observed in NK cells and PMN-MDSC isolated from G-CSF mobilized individuals, as compared to the non-mobilized counterparts. PMN-MDSC showed prolonged survival and better migration in response to chemo-attractants. This study provides an important data source to dissect the immune regulatory effects of G-CSF mobilization during leukemia treatment. In a separate study, Gallazzi et al. reported elevated exhaustion markers on peripheral NK cells from prostate cancer patients, as compared to the healthy controls. Similar changes were observed when NK cells were treated with TGF- β or IL-6. Using *in vitro* co-culture models, the authors showed that these patient-derived NK cells could activate the inflammatory responses in endothelial cells and reshape the functions of monocytes and macrophages. Altogether, this paper highlights the functional interactions between NK cells and other cell compartments in the prostate cancer microenvironment.

NK CELL CROSSTALK IN CANCER THERAPY

Adoptive NK cell transfer for treating hematological malignancies led to promising results and was followed by a substantial number of studies in solid tumors. Genetically modified NK cells carrying tumor antigen-targeting chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) are currently under clinical investigation. Overall, clinical efficacy has been limited in particular in solid tumors thus highlighting the need to better understand the hurdles within the permissive TME. Myeloid cells are characterized by an exceptional plasticity and represent a key cell population within the TME. They have been shown to readily obtain tumor-promoting properties as M2-type macrophages, TAMs, and MDSCs. Zalfa and Paust comprehensively describe the mechanisms leading to MDSC accumulation (e.g., induction by cytokines or chemokinemediated recruitment) in cancer and how those heterogeneic cells interact with NK cells thereby limiting their anti-tumor activity. Finally, the authors offer an extensive overview on strategies to interfere with MDSCs and to thereby harness the efficacy of NK cell-based immunotherapies. Tumino et al. look at the interaction of NK cells and MDSCs from the perspective of the allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantations (allo-HSCTs). In fact, allo-HSCT remains one of the most successful immunotherapies and is for some malignant diseases the only therapy with a curative potential. The therapeutic success is based on the so-called graft versus leukemia (GvL) effect and donor NK cells are important mediators of the GvL. The authors explain how reconstituting monocytic or neutrophilic MDSCs counteract the NK cells' GvL activity especially during the early post-transplant period. Furthermore, they describe pharmacological interventions that could reduce the immunosuppressive activity of MDSCs thus improving the outcome of allo-HSCTs. Carnevalli et al. focus in their review on current and future therapeutic approaches to target the detrimental interaction between myeloid cells (including

MDSCs and tolerogenic macrophages) and (anti-tumor) NK cells. The strategies that are introduced comprise amongst others blockade of inhibitory checkpoints (on myeloid cells), triggering of co-stimulatory receptors (on NK cells), application of myeloid-cell inhibitors (e.g., CSF1R inhibitors), and interference with intracellular myeloid cell signaling (e.g., STAT3). Finally, Gaggero et al. give an overview on cytokines that antagonize (e.g., TGF- β) and that promote (e.g., IL-15) NK-cell function. They emphasize how remodeling of the TME cytokine milieu could skew the balance between anti-tumor reactivity and tumor tolerance towards the former. They also speculate about the generation of genetically engineered CAR NK cells that carry cytokine signaling elements or dominant negative cytokine receptors and are therefore resistant towards the TME, which would ensure their longevity and persistence.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Wennerberg, Lundqvist, Mao and Mougiakakos. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





NK Cell Interaction With Platelets and Myeloid Cells in the Tumor Milieu

Stefanie Maurer^{1*} and Lucas Ferrari de Andrade^{2*}

¹ Department of Radiology, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, United States, ² Precision Immunology Institute, Department of Oncological Sciences, and The Tisch Cancer Institute, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andreas Lundqvist, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden

Reviewed by:

Alessandra Zingoni, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Cinzia Fionda, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Dominik Schmiedel, Fraunhofer Institute for Cell Therapy and Immunology (IZI), Germany

*Correspondence:

Stefanie Maurer maurers@mskcc.org Lucas Ferrari de Andrade lucas.ferrarideandrade@mssm.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 21 September 2020 Accepted: 23 November 2020 Published: 23 December 2020

Citation:

Maurer S and Ferrari de Andrade L (2020) NK Cell Interaction With Platelets and Myeloid Cells in the Tumor Milieu. Front. Immunol. 11:608849. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.608849 Natural killer (NK) cells recognize and kill tumor cells via germ-line encoded receptors and polarized degranulation of cytotoxic molecules, respectively. As such, NK cells help to inhibit the development of cancers. The activating receptor NKG2D induces NK cell-mediated killing of metastasizing tumor cells by recognition of the stress-induced ligands MICA, MICB, and ULBP1-6. However, platelets enable escape from this immune surveillance mechanism by obstructing the interactions between NK cells and tumor cells or by cleaving the stressinduced ligands. It is also being increasingly appreciated that NK cells play additional roles in cancer immunity, including chemokine-mediated recruitment of antigen presenting cells in the tumor microenvironment that is followed by generation of adaptive immunity. However, the NK cell interplays with dendritic cells, and macrophages are extremely complex and involve molecular interactions via NKG2D and cytokine receptors. Specifically, NKG2D-mediated chronic interaction between NK cells and tumor-infiltrating macrophages causes immune suppression by differentiating NK cells toward a dysfunctional state. Here we discuss the underlying mechanisms of NK cell control by platelets and myeloid cells with focus on NKG2D and its ligands, and provide a timely perspective on how to harness these pathways with novel immunotherapeutic approaches.

Keywords: NK cells, platelets, myeloid cells, NKG2D, proteolytic shedding

INTRODUCTION

Natural Killer (NK) cells are innate lymphocytes that recognize and kill abnormal cells, such as tumor cells and cells infected by viruses (1). NK cell activation is guided by "missing self" and "induced self" recognition of abnormal cells. "Missing self" implies that NK cells kill target cells with low/absent major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I expression (2). "Induced self" is the expression of ligands for activating NK receptors, such as NK group 2D (NKG2D) that promotes NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity (3). NKG2D recognizes proteins upregulated by cells in response to stress, such as DNA damage, hypoxia or accumulation of unfolded proteins (4). NKG2D is present in both mice and humans, but the ligands are distinct between the two species. The human NKG2D ligands (NKG2DL) comprise MHC class I polypeptide-related sequence A (MICA), MHC class I polypeptide-related sequence B (MICB), and the six different types of

7

UL16-binding proteins (ULBP1-6). In contrast, the murine NKG2DL are retinoic acid early inducible-1 (Rae-1) α - ε proteins, murine UL16-binding protein-like transcript 1 (MULT1), and H60a-c proteins (5).

NKG2D-mediated recognition of malignant cells is a major mechanism of cancer immunosurveillance (6, 7). However, as discussed in more details below, malignant cells frequently evade the recognition by NK cells via, for example, abnormal interactions with platelets. Furthermore, myeloid cells express NKG2DL in response to specific types of stimulations and NKG2D drives the interactions between NK cells and myeloid cells. Although the importance of NKG2DL on tumor cells for NK cell-driven immunity is well appreciated, how platelets and myeloid cells affect NK cell functions represent new and paradigm-shifting research fields. Here we discuss some of the recent and impactful studies that substantiate the importance of platelets and myeloid cells for effective NK cell-driven antitumor immunity.

PLATELETS IN-BETWEEN TUMOR CELLS AND NK CELLS

Malignant tumors frequently use the blood stream to metastasize (8). However, the blood is a hostile environment because it is highly enriched in NK cells (9). To bypass them, metastatic cells take advantage of platelets, which are small non-nuclear, megakaryocyte-derived cell fragments of the myeloid lineage that, in normal conditions, form clots to stop bleedings upon injury (10). Metastatic cells mimic injury-related clots by activating and forming hetero-aggregates with platelets. These unusual cellular clusters frequently cause thrombophlebitis, which is a medical term for inflammatory blood clots that block veins, and Trousseau's syndrome, i.e., recurring thrombophlebitis (11). This, together with the fact that thrombocytosis (enhanced platelet count) associates with poor outcome in several solid tumor entities, suggests a causal relationship between the coagulation system and malignant dissemination (12, 13). In the following two sub-sections, we review some of the cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying the platelet-mediated immune escape of metastatic cells.

Platelets Shield Metastatic Cells and Enable Immune Escape

Depletion of platelets directly inhibits metastases in the lungs of immunocompetent mice upon intravenous inoculation of cell lines of fibrosarcoma, melanoma, and lymphoma, whereas this effect is reversed upon additional depletion of NK cells. This indicates that platelets guard circulating tumor cells from NK cell immunosurveillance (14). Platelet activation and aggregation are mainly mediated by G-protein-coupled receptors, which upon stimulation by their respective ligands transduce intracellular signals by activating heterotrimeric G proteins (15). Platelets lacking G α q, a subunit of heterotrimeric G proteins, are irresponsive to adenosine diphosphate, thrombin, collagen, and thromboxane, which are well known clot-forming stimuli (16). $G\alpha q$ -deficient mice display substantially lower levels of metastases in the lungs after being intravenously inoculated with melanoma and lung cancer cells, and this protection was dependent on NK cells (17). Therefore, platelets contribute to dissemination of metastases. These studies predominantly utilized experimental metastasis models, with injection of tumor cells directly into the blood circulations. Further studies are needed to clarify the potential role of platelets in the context of spontaneous metastases, which also address the early steps of dissemination during tumor cell intravasation into the blood stream.

The molecular mechanisms relevant for platelet-mediated immune escape are only partially understood. Palumbo and colleagues reported that tumor cells evade NK cell-mediated surveillance via fibrin deposition, which enhances platelet aggregation on the tumor cell surface (17). Furthermore, the aggregated platelets transfer MHC class I molecules to tumor cells (18). MHC class I is frequently downregulated on tumor cells to evade T cell immunity, which in contrast enables recognition by NK cells via the 'missing self' mechanism (19). Surface expression of platelet-derived MHC class I complexes inhibits NK cell antitumor reactivity (20). Since platelet-derived MHC class I molecules present self-antigens, they do not induce T cell responses against metastatic cells. This intriguing mechanism of immune escape has been confirmed by a study by Placke and colleagues, who found in an in vitro model using shear stress that platelet-derived human leukocyte antigen A variant 2 (HLA-A*02) is transferred from platelets to tumor cells via trogocytosis. Therefore, platelets interfere with the "missing self" recognition of metastatic cells and dampen NK cell-driven anti-tumor immunity via pseudo-expression of "non-malignant" MHC class I.

Trogocytosis is frequently observed between physically interacting cells. For example, MICA/B and ULBP1-3 can be transferred from the target cell surface to NK cells at the immunological synapse (21–23). Surface molecules from antigen presenting cells are also transferred to T cells in the immunological synapses (24). Since platelets physically interact with metastasizing cells, it is possible that a plethora of other molecules with putative or confirmed roles in modulating NK reactivity can also be transferred to tumor cells in addition to MHC class I molecules (25–27).

Platelets Promote the Shedding of NKG2D Ligands by Tumor Cells

High levels of NKG2DL tip the balance toward NK cell activation (28, 29). However, certain ligands are subjected to proteolytic cleavage, which interferes with NKG2D recognition. It is well known that tumor cells cleave their own NKG2DL *via* expression of 'a disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain-containing protein' (ADAM) 10 and ADAM17 (5, 30, 31). Interestingly, recent studies also suggested platelet-mediated cleavage of NKG2DL since platelets express both proteases (32, 33) that mediate NKG2DL shedding on tumor cells (34–37). We recently

discovered that tumor cell-associated NKG2DL, predominantly MICA and MICB, were cleaved following interaction with platelets or platelet releasate. We also demonstrate that platelet-mediated shedding of NKG2DL dampens NK cell antitumor immunity by reducing the activating signals. Of note, expressions of both proteolytic enzymes are increased on platelets from patients with non-small cell lung cancer, thus suggesting that cancer patients-derived platelets have enhanced proteolytic cleavage capacity (38). Furthermore, platelets express NKG2DL, in particular ULBP2, which may be released as soluble form (39). The biological activity of soluble ULBP2 is not well known, but ULBP2 shedding may also inhibit recognition of platelet-tumor aggregates by NKG2D. Altogether, platelets modulate the expression and release of NKG2DL and thereby inhibit NKG2D-mediated NK cell recognition of abnormal cells (Figure 1A).

Platelets also inhibit NK cells by inducing the NKG2D, downregulation, thus hindering "induced self" recognition. Upon stimulation with agonists or interaction with tumor cells, platelets release a variety of factors, the collectivity of which is herein referred to as "releasate". Platelet releasate includes large amounts of active transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) (40). TGF- β impairs NK effector function by downregulating NKG2D, as determined with samples from cancer patients (41-43). Salih and colleagues have also demonstrated that TGF- β is released by platelets upon interaction with tumor cells, and it impairs NK cell cytotoxicity and production of interferon- γ via NKG2D downregulation (44). Others reported that TGF- β directly inhibits expression of NKG2DL on solid tumors (45, 46). Whether this is also true for platelet-derived TGF- β is yet to be shown. Altogether, platelets promote dissemination of metastases by obstructing NK cells and producing immunosuppressive molecules (Figure 1A).

THE INTERACTION BETWEEN NK CELLS AND MYELOID CELLS

The antitumor immunity is a coordinated interplay of multiple leukocyte populations, including NK cells and myeloid cells (e.g. dendritic cells, macrophages, etc) (47). NK cells can recruit (see below) and interact with myeloid cells *via* chemokines and cytokines, respectively. For example, interleukin-15 is a wellknown cytokine produced by dendritic cells (DC) that stimulates NK cells (48). Interestingly, myeloid cells can also express NKG2DL, but they are not killed by NK cells. As discussed below, the NKG2D-driven interplays between NK cells and myeloid cells cause profound impacts on the antitumor immunity by dictating the functionality of NK cells. Here we review some of the key and paradigm shifting studies that revealed several mechanisms of interactions between NK cells and myeloid cells.

NK Cell-Mediated Recruitment of Dendritic Cells Into Tumors

The effector functions of NK cells are not restricted to cytotoxicity. As revealed by gene expression analyses, specialized NK cell populations infiltrate into melanoma metastases. Although blood and tumor-infiltrating NK cells express predominantly perforin and granzyme genes that are related to cytotoxicity, tumor-infiltrating NK cells upregulate *XCL1*, *XCL2*, *CCL3*, *CCL4*, *CCL4L2*, and *CCL5* that are chemokine genes. Tumor-infiltrating NK cells differentiate into two main populations with distinct profiles of chemokine gene expression: *XCL1*⁺ *XCL2*⁺ NK cells and *CCL3*⁺ *CCL4*⁺ *CCL4L2*⁺ *CCL5*⁺ NK cells. The first NK cell population also upregulates *TIGIT*, an inhibitory receptor, whereas the later one also upregulates *IL7R*, a cytokine receptor gene (49).



FIGURE 1 [Modulation of NK cell reactivity by platelets and myeloid cells. (A) Platelets obstruct NK cells and enable escape of metastasizing tumor cells. Platelets also provide specific immune modulatory molecules like MHC class I which inhibits NK cells. The latter can be transferred into the tumor cell membrane *via* trogocytosis to inhibit missing self-driven NK cell cytotoxicity. Their cognate Killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs) inhibit NK antitumor responses upon stimulation. Platelets can also dampen induced self recognition of tumor cells *via* NKG2D. Platelet-derived metalloproteases (i.e., ADAM10 and ADAM17) cleave NKG2DL from the tumor cell surface. Platelet-released TGF- β also causes NKG2D downregulation, thereby further hindering NK cell antitumor response. (B) The expression of NKG2DL is not restricted to malignant cells. In fact, DC and macrophages can also express NKG2DL upon stimulation or infection, which intum induces NK cells to proliferate and produce interferon- γ (IFNG). Virus-infected myeloid cells may become targets and be killed by NK cells upon NKG2D recognition. Intratumoral myeloid cells also express NKG2DL. It is currently unknown what induces NKG2DL expression in intratumoral myeloid cells, yet a potential mechanism is *via* cellular stress inside the hypoxic tumor microenvironment. These cells benefit tumors by inhibiting NK cells *via* chronic NKG2D interaction with low affinity ligands, which cause NKG2D internalization.

Conventional type-1 dendritic cells (cDC1) express XCR1, which is the receptor for XCL1. This DC population takes up particles of dead tumor cells, migrates to draining lymph nodes, and presents tumor cell-derived antigens to CD8⁺ T cells (50). The XCR1 - XCL1 axis promotes recruitment of cDC1 into tumors and promotes adaptive immunity against cancers. CCL5 also contributes to cDC1 recruitment into tumors. In a mouse BRAF^{V600E}-mutant melanoma model, intratumoral NK cells upregulate Xcl1 and Ccl5 whereas NK cell depletion lowered the numbers of tumor-infiltrating cDC1. Antibody-mediated blockade of XCL1 and CCL5 also inhibited tumor-infiltrating cDC1, thus leading to the conclusion that intratumoral NK cells produce XCL1 and CCL5 which in turn recruit cDC1 (51). Another study also showed that NK cell depletion inhibits the cDC1 infiltration into mouse B16F10 melanoma tumors, whereas melanoma patients who responded to checkpoint blockade immunotherapy have higher levels of intratumoral NK cells (52). Therefore, the NK cell-mediated recruitment of cDC1 is an additional role, beyond cytotoxicity, played by NK cells in the antitumor immunity.

The Interaction Between NK Cells and NKG2DL⁺ Dendritic Cells Has Two Distinct Outcomes: Activation or Inhibition

Myeloid cells express NKG2DL in response to certain stimuli. For example, interferon- α triggers MICA expression on human monocyte-derived DC, which in turn promotes NK cellmediated cytotoxicity against K562 myeloid leukemia cells in vitro. A MICA antibody that blocks interaction with NKG2D consequently inhibits DC stimulation of NK cells (53). LPS, Poly I:C, and virus infections (e.g. measles virus, influenza virus) also trigger the expression of several ULBP molecules and MICB on DC. Virus-infected DC promote, in a NKG2D-dependent manner, NK cell proliferation and trigger interferon- γ production (54). However, the NKG2D-driven crosstalk with DC does not always benefit NK cells. To study the interaction between NK cells and DC via NKG2D in vivo, Morvan et al. developed a mouse strain in which Rae-1¢, a murine NKG2DL, is constitutively expressed by CD11c⁺ DC. Although the numbers of NK cells are apparently normal in these mice, these NK cells downregulate NKG2D. NK cells from CD11c-Rae-1¢ mice allowed the expansion of Rae-1¢ -expressing splenocytes in a model of NKG2D-dependent lysis of target cells in vivo (55). Therefore, NKG2D-driven chronic interaction with DC inhibits NK cells whereas the expression of NKG2DL on DC in response to acute infection and interferon- α promotes NK cell functions.

NK Cells Downregulate NKG2D Upon Interaction With NKG2DL+ Macrophages

Macrophages also express Rae-1 α , Rae-1 β , and Rae-1 γ upon treatment with LPS, poly I:C, or E. coli. Rae-1 δ and Rae-1 ϵ were also expressed by murine macrophages that were treated with LPS, but were not expressed by macrophages from $Myd88^{-/-}$ mice. MyD88 is an adaptor molecule for toll like receptors (TLR), thus suggesting that the upregulation of NKG2DL by macrophages is downstream of TLR signaling. Of note, NK

cells co-cultured with Rae-1⁺ macrophages downregulate the surface expression of NKG2D (56). However, macrophages upregulate Qa-1 to protect themselves from NK cell-mediated attack. Qa-1 binds to the NK group 2A receptor, which inhibits NK cells (57). Furthermore, intratumoral macrophages also express Rae-1 δ in response to tumor-derived colony-stimulating factor-1, and Rae-1 δ ⁺ macrophages caused NKG2D downregulation upon co-culture with NK cells (58).

Human macrophages upregulate MICA upon treatment with LPS or CL097, which are TLR4 and TLR7/8 agonists, respectively. CL097 also triggers the expression of MICB (59). Even monocytes express MICA in response to LPS or poly I:C. These MICA⁺ monocytes are not lysed by NK cells, but promote the interferon- γ production. A MICA antibody partially inhibited the interferon- γ production by NK cells; this effect was partial likely because LPS also triggers the expression of interleukin-12 that potently promotes interferon-y production by NK cells. The MICA⁺ monocytes also caused a modest NKG2D downregulation on the surface of NK cells (60). However, an independent study did not observe NKG2D downregulation on NK cells that were co-cultured with LPStreated monocytes, macrophages, or DC. This work confirmed that LPS triggers MICA expression in macrophages and found that these cells also express ULBP3. NK cells lysed the LPStreated macrophages in a NKG2D-dependent manner (61).

MULT1 is an intriguing NKG2DL that has unique properties. A recent study showed that B16F10 melanoma cells engineered to secrete a truncated MULT1 protein, which lacks the transmembrane domain, form small subcutaneous tumors following inoculation into C57BL/6 mice. NKG2D was upregulated on intratumoral NK cells, whereas NK cell depletion with anti-NK1.1 enabled the growth of B16F10 tumors secreting MULT1. Soluble MULT1 interfered with NKG2D – Rae-1 interactions between intratumoral NK cells and myeloid cells, likely because MULT1 has higher affinity to NKG2D compared to Rae-1. Therefore, soluble MULT1 displaces the NKG2D – Rae-1 chronic interaction and consequently restores NK cells (62).

NKG2D downregulation upon chronic interaction was observed in several of the studies cited above and is frequently assumed to represent a mechanism of immune suppression. However, NKG2D is also internalized upon ligand interaction at the immunological synapse between NK cells and myeloid cells. This enables physical approximation between NKG2D and its associated intracellular signaling pathways that trigger NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity (63). Therefore, NKG2D can be downregulated following the interactions between NK cells and myeloid cells also to enable intracellular signaling, which will ultimately dictate the NK cell functionality.

Myeloid Cells Shed MICA and MICB

The proteolytic shedding of MICA and MICB by tumor cells causes immune escape *via* downregulation of these NKG2DL (30, 35, 36, 64, 65). The shedding of MICA and MICB are multistep processes that start with the removal of disulfide bonds in the MICA and MICB alpha-3 (α 3) domains by disulfide

isomerases followed by cleavage by metalloproteases (64, 66). In contrast, monoclonal antibodies against the α 3-domain inhibit the MICA and MICB shedding, while enabling NKG2D recognition and triggering antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity by NK cells. These antibodies inhibit the outgrowth of syngeneic melanoma in immunocompetent mice and human melanoma in NSG mice reconstituted with human NK cells (67). Even tumors with mutations associated with resistance to T cell checkpoint blockade were effectively treated by these α 3-domain-specific antibodies (68). Of note, macrophages treated with acetylated low-density lipoproteins, an *in vitro* model of foam cells present in atherosclerotic lesions, upregulate MICA and MICB expression (69). The α3-domainspecific antibodies stabilized MICA and MICB on the surface of these macrophages (67). Therefore, macrophages, like tumor cells, proteolytically shed MICA and MICB.

In summary, NKG2D mediates the interplay between NK cells and myeloid cells. Myeloid cells upregulate NKG2DL in response to acute infection or detection of pathogen-associated molecular patterns, which in turn stimulate NK cells *via* NKG2D (**Figure 1B**). In contrast, intratumoral myeloid cells also upregulate NKG2DL in response to unknown stimuli, but NKG2DL⁺ myeloid cells inhibit intratumoral NK cells. Macrophages shed MICA and MICB, but how MICA and MICB shedding by macrophages influences NK cells remains unknown. Therefore, the NKG2D-driven interaction between NK cells and myeloid cells is an intriguing research area that challenges current paradigms and offers opportunities to develop therapeutic approaches.

CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVE

NK cells are being increasingly appreciated and exploited by new immunotherapeutic modalities for cancers. New insights about how platelets and myeloid cells affect NK cells may help to develop cancer immunotherapies. We envision that platelets and myeloid

REFERENCES

- Caligiuri MA. Human natural killer cells. Blood (2008) 112(3):461–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-09-077438
- Gasser S, Raulet DH. Activation and self-tolerance of natural killer cells. Immunol Rev (2006) 214:130–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00460.x
- Wu J, Song Y, Bakker AB, Bauer S, Spies T, Lanier LL, et al. An activating immunoreceptor complex formed by NKG2D and DAP10. *Science* (1999) 285 (5428):730–2. doi: 10.1126/science.285.5428.730
- Bauer S, Groh V, Wu J, Steinle A, Phillips JH, Lanier LL, et al. Activation of NK cells and T cells by NKG2D, a receptor for stress-inducible MICA. *Science* (1999) 285(5428):727–9. doi: 10.1126/science.285.5428.727
- Raulet DH, Gasser S, Gowen BG, Deng W, Jung H. Regulation of ligands for the NKG2D activating receptor. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2013) 31:413–41. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095951
- Guerra N, Tan YX, Joncker NT, Choy A, Gallardo F, Xiong N, et al. NKG2Ddeficient mice are defective in tumor surveillance in models of spontaneous malignancy. *Immunity* (2008) 28(4):571–80. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008. 02.016
- 7. Hayakawa Y, Kelly JM, Westwood JA, Darcy PK, Diefenbach A, Raulet D, et al. Cutting edge: tumor rejection mediated by NKG2D receptor-ligand

cells can be harnessed to enable NK cell recognition of metastasizing cells and promote NK cell functions in the tumor environment, respectively, with novel therapeutic approaches. This may include targeting immune checkpoints involved in tumor cell - platelet - NK cell interaction or by already approved drugs (70). Beyond that, adaptive immunity may be promoted by mimicking the NK cellmediated recruitment of cDC1s into tumors via local inoculation of XCL1 and CCL5. We here reviewed current knowledge on the cellular interplays of platelets - myeloid and NK cells with a focus on the NKG2D/NKG2DL system and provided a systematic overview on the rationale to target this axis, which may include but is not limited to prevention of NKG2DL shedding by a blocking antibody. While therapeutic targeting of these axes in the tumor microenvironment appears to be promising, further investigations are warranted to study the pathophysiologic role of the here summarized mechanisms in the context of different tissues, tumor entities and disease stages.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Manuscript writing and editing were jointly done by SM and LFdA. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

SM is supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, MA 8774/1-1. LFdA is supported by seed funds provided by the Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Korbinian N. Kropp for helpful discussion.

interaction is dependent upon perforin. J Immunol (2002) 169(10):5377–81. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.10.5377

- Plaks V, Koopman CD, Werb Z. Circulating tumor cells. Science (2013) 341 (6151):1186–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1235226
- Dogra P, Rancan C, Ma W, Toth M, Senda T, Carpenter DJ, et al. Tissue determinants of human NK cell development, function, and residence. *Cell* (2020) 180(4):749–63. e13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.01.022
- Holinstat M. Normal platelet function. Cancer Metastasis Rev (2017) 36 (2):195–8. doi: 10.1007/s10555-017-9677-x
- Varki A. Trousseau's syndrome: multiple definitions and multiple mechanisms. Blood (2007) 110(6):1723–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-10-053736
- Khorana AA, Connolly GC. Assessing risk of venous thromboembolism in the patient with cancer. J Clin Oncol (2009) 27(29):4839–47. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2009.22.3271
- Gay LJ, Felding-Habermann B. Contribution of platelets to tumour metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer (2011) 11(2):123–34. doi: 10.1038/nrc3004
- Nieswandt B, Hafner M, Echtenacher B, Mannel DN. Lysis of tumor cells by natural killer cells in mice is impeded by platelets. *Cancer Res* (1999) 59(6):1295–300.
- Estevez B, Du X. New Concepts and Mechanisms of Platelet Activation Signaling. *Physiol (Bethesda)* (2017) 32(2):162–77. doi: 10.1152/physiol. 00020.2016

- Offermanns S, Toombs CF, Hu YH, Simon MI. Defective platelet activation in G alpha(q)-deficient mice. *Nature* (1997) 389(6647):183-6. doi: 10.1038/ 38284
- Palumbo JS, Talmage KE, Massari JV, La Jeunesse CM, Flick MJ, Kombrinck KW, et al. Platelets and fibrin(ogen) increase metastatic potential by impeding natural killer cell-mediated elimination of tumor cells. *Blood* (2005) 105 (1):178–85. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-06-2272
- Placke T, Orgel M, Schaller M, Jung G, Rammensee HG, Kopp HG, et al. Platelet-derived MHC class I confers a pseudonormal phenotype to cancer cells that subverts the antitumor reactivity of natural killer immune cells. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(2):440–8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-11-1872
- Watson NFS, Ramage JM, Madjd Z, Spendlove I, Ellis IO, Scholefield JH, et al. Immunosurveillance is active in colorectal cancer as downregulation but not complete loss of MHC class I expression correlates with a poor prognosis. *Int J Cancer* (2006) 118(1):6–10. doi: 10.1002/ijc.21303
- Orr MT, Lanier LL. Natural killer cell education and tolerance. *Cell* (2010) 142 (6):847–56. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.08.031
- Roda-Navarro P, Vales-Gomez M, Chisholm SE, Reyburn HT. Transfer of NKG2D and MICB at the cytotoxic NK cell immune synapse correlates with a reduction in NK cell cytotoxic function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2006) 103 (30):11258–63. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0600721103
- McCann FE, Eissmann P, Önfelt B, Leung R, Davis DM. The activating NKG2D ligand MHC class I-related chain A transfers from target cells to NK cells in a manner that allows functional consequences. *J Immunol* (2007) 178 (6):3418–26. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.6.3418
- López-Cobo S, Romera-Cárdenas G, García-Cuesta EM, Reyburn HT, Valés-Gómez M. Transfer of the human NKG 2D ligands UL 16 binding proteins (ULBP) 1–3 is related to lytic granule release and leads to ligand retransfer and killing of ULBP-recipient natural killer cells. *Immunology* (2015) 146(1):70– 80. doi: 10.1111/imm.12482
- Roda-Navarro P, Reyburn HT. Intercellular protein transfer at the NK cell immune synapse: mechanisms and physiological significance. *FASEB J* (2007) 21(8):1636–46. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-7488rev
- Placke T, Kopp HG, Salih HR. Glucocorticoid-induced TNFR-related (GITR) protein and its ligand in antitumor immunity: functional role and therapeutic modulation. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2010) 2010:239083. doi: 10.1155/2010/ 239083
- Placke T, Kopp HG, Salih HR. Modulation of natural killer cell anti-tumor reactivity by platelets. J Innate Immun (2011) 3(4):374–82. doi: 10.1159/ 000323936
- Clar KL, Hinterleitner C, Schneider P, Salih HR, Maurer S. Inhibition of NK Reactivity Against Solid Tumors by Platelet-Derived RANKL. *Cancers (Basel)* (2019) 11(3):277. doi: 10.3390/cancers11030277
- Cerwenka A, Baron JL, Lanier LL. Ectopic expression of retinoic acid early inducible-1 gene (RAE-1) permits natural killer cell-mediated rejection of a MHC class I-bearing tumor in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2001) 98 (20):11521–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.201238598
- Diefenbach A, Jensen ER, Jamieson AM, Raulet DH. Rae1 and H60 ligands of the NKG2D receptor stimulate tumour immunity. *Nature* (2001) 413 (6852):165–71. doi: 10.1038/35093109
- Salih HR, Rammensee HG, Steinle A. Cutting edge: down-regulation of MICA on human tumors by proteolytic shedding. *J Immunol* (2002) 169(8):4098– 102. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.8.4098
- Groh V, Wu J, Yee C, Spies T. Tumour-derived soluble MIC ligands impair expression of NKG2D and T-cell activation. *Nature* (2002) 419(6908):734–8. doi: 10.1038/nature01112
- Colciaghi F, Marcello E, Borroni B, Zimmermann M, Caltagirone C, Cattabeni F, et al. Platelet APP, ADAM 10 and BACE alterations in the early stages of Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* (2004) 62(3):498–501. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000106953.49802.9C
- 33. Bergmeier W, Piffath CL, Cheng G, Dole VS, Zhang Y, von Andrian UH, et al. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha-converting enzyme (ADAM17) mediates GPIbalpha shedding from platelets in vitro and in vivo. *Circ Res* (2004) 95 (7):677–83. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000143899.73453.11
- Waldhauer I, Goehisdorf D, Gieseke F, Weinschenk T, Wittenbrink M, Ludwig A, et al. Tumor-associated MICA is shed by ADAM proteases. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68(15):6368–76. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6768

- 35. Boutet P, Agura-Gonzalez S, Atkinson S, Pennington CJ, Edwards DR, Murphy G, et al. Cutting Edge: The Metalloproteinase ADAM17/TNFalpha-Converting Enzyme Regulates Proteolytic Shedding of the MHC Class I-Related Chain B Protein. J Immunol (2009) 182(1):49–53. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.182.1.49
- 36. Chitadze G, Lettau M, Bhat J, Wesch D, Steinle A, Furst D, et al. Shedding of endogenous MHC class I-related chain molecules A and B from different human tumor entities: Heterogeneous involvement of the "a disintegrin and metalloproteases" 10 and 17. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 133(7):1557–66. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28174
- Wolpert F, Tritschler I, Steinle A, Weller M, Eisele G. A disintegrin and metalloproteinases 10 and 17 modulate the immunogenicity of glioblastomainitiating cells. *Neuro Oncol* (2014) 16(3):382–91. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/not232
- Maurer S, Kropp KN, Klein G, Steinle A, Haen SP, Walz JS, et al. Plateletmediated shedding of NKG2D ligands impairs NK cell immune-surveillance of tumor cells. *Oncoimmunology* (2017) 7(2):e1364827. doi: 10.1080/ 2162402X.2017.1364827
- 39. Nowbakht P, Ionescu MC, Rohner A, Kalberer CP, Rossy E, Mori L, et al. Ligands for natural killer cell-activating receptors are expressed upon the maturation of normal myelomonocytic cells but at low levels in acute myeloid leukemias. *Blood* (2005) 105(9):3615–22. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-07-2585
- Ahamed J, Burg N, Yoshinaga K, Janczak CA, Rifkin DB, Coller BS. In vitro and in vivo evidence for shear-induced activation of latent transforming growth factor-beta1. *Blood* (2008) 112(9):3650–60. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-04-151753
- Castriconi R, Cantoni C, Della CM, Vitale M, Marcenaro E, Conte R, et al. Transforming growth factor beta 1 inhibits expression of NKp30 and NKG2D receptors: consequences for the NK-mediated killing of dendritic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2003) 100(7):4120–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0730640100
- Lee JC, Lee KM, Kim DW, Heo DS. Elevated TGF-beta1 secretion and downmodulation of NKG2D underlies impaired NK cytotoxicity in cancer patients. *J Immunol* (2004) 172(12):7335–40. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.12.7335
- Nausch N, Cerwenka A. NKG2D ligands in tumor immunity. Oncogene (2008) 27(45):5944–58. doi: 10.1038/onc.2008.272
- Kopp HG, Placke T, Salih HR. Platelet-derived transforming growth factorbeta down-regulates NKG2D thereby inhibiting natural killer cell antitumor reactivity. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(19):7775–83. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2123
- 45. Friese MA, Wischhusen J, Wick W, Weiler M, Eisele G, Steinle A, et al. RNA interference targeting transforming growth factor-beta enhances NKG2Dmediated antiglioma immune response, inhibits glioma cell migration and invasiveness, and abrogates tumorigenicity in vivo. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64 (20):7596–603. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1627
- 46. Eisele G, Wischhusen J, Mittelbronn M, Meyermann R, Waldhauer I, Steinle A, et al. TGF-beta and metalloproteinases differentially suppress NKG2D ligand surface expression on malignant glioma cells. *Brain* (2006) 129(Pt 9):2416–25. doi: 10.1093/brain/awl205
- Vesely MD, Kershaw MH, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. Natural innate and adaptive immunity to cancer. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2011) 29:235–71. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101324
- Mortier E, Woo T, Advincula R, Gozalo S, Ma A. IL-15Rα chaperones IL-15 to stable dendritic cell membrane complexes that activate NK cells via trans presentation. J Exp Med (2008) 205(5):1213–25. doi: 10.1084/jem.20071913
- de Andrade LF, Lu Y, Luoma A, Ito Y, Pan D, Pyrdol JW, et al. Discovery of specialized NK cell populations infiltrating human melanoma metastases. *JCI Insight* (2019) 4(23):e133103. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.133103
- Roberts EW, Broz ML, Binnewies M, Headley MB, Nelson AE, Wolf DM, et al. Critical role for CD103+/CD141+ dendritic cells bearing CCR7 for tumor antigen trafficking and priming of T cell immunity in melanoma. *Cancer Cell* (2016) 30(2):324–36. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.06.003
- Böttcher JP, Bonavita E, Chakravarty P, Blees H, Cabeza-Cabrerizo M, Sammicheli S, et al. NK cells stimulate recruitment of cDC1 into the tumor microenvironment promoting cancer immune control. *Cell* (2018) 172 (5):1022–37.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.01.004
- Barry KC, Hsu J, Broz ML, Cueto FJ, Binnewies M, Combes AJ, et al. A natural killer-dendritic cell axis defines checkpoint therapy-responsive tumor microenvironments. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(8):1178–91. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0085-8

- 53. Jinushi M, Takehara T, Kanto T, Tatsumi T, Groh V, Spies T, et al. Critical role of MHC class I-related chain A and B expression on IFN-α-stimulated dendritic cells in NK cell activation: impairment in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Immunol* (2003) 170(3):1249–56. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.3.1249
- 54. Ebihara T, Masuda H, Akazawa T, Shingai M, Kikuta H, Ariga T, et al. Induction of NKG2D ligands on human dendritic cells by TLR ligand stimulation and RNA virus infection. *Int Immunol* (2007) 19(10):1145–55. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxm073
- 55. Morvan MG, Champsaur M, Reizis B, Lanier LL. Chronic in vivo interaction of dendritic cells expressing the ligand Rae-1ε with NK cells impacts NKG2D expression and function. *Immunohorizons* (2017) 1(3):10–9. doi: 10.4049/ immunohorizons.1700004
- Hamerman JA, Ogasawara K, Lanier LL. Cutting edge: Toll-like receptor signaling in macrophages induces ligands for the NKG2D receptor. *J Immunol* (2004) 172(4):2001–5. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.4.2001
- Zhou Z, Zhang C, Zhang J, Tian Z. Macrophages help NK cells to attack tumor cells by stimulatory NKG2D ligand but protect themselves from NK killing by inhibitory ligand Qa-1. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(5):e36928. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036928
- Thompson TW, Jackson BT, Li PJ, Wang J, Kim AB, Huang KTH, et al. Tumorderived CSF-1 induces the NKG2D ligand RAE-1δ on tumor-infiltrating macrophages. *Elife* (2018) 7:e32919. doi: 10.7554/eLife.32919
- Eissmann P, Evans JH, Mehrabi M, Rose EL, Nedvetzki S, Davis DM. Multiple mechanisms downstream of TLR-4 stimulation allow expression of NKG2D ligands to facilitate macrophage/NK cell crosstalk. *J Immunol* (2010) 184 (12):6901–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0903985
- Kloss M, Decker P, Baltz KM, Baessler T, Jung G, Rammensee H-G, et al. Interaction of monocytes with NK cells upon Toll-like receptor-induced expression of the NKG2D ligand MICA. *J Immunol* (2008) 181(10):6711–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.10.6711
- Nedvetzki S, Sowinski S, Eagle RA, Harris J, Vély F, Pende D, et al. Reciprocal regulation of human natural killer cells and macrophages associated with distinct immune synapses. *Blood* (2007) 109(9):3776–85. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-10-052977
- 62. Deng W, Gowen BG, Zhang L, Wang L, Lau S, Iannello A, et al. A shed NKG2D ligand that promotes natural killer cell activation and tumor rejection. *Science* (2015) 348(6230):136–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1258867
- 63. Quatrini L, Molfetta R, Zitti B, Peruzzi G, Fionda C, Capuano C, et al. Ubiquitin-dependent endocytosis of NKG2D-DAP10 receptor complexes activates signaling and functions in human NK cells. *Sci Signal* (2015) 8 (400):ra108-ra. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aab2724

- Kaiser BK, Yim D, Chow IT, Gonzalez S, Dai Z, Mann HH, et al. Disulphideisomerase-enabled shedding of tumour-associated NKG2D ligands. *Nature* (2007) 447(7143):482–6. doi: 10.1038/nature05768
- 65. Yang FQ, Liu M, Yang FP, Zhang XL, Yang B, Guo CC, et al. Matrix metallopeptidase 2 (MMP2) mediates MHC class I polypeptide-related sequence A (MICA) shedding in renal cell carcinoma. *Actas Urol Esp* (2014) 38(3):172–8. doi: 10.1016/j.acuroe.2014.02.006
- 66. Wang X, Lundgren AD, Singh P, Goodlett DR, Plymate SR, Wu JD. An sixamino acid motif in the α3 domain of MICA is the cancer therapeutic target to inhibit shedding. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2009) 387(3):476–81. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.07.062
- Ferrari de Andrade L, Tay RE, Pan D, Luoma AM, Ito Y, Badrinath S, et al. Antibody-mediated inhibition of MICA and MICB shedding promotes NK cell-driven tumor immunity. *Science* (2018) 359(6383):1537–42. doi: 10.1126/ science.aa00505
- 68. de Andrade LF, Kumar S, Luoma A, Ito Y, da Silva PHA, Pan D, et al. Inhibition of MICA and MICB Shedding Elicits NK cell-mediated Immunity against Tumors Resistant to Cytotoxic T cells. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2020) 8 (6):769–80. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-19-0483
- Ikeshita S, Miyatake Y, Otsuka N, Kasahara M. MICA/B expression in macrophage foam cells infiltrating atherosclerotic plaques. *Exp Mol Pathol* (2014) 97(1):171–5. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2014.07.002
- Marin-Acevedo JA, Dholaria B, Soyano AE, Knutson KL, Chumsri S, Lou Y. Next generation of immune checkpoint therapy in cancer: new developments and challenges. J Hematol Oncol (2018) 11(1):39. doi: 10.1186/s13045-018-0582-8

Conflict of Interest: LFdA is co-inventor in an issued patent about an alpha-3 domain-specific antibody and serves as consultant for Cullinan Oncology.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Maurer and Ferrari de Andrade. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Prostate Cancer Peripheral Blood NK Cells Show Enhanced CD9, CD49a, CXCR4, CXCL8, MMP-9 Production and Secrete Monocyte-Recruiting and Polarizing Factors

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Erik Wennerberg, Weill Cornell Medicine, United States

Reviewed by:

Arnika Kathleen Wagner, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden Robin Parihar, Baylor College of Medicine, United States

*Correspondence:

Antonino Bruno antonino.bruno@multimedica.it Adriana Albini adriana.albini@multimedica.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

> [‡]These authors share senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 22 July 2020 Accepted: 08 December 2020 Published: 25 January 2021

Citation:

Gallazzi M, Baci D, Mortara L, Bosi A, Buono G, Naselli A, Guarneri A, Dehò F, Capogrosso P, Albini A, Noonan DM and Bruno A (2021) Prostate Cancer Peripheral Blood NK Cells Show Enhanced CD9, CD49a, CXCR4, CXCL8, MMP-9 Production and Secrete Monocyte-Recruiting and Polarizing Factors. Front. Immunol. 11:586126. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.586126 Matteo Gallazzi^{1†}, Denisa Baci^{1†}, Lorenzo Mortara^{1†}, Annalisa Bosi², Giuseppe Buono³, Angelo Naselli⁴, Andrea Guarneri⁴, Federico Dehò⁵, Paolo Capogrosso⁵, Adriana Albini^{6*‡}, Douglas M. Noonan^{1,6‡} and Antonino Bruno^{3*‡}

¹ Laboratory of Immunology and General Pathology, Department of Biotechnology and Life Sciences, University of Insubria, Varese, Italy, ² Laboratory of Pharmacology, Department of Medicine and Surgery, University of Insubria, Varese, Italy, ³ Unit of Immunology, IRCCS MultiMedica, Milan, Italy, ⁴ Unit of Urology, San Giuseppe Hospital, IRCCS MultiMedica, Milan, Italy, ⁵ S.C. of Urology, ASST Settelaghi, Ospedale di Circolo e Fondazione Macchi, Varese, Italy, ⁶ Laboratory of Vascular Biology and Angiogenesis, IRCCS MultiMedica, Milano, Italy

Natural killer (NK) cells, effector lymphocytes of the innate immunity, have been shown to be altered in several cancers, both at tissue and peripheral levels. We have shown that in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer (NSCLC) and colon cancer, tumour associated circulating NK (TA-NK) and tumour infiltrating NK (TI-NK) exhibit pro-angiogenic phenotype/ functions. However, there is still a lack of knowledge concerning the phenotype of peripheral blood (PB) NK (pNK) cells in prostate cancer (PCa). Here, we phenotypically and functionally characterized pNK from PCa patients (PCa TA-NKs) and investigated their interactions with endothelial cells and monocytes/macrophages. NK cell subset distribution in PB of PCa patients was investigated, by multicolor flow cytometry, for surface antigens expression. Protein arrays were performed to characterize the secretome on FACS-sorted pNK cells. Conditioned media (CM) from FACS-sorted PCa pTA-NKs were used to determine their ability to induce pro-inflammatory/pro-angiogenic phenotype/functions in endothelial cells, monocytes, and macrophages. CM from three different PCa (PC-3, DU-145, LNCaP) cell lines, were used to assess their effects on human NK cell polarization in vitro, by multicolor flow cytometry. We found that PCa pTA-NKs acquire the CD56^{bright}CD9⁺CD49a⁺CXCR4⁺ phenotype, increased the expression of markers of exhaustion (PD-1, TIM-3) and are impaired in their degranulation capabilities. Similar effects were observed on healthy donor-derived pNK cells, exposed to conditioned media of three different PCa cell lines, together with increased production of pro-inflammatory chemokines/chemokine receptors CXCR4, CXCL8, CXCL12, reduced production of TNFa, IFNy and Granzyme-B. PCa TA-NKs released factors able to support inflammatory angiogenesis in an in vitro model and increased the expression of CXCL8, ICAM-1, and VCAM-1 mRNA in endothelial cells. Secretome

analysis revealed the ability of PCa TA-NKs to release pro-inflammatory cytokines/ chemokines involved in monocyte recruitment and M2-like polarization. Finally, CMs from PCa pTA-NKs recruit THP-1 and peripheral blood CD14⁺ monocyte and polarize THP-1 and peripheral blood CD14⁺ monocyte-derived macrophage towards M2-like/ TAM macrophages. Our results show that PCa pTA-NKs acquire properties related to the pro-inflammatory angiogenesis in endothelial cells, recruit monocytes and polarize macrophage to an M2-like type phenotype. Our data provides a rationale for a potential use of pNK profiling in PCa patients.

Keywords: natural killer cell, myeloid cells, monocytes, macrophages, immune cell polarization, inflammation, angiogenesis, prostate cancer



INTRODUCTION

Prostate carcinoma (PCa) is the one of most commonly diagnosed cancer in males worldwide (1). Surgery and radiation therapy (2) are still important treatment options, as well as chemotherapy (3) and hormonal therapy (4). Recently, immunotherapy came of age as a possible effective strategy for PCa therapy (5). Several immunotherapeutic approaches have been proposed for PCa, that include dendritic-cell based vaccines, whole tumor cell vaccines, vector-based vaccines and antibodies. Currently FDA-approved immunotherapy approaches for PCa include the Sipuleucel–T (a dendritic-cellbased agent) and pembrolizumab (a checkpoint inhibitor that targets the PD-1/PD-L1 axis), while others are in clinical trials.

Evasion from immune system surveillance and induction of an inflammatory microenvironment are among host-dependent biological features, widely accepted as cancer hallmarks, as defined by Hanahan and Weinberg (6) and which play a role in prostate cancer. Based on their extreme cell plasticity, inflammatory cells from innate and adaptive immunity can acquire tumor-promoting phenotypes and functions in cancer patients. Acquisition of a tolerogenic state, anergy/exhaustion and induction of inflammatory angiogenesis are some of these aberrant functions (7–11). Natural killer (NK) cells are large granular lymphocytes endowed with an inherent capability to kill virally infected and malignant cells, also participating to the modulation of the immune system, through their production of numerous cytokines and chemokines.

NK cells have been included in the Type-1 Innate Lymphoid cell group (ILC-1), based on their capability to produce IFN γ , following T-bet and EOMES expression by the ID2⁺ ILC precursor (12). A study by the group of Eric Vivier, placed NK cells as cell subset originating from a cell lineage different from ILC-1 (13). While ILC-1 and NK cells share the ability to produce IFN γ in a T-bet dependent manner, NK cells functionally differ from ILC-1 for their cytotoxic abilities, via IFN γ and perforin production (13).

NK cells constitute approximately 5-15% of circulating lymphocytes in healthy adults, representing one of the three major lymphocyte population. Although lymphocytic in origin, NK cells are considered part of the innate immune system, since they do not require antigen presentation for target recognition. They exert effector functions that include cytotoxic activity and cytokine production, during antiviral and antitumor responses (14). Similarly to several immune cells (7-11), NK cells have been described to acquire a tolerogenic behavior and to be altered in their cytotoxic activities in different cancer types (7, 9-11, 15-20). However, pro-inflammatory, pro-tumor NK cells still represent an under investigated cell type; only few studies focused on the ability of polarized NKs to support cancer by acquiring pro-angiogenic phenotypes and functions (7, 10, 15, 16, 18). Major mechanisms associated with impaired NK cell function in cancer patients, are downregulation of lytic perforin and granzyme production, accompanied with reduction of degranulation capabilities, together with reduction of NKG2D (a relevant NK cell activation receptor) expression (21–23). The ligands for NKp30 and NKp46 have been found to be expressed in prostate cancer cell lines, and the blockade of the interaction between the Natural Cytotoxicity Receptors (NCR) with their ligand, can inhibit tumor cell growth (24).

However, studies on prostate cancer associated NK cell phenotype and functions remain limited (20, 25, 26). Isolation of tumour-infiltrating immune components is challenging, due to the small size of prostate biopsies, and the absence of stromal compartments. A study by Daniel Olive laboratory showed that inherent and tumour-driven immune tolerance in the prostate microenvironment impairs NK cell antitumor activity (20). Interestingly, this study also showed enrichment of CD56^{bright} NK cells in tumor tissue, together with impaired NK cell functions, both in tumor tissues and in the peripheral blood (20). Here, we focused on peripheral blood NK cells in PCa patients, with the aim to evaluate their different phenotype and functional profiles in a perspective of a potential liquid biopsybased procedure.

Two major subsets of NK are mostly present in the peripheral blood (pNK): the cytotoxic $CD56^{dim}CD16^+$ NK cell subset, (90–95% of pNK) and the low cytotoxic, highly cytokine producing NK cell subset, $CD56^{bright}CD16^{-/low}$ (14).

Our research group has identified a new pro-angiogenic NK cell subset in non-small-cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC), described as CD56^{bright}CD16⁻VEGF^{high}PlGF^{high}CXCL-8⁺IFNγ^{low} NK cells (10, 16), supporting a role of NK cells in the inflammatory proangiogenic switch in solid tumors. These NK cell population is similar to a peculiar NK subset that has been found within the developing decidua, the decidual NK cell (dNK). dNK cells exhibit the CD56^{superbright}CD16⁻CD9⁺CD49a⁺ phenotype and are closely linked with vascularization of the decidua and embryo implantation, in both humans and mice (27, 28). dNK cells produce VEGF, PlGF, and CXCL8, are poorly cytotoxic and are associated with induction of CD4⁺ T regulatory (Treg) cells (27, 28). We characterized pro-angiogenic NK cells also in the peripheral blood (tumour associated NK cells, pTA-NKs) and tissue infiltrate (tumour infiltrating NK cells, TI-NKs) in colorectal cancer patients. These NK cells also display proangiogenic features as those in NSCLC patients (16). NK cells in the peripheral blood of NSCLC and CRC, in particular the CD56^{bright}CD16^{low/-}, share some similarities with the respective TI-NKs, and although they can be defined as decidual NK-like, feature of pregnant women, a similar population is present in both male and female cancer patients (10, 16, 29, 30). We identified TGF β , a major immunosuppressive cytokine in the tumour microenvironment (TME) (31, 32), as an inducer of the inflammatory/pro-angiogenic switch of cytolytic NK, cells both at tissue and peripheral levels (16). Also, we found that STAT3/ STAT5 activation regulates the polarization in CRC NK cells and that STAT5 chemical inhibition, with the anti-psychotic agent Pimozide, interferes with this process (15, 30).

Here, we show, for the first time, that NK cells isolated from peripheral blood of patients with PCa (PCa pTA-NKs), acquire a pro-inflammatory and pro-angiogenic phenotype, characterized

Abbreviations: ADCC, antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity; ADK, adenocarcinoma; ANG, angiogenin; ANGIOP1, angiopoietin 1; ANOVA, analysis of variance; CCL, chemokine ligand (C-C motif); cDNA, complementary DNA; CM, conditioned media; CRPC, castration-resistant prostate cancer; CXCL, chemokine Ligand (C-X-C motif); DNAM-1, DNAX accessory molecule 1; dNK cells, decidual Natural Killer cells; EBM, endothelial cell basal medium; EGM, endothelial cell growth medium; FACS, fluorescenceactivated cell sorting; FBS, fetal bovine serum; FC, flow cytometry; FSC, forward scatter; GAPDH, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; GM-CSF, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor; HBV, hepatitis B virus; HC, healthy control; HCC, hepato cellular carcinoma; HCV, hepatitis C virus; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; HUVEC, human umbilical vein endothelial cell; ICAM, inter cellular adhesion molecule-1; IFN- y, interferon y; IHC, immuno histo chemistry; IL-, interleukin-; I-TAC, interferon-inducible T-cell alpha chemoattractant; mAbs, monoclonal antibodies; MCP-1/CCL2, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1; MMPs, matrix metallo proteinases; MNCs, mono nuclear cells; NK, natural killer; NKG2D, natural killer receptor group 2 D; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; PAI, plasminogen activator inhibitor; PB, peripheral blood cells; PBMCs, peripheral blood mononuclear cells; PCa, prostate cancer; PD-L1, programmed death receptor ligand 1; PGE2, prostaglandin E2; PIGF, placental growth factor; PMA, phorbol merystate acetate; P/S, penicillin/ streptomycin; PTA-NKs, prostate tumor-associated natural killer cells; RANTES, regulated upon activation, normal t cell expressed and presumably secreted; SSC, side scatter; STAT, signal transducer and activator of transcription; TAMs, tumorassociated macrophages; TGFB, transforming growth factor-B; TIMP, tissue inhibitor of metallo-proteinase; TME, tumor microenvironment; TNF α, tumor necrosis factor-o; Treg, T regulatory cells; uPAR, urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor; VCAM, vascular cellular adhesion molecule-1; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; VEGFR, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor.

by increased expression of the surface antigens CD56, CD9, and CD49a. Analysis of CM of FACS-sorted NK from PCa blood samples, allowed the identification of pNK signatures, characterized by up-regulation of cytokines and chemokines with pro-inflammatory and pro-angiogenic (CXCL8/IL-8) properties, as well as factors involved in the extracellular matrix (ECM) remodeling cascade (MMP-1, MMP-9, uPAR); pro-monocyte recruiting features (CCL1, CCL2, CCL5) and properties involved in M2-like macrophage polarization (IL-10). CM of FACS-sorted pNK cells from PB of PCa patients were able to recruit THP-1 and peripheral blood CD14⁺ monocytes and to polarize THP-1 differentiated macrophages and PB CD14+ place at apex monocyte-derived macrophages towards M2-like/TAM, at transcript level.

Increasing evidence suggests that polarized NK cells are present in the peripheral blood of patients with several types of cancer (9, 10, 15, 16, 29, 30, 33) and their altered profile could be a relevant feature. The idea that NK cells can be envisaged as biomarkers for PCa have been previously explored (26, 34–36). Also, a clinical trial is exploring the significance of circulating NK cells in metastatic PCa (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02963155). Our results provided the characterization of PCa pTA-NK cells, focusing on their polarization state, proinflammatory and pro-angiogenic features, for possible NK cell tracing and profiling in PCa patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sample Selection and Patient Characteristics

Peripheral blood (PB) samples (15–20 ml of whole blood, EDTA) were obtained from patients with prostate adenocarcinomas (ADK, n = 35). Controls (HC, n=27) included peripheral blood of healthy, tumor-free, male individuals. Patients with diabetes, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)/hepatitis C virus (HCV)/hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection, chronic inflammatory conditions, treated with chemotherapy or radiotherapy, iatrogenically immunosuppressed or subjected to myeloablative therapies, were excluded to the study. The study was approved by the institutional review board ethics committees (protocol no. 0024138 04/07/2011 and protocol no.10 2 10/2011, within the study PROSTATEST) and according to the Helsinki Declaration of 1975 as revised in 2013. All patients enrolled in the study signed the informed consent, in accordance to the Helsinki Declaration of 1975 as revised in 2013. Demographic features of the cohort of PCa patients and controls are showed in **Supplementary Table 1**. Monocytes used for migration studies and monocyte-derive macrophages for polarization experiments were obtained from mononuclear cells from 4 different healthy subjects.

Cell Culture and Maintenance

The human prostate cancer (PCa) cell lines PC-3, DU-145, LNCaP (all purchased by ATCC) were maintained in RPMI 1640 medium, supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) (Euroclone), 2 mM L-glutamine (Euroclone), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin (Euroclone), at 37°C, 5%

CO₂. Cells were routinely screened for eventual mycoplasma contaminations. CM were collected following 72 h of starvation in FBS free RMPI 1640 (Life Technologies), supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine (Euroclone), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin (Euroclone), at 37°C, 5% CO₂. PCa cell line CMs were used for NK cell polarization as detailed below.

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC, Lonza) were maintained in endothelial cell basal medium (EBM, Lonza) supplemented with endothelial cell growth medium (EGMTM SingleQuotsTM, Lonza), 10% of FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine (Euroclone), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin (Euroclone). HUVECs were used between the three and five passages.

The human monocytic THP-1 cell line (ATCC) was cultured in RPMI 1640 medium, supplemented with 10% FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine (Euroclone), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin (Euroclone), at 37°C, 5% CO₂. Differentiation of adherent THP-1 macrophages was obtained following 48 h of treatments with phorbol-merystate-acetate (5 ng/ml, PMA, Sigma Aldrich) (37).

CD14⁺ monocytes were isolated from PB samples of healthy controls and used as CD14⁺ monocytes or CD14⁺ monocytederived macrophages, for cellular and molecular studies. Briefly, total PBMCs were isolated by density gradient stratification with Ficoll Histopaque-1077 (Sigma-Aldrich) and CD14⁺ cells were immediately isolated using the CD14⁺ cell isolation kit (Miltenyi Biotec). CD14⁺ monocyte-derived adherent macrophages were obtained, following CD14⁺ monocyte culture in RPMI 1640 medium, supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS), (Euroclone), 2 mM L-glutamine (Euroclone), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (Euroclone), 50 ng/ml M-CSF (Miltenyi Biotec), at 37°C, 5% CO₂, for 7 days.

Natural Killer Cell Isolation by FACS Sorting

pNK cells were isolated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of PCa ADK and HC subjects. Whole blood was diluted with PBS 1:1 (v/v), then subjected to a density gradient stratification with Ficoll Histopaque-1077 (Sigma-Aldrich), at 500xg for 20 minutes. The white ring interface, composed of total mononuclear cells (MNCs), was collected, washed twice in PBS, then used for subsequent experiments or for pNK isolation. Total MNCs were subject to cell sorting, using a BD FACS-AriaII instrument. Following 30 min of staining with anti-human FITC-conjugated CD45, anti-human PE-conjugated CD14, anti-human PerCP-conjugated CD3 and anti-human APC-conjugated CD56, NK cells was sorted as CD45⁺CD14⁻ CD3⁻ CD56⁺ (gating strategy is showed in **Supplementary Figure 1A**). For details of antibodies used, see **Supplementary Table 2**.

FACS-sorted NK cells (2×10^5 cells/ml) were used, following 24 h of culture in serum-free RPMI, for molecular analysis (qPCR) and to collect conditioned media for functional and secretome studies. Following 24 h, supernatants were collected, centrifuged to remove residual dead cells and debris and concentrated using Concentricon (Millipore) with a 3kDa membrane pore cut-off, to obtain concentrated supernatants.

Cell Treatment with Conditioned Media and Cytokines

For NK cell polarization, total PBMCs (1 \times 10⁶ cells/ml) were polarized with 30% of PC-3 or DU-145 or LNCaP CMs (v/v), or TGF β (10 ng/ml) or IL-6 (25 ng/ml), in RMPI 1640 (Euroclone), supplemented with 10% FBS (Euroclone), 2 mM L-glutamine (Euroclone), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (Euroclone), 100 U/ml IL-2 (R&D), at 37°C, 5% CO₂, for 72 h. Cells were pulsed with fresh complete RPMI (30%, v/v), alone or with CM or cytokines, at day 0 and at 48 h, during the polarization schedule.

Conditioned media from FACS-sorted NK cells were used to detect the production of pro-inflammatory factors by endothelial cells. 2×10^5 HUVE cells were seeded into six well plates and exposed for 24 h to CM (50 µg/ml of total protein) of PCa pTA-NKs or pNK cell from HC. HUVECs were then harvested and used for real-Time PCR analysis.

THP-1 or peripheral blood CD14⁺ monocytes were used to detect PCa pTA-NK-induced migration, while THP-1 differentiated and peripheral blood CD14⁺ monocyte-derived macrophages were used to investigate pNK-induced polarization, via soluble factors. THP-1 differentiated or CD14⁺ monocyte-derived macrophages were pulsed with CMs (50 μ g of total protein) from FACS-sorted pNK cells (either from PCa patients of controls) for 72 h. Cells received CM at day 0 and 48 h of stimulation. Expression of M1-like or M2-like/TAM markers, following polarization, was detected by Real-Time PCR.

Phenotype Characterization of Conditioned Media-Polarized Peripheral Blood Natural Killer Cells and Prostate Cancer pTA-NKs

The polarization state of either pNK cells exposed to PCa cell line (PC-3, DU-145, LNCaP) conditioned media or pNK cells from PCa patients (PCa pTA-NKs), was assessed by flow cytometry for surface antigen expression. Briefly, 2.5×10^5 of total PBMCs per FACS tube were stained for 30 min at 4°C with anti-human monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) as follows: PerCP-conjugated anti-CD3, APC-conjugated anti-CD56, FITC-conjugated anti-CD16, PE-conjugated anti-CD9, PE-conjugated anti-CD49a, PEconjugated anti-NKG2D, PE-conjugated anti-PD-1, PEconjugated anti-TIM-3 (all purchased by Miltenyi Biotec). Following Forward/Side Scatter setting, NK cells were identified as CD3⁻ and CD56⁺ cells (total NK cells). CD16 and NKG2D expression was evaluated on CD3⁻CD56⁺ (total NK) gated cells. Finally, CD56 brightness, the expression of the dNK markers CD9, CD49a, expression of CXCR4 and the expression of the exhaustion markers PD-1 and TIM3, were evaluated on total CD3⁻CD56⁺NK cells. For details on antibodies used, see Supplementary Table 2.

Degranulation Assay

NK cell degranulation ability, as detected by CD107a production, was evaluated both in NK cells from PCa and HC clinical samples or in HC NK cells pre-polarized by 72 h of exposure to PC-3 and DU-145 cell conditioned media. Total MNCs (1 \times

 10^6 cells/ml), isolated from PCa patients and controls were cultured, overnight, in RMPI 1640 (Euroclone), supplemented with 10% FBS (Euroclone), 2 mM L-glutamine (Euroclone), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (Euroclone), 100 U/ml IL-2 (R&D), at 37°C, 5% CO₂.

 2×10^5 MNCs were co-incubated with 2×10^5 K562 (E:T ratio of 1:1), in the presence of anti-CD107a- FITC (BD Bioscience) MNCs or K562 alone were used as controls for basal degranulation activities on effector and target cells. Cells were stimulated for 6 h with PMA (10 ng/ml) and ionomycin (500 ng/ml) (both from Sigma), in the presence of GolgiStop plus GolgiPlug (both from BD Biosciences), for 5 h. Finally, the expression of CD107a was detected on CD3⁺CD56⁺ NK cells, by flow cytometry. To determine the degranulation efficiency, the basal levels of NK cell degranulation was subtracted from the NK cells/K562 co-culture.

Intracellular Staining for Cytokine Detection of Conditioned Media-Polarized Peripheral Blood Natural Killer Cells

For intracellular cytokine detection, 2×10^6 PBMCs from PCa-ADK patients or HC were cultured, overnight, in RPMI 1640 (EuroClone) supplemented with 10% FBS (Life Technologies,) 1% (v/v) L-Glutammine (Sigma), 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin (Euroclone) and IL-2 (100 U/ml; R&D Systems) at 37°C and 5% CO2. For intracellular staining, the third day of polarization, cells were stimulated for 6 h with PMA (10 ng/ml) and ionomycin (500 ng/ml) (both from Sigma), in the presence of GolgiStop plus GolgiPlug (both from BD Biosciences). Cells were collected and stained for NK cell surface markers, as previously described, washed with PBS and treated with Cytofix and Cytoperm fixation and permeabilization kit (BD) for 10 min at 4°C. Cells were then washed in PBS and stained with PE-conjugated anti human CXCL8, CXCL12 (R&D System), IFNy, TNFa, GranzymeB (Myltenyi Biotec) for 30 min. For indirect staining, cells were incubated for 1 h at 4°C with primary unlabelled antibodies anti-human Angiopoietin 1, anti-human Angiogenin, (all purchased from Abcam), washed and then stained with secondary PE-conjugated antibody antimouse IgG, for 30 min, at 4°C. Cytokines production was detected by flow cytometry, using a BD FACS CantoII analyzer. Isotype control and the secondary antibody alone were used as staining controls. For details on antibodies used, see Supplementary Table 2.

Secretome Analysis of Prostate Cancer pTA-NKs

The secretome of conditioned media (50 μ g of total protein) of FACS-sorted pNK was assessed, using the Human Angiogenesis Array C1000 (RayBiotech, Inc., Norcross GA) to detect cytokines and chemokines release, as detailed before (30). A pool of three ADK or HCCMs was used. Chemiluminescent signals (revealed as black dots) were captured by membrane exposure to Amersham Hyperfilm. Arrays were computer scanned using the Amersham Imager 680 Analyzer and optical density was determined using the ImageJ software.

Network Formation Assay on Endothelial Cells

HUVEC cells (1.5 $\times 10^4$ cells/well) were seeded in a 96 well plate, previously coated with 50 µL of 10 mg/ml polymerized Matrigel (BD). After exposure to conditioned media (50 µg/ml total protein, pools of CM from 3 different ADKs or HCs), in serum-free EBM medium, HUVECs were then incubated at 37°C, 5% CO₂ for 24 h. The formation of capillary-like structures was detected by microphotographs, using an inverted microscope (Zeiss). The number of master segment and master segment length, as indicators of tube formation efficiency, were determined, using ImageJ software and the Angiogenesis Analyzer tool.

Detection of THP-1 Cell and Peripheral Blood CD14+ Monocyte Recruitment by Prostate Cancer pTA-NKs

Migration assay was performed using modified Boyden chambers. 5×10^4 THP-1 or CD14⁺ monocytes were resuspended in 500 µl of serum-free RPMI and loaded into the upper compartment of the Boyden chamber. The lower chambers were filled with 250 µl of serum-free RMPI medium, supplemented with conditioned media (50 µg/ml total protein, pools of CM from 3 different ADKs or HCs), ADK or HC pNK cells. 5 µm pore-size polycarbonate filters (Whatman, GE Healthcare Europe GmbH, Milan, Italy) previously pre-coated with 2 µg/ml of fibronectin, were used as interface between the two chambers. The Boyden chambers were incubated for 6 h at 37°C. Filters were recovered, cells on the upper surface mechanically removed with a cotton swab. Cells migrated toward the filter surface, were fixed with ethanol at serial percentage (70%, 100%), finally rehydrated in water. Filters were stained with 10 µg/ml DAPI (Vectashield, Vector Laboratories,) and incubated at room temperature, protected from light, for 10 min. Cells in the filters were counted in a double-blind manner in five consecutive fields/filter, with a fluorescent microscope (Nikon Eclipse).

Quantitative Real-Time PCR

Total RNA was extracted from HUVECs, THP-1 macrophages or peripheral blood CD14⁺ monocyte-derived macrophages, exposed to CM from FACS-sorted PCa pTA-NKs or HC pNK cells, using the small RNA miRNeasy Mini Kit (Thermo Fisher) and quantified by Nanodrop Spectrophotometer. Following genomic DNA removal, by DNase I Amplification Grade (Thermo Fisher) treatment, reverse transcription was performed on 500 ng of total RNA using SuperScript VILO cDNA synthesis kit (Thermo Fisher). Real-time PCR was performed using SYBR Green Master Mix (Thermo Fisher) on QuantStudio 6 Flex Real-Time PCR System Software (Applied Biosystems, Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). All reactions were performed in triplicate. The GAPDH gene was used as housekeeping and results were showed as $2^{\Lambda-\Delta Ct}$ HUVECs or THP-1 macrophages in their respective basal medium alone, were used as baseline controls. Primer sequences are provided in Supplementary Table 3.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical differences between two datasets were determined using two tailed t-test. For multiple datasets, analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey's post-hoc test was used. P values (p) ≤ 0.05 will be considered statistically significant. Data were analysed using the GraphPad Prism8 (San Diego, CA). Flow cytometry data were analysed using the BD FACS-Diva and FlowJo-v10 software.

RESULTS

pTA-NKs From Prostate Cancer Patients Exhibit a Pro-inflammatory, Proangiogenic, Exhausted Phenotype

We investigated whether pNK from PCa patients are characterized by a pro-inflammatory and pro-angiogenic phenotype. Flow cytometry analysis of CD56 and CD16 surface antigen expression revealed that the CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells are the predominant subset in the peripheral blood in PCa-ADK and HC samples (Supplementary Figure 1A). We found increased frequency of CD56^{bright} NK cells in the peripheral blood of patients with PCa ADK (**** $p \le 0.0001$) (Figure 1A). Peripheral blood NK cells from PCa-ADK samples express also higher levels of the decidual-like markers CD9 (Figure 1B) $(***p \le 0.0001)$, CD49a (Figure 1C) $(**p \le 0.001)$, as compared with those isolated from healthy controls. We also found increased expression of CXCR4 on NK cells from PCa-ADK samples (Figure 1D) (* $p \le 0.05$). We observed that PCa pTA-NKs have reduced expression of the NKG2D activation marker (*p \leq 0.05), together with increased levels of the exhaustion markers PD-1 (****p \leq 0.0001) and TIM-3 (**p \leq 0.01), as compared to those from HC (Figures 2A-C). Also, PCa TA-NKs exhibit reduced ability to degranulate against K562 cells (**** $p \le 0.0001$), as compared to those from HC (**Figure 2D**).

Real-time PCR results showed that TA-NKs cells, FACSsorted from PCa-ADK, have increased expression of mRNA for the pro-inflammatory factors *CXCL8* (**p \leq 0.01), *CXCL12* and *PAI* and confirmed the increased RNA expression of *CXCR4*, as well as *VEGF* (****p \leq 0.0001), as compared to NK isolated form the peripheral blood of healthy controls (**Figure 2E**).

pTA-NKs From Prostate Cancer Patients Exhibit a Secretome Profile Enriched in Pro-Inflammatory, Pro-Angiogenic Cytokines, and Chemokines Involved in Monocyte Recruitment and Polarization

To investigate whether the acquisition of the pro-inflammatory phenotype in PCa pTA-NKs would correlate with their capability to release soluble factors involved in direct and indirect induction of inflammatory-angiogenesis, we investigate the contents of CM from PCa TA-NKs. We characterized the production of secreted proteins from PCa TA-NKs using a commercially available angiogenesismembrane array kit. The overall secretome analysis (**Supplementary Figure 2**) revealed signatures characterizing PCa-ADK pTA-NKs



FIGURE 1 | pNK cell polarization in peripheral blood of PCa patients. PCa TA-NKs have increased numbers of CD56^{bright} NKs as compared with those from HC **(A)**. Peripheral blood NK (pTA-NKs) from PCa patients significantly express higher levels of the dNK cell markers CD9 **(B)** CD49a **(C)** and CXCR4 **(D)**, as compared with those from HC. Every dot in dots/bars graph refers to single patients or control. Representative dot plots show the specific antigen expression (as % of total pNK cells). Data are showed as mean ± SEM, t-student test, *p<0.05, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001. HC, healthy controls; ADK, prostate cancer adenocarcinoma.

involved in inflammation and angiogenesis (CXCL8) (**Supplementary Figure 2, Figure 3A**), tissue remodelling (MMP-1, MMP-9, uPAR) (**Supplementary Figure 2, Figure 3A**), monocyte recruitment (CXCL1, CCL2, as the most up-regulated) (**Supplementary Figure 2, Figure 4A**) and M2-like macrophage polarization (IL-10) (**Supplementary Figure 2, Figure 4A**).

pTA-NKs From Prostate Cancer Patients Functionally Support Inflammatory Angiogenesis In Vitro

We further investigated whether PCa-ADK pTA-NKs, expressing pro-inflammatory cytokines (also involved in angiogenesis), chemokines and chemokine receptors, were also effectively able to



FIGURE 2 | pNK cell exhaustion and degranulation activities in peripheral blood of PCa patients. PCa pTA-NKs have decreased levels of the NKG2D activation markers (A), increased expression of the PD-1 (B) and TIM-3 (C) exhaustion markers and impaired degranulation abilities against the K562 cells (D). panel D shows NK cell degranulation capabilities, alone or co-incubated with K562 cells in PCa p-TA-NKs and NK cell from healthy controls. Every dot in dots/bars graph refers to single patient or control. Representative dot plots show the specific antigen expression (as % of total pNK cells). pNK cells, FACS-sorted from patients with ADK-PCa have increased expression of the pro-inflammatory factors *VEGF, CXCL8, CXCR4, CXCL12, PAI* (E). qPCR have been performed using pNK cell from 3 PCa patients and 3 controls, in triplicate. Data are showed as mean ± SEM, t-student test, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.0001. HC, healthy controls; ADK, prostate cancer adenocarcinoma.



FIGURE 3 | Pro-inflammatory activities of pTA-NKs from PCa patients on endothelial cells. Conditioned media (CM) form FACS-sorted PCa pTA-NKs are enriched in pro-inflammatory and tissue-remodelling factors, such CXCL8, uPAR, MMP-1, MMP-9 (**A**) and functionally support the formation of capillary like structures in human umbilical-vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) on matrigel (**B**). HUVE cells exposed to conditioned media of PCa pTA-NKs express higher levels of pro-inflammatory factors like *VEGF, VEGF-R2, CXCL8, CXCR4, CXCL12, ICAM-1, VCAM-1, IL1-α*, as compared to those exposed to conditioned media released by healthy control NK cells (**C**). Capillary like-structure formation and qPCR on HUVECs have been performed using CM of pNK cell from 3 PCa patients and 3 controls, in triplicate, on 4 different HC. Data are showed as $2^{-\Delta Ct}$ values, mean ± SEM, ANOVA, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.0001. The condition HUVEC (black bar) stands for HUVE cells alone, as baseline condition. HC, healthy controls; ADK, prostate adenocarcinoma.

induce network formation in HUVECs *in vitro*. We found that CM of pNK cells isolated PCa-ADK samples have higher contents of the pro-inflammatory and tissue-remodelling factors CXCL8/IL-8 (****p≤0.0001), MMP-1 (*p≤0.05), MMP-9 (****p≤0.0001), uPAR (****p≤0.0001) (**Figure 3A, Supplementary Figure 2**). To detect whether conditioned media of inflammatory NK cells isolated PCa-ADK samples were effectively able to induce network formation in

HUVE cells, we treated HUVE cells with these conditioned media. We found that conditioned media of pNK cells isolated from PCa-ADK are able to induce the formation of capillary-like structures by HUVE cells, on a matrigel layer (*p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.01), as a consequence of their pro-inflammatory secretome (**Figure 3B**). Real-time PCR results showed that HUVE cells, exposed for 24 h to CM from PCa-ADK pTA-NKs have a pro-inflammatory



FIGURE 4 | Effects of PCa pTA-NKs on monocyte recruitment and polarization. Conditioned media from PCa pTA-NKs are enriched with factors involved in macrophage recruitment (GM-CSF, CXCL1/GRO, CXCL11/I-TAC, CCL1/I-309, CCL2/MCP-1, CCL5/RANTES, CCL7/MCP-3, CCL13/MCP-4, and polarization (IL-10) (**A**) and can recruit THP-1 and CD14⁺ monocytes as compared with those from heathy controls (**B**, **C**), as revealed by the migration assay (Boyden Chambers). Exposure to conditioned media of pNK from PCa patients for 72 h result in THP-1 ability to express higher levels of M2-like/TAM markers (*CD206, Arg-1, IL-10, ARG1, CXCL8, TGFβ*) and reduced expression of *IL-12* (M1-like marker) (**C**). Data from THP-1 were extended, using a larger gene panel (*CD206, Arg-1, CD80, CD86, IL-10, IL-12, TNFα, IFNγ, TGFβ, CXCL8, VEGF, IL-1β*) on peripheral blood CD14⁺ monocyte derived macrophages (**D**). CMs were pooled from pNK cells FACS sorted from 3 different PCa patients or controls. Arrays were performed in duplicates. q-PCR were performed using CMs pooled from pNK cells FACS sorted from 3 different PCa patients or controls, and used for 4 different experiments (THP-1) and for 4 different donors of peripheral blood CD14⁺ monocyte-derived macrophages, in triplicate. Data are showed as mean ± SEM, ANOVA, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.001, ****p<0.001. HC, healthy controls; ADK, prostate adenocarcinoma; naive indicates THP-1 cells in control medium.

phenotype with increased mRNA expression of *VEGF* (*p \leq 0.05), *VEGF-R2*, *CXCL8* and of factors involved in vascular inflammation and immune cells mobilization, such as *CXCR4* (*p \leq 0.05), *CXCL12* (**p \leq 0.01), *ICAM-1* (**p \leq 0.01), *VCAM-1*, together with induction of *IL-1* α (***p \leq 0.001) (**Figure 3C**).

pTA-NKs From Prostate Cancer Patients Can Recruit Monocytes and Induce an M2-Like/TAM Features In Vitro

Secretome analysis revealed that conditioned media of pNK cells isolated PCa-ADK samples are enriched in soluble factors

involved in macrophage recruitment and polarization (Supplementary Figure 2, Figure 4A) such as GM-CSF (*p \leq 0.05), CXCL1/GRO (****p \leq 0.001), CXCL11/I-TAC (*p \leq 0.05), CCL1/I-309 (**p \leq 0.01), CCL2/MCP-1 (****p \leq 0.0001), CCL5/RANTES (****p \leq 0.0001), CCL7/MCP-3 (**p \leq 0.01), CCL13/MCP-4 (*p \leq 0.05) and IL-10 (***p \leq 0.001) (Figure 5A). Based on these results, we functionally investigated PCa-ADK NK cells ability to recruit THP-1 or CD14⁺ monocytes, via soluble factors. We observed that CM from PCa pTA-NK cells, FACS sorted from the peripheral blood of PCa-ADK patients, promote the recruitment of THP-1



monocytes (*** $p \le 0.001$) as compared to CM of NK cells isolated from healthy controls (Figure 4B). A similar trend was observed in peripheral blood CD14⁺ monocytes, exposed to CM from PCa pTA-NK as compared to CM of NK cells isolated from healthy controls (Figure 4C). We also observed that THP-1 differentiated macrophages, following 72 h of exposure to PCa pTA-NK CMs, displayed increased expression of the M2-like/TAM factors, such as CD206/ Mannose receptor, Arg1 (* $p \le 0.05$), IL-10 (** $p \le 0.01$), TGF β , CXCL8 (*** $p \le 0.001$) and decreased expression of the M1-like cytokine IL-12 (* $p \le 0.05$) (**Figure 4C**). We extended this analysis on peripheral blood CD14⁺ monocyte-derived macrophages, using a larger gene candidate panel, exposed for 72 h to CMs from FACS-sorted PCa pTA-NK or those from HC (Figure 4D). While data on CD206 and Arg1 expression seems to not reflect those observed in THP-1 macrophages, we observed decreased levels of CD80 (*p \leq 0.05) and CD86 (M1-like markers). Results on IL-10 (M2like) and IL-12 (M1-like), TGFB and CXCL8 (both M2-like), show a trend similar to that observed in THP-1 macrophages (Figure 4D). In addition, we found that peripheral blood CD14⁺ monocyte-derived macrophages, exposed for 72 h to CMs from FACS-sorted PCa pTA-NK or those from HC, have a trend in increased VEGF (M2-like) transcript, together with decreased expression of TNF α , IFN γ and IL-1 β proinflammatory (M1-like) cytokines (Figure 4D).

$\text{TGF}\beta$ and IL-6 Effects on Natural Killer Cell Polarization

Since TGF β and IL-6 have been found to be abundant in serum and plasma levels of PCa patients, we investigated TGF β and IL-6 abilities to polarized cytolytic NK cells from heathy donors. We found that, following 72 h of TGF β (10 ng/ml) exposure, NK cells increase the surface expression of CD56 (**p \leq 0.01) (**Figure 5A**), decreased NKG2D expression (**p \leq 0.01) (**Figure 5B**) and increased surface expression of CD9 (**p \leq 0.01) and CD49a (*p \leq 0.05) (**Figure 5C-D**). In contrast, IL-6 (25ng/ml), was not able to induce a similar effect (**Figure 5E**).

Prostate Cancer Cell Lines Conditioned Media Polarize pNK Cells Toward Pro-Inflammatory Angiogenic, Exhausted Natural Killer Cells

To verify the results obtained from PCa pTA-NKs, we used an *in vitro* model mimicking the interaction of the secretome of PCa cells with normal PBMC of healthy donors. Mononuclear cells from peripheral blood were exposed to soluble factors (CM) collected from three different PCa cell lines (PC-3, DU145, LNCaP) and assessed for their expression of decidual and pro-inflammatory, pro-angiogenic markers and polarization state. We found that pNK cells from healthy controls, following 72 hs of exposure to the CM of three different PCa cell lines (PC-3, DU-145, LNCaP) showed increase expression of the CD9, CD49a of CXCR4 (*p \leq 0.05, **p \leq 0.01) (**Figures 6A, B**). We also found that 72 h of stimulation with CM from the three PCa cell lines resulted in pNK enhanced ability to produce pro-inflammatory and pro-

angiogenic factors, such as Angiogenin, Angiopoietin-1, CXCL8 (**p \leq 0.01) and CXCL12 (*p \leq 0.05, **p \leq 0.01), and decreased ability to produce IFN γ , TNF α and Granzyme-B (*p \leq 0.05, **p \leq 0.01, ***p \leq 0.001), as detected by flow cytometry (**Figures 6C, D**). Finally, we observed that pNK cells from healthy controls, following 72 h of exposure to the CM of PC-3 and DU-145 cell lines are exhausted, as revealed by the trend of increased levels of PD-1 and TIM-3, together with decreased degranulation capabilities against K562 cells (*p \leq 0.05) (**Figures 6E, F**).

DISCUSSION

Although immunotherapy has emerged as the "next generation" cancer treatment (38), it is not always successful in the treatment of patients with PCa, for whom the preferential therapeutic options still remain radiotherapy, chemotherapy and androgen deprivation therapy (3, 39–41). This clearly suggests that, to address more efficient immune therapeutic approaches against PCa, a better understanding of how the PCa is able to subvert the host immune system, still remains a major issue and a clinical unmet need. Preclinical and clinical evidences suggest that chronic inflammation plays a crucial role in multiple stages of prostate cancer development (42–44).

The polarization of the immune inflammatory cells in peripheral blood is directed by specific chemokines and cytokines that can shape their state and make them acquire altered phenotype and functions, depending on tumour scenario (7, 10, 11, 45–47).

NK cells have been found to be compromised in several cancers (7, 10, 11, 14–17, 19, 22, 23, 29, 30, 48). Skewed NK cell contribution to tumour progression goes beyond tumour escape and immunosuppression (7, 10, 15, 16, 29, 30). We demonstrated that NK cells in NSCLC cancer (16), colorectal cancer (7) and in malignant pleural effusions (29), acquire pro-angiogenic, pro-inflammatory phenotype and functions, identified as CD56^{bright}CD16⁻VEGF^{high}CXCL8⁺IFN γ^{low} and share several features and behaviours with the highly pro-angiogenic decidual NK (dNK) cells. This was observed also by other groups in breast and colon cancers (49).

NK cell scenario in PCa is less investigated. Here, we characterized pNK cells isolated from the PB of patients with PCa, in the framework of approved clinical protocols. We found that PB NK cells from PCa patients (PCa pTA-NKs) show a proinflammatory and pro-angiogenic polarization, by acquiring the CD56^{bright}CD9⁺CD49a⁺CXCR4⁺ phenotype. Our results on increased CD56^{bright} frequency are in line with those showed by Pasero et al. in prostate cancer tissues (20). Similar to these results, we observed that PCa pTA-NKs, have impaired degranulation capabilities. In addition, we also found that PCa pTA-NKs exhibit down-regulation of NKG2D and increased markers of exhaustion, such as PD-1 and TIM-3, as compared with those from healthy controls. Increased expression of PD-1 and TIM-3 have been reported as markers of NK cell exhaustion also in other cancer types (50–55). We found that circulating PCa pTA-NKs were able to express larger amount of the pro-inflammatory and proangiogenic factors VEGF, CXCL8, CXCL12, PAI, as compared



FIGURE 6 | Effects of prostate cancer cell line conditioned media (CM) on pNK cell polarization and functions. NK cells from healthy donors, following 72 h of exposure to conditioned media (CM) from PC-3, DU-145 and LNCaP PCa cell lines, exhibit a pro-inflammatory angiogenic decidual-like phenotype, as revealed by the increased levels of the dNK-like markers CD9, CD49a, CXCR4 (**A**, **B**), enhanced production of pro-inflammatory factors (angiogenin, ANG; angiopoietin-1, Angiop1; CXCL8) and reduced production of cytolytic factors (granzyme B, GRZ-B; TNFα; IFNγ) (**C**, **D**), as revealed by flow cytometry analysis. Experiments were performed using peripheral blood samples of 5-to-9 independent healthy donors. NK cells from healthy donors, following 72 h of exposure to conditioned media (CM) from PC-3, DU-145 cell lines increase the expression of PD-1 and TIM-3 exhaustion markers (**E**), together with decreased degranulation capabilities against K562 cells (**F**). Experiments were performed using peripheral blood samples of 3 independent healthy donors. Data are shown as mean ± SEM, ANOVA, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001. CM, conditioned media/conditioned media from 72 h of SFM PCa cell lines.

to those from controls, introducing a new scenario for the possible pro-inflammatory and pro-angiogenic activities of circulating NK cell in PCa.

Based on these first results, we investigated whether solublerelated factors, released by PCa pTA-NKs, might support proinflammatory and pro-angiogenic-like behaviour, acting on endothelial cells and cellular components of the innate immune system, such as monocyte or macrophages. NK cells can interact with most of the innate and adaptive cellular components of the immune system (7, 11, 15, 56, 57). Monocytes are the second most represented phagocytes in circulation and in established progressing tumours, were they display an M2-like/TAM phenotype (58–60). M2-like macrophages, induced *in vitro*, have been shown to decrease the susceptibility of tumour cells to NK cell cytotoxicity, with increased PD-L1 and decreased NKG2D ligands in castration-resistant prostate cancer cells (61).

Here, we analysed the PCa pTA-NK production of proinflammatory/pro-angiogenic factors, using commercially available protein membrane arrays. We found elevated release of CXCL8/IL-8 by PCa pTA-NK, which can be responsible for the PCa pTA-NK soluble-factor mediated induction of HUVEC capillary-like structures on matrigel. These results support the hypothesis that PCa pTA-NK can potentially promote inflammatory angiogenesis. A number of studies have linked higher serum levels or expression of CXCL8/IL-8 with aggressive prostate cancer. Elevated CXCL8/IL-8 has been reported to correlate with high Gleason score and with AR loss in metastatic disease (62–65). Interestingly, CXCL8/IL-8 was the most abundant factor that we found to be released by PCa pTA-NK.

We also found that PCa pTA-NK can produce factors involved in tissue remodelling and metastasis, such as MMP-1, MMP-9, uPAR. Other studies reported that MMP-1, MMP-9, uPAR play important roles in tissue remodelling with prognostic implication in PCa (66–68). In previously published results, we have shown that MMP-9 is upregulated in peripheral blood NK cells of colon cancer patients and the TIMP-1/MMP-9 axis, as well as uPAR, are altered, as compared to normal circulating NK cells (30).

The crosstalk between NK cells and M1 macrophages plays a crucial role in the protection against infections and tumour development (69–71). In hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), tumour-derived monocytes have been found to induce dysfunctions in NK cells that were impaired in their ability to produce TNF α and IFN γ (71). CM of M2 type macrophages have been found to decreases the susceptibility of tumour cells to NK cell cytotoxicity, as a result of increased PD-L1 and decreased NKG2D ligands in prostate cancer cells. This has been reported to be mediated through the IL-6 and STAT3 pathway (61).

While macrophage-NK cell crosstalk has been investigated in different cancers (69, 70, 72-74), less studies have investigated the crosstalk in the opposite direction. We assessed the ability of PCa TA-NKs to recruit THP-1 and CD14⁺ monocytes in vitro. We found that PCa pTA-NKs have increased ability to stimulate migration of THP-1 and CD14⁺ monocytes, as compared to pNK cells from healthy controls. We also tested whether the PCa pTA-NK released products may impact on macrophage polarization state. We found that THP-1-differentiated and peripheral blood CD14⁺ monocyte-derived macrophages, exposed for 72 h to conditioned media from PCa pTA-NK cells, acquire increase the expression of M2-like/TAM genes (CD206, ARG-1, IL10, TGFβ, CXCL8, VEGF), while decreasing the expression of M1-like factors CD81, CD86, IL-12, TNFy, IFNy. These results provide the rational to propose that pro-inflammatory, pro-angiogenic activities by PCa pTA-NKs may also act by shaping monocyte and macrophage polarization and functions. M2-like macrophages/TAMs have been associated with increased tumour angiogenesis and poorer survival in PCa patients (75-77).

IL-2 priming of NK cells from patients with PCa, has been reported to result in distinct NK cell phenotypes and correlates with different NK cytotoxic activities (48). Once again, these cited results, together with our study, point out the important role of the phenotype and functions of NK cells in PCa patients, that could be used, in the future, for immune-profiling of NK cells in PCa.

Based on our previous studies (16, 30), we tested, *in vitro*, the possible contribution of major cytokines, TGF β and IL-6 in supporting the pro-inflammatory and pro-angiogenic polarization of NK cells from healthy controls.

TGF β has been largely reported as an inducer of immunosuppression and immune cell escape in diverse cancers (31), including PCa (78). TGF β is largely present in plasma/serum samples of PCa patients (78). We found that TGF β induced the CD56^{bright}CD9⁺CD49a⁺NKG2D^{low} phenotype in healthy donor derived NK cells.

IL-6 has been reported to be produced by several cancer types, including PCa (79), endowed with pleiotropic effects (80). IL-6 has been reported to impair NK cell functions by activating the STAT3 pathway (80–82). Also, inhibition of IL-6-JAK/STAT3 signalling result in the enhancement of NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity via alteration of PD-L1/NKG2D ligand levels, in castration-resistant prostate cancer cells (82). In our study, we found that IL-6 was not able to induce the CD56^{bright}CD9⁺CD49a⁺NKG2D^{low} phenotype in healthy donor derived NK cells.

We validated our findings from clinical samples using an in vitro model, mimicking the interaction of PCa soluble factors on cytolytic NK cells, by exposing NK cells from healthy donors to conditioned media of different PCa cell lines (PC-3, DU-145, LNCaP). Pasero et al previously showed that the PC-3 cell line can alter the expression of activation receptors in NK, such as NKG2D, DNAM-1, NKp46, NKp30, together with decreased degranulation capabilities (20). Using three different PCa cell lines, PC-3, DU-145 and LNCaP, respectively, we observed that their conditioned media were able to induce the CD56^{bright}CD9⁺CD49a⁺CXCR4⁺ phenotype in NK cells derived from healthy controls, together to the capability to produce Angiogenin, Angiopoietin-1, CXCL8, CXCL12. We confirmed that CM from PCa cell lines induce anergy in healthy donor derived NK cells, with reduced capability to produce the anti-tumour cytokines IFN γ , TNF α and the cytotoxic factor granzyme-B. As a further proof anergy, PC-3 and DU-145 CM-polarized NK cells increase the expression of the PD-1 and TIM-3 exhaustion markers and exhibit reduced degranulation activities.

CONCLUSIONS

Limited data are available of PCa pTA-NKs. A pivotal study by Pasero et al. showed enrichment of CD56^{bright} NK cells in tumour tissue, together with impaired NK cell functions both in tumour tissues and in the peripheral blood (20). Here, we focused on the characterization and phenotyping of peripheral blood NK cells from PCa patients, with the aim to evaluate their different phenotype and functional profiles, as compared to those from heathy controls.

We show that PCa pTA-NKs have a pro-inflammatory and proangiogenic phenotype, are endowed with the ability to support angiogenesis, *in vitro*, stimulating endothelial cell activation and functions, are able to recruit monocytes and polarize macrophages via soluble factors. Since obtaining PB NK cells is a relatively easy and poorly invasive procedure, our data provide a rationale for the future use of the pNK profiling in PCa patients to monitor NK cell polarization state and for designing approaches to restore pNK lytic activity in PCa patients.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the ethics committees of the University of Insubria (protocol no. 0024138 04/07/2011), Viale Borri, 57-21100 Varese (VA), Varese, Italy, ethics committees IRCCS MultiMedica (protocol no 10 2 10/2011), Via Milanese 300-20099, Sesto San Giovanni (Milan), Milan, Italy. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MG, DB, LM, ABo, GB, and ABr: performed the experiments in a previous submission. MG, LM, GB, and ABr performed the experiments in this revision. DB and ABr analyzed the data, performed the statistical analysis, and prepared the figures. FD, PC, AN, and AG provided and collected the clinical samples and provided the clinical support. DB, LM, DN, AA, and ABr conceived the experiments and analyzed the data. DB, LM, DN, AA, and ABr wrote the manuscript. DN and ABr provided funds. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Italian Association for Cancer research (AIRC) within the MFAG 2019-ID 22818, to ABR, the University of Insubria intramural grant, Fondo di Ateneo per la Ricerca FAR 2018 and FAR 2019 to LM and DN, the Italian Ministry of University and Research PRIN 2017 grant 2017NTK4HY, to DN and the Italian Ministry of Health Ricerca Corrente-IRCCS MultiMedica, to AA, DN and ABr. MG is a participant to PhD course in Life Sciences and Biotechnology at the University of Insubria; DB is funded by an "assegno di ricerca," MIUR.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This manuscript has been released as a pre-print at bioRxiv, "Denisa Baci, Matteo Gallazzi, Mortara Lorenzo, Annalisa Bosi, Giuseppe Buono, Angelo Naselli, Andrea Guarneri, Federico

REFERENCES

- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2018) 68(6):394–424. doi: 10.3322/caac.21492
- Philippou Y, Sjoberg H, Lamb AD, Camilleri P, Bryant RJ. Harnessing the potential of multimodal radiotherapy in prostate cancer. *Nat Rev Urol* (2020) 17(6):321–38. doi: 10.1038/s41585-020-0310-3
- Boettcher AN, Usman A, Morgans A, VanderWeele DJ, Sosman J, Wu JD. Past, Current, and Future of Immunotherapies for Prostate Cancer. Front Oncol (2019) 9:884. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00884

Dehò, Paolo Capogrosso, Adriana Albini, Douglas M. Noonan, Antonino Bruno, Prostate cancer peripheral blood NK cells show enhanced CD9, CD49a, CXCR4, CXCL8, MMP-9 production, and secrete monocyte-recruiting and polarizing factors. doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.07.06.189449". We thank Dr. Paola Corradino, IRCCS MultiMedica, Milan, Italy, for support to literature research. We thank Dr. Barbara Bassani, IRCCS National Cancer Institute, Milan, Italy, for helpful discussion and revision of the manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2020. 586126/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1 | Gating strategy and expression of CD16 in PCa pTA-NKs and controls. (A) Gating strategy used for NK cell FACS sorting. (B) pTA-NKs from PCa patients share similar pNK cell subset frequency (CD56⁺CD16⁺ and CD56⁺CD16⁻ cells) as those from peripheral blood samples of healthy controls (A). Data are showed as mean \pm SEM, t-test student, **p<0.01. HC: healthy controls; ADK: prostate adenocarcinoma.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2 | Secretome profiling of PCa pTA-NKs. Secretome profiling, using an antibody membrane array showed that conditioned media from pNK cells of PCa patients are enriched in several factors directly and indirectly associated with induction of angiogenesis, immunosuppression, M2-like polarization, macrophage recruitment, ECM/tissue remodelling. (A) Representative heatmap; (B) bar histogram showing the fold change for every modulated factor PCa over HC; (C, D) scan acquisition for the angiogenesis antibody-array (C1 and C2), showing overall dots, following exposure to conditioned media (CM) from FACS sorted pNK cells of PCa-ADK patients and controls. Green tables, to identify dots position for array C1 and C2, is provided. CMs were pooled from pNK cells sorted from 3 different PCa patients or HC. Arrays were performed in duplicates. Data are showed as mean ± SEM, t-test student, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001. ADK, prostate adenocarcinoma; HC, healthy controls.

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 1 | Demographic and clinical features of our cohort of PCa patients and controls. Table summarizing the features of our cohorts of patients, with relative sample size. Average of age is showed as mean ± SD. N: sample size, ADK, prostate adenocarcinoma; HC, healthy controls.

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 2 | Antibodies used in flow cytometry experiments. The table summarizes the antibodies (primary conjugated, primary not-conjugated, secondary conjugated) used in flow cytometry analysis.

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 3 | Primer sequences for oligos used for Real-time PCR. Sequences for forward and reverse oligos used for real-time PCR are showed.

- Shore ND. Chemotherapy for prostate cancer: when should a urologist refer a patient to a medical oncologist? *Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis* (2013) 16(1):1– 6. doi: 10.1038/pcan.2012.23
- Cha HR, Lee JH, Ponnazhagan S. Revisiting Immunotherapy: A Focus on Prostate Cancer. *Cancer Res* (2020) 80(8):1615–23. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-2948
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell (2011) 144(5):646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Albini A, Bruno A, Noonan DM, Mortara L. Contribution to Tumor Angiogenesis From Innate Immune Cells Within the Tumor Microenvironment: Implications for Immunotherapy. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:527. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00527

- Banik G, Betts CB, Liudahl SM, Sivagnanam S, Kawashima R, Cotechini T, et al. High-dimensional multiplexed immunohistochemical characterization of immune contexture in human cancers. *Methods Enzymol* (2020) 635:1–20. doi: 10.1016/bs.mie.2019.05.039
- Binnewies M, Roberts EW, Kersten K, Chan V, Fearon DF, Merad M, et al. Understanding the tumor immune microenvironment (TIME) for effective therapy. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(5):541–50. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0014-x
- Bruno A, Pagani A, Pulze L, Albini A, Dallaglio K, Noonan DM, et al. Orchestration of angiogenesis by immune cells. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:131. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00131
- De Palma M, Biziato D, Petrova TV. Microenvironmental regulation of tumour angiogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer (2017) 17(8):457-74. doi: 10.1038/ nrc.2017.51
- Spits H, Artis D, Colonna M, Diefenbach A, Di Santo JP, Eberl G, et al. Innate lymphoid cells–a proposal for uniform nomenclature. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13(2):145–9. doi: 10.1038/nri3365
- Vivier E, Artis D, Colonna M, Diefenbach A, Di Santo JP, Eberl G, et al. Innate Lymphoid Cells: 10 Years On. *Cell* (2018) 174(5):1054–66. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2018.07.017
- Chiossone L, Dumas PY, Vienne M, Vivier E. Natural killer cells and other innate lymphoid cells in cancer. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2018) 18(11):671–88. doi: 10.1038/s41577-018-0061-z
- Bassani B, Baci D, Gallazzi M, Poggi A, Bruno A, Mortara L. Natural Killer Cells as Key Players of Tumor Progression and Angiogenesis: Old and Novel Tools to Divert Their Pro-Tumor Activities into Potent Anti-Tumor Effects. *Cancers (Basel)* (2019) 11(4):461. doi: 10.3390/cancers11040461
- Bruno A, Focaccetti C, Pagani A, Imperatori AS, Spagnoletti M, Rotolo N, et al. The proangiogenic phenotype of natural killer cells in patients with nonsmall cell lung cancer. *Neoplasia* (2013) 15(2):133–42. doi: 10.1593/ neo.121758
- Caligiuri MA. Human natural killer cells. *Blood* (2008) 112(3):461–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-09-077438
- Gotthardt D, Putz EM, Grundschober E, Prchal-Murphy M, Straka E, Kudweis P, et al. STAT5 Is a Key Regulator in NK Cells and Acts as a Molecular Switch from Tumor Surveillance to Tumor Promotion. *Cancer Discovery* (2016) 6(4):414–29. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0732
- Lopez-Soto A, Gonzalez S, Smyth MJ, Galluzzi L. Control of Metastasis by NK Cells. Cancer Cell (2017) 32(2):135–54. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.06.009
- Pasero C, Gravis G, Guerin M, Granjeaud S, Thomassin-Piana J, Rocchi P, et al. Inherent and Tumor-Driven Immune Tolerance in the Prostate Microenvironment Impairs Natural Killer Cell Antitumor Activity. *Cancer Res* (2016) 76(8):2153–65. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-1965
- Sheppard S, Ferry A, Guedes J, Guerra N. The Paradoxical Role of NKG2D in Cancer Immunity. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1808. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.01808
- Judge SJ, Murphy WJ, Canter RJ. Characterizing the Dysfunctional NK Cell: Assessing the Clinical Relevance of Exhaustion, Anergy, and Senescence. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* (2020) 10:49. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2020.00049
- Melaiu O, Lucarini V, Cifaldi L, Fruci D. Influence of the Tumor Microenvironment on NK Cell Function in Solid Tumors. Front Immunol (2019) 10:3038. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.03038
- 24. Arnon TI, Markel G, Bar-Ilan A, Hanna J, Fima E, Benchetrit F, et al. Harnessing soluble NK cell killer receptors for the generation of novel cancer immune therapy. *PloS One* (2008) 3(5):e2150. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0002150
- Gannon PO, Poisson AO, Delvoye N, Lapointe R, Mes-Masson AM, Saad F. Characterization of the intra-prostatic immune cell infiltration in androgendeprived prostate cancer patients. *J Immunol Methods* (2009) 348(1-2):9–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jim.2009.06.004
- Pasero C, Gravis G, Granjeaud S, Guerin M, Thomassin-Piana J, Rocchi P, et al. Highly effective NK cells are associated with good prognosis in patients with metastatic prostate cancer. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(16):14360–73. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3965
- Blois SM, Klapp BF, Barrientos G. Decidualization and angiogenesis in early pregnancy: unravelling the functions of DC and NK cells. *J Reprod Immunol* (2011) 88:86–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2010.11.002
- 28. Hanna J, Goldman-Wohl D, Hamani Y, Avraham I, Greenfield C, Natanson-Yaron S, et al. Decidual NK cells regulate key developmental processes at the

human fetal-maternal interface. Nat Med (2006) 12(9):1065-74. doi: 10.1038/ nm1452

- Bosi A, Zanellato S, Bassani B, Albini A, Musco A, Cattoni M, et al. Killer Cells from Malignant Pleural Effusion Are Endowed with a Decidual-Like Proangiogenic Polarization. *Nat J Immunol Res* (2018) 2018:2438598. doi: 10.1155/2018/2438598
- Bruno A, Bassani B, D'Urso DG, Pitaku I, Cassinotti E, Pelosi G, et al. Angiogenin and the MMP9-TIMP2 axis are up-regulated in proangiogenic, decidual NK-like cells from patients with colorectal cancer. *FASEB J* (2018) 32 (10):5365–77. doi: 10.1096/fj.201701103R
- Yang L, Pang Y, Moses HL. TGF-beta and immune cells: an important regulatory axis in the tumor microenvironment and progression. *Trends Immunol* (2010) 31(6):220–7. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2010.04.002
- Batlle E, Massague J. Transforming Growth Factor-beta Signaling in Immunity and Cancer. *Immunity* (2019) 50(4):924-40. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2019.03.024
- 33. Carrega P, Morandi B, Costa R, Frumento G, Forte G, Altavilla G, et al. Natural killer cells infiltrating human nonsmall-cell lung cancer are enriched in CD56 bright CD16(-) cells and display an impaired capability to kill tumor cells. *Cancer* (2008) 112(4):863–75. doi: 10.1002/cncr.23239
- 34. Zhang S, Liu W, Hu B, Wang P, Lv X, Chen S, et al. Prognostic Significance of Tumor-Infiltrating Natural Killer Cells in Solid Tumors: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1242. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2020.01242
- 35. Zhu S, Han X, Qiao X, Chen S. The Immune Landscape and Prognostic Immune Key Genes Potentially Involved in Modulating Synaptic Functions in Prostate Cancer. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:1330. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020. 01330
- 36. Hood SP, Cosma G, Foulds GA, Johnson C, Reeder S, McArdle SE, et al. Identifying prostate cancer and its clinical risk in asymptomatic men using machine learning of high dimensional peripheral blood flow cytometric natural killer cell subset phenotyping data. *Elife* (2020) 9:e50936. doi: 10.7554/eLife.50936
- 37. Scaldaferri D, Bosi A, Fabbri M, Pedrini E, Inforzato A, Valli R, et al. The human RNASET2 protein affects the polarization pattern of human macrophages in vitro. *Immunol Lett* (2018) 203:102–11. doi: 10.1016/ j.imlet.2018.09.005
- Kelly PN. The Cancer Immunotherapy Revolution. Science (2018) 359 (6382):1344–5. doi: 10.1126/science.359.6382.1344
- Bilusic M, Madan RA, Gulley JL. Immunotherapy of Prostate Cancer: Facts and Hopes. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23(22):6764–70. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-0019
- Wong YN, Ferraldeschi R, Attard G, de Bono J. Evolution of androgen receptor targeted therapy for advanced prostate cancer. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2014) 11(6):365–76. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2014.72
- Madan RA, Pal SK, Sartor O, Dahut WL. Overcoming chemotherapy resistance in prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17(12):3892–902. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2654
- De Marzo AM, Platz EA, Sutcliffe S, Xu J, Gronberg H, Drake CG, et al. Inflammation in prostate carcinogenesis. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2007) 7(4):256–69. doi: 10.1038/nrc2090
- Puhr M, De Marzo A, Isaacs W, Lucia MS, Sfanos K, Yegnasubramanian S, et al. Inflammation, Microbiota, and Prostate Cancer. *Eur Urol Focus* (2016) 2 (4):374–82. doi: 10.1016/j.euf.2016.08.010
- Strasner A, Karin M. Immune Infiltration and Prostate Cancer. Front Oncol (2015) 5:128. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2015.00128
- Balkwill FR, Capasso M, Hagemann T. The tumor microenvironment at a glance. J Cell Sci (2012) 125(Pt 23):5591–6. doi: 10.1242/jcs.116392
- Johansson M, Denardo DG, Coussens LM. Polarized immune responses differentially regulate cancer development. *Immunol Rev* (2008) 222:145–54. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00600.x
- Olingy CE, Dinh HQ, Hedrick CC. Monocyte heterogeneity and functions in cancer. J Leukoc Biol (2019) 106(2):309–22. doi: 10.1002/JLB.4RI0818-311R
- 48. Hood SP, Foulds GA, Imrie H, Reeder S, McArdle SEB, Khan M, et al. Phenotype and Function of Activated Natural Killer Cells From Patients With Prostate Cancer: Patient-Dependent Responses to Priming and IL-2 Activation. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:3169. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.03169

- Levi I, Amsalem H, Nissan A, Darash-Yahana M, Peretz T, Mandelboim O, et al. Characterization of tumor infiltrating natural killer cell subset. Oncotarget (2015) 6(15):13835–43. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3453
- Liu Y, Cheng Y, Xu Y, Wang Z, Du X, Li C, et al. Increased expression of programmed cell death protein 1 on NK cells inhibits NK-cell-mediated antitumor function and indicates poor prognosis in digestive cancers. *Oncogene* (2017) 36(44):6143–53. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.209
- Beldi-Ferchiou A, Lambert M, Dogniaux S, Vely F, Vivier E, Olive D, et al. PD-1 mediates functional exhaustion of activated NK cells in patients with Kaposi sarcoma. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(45):72961–77. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.12150
- Concha-Benavente F, Kansy B, Moskovitz J, Moy J, Chandran U, Ferris RL. PD-L1 Mediates Dysfunction in Activated PD-1(+) NK Cells in Head and Neck Cancer Patients. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2018) 6(12):1548–60. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0062
- Wang Z, Zhu J, Gu H, Yuan Y, Zhang B, Zhu D, et al. The Clinical Significance of Abnormal Tim-3 Expression on NK Cells from Patients with Gastric Cancer. *Immunol Invest* (2015) 44(6):578–89. doi: 10.3109/08820139.2015.1052145
- Xu L, Huang Y, Tan L, Yu W, Chen D, Lu C, et al. Increased Tim-3 expression in peripheral NK cells predicts a poorer prognosis and Tim-3 blockade improves NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity in human lung adenocarcinoma. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2015) 29(2):635–41. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2015.09.017
- 55. da Silva IP, Gallois A, Jimenez-Baranda S, Khan S, Anderson AC, Kuchroo VK, et al. Reversal of NK-cell exhaustion in advanced melanoma by Tim-3 blockade. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2(5):410–22. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0171
- Bruno A, Mortara L, Baci D, Noonan DM, Albini A. Myeloid Derived Suppressor Cells Interactions With Natural Killer Cells and Pro-angiogenic Activities: Roles in Tumor Progression. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:771. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00771
- 57. Pesce S, Thoren FB, Cantoni C, Prato C, Moretta L, Moretta A, et al. The Innate Immune Cross Talk between NK Cells and Eosinophils Is Regulated by the Interaction of Natural Cytotoxicity Receptors with Eosinophil Surface Ligands. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:510. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00510
- Murray PJ, Allen JE, Biswas SK, Fisher EA, Gilroy DW, Goerdt S, et al. Macrophage activation and polarization: nomenclature and experimental guidelines. *Immunity* (2014) 41(1):14–20. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.008
- Sica A, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(3):787–95. doi: 10.1172/JCI59643
- Mantovani A, Marchesi F, Malesci A, Laghi L, Allavena P. Tumour-associated macrophages as treatment targets in oncology. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2017) 14 (7):399–416. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2016.217
- Xu L, Shen M, Chen X, Yang DR, Tsai Y, Keng PC, et al. In vitro-induced M2 type macrophages induces the resistance of prostate cancer cells to cytotoxic action of NK cells. *Exp Cell Res* (2018) 364(1):113–23. doi: 10.1016/ j.yexcr.2018.01.041
- Maynard JP, Ertunc O, Kulac I, Baena-Del Valle JA, De Marzo AM, Sfanos KS. IL8 Expression Is Associated with Prostate Cancer Aggressiveness and Androgen Receptor Loss in Primary and Metastatic Prostate Cancer. *Mol Cancer Res* (2020) 18(1):153–65. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-19-0595
- 63. Roumeguere T, Legrand F, Rassy EE, Kaitouni MI, Albisinni S, Rousseau A, et al. A prospective clinical study of the implications of IL-8 in the diagnosis, aggressiveness and prognosis of prostate cancer. *Future Sci OA* (2018) 4(2): FSO266. doi: 10.4155/fsoa-2017-0084
- Neveu B, Moreel X, Deschenes-Rompre MP, Bergeron A, LaRue H, Ayari C, et al. IL-8 secretion in primary cultures of prostate cells is associated with prostate cancer aggressiveness. *Res Rep Urol* (2014) 6:27–34. doi: 10.2147/ RRU.S58643
- Araki S, Omori Y, Lyn D, Singh RK, Meinbach DM, Sandman Y, et al. Interleukin-8 is a molecular determinant of androgen independence and progression in prostate cancer. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(14):6854–62. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-1162
- Gong Y, Chippada-Venkata UD, Oh WK. Roles of matrix metalloproteinases and their natural inhibitors in prostate cancer progression. *Cancers (Basel)* (2014) 6(3):1298–327. doi: 10.3390/cancers6031298

- Nalla AK, Gorantla B, Gondi CS, Lakka SS, Rao JS. Targeting MMP-9, uPAR, and cathepsin B inhibits invasion, migration and activates apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2010) 17(9):599–613. doi: 10.1038/ cgt.2010.16
- Pulukuri SM, Rao JS. Matrix metalloproteinase-1 promotes prostate tumor growth and metastasis. Int J Oncol (2008) 32(4):757–65. doi: 10.3892/ ijo.32.4.757
- Zhou Z, Zhang C, Zhang J, Tian Z. Macrophages help NK cells to attack tumor cells by stimulatory NKG2D ligand but protect themselves from NK killing by inhibitory ligand Qa-1. *PloS One* (2012) 7(5):e36928. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0036928
- Michel T, Hentges F, Zimmer J. Consequences of the crosstalk between monocytes/macrophages and natural killer cells. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:403. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00403
- Wu Y, Kuang DM, Pan WD, Wan YL, Lao XM, Wang D, et al. Monocyte/ macrophage-elicited natural killer cell dysfunction in hepatocellular carcinoma is mediated by CD48/2B4 interactions. *Hepatology* (2013) 57 (3):1107–16. doi: 10.1002/hep.26192
- 72. Bellora F, Castriconi R, Dondero A, Pessino A, Nencioni A, Liggieri G, et al. TLR activation of tumor-associated macrophages from ovarian cancer patients triggers cytolytic activity of NK cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44 (6):1814–22. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344130
- Lavin Y, Kobayashi S, Leader A, Amir ED, Elefant N, Bigenwald C, et al. Innate Immune Landscape in Early Lung Adenocarcinoma by Paired Single-Cell Analyses. *Cell* (2017) 169(4):750–65 e17. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.04.014
- 74. Sarode P, Schaefer MB, Grimminger F, Seeger W, Savai R. Macrophage and Tumor Cell Cross-Talk Is Fundamental for Lung Tumor Progression: We Need to Talk. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:324. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00324
- 75. Zheng T, Ma G, Tang M, Li Z, Xu R. IL-8 Secreted from M2 Macrophages Promoted Prostate Tumorigenesis via STAT3/MALAT1 Pathway. Int J Mol Sci (2018) 20(1):98. doi: 10.3390/ijms20010098
- Joseph IB, Isaacs JT. Macrophage role in the anti-prostate cancer response to one class of antiangiogenic agents. J Natl Cancer Inst (1998) 90(21):1648–53. doi: 10.1093/jnci/90.21.1648
- Erlandsson A, Carlsson J, Lundholm M, Falt A, Andersson SO, Andren O, et al. M2 macrophages and regulatory T cells in lethal prostate cancer. *Prostate* (2019) 79(4):363–9. doi: 10.1002/pros.23742
- Li X, Placencio V, Iturregui JM, Uwamariya C, Sharif-Afshar AR, Koyama T, et al. Prostate tumor progression is mediated by a paracrine TGF-beta/Wnt3a signaling axis. Oncogene (2008) 27(56):7118–30. doi: 10.1038/onc.2008.293
- Archer M, Dogra N, Kyprianou N. Inflammation as a Driver of Prostate Cancer Metastasis and Therapeutic Resistance. *Cancers (Basel)* (2020) 12 (10):2984. doi: 10.3390/cancers12102984
- Rossi JF, Lu ZY, Jourdan M, Klein B. Interleukin-6 as a therapeutic target. Clin Cancer Res (2015) 21(6):1248–57. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-2291
- 81. Wu J, Gao FX, Wang C, Qin M, Han F, Xu T, et al. IL-6 and IL-8 secreted by tumour cells impair the function of NK cells via the STAT3 pathway in oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 38(1):321. doi: 10.1186/s13046-019-1310-0
- Xu L, Chen X, Shen M, Yang DR, Fang L, Weng G, et al. Inhibition of IL-6-JAK/Stat3 signaling in castration-resistant prostate cancer cells enhances the NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity via alteration of PD-L1/NKG2D ligand levels. *Mol Oncol* (2018) 12(3):269–86. doi: 10.1002/1878-0261.12135

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Gallazzi, Baci, Mortara, Bosi, Buono, Naselli, Guarneri, Dehò, Capogrosso, Albini, Noonan and Bruno. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Cytokines Orchestrating the Natural Killer-Myeloid Cell Crosstalk in the Tumor Microenvironment: Implications for Natural Killer Cell-Based Cancer Immunotherapy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Erik Wennerberg, Weill Cornell Medicine, United States

Reviewed by:

Rachel Burga, George Washington University, United States Ana Stojanovic, Heidelberg University, Germany

*Correspondence: Mattias Carlsten mattias.carlsten@ki.se [†]These authors share first authorship [‡]These authors share last authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to NK and Innate Lymphoid Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 25 October 2020 Accepted: 09 December 2020 Published: 29 January 2021

Citation:

Gaggero S, Witt K, Carlsten M and Mitra S (2021) Cytokines Orchestrating the Natural Killer-Myeloid Cell Crosstalk in the Tumor Microenvironment: Implications for Natural Killer Cell-Based Cancer Immunotherapy.11:621225. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.621225 ¹ Univ. Lille, CNRS, INSERM, CHU Lille, Institut pour la Recherche contre le Cancer de Lille, UMR9020 – UMR-S 1277 –

Silvia Gaggero^{1†}, Kristina Witt^{2†}, Mattias Carlsten^{2,3*‡} and Suman Mitra^{1‡}

¹ Univ. Lille, CNRS, INSERM, CHU Lille, Institut pour la Recherche contre le Cancer de Lille, UMR9020 – UMR-S 1277 – CANTHER - Cancer Heterogeneity, Plasticity and Resistance to Therapies, Lille, France, ² Center for Hematology and Regenerative Medicine, Department of Medicine, Huddinge, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden, ³ Center for Cell Therapy and Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden

Natural killer (NK) cells are endowed with germline-encoded receptors that enable them to detect and kill malignant cells without prior priming. Over the years, overwhelming evidence has identified an essential role for NK cells in tumor immune surveillance. More recently, clinical trials have also highlighted their potential in therapeutic settings. Yet, data show that NK cells can be dysregulated within the tumor microenvironment (TME). rendering them ineffective in eradicating the cancer cells. This has been attributed to immune suppressive factors, including the tumor cells per se, stromal cells, regulatory T cells, and soluble factors such as reactive oxygen species and cytokines. However, the TME also hosts myeloid cells such as dendritic cells, macrophages, neutrophils, and myeloid-derived suppressor cells that influence NK cell function. Although the NK-myeloid cell crosstalk can promote anti-tumor responses, myeloid cells in the TME often dysregulate NK cells via direct cell-to-cell interactions down-regulating key NK cell receptors, depletion of nutrients and growth factors required for NK cell growth, and secretion of metabolites, chemokines and cytokines that ultimately alter NK cell trafficking, survival, and cytotoxicity. Here, we review the complex functions of myeloid-derived cytokines in both supporting and suppressing NK cells in the TME and how NK cellderived cytokines can influence myeloid subsets. We discuss challenges related to these interactions in unleashing the full potential of endogenous and adoptively infused NK cells. Finally, we present strategies aiming at improving NK cell-based cancer immunotherapies via pathways that are involved in the NK-myeloid cell crosstalk in the TME.

Keywords: natural killer (NK) cells, myeloid cells, cytokines, tumor microenvironment, cancer immunotherapy, tumor immunity

INTRODUCTION

Natural Killer (NK) cells are cytotoxic lymphocytes that innately recognize their target cells based on signals from an array of germline-encoded inhibitory and activating cell surface receptors (1). While inhibition is mainly mediated by HLA class I-binding receptors such as KIR, LIR-1, and NKG2A, activation is triggered by the NKG2D, DNAM-1, NKp30, NKp46, and 2B4 receptors, among others (2). Experimental approaches delineating how NK cells target tumor cells have in more recent years been harmonized with studies evidencing their role in tumor immune surveillance (3) and clinical therapy to treat patients with cancer (4, 5). However, it has also become increasingly clear that NK cells are often dysfunctional in cancer patients (6, 7). This is most prominent in the tumor microenvironment (TME), although also observed in blood and other tissues in patients with advanced cancer (6-8). Factors suppressing endogenous or adoptively infused NK cells in the TME are likely limiting the full potential of NK cell-based cancer immunotherapies.

NK cells can be disarmed in the TME by both direct and indirect interactions with the tumor cells (6, 7, 9). However, several other cell types in the TME, such as stroma cells and immune cells, acting by direct interactions and via release of reactive oxygen species, growth factors, and cytokines, can also induce NK cell dysfunction (9-11). Both the degree and mode of NK cell suppression in the TME may dynamically vary from early to later stages of cancer development as well as between different tumor histotypes. Beyond reducing the anti-tumor cytotoxicity of NK cells per se, suppression of NK cells in the TME can also negatively impact their ability to recruit other immune cells (12-15), which is crucial for initiating and maintaining proper anti-tumor responses. In this regard, a pivotal interaction in the TME is the one between NK cells and myeloid cells, such as dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, neutrophils, and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) (16-19). While NK cells positively promote DC infiltration and maturation via release of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interferon (IFN)- γ (20), myeloid-derived cytokines, including interleukin (IL)-12, IL-15, and IL-18, critically promote NK cell maturation, proliferation, and anti-tumor functions (21). However, aggravation of the TME often observed in more advanced stages of cancer direct myeloid cells towards a suppressive phenotype that instead can impede NK cell functions via secretion of cytokines, such as transforming growth factor (TGF)- β , IL-1 β , and IL-10 (22–24). Thus, the NK-myeloid crosstalk is intricate but critical for proper antitumor properties of NK cells in the TME.

Here we give an overview of the cytokines involved in the interplay between NK cells and myeloid cells in the general TME. We discuss how myeloid cells promote NK cell functions and vice versa, but foremost, how this interaction can hinder NK cell-mediated tumor rejection. We outline current methods and possible future approaches to enhance anti-tumor responses by NK cells *via* administration or manipulation of cytokines and cytokine signaling, as well as preventing myeloid cell infiltration into the TME. This review highlights that a better understanding

of the crosstalk between myeloid cells and NK cells is likely critical to improve the efficacy of NK cell-based cancer immunotherapy.

MYELOID-DERIVED CYTOKINES PROMOTING NATURAL KILLER CELL RESPONSES TO CANCER

Several myeloid cells, exemplified by macrophages and DCs, are characterized by a pro-inflammatory phenotype and release cytokines such as type-1 IFNs, IL-12, IL-15, IL-18, IL-21 (**Table 1A**) upon recognition of damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) on the transformed cells (70, 71). This pro-inflammatory cytokine milieu, together with key chemokines, aid in the recruitment of NK cells to the tumor site while promoting their persistence and anti-tumor effector functions (70, 72). Several of these cytokines have overlapping functions but also possess specific functions in the regulation of NK cell responses in cancer (35, 73–79) (**Figure 1** and **Table 1A**). In this section, we will present the key cytokines released by myeloid cells that promote anti-tumor cytotoxicity by NK cells but also give examples of how cytokines can have dual functions.

Direct and Indirect Contribution of Interferon- α and Interferon- β in Natural Killer Cell Activation

The type-1 IFNs, IFN- α , and IFN- β are secreted by activated myeloid cells and stimulate NK cell expansion while enhancing the effector functions upon stimulation of the IFN- α receptor (IFNAR) (80, 81). Inversely, as highlighted in experimental models using IFNAR-deficient NK cells and NK cells with defective downstream signaling molecule transducer and activator-1 (STAT1), impaired type-1 IFN signaling results in defective functional NK cell maturation and hampered antitumoricidal potential in sarcoma and lymphoma mouse models (82, 83). Importantly, while transient or intermittent type-1 IFN stimulation results in preferential phosphorylation of STAT4 than STAT1 and thereby increased IFN-y production by NK cells promoting pro-inflammation, chronic stimulation coupled with increased levels of IFN- γ also bolster NK cell cytotoxicity (81, 84). This is due to increases basal levels of STAT1 protein expression following chronic IFN- γ stimulation that triggers preferential activation of STAT1 over STAT4 (81, 84). Additionally, autocrine type-1 IFN signaling in activated myeloid cells induces interleukin (IL)-15 production, which is a critical cytokine for NK cell development, proliferation and cytotoxic function (37, 85).

Regulation of Natural Killer Cell Activation and Effector Function by Interleukin-12 Family of Cytokines

The IL-12 family of heterodimeric cytokines, including IL-12, IL-23, and IL-27, critically regulate NK cell activation and effector functions (**Figure 1A** and **Table 1A**). Phagocytic macrophages and DCs produce these cytokines following the recognition of

TABLE 1 | Cytokines and chemokines involved in the NK-myeloid cell crosstalk and drugs directed to modulate these interactions.

A. Myeloid cell-derived cytokines and their effects on NK cells.

Cytokine	Produced by	Effects	Therapy	Ref.
TGF-β	MDSCs, TAMs, tumor cells, mast cells	↓activating receptor, cytokine production, cytotoxicity, proliferation	Fresolimumab, galunisertib, M7824 (clinical trial)	(25–30)
IL-10	MDSCs, TAMs, NK cells, DCs, macrophages	$1/\uparrow$ cytotoxicity, cytokine production		(24, 31–33)
IL-32α	DCs	Jperforin, granzyme B	-	(34)
TNF	Macrophages	↑ cytokine production	_	(35)
IL-12	DCs, macrophages, monocytes, neutrophils	↑ cytotoxicity, cytokine production, proliferation, survival	IL-12, IL-12 + pembrolizumab (clinical trial)	(21, 36)
IL-15	DCs, macrophages, monocytes	↑ cytotoxicity, cytokine production, proliferation, survival, activating receptors, KIR	ALT-803 (phase 1 and 2 clinical trial), IL-15 + Ipilimumab and Nivolumab (phase 1 clinical trial)	(37–39)
IL-18	M0 macrophages, TAMs, DCs,	\uparrow cytotoxicity, cytokine production, proliferation, survival	IL-18 (phase 1 and 2 clinical trial)	(40–44)
IL-21	DCs	↑ cytotoxicity, proliferation, activating receptors	IL-21, IL-21 + Ipilimumab and nivolumab (phase-I and –II clinical trial)	(45)
IL-6	MDSC, TAM, tumor cell, macrophages, monocytes, mast cells	\downarrow/\uparrow cytotoxicity, \downarrow cytokine production	Tocilizumab (clinical trial)	(46, 47)
IL-1α	Monocytes, DCs, macrophages	↓maturation	Anakinra, Canakinumab, Isunakinra (phase 1 and 2 clinical trial)	(23)
IL-27	DCs, macrophages, MDSCs	↓/↑ cytotoxicity, cytokine production	p28 peptide	(48–53)
IL-23	MDSC and TAM, DC and macrophage	↓/↑ cytotoxicity, cytokine production	_	(54, 55)
IL-17	Neutrophils	↑cytotoxicity, ↓maturation	-	(56, 57)
IFN-α/β	DC	↑ cytotoxicity, cytokine production, proliferation, survival, NKG2D	IFN- α/β approved	(58)

B. NK cell-derived cytokines and their effects on myeloid cells.

Cytokine	Target population	Effects	Therapy	Ref.
IFN-γ	DCs	maturation, activation	-	(59–61)
	TAMs	polarization towards pro-inflammatory $M\phi$	-	(62, 63)
	TANs	inhibition of pro-tumorigenic TANs	-	(64)
TNF-α	DCs	maturation, activation	-	(59–61)
	TAMs	polarization towards pro-inflammatory M ϕ	-	(62)
HMGB1	DCs	activation	-	(43, 65)
GM-CSF	DCs	activation	_	(62)
	TAMs	polarization towards pro-inflammatory M ϕ	-	(62)
	TANs	activation, promotes NETs	-	(66–68)
VEGF-A	Endothelial cells, tumor cells	proliferation, migration	_	(69)

A) Effects of myeloid cell-derived cytokines on NK cells and therapeutic targeting thereof. B) Effects of NK cell-derived cytokines on the maturation and differentiation of different myeloid cell subsets and therapeutic targeting thereof.

DAMPs on dying tumor cells. Despite sharing sequence similarly, these cytokines uniquely modulate NK cell function.

Interleukin-12

IL-12 (p35 and p40 complex) signals by engaging the heterodimeric receptor complex of IL-12R β 1 and IL-12R β 2 subunits that are readily expressed by mature activated but not immature NK cells. In NK cells, IL-12 signaling principally mediates STAT4 phosphorylation that is essential for both IFN- γ and perforin expression, as observed both in human NK cells *in vitro* and in murine NK cells *in vivo* (21, 86–89). Accordingly, blockade of IL-12 diminishes DC-induced IFN- γ production by NK cells, suggesting IL-12 is critical for optimal IFN- γ release by activated human NK cells (90). Additionally, IL-12 can work in concert with IL-15 and IL-18 to generate 'memory-like' NK cells, partly facilitated by epigenetic reprogramming of the CNS1 enhancer region of the *Ifng* locus in NK

Interleukin-23

mice (91).

IL-12p40 also interacts with p19 subunits forming the heterodimeric cytokine IL-23. Upon stimulation with IL-23, CD56^{bright} NK cells release higher levels of IFN- γ as compared to CD56^{dim} NK cells due to their higher expression levels of IL-23R. IL-23 also increases IL-18R α expression, thus priming NK cells for IL-18-induced IFN- γ production. IL-23 stimulates human NK cell activation *in vitro* while inhibiting IL-15- and IL-18-induced NK cell proliferation (54). However, IL-23 reduces both cytotoxicity and IFN- γ production *in vivo*, indeed anti-IL-23 therapy synergizes with IL-2 or anti-erbB2 treatment

cells, which enables them to produce elevated levels of IFN-y

compared to conventional NK cells upon activation as shown by transferring IL-12/IL-15/IL-18-pretreated human NK cells in NSG



produce IFN-y which indirectly promotes recruitment of other NK cells from peripheral blood to the tumor sites. Upon recognition of tumor antigens, myeloid cells, especially DCs and macrophages produce inflammatory cytokines such as type-1 IFNs, IL-12, IL-15, IL-18, IL-21. These cytokines either alone or cooperatively promote NK cell survival, proliferation, maturation and production of spectrum of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IFN-γ, TNF-α, GM-CSF, which further boost anti-tumor immune-activating potential of myeloid cells while recruiting additional inflammatory myeloid cells [including M1 macrophages (MQ), mature dendritic cells (DCs)) to sustain the anti-tumor immune response. Furthermore, myeloid-derived IL-23 and IL-27 cytokines can also promote NK cell activity by inducing IFN-y production, but they can also negatively influence the NK-myeloid cell anti-tumor crosstalk by secretion of tumor-promoting cytokines such as IL-17 and IL-10, respectively. This suggests a dual role of IL-23 and IL-27 in NK cell-mediated tumor immunity. In line with the dual roles of certain cytokines, myeloid cells can become immune suppressive (myeloid-derived suppressor cells; MDSCs). This is frequently occurring during cancer progression. MDSCs secrete a plethora of immune suppressive cytokines that negatively influence the anti-tumor potential of NK cells per se but also impair anti-tumor responses normally resulting from the NK-myeloid cell crosstalk. For example, suppressive cytokines promote NK cell exhaustion and directly impair NK cell-mediated cytolytic activity, while limiting the ability of myeloid cells to produce NK cell stimulatory cytokines such as IL-12, IL-15, and IL-18. Green arrows indicate positive interactions and red arrows indicate negative interactions. (B) Therapeutic approaches that directly or indirectly modulate cytokine mediators that enhance NK cell-mediated anti-cancer responses in the TME. Simplified illustrations showing validated therapeutic approaches that can either restore or reinforce a stimulatory cytokine environment to augment NK cellmediated tumor killing activity. On one hand, immunomodulatory drugs (IMiDs) such as lenalidomide can indirectly augment NK cell anti-tumor activity by reducing the levels of pro-tumorigenic factors, such as IL-6 and VEGF, while stimulating other immune cells to secrete IL-2. Accordingly, targeted blockade of immunesuppressive cytokines, such as IL-6, TGF-β can also positively impact NK-myeloid anti-tumor cross-talk in a similar manner. On the other hand, recombinant or synthetic cytokines as well as cell-based therapies such as cytokine-secreting CAR-NK cells can directly influence NK cell-mediated cancer cell killing. Importantly, cytokine-activated NK cells can further edit myeloid cells to enhance anti-tumor response via the production of inflammatory cytokines, such as IFN-y. Light green arrows show the mode of therapeutic action.

in mammary and melanoma tumor models in an NK cell-dependent manner (55, 92).

Interleukin-27

The IL-27 heterodimer is composed of p28 and EBI3 and promotes pro- and anti-inflammatory functions mainly through STAT1 and STAT3 (93). Like IL-23, IL-27 shows differential activity on human CD56^{bright} and CD56^{dim} subsets, maybe related to the higher expression of IL-27R α in the CD56^{bright} subset (48). While CD56^{dim} NK cells are not affected, CD56^{bright} NK cells acquire a regulatory phenotype. Yet, *in vivo* studies on a murine squamous cell carcinoma model and *in vitro* analysis on human NK cells also demonstrated that IL-27 primes NK cells to respond to IL-18, while inducing perforin, granzyme B, NKp46, and NKG2D expression, as well as promoting antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) (49–52, 94, 95).

Critical Role of Gamma-Chain Cytokines Released by Myeloid Cells in Promoting Natural Killer Cell Survival, Proliferation, and Functions

The gamma-chain family consists of cytokines such as IL-2, IL-4, IL-7, IL-9, IL-15, and IL-21 that all bind the common gammachain receptor. Below we will focus the discussion on IL-15 and IL-21 that are commonly derived from myeloid cells.

Interleukin-15

IL-15/IL-5Rα induces NK cell survival and proliferation by acting as a soluble form or presented at the DC membrane. As mentioned above, it is also an essential driver of NK cell development and activation (37–39, 96). IL-15 expression correlates with NK cell infiltration in human tumor samples (97), and data from a murine melanoma model indicate CD11b⁺Ly6C^{hi}Ly6G⁻ monocytic cells are the major source of this cytokine (78). IL-15, together with IL-12, also indirectly regulates NK cell functions by controlling metabolism *via* mTORC1 activation, which stimulates nutrient uptake, glycolysis, and OXPHOS, thereby providing the energy for NK cell proliferation, proper functions and enhanced persistance (36, 98). Interestingly, chronic IL-15 stimulation of NK cells results in exhaustion by reducing the mitochondrial respiratory capacity (99).

Interleukin-21

In addition to IL-15, DCs also release IL-21, which following STAT3 and STAT1 signaling in NK cells, promotes NK cell cytotoxicity *via* increased granzyme B and perforin expression. Moreover, STAT1 and PI3K pathways are essential for IL-21-mediated reversal of NK cell exhaustion in mice and for intratumoral human NK cells cultured *in vitro* (45). Interestingly, IL-21 differentially regulates the expression of activating receptors by inducing NKp30 levels while reducing NKG2D/DAP10 expression in human NK cell (100). However, IL-21 contributes to tumor rejection in an NKG2D-dependent manner in multiple mouse tumor models (101).

Interleukin-17 Can Promote Natural Killer Cell Cytotoxicity While Limiting Terminal Differentiation of Natural Killer Cells

Neutrophils are the major producers of IL-17, which binds to a dimeric receptor and mainly signals through the NF-kB and ERK pathways (102). IL-17 has been shown to enhance NK cell recruitment in human esophageal cancer through tumor-derived chemokines and NK cell cytotoxicity through the increased expression of activating receptors, perforin, granzyme B, TNF- α , and IFN- γ (103). However, IL-17 has also been reported to limit IL-15-mediated terminal murine NK cell differentiation *via* upregulation of suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS), which inhibits STAT5 phosphorylation, and reduces NK cell killing in the presence of IFN- γ (56).

Context-Dependent Role of Interleukin-18 in Cancer

Upon interaction with its heterodimeric receptor and the activation of the MyD88 signaling pathway, IL-18 primes NK cells to produce IFN- γ (104). *In vitro* data also show that IL-18 can favor the differentiation of human CD56^{dim} CCR7⁺ CD25⁺ CD83⁺ helper NK cells, which control tumor dissemination and CD8⁺ T cell activation through the crosstalk with DCs in the lymph nodes (40, 41, 105). Similar to other activating cytokines, such as IL-17 above, also IL-18 can display immunosuppressive features by boosting TGF- β -mediated immunosuppression (106), formation of MDSCs, and induction of PD1 expression on NK cells in mouse models (42, 107, 108). Notably, the upregulation of IL-18 binding protein (IL-18BP), which sequesters IL-18 as a physiological negative feedback mechanism, has been reported as an immune escape strategy (42, 109).

NATURAL KILLER CELL DYSFUNCTION IN THE TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT TRIGGERED BY MYELOID-DERIVED CYTOKINES

Although the NK-myeloid crosstalk stimulates anti-tumor immunity by NK cells in the early tumor development, immunosuppressive cytokines promoting NK cell dysfunction predominate in the aggravated TME of more advanced tumors. Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) and MDSCs are usually the main myeloid cell populations in such TME and represent the major producers of NK cell suppressive TGF- β and IL-10 (**Figure 1A** and **Table 1A**) (110).

Transforming Growth Factor-β

As mentioned above, TGF- β is a key suppressor of NK cell migration, cytotoxicity, and cytokine production *via* transcriptional and post-transcriptional control of receptor and effector molecule expression (111). As an example, TGF- β -mediated downregulation of CX3CR1 can limit NK cell migration towards the tumor site (25); similarly, the
downregulation of activating receptors including NKG2D and NKp30 as well as the adaptor proteins DAP10 and DAP12 triggered by TGF- β diminishes human NK cell cytotoxicity *in vitro* (26–28, 111). TGF- β -mediated NK cell conversion into Eomes⁻ ILC1 with increased expression levels of inhibitory receptors may represent an additional mechanism to reduce NK cell cytotoxicity in mouse tumor models (29), while a third mechanism is the inhibition of signaling pathways downstream of pro-inflammatory cytokines (30, 36, 111, 112). TGF- β -induced miRNA targets STAT1, which is essential for perforin expression (111), whereas blockade of IL-15-mediated mTOR activity dampens NK cell metabolism. Beyond this, TGF- β also reduces NK cell-mediated IFN- γ and TNF- α production in both human and mouse (29, 30, 36, 111, 112).

Interleukin-10

Like TGF- β , IL-10 directly inhibits IFN- γ and TNF- α production by NK cells *in vitro*. This effect is also indirectly mediated *via* inhibition of IL-12, IL-15, and IL-18 production in myeloid cells (24, 58). Yet, in the presence of IL-12 and IL-18, IL-10 has also been shown to stimulate NK cell proliferation, cytotoxicity, and IFN- γ production *in vitro via* the STAT3 signaling pathway (24, 31, 113, 114). More studies are needed to determine this complex relationship between NK cell suppressive and possibly NK cell promoting properties of IL-10.

Interleukin-32 α

Another myeloid-derived immunosuppressive cytokine that can characterize the NK cell suppressive TME is IL-32 α . IL-32 α , which is often found highly expressed in the TME (115), inhibits IL-15-induced upregulation of perforin and granzyme B *in vitro* (34). Interestingly, dysregulated levels of IL-32 α impairs human NK cell functions in chronic myelomonocytic leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome (116).

Interleukin-1_β

IL-1 β is released by monocytes, DCs, and macrophages and stimulates the expansion of CD11b⁺Gr-1⁺Ly6C⁻ MDSCs, which are potent inhibitors of murine NK cells *in vivo* (117). This cytokine has also been reported to maintain human NK cells in an immature state in the presence of IL-15 in secondary lymphoid tissues (23). Similarily to several cytokines above, IL-1 β can also have NK cell promoting effects. One example is by indirectly promoting NK cell IFN- γ release by inducing IL-21 production in Th9 cells in mice (118).

NATURAL KILLER CELL-DERIVED CYTOKINES REGULATING MYELOID CELLS IN THE TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT

Upon cytokine stimulation and target cell encounter, NK cells themselves produce a range of cytokines such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), and in some cases IL-10, that in turn modulate myeloid cells (119–121) (Figure 1A and Table 1B). In this section, we will summarize how cytokines released by NK cells affect the NK-myeloid cell crosstalk.

Dendritic Cells

DCs are central in triggering immune responses by T and NK cells. However, NK cells are also important for the DC function. In addition to cell-to-cell contact, NK cell-derived IFN- γ , TNF- α , and GM-CSF play a key role in the maturation and activation of human antigen-presenting DCs in the TME and lymphoid organs (59–61, 122). Further, activated human DCs maintain the IFN- γ production and induce high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) production in NK cells *via* secretion of IL-12 and IL-18, resulting in further DC activation and maturation (43, 65). Hence, NK cells can be central in promoting DC maturation and activation, thereby feeding the positive loop of NK-myeloid crosstalk involving DCs in the TME.

Tumor-Associated Macrophages

TAMs are often immunosuppressive and known drivers of tumor progression (123). However, macrophages in the TME have a high degree of plasticity and can even display a proinflammatory phenotype (M1) and release IFN- γ and TNF- α (124). *In vitro* studies have shown that IFN- γ is the main cytokine that drives classical activation of macrophages and polarizes them towards an M1-like phenotype (62). Indeed, as highlighted in a murine sarcoma model, NK cell-derived IFN- γ promotes M1 polarization of macrophages (63). Additionally, TNF- α , and GM-CSF also support an inflammatory phenotype in macrophages (62). Hence, NK cells can also have a critical role in maintaining a pro-inflammatory phenotype of TAMs.

Tumor-Associated Neutrophils

Similar to TAMs, tumor-associated neutrophils (TANs) can be both tumor-promoting or pro-inflammatory and thereby counteract tumor growth. Recently, the first studies have investigated the interaction of NK cells with TANs in mouse models. NK cell-derived IFN- γ inhibits the tumor-promoting function of TANs in murine sarcoma and lung cancer models (64). NK cell-derived GM-CSF appears to promote Neutrophils Extracellular Trap formation by neutrophils, which can support tumor metastasis (66, 67).

Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells

MDSCs include a heterogenous group of myeloid cells that have a markedly strong immunosuppressive ability. While NK cellderived GM-CSF results in DC activation and macrophage polarization towards an anti-tumorigenic phenotype, GM-CSF expands MDSCs in human and murine tumors (62, 125, 126). The exact role of NK cell-derived GM-CSF in promoting MDSC expansion in the TME remains unclear but should likely not be neglected. Importantly, it is clear that NK cells can promote MDSCs in the TME also by other mechanisms. A CD73⁺ IL-10secreting subset of NK cells was recently identified in human sarcomas (127). While IL-10 promotes regulatory T cells (Tregs), it has also been shown to maintain the immune-suppressive functions of MDSCs in ovarian cancer (128).

THERAPEUTIC APPROACHES TO DIRECTLY STIMULATE NATURAL KILLER CELLS OR TO REVERT THE TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT TO FAVOR NATURAL KILLER CELL ANTI-TUMOR RESPONSES

As highlighted in the previous sections, controlling the cytokine milieu in the TME is likely key to unleash the full potential of NK cell-based immunotherapies for several malignancies. Below, we will discuss ongoing and future approaches to enhance NK cell cytotoxicity in the TME (**Figure 1B**).

Administration of Cytokines

Administration of cytokines to boost NK cell anti-tumor cytotoxicity has been widely explored in the recent years. IL-2, IL-12, IL-15, and IL-21 represent the most promising cytokines under investigation. While IL-2 acts on several immune cell populations, the effects of IL-15 is mainly limited to NK cells and CD8⁺ T cells. Promising results have been obtained in phase I clinical trials for melanoma and hematologic malignancies using ALT-803 (an IL-15 mutein/IL-15Ra complex fused with the IgG1 Fc) (129, 130). However, side-effects observed following high-dose administration of both IL-2 and IL-15 represents a major challenge along with mobilization of Tregs (131, 132). An alternative strategy to reduce the risk of side-effects while stimulating NK cells more specifically is the use of IL-2 mutants, such as IL-2 F42K and IL-2 H9 that compared to wildtype IL-2 preferentially bind IL-2R α and thereby increases NK cell activation without inducing Treg expansion (133-135). Likewise, although the use of IL-18 therapy did not show toxicity and was ineffective in several clinical trials, a novel IL-18 mutant has been recently shown to induce NK cell anti-tumor activity (136).

To avoid the toxicities of high-dose cytokines, investigators have also addressed the use of lower doses following adoptive NK cell transfer or combined with checkpoint blockade or fused to anti-tumor antibodies. Intermediate doses of IL-2 have been explored to support adoptively infused NK cells (5). In this context, IL-2 is intended to promote persistence and expansion of the infused donor NK cells, however, data also show IL-2 mobilizes Tregs which likely counteract the effect of the transferred NK cells. As clinical protocols on adoptive NK cell transfer where post-infusion IL-2 has been omitted report similar outcomes as those with IL-2 (137), it remains unclear as to whether post-NK cell infusion IL-2 is of benefit or not. Administration of IL-15 has also been used to support adoptively infused NK cells. However, although in initial trials report this cytokine may trigger better responses, intermediate doses of IL-15 were associated with cytokine-release syndrome (CRS) when administrated subcutaneously (138). Additional investigations are needed to identify which cytokines and the window in which they promote the effect of adoptively infused NK cells.

IL-15, IL-12, and IL-21 are under clinical investigation combined with anti-CTLA4, anti-TIM3, or anti-PD-1 (139, 140). Alternative approaches that are also currently explored are based on the generation of anti-tumor antibody-cytokine fusion molecules. Trispecific killer engagers (TriKEs) fused with IL-15 have demonstrated their ability to boost NK cell functions and persistence (141, 142), whereas IL-21 fused to anti-CD20 increases mouse survival in a lymphoma model (143). Future studies have to address the clinical efficacy of these approaches.

Modulation and Prevention of Cytokine Signaling

In addition to the more direct cytokine-based treatment approaches discussed above, there are also indirect strategies explored. Targeting pathways downstream of cytokine receptors may represent an alternative or complementary approach. Inhibition of SOCS proteins is promising since blockade of the STAT5 inhibitor CIS increases NK cell-mediated anti-tumor activity (144). In preclinical models, agonists of the stimulator of IFN genes (STING) pathway induce tumor regression by stimulating IL-15 production by infiltrating myeloid cells (145). Data also support the potential of GSK3 inhibitors in promoting maturation and cytotoxicity of NK cells following expansion ex vivo with IL-15 (146) GSK3 inhibition increased NK cell production of TNF and IFN- γ as well as bolstered the NK cytotoxicity per se and via ADCC, which translated into better tumor control of human ovarian cancer in a mouse model. An alterantive strategy is to alter the cytokine environment in the TME by neutralizing immunosuppressive cytokines. Ongoing trials with anti-TGF- β (Fresolimumab) and inhibitors of TGF- β signaling (140) will show if such approach has potential for the future. Depletion and/or prevention of the infiltration of suppressive cytokineproducing myeloid cells in the TME per se represents a tempting and yet incompletely explored alternative that indirectly would bolster the anti-tumor properties of NK cells. This approach needs further attention in future studies.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The network of cells and signals in the TME is complex and not yet fully understood. However, ample evidence show that this environment most often is NK cell suppressive, especially in more advanced disease. Yet, the NK-myeloid cell crosstalk is central in shaping NK cell anti-tumor responses and that a better understanding of this crosstalk is required to improve outcomes of NK cell-based cancer immunotherapies. While strategies directed towards boosting NK cell cytotoxicity *per se* using cytokines or drugs that modulate cytokine signaling, other complementory approaches directed towards reverting the TME to favor anti-tumor immunity is likely required to promote longterm responses.

As pointed out in this mini review, challenges hindering prompt progress in the field include the multitude of different cell types in the TME along with the context-dependent functions of several cytokines derived from both the myeloid cells and the NK cells. We predict that recent developments related to genetic engineering of NK cells along with the arsenal of new cytokine mutants as well as targeted and immunomodulatory drugs, alone or combination, can facilitate progress in the field. We foresee the use of genetically engineered NK cells to help improve their efficacy *per se* but also to resist and persist in the TME and thereby have the chance to revert it to a more pro-inflammatory milieu optimal for initating potent durable anti-tumor immune reponses. CAR-NK cells equipped with cytokine signaling elements or dominant negative cytokine receptors are examples that hold promise. We are positive that this along with further insights in the basic biology of cytokines and cytokine signaling will help improve NK cell-based cancer immunotherapy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SG, KW, MC, and SM have together outlined and written the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Chiossone L, Dumas P-Y, Vienne M, Vivier E. Natural killer cells and other innate lymphoid cells in cancer. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2018) 18:671–88. doi: 10.1038/s41577-018-0061-z
- Long EO, Sik Kim H, Liu D, Peterson ME, Rajagopalan S. Controlling Natural Killer Cell Responses: Integration of Signals for Activation and Inhibition. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2013) 31:227–58. doi: 10.1146/annurevimmunol-020711-075005
- Malmberg K-J, Carlsten M, Björklund A, Sohlberg E, Bryceson YT, Ljunggren H-G. Natural killer cell-mediated immunosurveillance of human cancer. Semin Immunol (2017) 31:20–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.smim.2017.08.002
- Ruggeri L, Capanni M, Urbani E, Perruccio K, Shlomchik WD, Tosti A, et al. Effectiveness of donor natural killer cell alloreactivity in mismatched hematopoietic transplants. *Science* (2002) 295:2097–100. doi: 10.1126/ science.1068440
- Miller JS, Soignier Y, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, McNearney SA, Yun GH, Fautsch SK, et al. Successful adoptive transfer and in vivo expansion of human haploidentical NK cells in patients with cancer. *Blood* (2005) 105:3051–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-07-2974
- Carlsten M, Norell H, Bryceson YT, Poschke I, Schedvins K, Ljunggren H-G, et al. Primary human tumor cells expressing CD155 impair tumor targeting by down-regulating DNAM-1 on NK cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:4921–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901226
- Carlsten M, Baumann BC, Simonsson M, Jädersten M, Forsblom A-M, Hammarstedt C, et al. Reduced DNAM-1 expression on bone marrow NK cells associated with impaired killing of CD34+ blasts in myelodysplastic syndrome. *Leukemia* (2010) 24:1607–16. doi: 10.1038/leu.2010.149
- Devillier R, Chrétien A-S, Pagliardini T, Salem N, Blaise D, Olive D. Mechanisms of NK cell dysfunction in the tumor microenvironment and current clinical approaches to harness NK cell potential for immunotherapy. *J Leukocyte Biol* (2020). doi: 10.1002/JLB.5MR0920-198RR
- Melaiu O, Lucarini V, Cifaldi L, Fruci D. Influence of the Tumor Microenvironment on NK Cell Function in Solid Tumors. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:3038. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.03038
- Sarhan D, Wang J, Sunil Arvindam U, Hallstrom C, Verneris MR, Grzywacz B, et al. Mesenchymal stromal cells shape the MDS microenvironment by inducing suppressive monocytes that dampen NK cell function. *JCI Insight* (2020) 5(5): e130155. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.130155
- 11. Romero AI, Thorén FB, Brune M, Hellstrand K. NKp46 and NKG2D receptor expression in NK cells with CD56dim and CD56bright phenotype: regulation by histamine and reactive oxygen species. Br J Haematol (2006) 132:91–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2005.05842.x
- Iyori M, Zhang T, Pantel H, Gagne BA, Sentman CL. TRAIL/DR5 plays a critical role in NK cell-mediated negative regulation of dendritic cell crosspriming of T cells. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:3087–95. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1003879

FUNDING

This work was supported by funding from Jeanssons Stiftelser (MC), Swedish Society for Medical Research (MC), Wallenberg Clinical Fellow (MC), Cancerfonden (MC) and the Swedish Research Council (MC) as well as from Fondation Arc Pour La Recherche Sur Le Cancer (SM), Ligue Nationale Contre Le Cancer (SM), Cancéropôle Nord-Ouest (SM), and CPER (SM).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the funding agencies supporting our work.

- Pallmer K, Oxenius A. Recognition and Regulation of T Cells by NK Cells. Front Immunol (2016) 7:251. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00251
- Raulet DH. Interplay of natural killer cells and their receptors with the adaptive immune response. *Nat Immunol* (2004) 5:996–1002. doi: 10.1038/ ni1114
- Salagianni M, Lekka E, Moustaki A, Iliopoulou EG, Baxevanis CN, Papamichail M, et al. NK cell adoptive transfer combined with Ontakmediated regulatory T cell elimination induces effective adaptive antitumor immune responses. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:3327–35. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1000652
- Kumar V, Patel S, Tcyganov E, Gabrilovich DI. The Nature of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Trends Immunol* (2016) 37:208–20. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016.01.004
- Veglia F, Gabrilovich DI. Dendritic cells in cancer: the role revisited. Curr Opin Immunol (2017) 45:43–51. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2017.01.002
- Kiss M, Van Gassen S, Movahedi K, Saeys Y, Laoui D. Myeloid cell heterogeneity in cancer: not a single cell alike. *Cell Immunol* (2018) 330:188–201. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2018.02.008
- Vivier E, Raulet DH, Moretta A, Caligiuri MA, Zitvogel L, Lanier LL, et al. Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. *Science* (2011) 331:44–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1198687
- Böttcher JP, Bonavita E, Chakravarty P, Blees H, Cabeza-Cabrerizo M, Sammicheli S, et al. NK Cells Stimulate Recruitment of cDC1 into the Tumor Microenvironment Promoting Cancer Immune Control. *Cell* (2018) 172:1022–1037.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.01.004
- Walzer T, Dalod M, Robbins SH, Zitvogel L, Vivier E. Natural-killer cells and dendritic cells: "l'union fait la force." *Blood* (2005) 106:2252–8. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2005-03-1154
- Yang L, Pang Y, Moses HL. TGF-beta and immune cells: an important regulatory axis in the tumor microenvironment and progression. *Trends Immunol* (2010) 31:220–7. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2010.04.002
- Hughes T, Becknell B, Freud AG, McClory S, Briercheck E, Yu J, et al. Interleukin-1β Selectively Expands and Sustains Interleukin-22+ Immature Human Natural Killer Cells in Secondary Lymphoid Tissue. *Immunity* (2010) 32:803–14. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010.06.007
- Mannino MH, Zhu Z, Xiao H, Bai Q, Wakefield MR, Fang Y. The paradoxical role of IL-10 in immunity and cancer. *Cancer Lett* (2015) 367:103–7. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2015.07.009
- Regis S, Caliendo F, Dondero A, Casu B, Romano F, Loiacono F, et al. TGFβ1 Downregulates the Expression of CX3CR1 by Inducing miR-27a-5p in Primary Human NK Cells. Front Immunol (2017) 8:868:868. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2017.00868
- 26. Castriconi R, Cantoni C, Chiesa MD, Vitale M, Marcenaro E, Conte R, et al. Transforming growth factor β 1 inhibits expression of NKp30 and NKG2D receptors: Consequences for the NK-mediated killing of dendritic cells. *PNAS* (2003) 100:4120–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0730640100
- 27. Espinoza JL, Takami A, Yoshioka K, Nakata K, Sato T, Kasahara Y, et al. Human microRNA-1245 down-regulates the NKG2D receptor in natural

killer cells and impairs NKG2D-mediated functions. *Haematologica* (2012) 97:1295–303. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2011.058529

- Park YP, Choi S-C, Kiesler P, Gil-Krzewska A, Borrego F, Weck J, et al. Complex regulation of human NKG2D-DAP10 cell surface expression: opposing roles of the γc cytokines and TGF-β1. *Blood* (2011) 118:3019– 27. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-04-346825
- Gao Y, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Bald T, Ng SS, Young A, Ngiow SF, et al. Tumor immunoevasion by the conversion of effector NK cells into type 1 innate lymphoid cells. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18:1004–15. doi: 10.1038/ ni.3800
- 30. Viel S, Marçais A, Guimaraes FS-F, Loftus R, Rabilloud J, Grau M, et al. TGF-β inhibits the activation and functions of NK cells by repressing the mTOR pathway. *Sci Signal* (2016) 9:ra19. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aad1884
- Lauw FN, Pajkrt D, Hack CE, Kurimoto M, van Deventer SJ, van der Poll T. Proinflammatory effects of IL-10 during human endotoxemia. *J Immunol* (2000) 165:2783–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.5.2783
- Cai G, Kastelein RA, Hunter CA. IL-10 enhances NK cell proliferation, cytotoxicity and production of IFN-γ when combined with IL-18. *Eur J Immunol* (1999) 29:2658–65. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199909) 29:09<2658::AID-IMMU2658>3.0.CO;2-G
- Parato KG, Kumar A, Badley AD, Sanchez-Dardon JL, Chambers KA, Young CD, et al. Normalization of natural killer cell function and phenotype with effective anti-HIV therapy and the role of IL-10. *AIDS* (2002) 16:1251–6. doi: 10.1097/00002030-200206140-00007
- Gorvel L, Korenfeld D, Tung T, Klechevsky E. Dendritic Cell–Derived IL-320: A Novel Inhibitory Cytokine of NK Cell Function. J Immunol (2017) 199:1290–300. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601477
- Almishri W, Santodomingo-Garzon T, Le T, Stack D, Mody CH, Swain MG. TNFα Augments Cytokine-Induced NK Cell IFNγ Production through TNFR2. JIN (2016) 8:617–29. doi: 10.1159/000448077
- O'Brien KL, Finlay DK. Immunometabolism and natural killer cell responses. Nat Rev Immunol (2019) 19:282–90. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0139-2
- Lucas M, Schachterle W, Oberle K, Aichele P, Diefenbach A. Dendritic Cells Prime Natural Killer Cells by trans-Presenting Interleukin 15. *Immunity* (2007) 26:503–17. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.03.006
- Koka R, Burkett P, Chien M, Chai S, Boone DL, Ma A. Cutting Edge: Murine Dendritic Cells Require IL-15Rα to Prime NK Cells. J Immunol (2004) 173:3594–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.6.3594
- Wagner JA, Rosario M, Romee R, Berrien-Elliott MM, Schneider SE, Leong JW, et al. CD56^{bright} NK cells exhibit potent antitumor responses following IL-15 priming. J Clin Invest (2017) 127:4042–58. doi: 10.1172/ JCI90387
- Mailliard RB, Alber SM, Shen H, Watkins SC, Kirkwood JM, Herberman RB, et al. IL-18–induced CD83+CCR7+ NK helper cells. J Exp Med (2005) 202:941–53. doi: 10.1084/jem.20050128
- Wong JL, Mailliard RB, Moschos SJ, Edington H, Lotze MT, Kirkwood JM, et al. Helper Activity of Natural Killer Cells During the Dendritic Cellmediated Induction of Melanoma-specific Cytotoxic T Cells. *J Immunother* (2011) 34:270–8. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e31820b370b
- Fabbi M, Carbotti G, Ferrini S. Context-dependent role of IL-18 in cancer biology and counter-regulation by IL-18BP. J Leukocyte Biol (2015) 97:665– 75. doi: 10.1189/jlb.5RU0714-360RR
- Semino C, Angelini G, Poggi A, Rubartelli A. NK/iDC interaction results in IL-18 secretion by DCs at the synaptic cleft followed by NK cell activation and release of the DC maturation factor HMGB1. *Blood* (2005) 106:609–16. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-10-3906
- 44. Bellora F, Castriconi R, Dondero A, Pessino A, Nencioni A, Liggieri G, et al. TLR activation of tumor-associated macrophages from ovarian cancer patients triggers cytolytic activity of NK cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44:1814–22. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344130
- Seo H, Jeon I, Kim B-S, Park M, Bae E-A, Song B, et al. IL-21-mediated reversal of NK cell exhaustion facilitates anti-tumour immunity in MHC class I-deficient tumours. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:15776. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms15776
- Jones SA, Jenkins BJ. Recent insights into targeting the IL-6 cytokine family in inflammatory diseases and cancer. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2018) 18:773–89. doi: 10.1038/s41577-018-0066-7

- 47. Cifaldi L, Prencipe G, Caiello I, Bracaglia C, Locatelli F, De Benedetti F, et al. Inhibition of Natural Killer Cell Cytotoxicity by Interleukin-6: Implications for the Pathogenesis of Macrophage Activation Syndrome. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2015) 67:3037–46. doi: 10.1002/art.39295
- Laroni A, Gandhi R, Beynon V, Weiner HL. IL-27 Imparts Immunoregulatory Function to Human NK Cell Subsets. *PloS One* (2011) 6:e26173. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0026173
- Ziblat A, Domaica CI, Spallanzani RG, Iraolagoitia XLR, Rossi LE, Avila DE, et al. IL-27 stimulates human NK-cell effector functions and primes NK cells for IL-18 responsiveness. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45:192–202. doi: 10.1002/ eji.201444699
- Matsui M, Kishida T, Nakano H, Yoshimoto K, Shin-Ya M, Shimada T, et al. Interleukin-27 Activates Natural Killer Cells and Suppresses NK-Resistant Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma through Inducing Antibody-Dependent Cellular Cytotoxicity. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:2523–30. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2793
- Hemati M, Rasouli Nejad Z, Shokri M-R, Ghahremanfard F, Mir Mohammadkhani M, Kokhaei P. IL-27 impact on NK cells activity: Implication for a robust anti-tumor response in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2020) 82:106350. doi: 10.1016/ j.intimp.2020.106350
- Dondero A, Casu B, Bellora F, Vacca A, Luisi AD, Frassanito MA, et al. NK cells and multiple myeloma-associated endothelial cells: molecular interactions and influence of IL-27. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8(21):35088–102. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17070
- Wei J, Xia S, Sun H, Zhang S, Wang J, Zhao H, et al. Critical Role of Dendritic Cell-Derived IL-27 in Antitumor Immunity through Regulating the Recruitment and Activation of NK and NKT Cells. *J Immunol* (2013) 191:500–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300328
- Ziblat A, Nuñez SY, Raffo Iraolagoitia XL, Spallanzani RG, Torres NI, Sierra JM, et al. Interleukin (IL)-23 Stimulates IFN-γ Secretion by CD56bright Natural Killer Cells and Enhances IL-18-Driven Dendritic Cells Activation. *Front Immunol* (2018) 8:1959. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01959
- 55. Teng MWL, Andrews DM, McLaughlin N, von Scheidt B, Ngiow SF, Möller A, et al. IL-23 suppresses innate immune response independently of IL-17A during carcinogenesis and metastasis. *PNAS* (2010) 107:8328–33. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1003251107
- Wang X, Sun R, Hao X, Lian Z-X, Wei H, Tian Z. IL-17 constrains natural killer cell activity by restraining IL-15–driven cell maturation via SOCS3. *PNAS* (2019) 116:17409–18. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1904125116
- Qian X, Chen H, Wu X, Hu L, Huang Q, Jin Y. Interleukin-17 acts as doubleedged sword in anti-tumor immunity and tumorigenesis. *Cytokine* (2017) 89:34–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2015.09.011
- Konjević GM, Vuletić AM, Mirjačić Martinović KM, Larsen AK, Jurišić VB. The role of cytokines in the regulation of NK cells in the tumor environment. *Cytokine* (2019) 117:30–40. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2019.02.001
- Piccioli D, Sbrana S, Melandri E, Valiante NM. Contact-dependent stimulation and inhibition of dendritic cells by natural killer cells. J Exp Med (2002) 195:335–41. doi: 10.1084/jem.20010934
- Gerosa F, Baldani-Guerra B, Nisii C, Marchesini V, Carra G, Trinchieri G. Reciprocal activating interaction between natural killer cells and dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2002) 195:327–33. doi: 10.1084/jem.20010938
- Vitale M, Della Chiesa M, Carlomagno S, Pende D, Aricò M, Moretta L, et al. NK-dependent DC maturation is mediated by TNFalpha and IFNgamma released upon engagement of the NKp30 triggering receptor. *Blood* (2005) 106:566–71. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-10-4035
- Sica A, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas. J Clin Invest (2012) 122:787–95. doi: 10.1172/JCI59643
- O'Sullivan T, Saddawi-Konefka R, Vermi W, Koebel CM, Arthur C, White JM, et al. Cancer immunoediting by the innate immune system in the absence of adaptive immunity. J Exp Med (2012) 209:1869–82. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20112738
- Ogura K, Sato-Matsushita M, Yamamoto S, Hori T, Sasahara M, Iwakura Y, et al. NK Cells Control Tumor-Promoting Function of Neutrophils in Mice. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2018) 6:348–57. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0204
- 65. Mailliard RB, Son Y-I, Redlinger R, Coates PT, Giermasz A, Morel PA, et al. Dendritic cells mediate NK cell help for Th1 and CTL responses: two-signal

requirement for the induction of NK cell helper function. *J Immunol* (2003) 171:2366–73. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.5.2366

- Bertin F-R, Rys RN, Mathieu C, Laurance S, Lemarié CA, Blostein MD. Natural killer cells induce neutrophil extracellular trap formation in venous thrombosis. J Thromb Haemost (2019) 17:403–14. doi: 10.1111/jth.14339
- Yang L, Liu Q, Zhang X, Liu X, Zhou B, Chen J, et al. DNA of neutrophil extracellular traps promotes cancer metastasis via CCDC25. *Nature* (2020) 583(7814):133–8. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2394-6
- Louis C, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Yang Y, D'Silva D, Kratina T, Dagley L, et al. NK cell-derived GM-CSF potentiates inflammatory arthritis and is negatively regulated by CIS. *J Exp Med* (2020) 217(5):e20191421. doi: 10.1084/jem.20191421
- Gotthardt D, Putz EM, Grundschober E, Prchal-Murphy M, Straka E, Kudweis P, et al. STAT5 Is a Key Regulator in NK Cells and Acts as a Molecular Switch from Tumor Surveillance to Tumor Promotion. *Cancer Discovery* (2016) 6:414–29. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0732
- Huntington ND, Cursons J, Rautela J. The cancer-natural killer cell immunity cycle. Nat Rev Cancer (2020) 20(8):437–54. doi: 10.1038/ s41568-020-0272-z
- Galluzzi L, Buqué A, Kepp O, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic cell death in cancer and infectious disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2017) 17:97–111. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.107
- Castriconi R, Carrega P, Dondero A, Bellora F, Casu B, Regis S, et al. Molecular Mechanisms Directing Migration and Retention of Natural Killer Cells in Human Tissues. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2324. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.02324
- O'Sullivan TE, Sun JC, Lanier LL. Natural Killer Cell Memory. *Immunity* (2015) 43:634–45. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.09.013
- 74. Fehniger TA, Shah MH, Turner MJ, VanDeusen JB, Whitman SP, Cooper MA, et al. Differential Cytokine and Chemokine Gene Expression by Human NK Cells Following Activation with IL-18 or IL-15 in Combination with IL-12: Implications for the Innate Immune Response. *J Immunol* (1999) 162:4511–20.
- Leong JW, Chase JM, Romee R, Schneider SE, Sullivan RP, Cooper MA, et al. Preactivation with IL-12, IL-15, and IL-18 Induces CD25 and a Functional High-Affinity IL-2 Receptor on Human Cytokine-Induced Memory-like Natural Killer Cells. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2014) 20:463–73. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2014.01.006
- 76. Burkholder B, Huang R-Y, Burgess R, Luo S, Jones VS, Zhang W, et al. Tumor-induced perturbations of cytokines and immune cell networks. *Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA) Rev Cancer* (2014) 1845:182–201. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2014.01.004
- Ewen E-M, Pahl JHW, Miller M, Watzl C, Cerwenka A. KIR downregulation by IL-12/15/18 unleashes human NK cells from KIR/HLA-I inhibition and enhances killing of tumor cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2018) 48:355–65. doi: 10.1002/eji.201747128
- Carrero RMS, Beceren-Braun F, Rivas SC, Hegde SM, Gangadharan A, Plote D, et al. IL-15 is a component of the inflammatory milieu in the tumor microenvironment promoting antitumor responses. *PNAS* (2019) 116:599– 608. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1814642116
- Nguyen KB, Salazar-Mather TP, Dalod MY, Van Deusen JB, Wei X, Liew FY, et al. Coordinated and distinct roles for IFN-alpha beta, IL-12, and IL-15 regulation of NK cell responses to viral infection. *J Immunol* (2002) 169:4279–87. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.8.4279
- Müller L, Aigner P, Stoiber D. Type I Interferons and Natural Killer Cell Regulation in Cancer. Front Immunol (2017) 8:304. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2017.00304
- Paolini R, Bernardini G, Molfetta R, Santoni A. NK cells and interferons. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2015) 26:113–20. doi: 10.1016/j. cytogfr.2014.11.003
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Sheehan KCF, Shankaran V, Uppaluri R, Bui JD, et al. A critical function for type I interferons in cancer immunoediting. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:722–9. doi: 10.1038/ni1213
- Swann JB, Hayakawa Y, Zerafa N, Sheehan KCF, Scott B, Schreiber RD, et al. Type I IFN Contributes to NK Cell Homeostasis, Activation, and Antitumor Function. J Immunol (2007) 178:7540–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.12.7540
- Gough DJ, Messina NL, Clarke CJP, Johnstone RW, Levy DE. Constitutive type I interferon modulates homeostatic balance through tonic signaling. *Immunity* (2012) 36:166–74. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.01.011

- Montoya M, Schiavoni G, Mattei F, Gresser I, Belardelli F, Borrow P, et al. Type I interferons produced by dendritic cells promote their phenotypic and functional activation. *Blood* (2002) 99:3263–71. doi: 10.1182/ blood.v99.9.3263
- Thierfelder WE, van Deursen JM, Yamamoto K, Tripp RA, Sarawar SR, Carson RT, et al. Requirement for Stat4 in interleukin-12-mediated responses of natural killer and T cells. *Nature* (1996) 382:171-4. doi: 10.1038/382171a0
- Sun JC, Madera S, Bezman NA, Beilke JN, Kaplan MH, Lanier LL. Proinflammatory cytokine signaling required for the generation of natural killer cell memory. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209:947–54. doi: 10.1084/jem.20111760
- Yamamoto K, Shibata F, Miyasaka N, Miura O. The human perforin gene is a direct target of STAT4 activated by IL-12 in NK cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2002) 297:1245–52. doi: 10.1016/s0006-291x(02)02378-1
- Trinchieri G. Interleukin-12 and the regulation of innate resistance and adaptive immunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) 3:133–46. doi: 10.1038/nri1001
- Ferlazzo G, Pack M, Thomas D, Paludan C, Schmid D, Strowig T, et al. Distinct roles of IL-12 and IL-15 in human natural killer cell activation by dendritic cells from secondary lymphoid organs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2004) 101:16606–11. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0407522101
- Ni J, Hölsken O, Miller M, Hammer Q, Luetke-Eversloh M, Romagnani C, et al. Adoptively transferred natural killer cells maintain long-term antitumor activity by epigenetic imprinting and CD4+ T cell help. Oncoimmunology (2016) 5:e1219009. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1219009
- Teng MWL, von Scheidt B, Duret H, Towne JE, Smyth MJ. Anti-IL-23 Monoclonal Antibody Synergizes in Combination with Targeted Therapies or IL-2 to Suppress Tumor Growth and Metastases. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:2077–86. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3994
- Yoshida H, Hunter CA. The immunobiology of interleukin-27. Annu Rev Immunol (2015) 33:417–43. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112134
- Murugaiyan G, Saha B. IL-27 in tumor immunity and immunotherapy. Trends Mol Med (2013) 19:108–16. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2012.12.002
- Zwirner NW, Ziblat A. Regulation of NK Cell Activation and Effector Functions by the IL-12 Family of Cytokines: The Case of IL-27. Front Immunol (2017) 8:25. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00025
- 96. Anton OM, Peterson ME, Hollander MJ, Dorward DW, Arora G, Traba J, et al. *Trans* -endocytosis of intact IL-15Rα–IL-15 complex from presenting cells into NK cells favors signaling for proliferation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2020) 117:522–31. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1911678117
- Cursons J, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Foroutan M, Anderson A, Hollande F, Hediyeh-Zadeh S, et al. A Gene Signature Predicting Natural Killer Cell Infiltration and Improved Survival in Melanoma Patients. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2019) 7:1162–74. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0500
- Mao Y, van Hoef V, Zhang X, Wennerberg E, Lorent J, Witt K, et al. IL-15 activates mTOR and primes stress-activated gene expression leading to prolonged antitumor capacity of NK cells. *Blood* (2016) 128:1475–89. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-02-698027
- Felices M, Lenvik AJ, McElmurry R, Chu S, Hinderlie P, Bendzick L, et al. Continuous treatment with IL-15 exhausts human NK cells via a metabolic defect. JCI Insight (2018) 3(3):e96219. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.96219
- 100. Burgess SJ, Marusina AI, Pathmanathan I, Borrego F, Coligan JE. IL-21 Down-Regulates NKG2D/DAP10 Expression on Human NK and CD8+ T Cells. J Immunol (2006) 176:1490–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.3.1490
- Takaki R, Hayakawa Y, Nelson A, Sivakumar PV, Hughes S, Smyth MJ, et al. IL-21 Enhances Tumor Rejection through a NKG2D-Dependent Mechanism. *J Immunol* (2005) 175:2167–73. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.4.2167
- 102. Amatya N, Garg AV, Gaffen SL. IL-17 Signaling: The Yin and the Yang. Trends Immunol (2017) 38:310–22. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2017.01.006
- 103. Lu L, Pan K, Zheng H-X, Li J-J, Qiu H-J, Zhao J-J, et al. IL-17A Promotes Immune Cell Recruitment in Human Esophageal Cancers and the Infiltrating Dendritic Cells Represent a Positive Prognostic Marker for Patient Survival. J Immunother (2013) 36:451–8. doi: 10.1097/ CJI.0b013e3182a802cf
- Chaix J, Tessmer MS, Hoebe K, Fuséri N, Ryffel B, Dalod M, et al. Priming of Natural Killer cells by Interleukin-18. J Immunol (2008) 181:1627–31. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.3.1627
- 105. Wong JL, Berk E, Edwards RP, Kalinski P. IL-18–Primed Helper NK Cells Collaborate with Dendritic Cells to Promote Recruitment of Effector CD8+ T

Cells to the Tumor Microenvironment. Cancer Res (2013) 73:4653-62. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4366

- 106. Casu B, Dondero A, Regis S, Caliendo F, Petretto A, Bartolucci M, et al. Novel Immunoregulatory Functions of IL-18, an Accomplice of TGF-β1. *Cancers* (2019) 11:75. doi: 10.3390/cancers11010075
- 107. Terme M, Ullrich E, Aymeric L, Meinhardt K, Coudert JD, Desbois M, et al. Cancer-Induced Immunosuppression: IL-18–Elicited Immunoablative NK Cells. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:2757–67. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3379
- Lim HX, Hong H-J, Cho D, Kim TS. IL-18 Enhances Immunosuppressive Responses by Promoting Differentiation into Monocytic Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells. J Immunol (2014) 193:5453–60. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1401282
- 109. Carbotti G, Barisione G, Orengo AM, Brizzolara A, Airoldi I, Bagnoli M, et al. The IL-18 Antagonist IL-18–Binding Protein Is Produced in the Human Ovarian Cancer Microenvironment. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19:4611–20. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0568
- Grivennikov SI, Greten FR, Karin M. Immunity, Inflammation, and Cancer. Cell (2010) 140:883–99. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.025
- Regis S, Dondero A, Caliendo F, Bottino C, Castriconi R. NK Cell Function Regulation by TGF-β-Induced Epigenetic Mechanisms. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:311. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00311
- 112. Zaiatz-Bittencourt V, Finlay DK, Gardiner CM. Canonical TGF-β Signaling Pathway Represses Human NK Cell Metabolism. J Immunol (2018) 200:3934–41. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1701461
- 113. Park JY, Lee SH, Yoon S-R, Park Y-J, Jung H, Kim T-D, et al. IL-15-Induced IL-10 Increases the Cytolytic Activity of Human Natural Killer Cells. *Mol Cells* (2011) 32:265–72. doi: 10.1007/s10059-011-1057-8
- 114. Shibata Y, Foster LA, Kurimoto M, Okamura H, Nakamura RM, Kawajiri K, et al. Immunoregulatory Roles of IL-10 in Innate Immunity: IL-10 Inhibits Macrophage Production of IFN-γ-Inducing Factors but Enhances NK Cell Production of IFN-γ. J Immunol (1998) 161:4283–8.
- 115. Sloot YJE, Smit JW, Joosten LAB, Netea-Maier RT. Insights into the role of IL-32 in cancer. *Semin Immunol* (2018) 38:24–32. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2018.03.004
- 116. Marcondes AM, Mhyre AJ, Stirewalt DL, Kim S-H, Dinarello CA, Deeg HJ. Dysregulation of IL-32 in myelodysplastic syndrome and chronic myelomonocytic leukemia modulates apoptosis and impairs NK function. PNAS (2008) 105:2865–70. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0712391105
- 117. Elkabets M, Ribeiro VSG, Dinarello CA, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Santo JPD, Apte RN, et al. IL-1β regulates a novel myeloid-derived suppressor cell subset that impairs NK cell development and function. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40:3347–57. doi: 10.1002/eji.201041037
- Végran F, Berger H, Boidot R, Mignot G, Bruchard M, Dosset M, et al. The transcription factor IRF1 dictates the IL-21-dependent anticancer functions of TH9 cells. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15:758–66. doi: 10.1038/ni.2925
- 119. Cooper MA, Fehniger TA, Turner SC, Chen KS, Ghaheri BA, Ghayur T, et al. Human natural killer cells: a unique innate immunoregulatory role for the CD56 (bright) subset. *Blood* (2001) 97:3146–51. doi: 10.1182/blood.v97.10.3146
- Fauriat C, Long EO, Ljunggren H-G, Bryceson YT. Regulation of human NK-cell cytokine and chemokine production by target cell recognition. *Blood* (2010) 115:2167–76. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-08-238469
- Delahaye NF, Rusakiewicz S, Martins I, Ménard C, Roux S, Lyonnet L, et al. Alternatively spliced NKp30 isoforms affect the prognosis of gastrointestinal stromal tumors. *Nat Med* (2011) 17:700–7. doi: 10.1038/nm.2366
- 122. Morrissey PJ, Bressler L, Park LS, Alpert A, Gillis S. Granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor augments the primary antibody response by enhancing the function of antigen-presenting cells. *J Immunol* (1987) 139:1113–9.
- 123. Jayasingam SD, Citartan M, Thang TH, Mat Zin AA, Ang KC, Ch'ng ES. Evaluating the Polarization of Tumor-Associated Macrophages Into M1 and M2 Phenotypes in Human Cancer Tissue: Technicalities and Challenges in Routine Clinical Practice. *Front Oncol* (2019) 9:1512. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.01512
- 124. Mantovani A, Marchesi F, Malesci A, Laghi L, Allavena P. Tumourassociated macrophages as treatment targets in oncology. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2017) 14:399–416. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2016.217
- Becher B, Tugues S, Greter M. GM-CSF: From Growth Factor to Central Mediator of Tissue Inflammation. *Immunity* (2016) 45:963–73. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2016.10.026

- 126. Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:162–74. doi: 10.1038/ nri2506
- 127. Neo SY, Yang Y, Record J, Ma R, Chen X, Chen Z, et al. CD73 immune checkpoint defines regulatory NK cells within the tumor microenvironment. *J Clin Invest* (2020) 130:1185–98. doi: 10.1172/JCI128895
- Hart KM, Byrne KT, Molloy MJ, Usherwood EM, Berwin B. IL-10 immunomodulation of myeloid cells regulates a murine model of ovarian cancer. Front Immunol (2011) 2:29. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00029
- 129. Margolin K, Morishima C, Velcheti V, Miller JS, Lee SM, Silk AW, et al. Phase I Trial of ALT-803, A Novel Recombinant IL15 Complex, in Patients with Advanced Solid Tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 24:5552–61. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-0945
- Romee R, Cooley S, Berrien-Elliott MM, Westervelt P, Verneris MR, Wagner JE, et al. First-in-human phase 1 clinical study of the IL-15 superagonist complex ALT-803 to treat relapse after transplantation. *Blood* (2018) 131:2515–27. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-12-823757
- 131. Conlon KC, Lugli E, Welles HC, Rosenberg SA, Fojo AT, Morris JC, et al. Redistribution, Hyperproliferation, Activation of Natural Killer Cells and CD8 T Cells, and Cytokine Production During First-in-Human Clinical Trial of Recombinant Human Interleukin-15 in Patients With Cancer. J Clin Oncol (2015) 33:74–82. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.57.3329
- Abbas AK, Trotta E, Simeonov DR, Marson A, Bluestone JA. Revisiting IL-2: Biology and therapeutic prospects. *Sci Immunol* (2018) 3:eaat1482. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aat1482
- 133. Sim GC, Liu C, Wang E, Liu H, Creasy C, Dai Z, et al. IL2 Variant Circumvents ICOS+ Regulatory T-cell Expansion and Promotes NK Cell Activation. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2016) 4:983–94. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0195
- 134. Ardolino M, Azimi CS, Iannello A, Trevino TN, Horan L, Zhang L, et al. Cytokine therapy reverses NK cell anergy in MHC-deficient tumors. J Clin Invest (2014) 124:4781–94. doi: 10.1172/JCI74337
- Mitra S, Leonard WJ. Biology of IL-2 and its therapeutic modulation: Mechanisms and strategies. J Leukoc Biol (2018) 103:643–55. doi: 10.1002/ JLB.2RI0717-278R
- 136. Zhou T, Damsky W, Weizman O-E, McGeary MK, Hartmann KP, Rosen CE, et al. IL-18BP is a secreted immune checkpoint and barrier to IL-18 immunotherapy. *Nature* (2020) 583(7817):609–14. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2422-6
- 137. Björklund AT, Carlsten M, Sohlberg E, Liu LL, Clancy T, Karimi M, et al. Complete Remission with Reduction of High-Risk Clones following Haploidentical NK-Cell Therapy against MDS and AML. *Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 24:1834–44. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-3196
- 138. Cooley S, He F, Bachanova V, Vercellotti GM, DeFor TE, Curtsinger JM, et al. First-in-human trial of rhIL-15 and haploidentical natural killer cell therapy for advanced acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood Adv* (2019) 3:1970–80. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2018028332
- Waldmann TA. Cytokines in Cancer Immunotherapy. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2018) 10:a028472. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a028472
- 140. Berraondo P, Sanmamed MF, Ochoa MC, Etxeberria I, Aznar MA, Pérez-Gracia JL, et al. Cytokines in clinical cancer immunotherapy. *Br J Cancer* (2019) 120:6–15. doi: 10.1038/s41416-018-0328-y
- 141. Vallera DA, Felices M, McElmurry R, McCullar V, Zhou X, Schmohl JU, et al. IL15 Trispecific Killer Engagers (TriKE) Make Natural Killer Cells Specific to CD33+ Targets While Also Inducing Persistence, In Vivo Expansion, and Enhanced Function. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016) 22:3440–50. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2710
- 142. Felices M, Kodal B, Hinderlie P, Kaminski MF, Cooley S, Weisdorf DJ, et al. Novel CD19-targeted TriKE restores NK cell function and proliferative capacity in CLL. *Blood Adv* (2019) 3:897–907. doi: 10.1182/ bloodadvances.2018029371
- 143. Bhatt S, Parvin S, Zhang Y, Cho H-M, Kunkalla K, Vega F, et al. Anti-CD20interleukin-21 fusokine targets malignant B cells via direct apoptosis and NK-cell-dependent cytotoxicity. *Blood* (2017) 129:2246–56. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2016-09-738211
- 144. Scarno G, Pietropaolo G, Di Censo C, Gadina M, Santoni A, Sciumè G. Transcriptional, Epigenetic and Pharmacological Control of JAK/STAT

Pathway in NK Cells. Front Immunol (2019) 10:2456. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2019.02456

- 145. Carrero RMS, Beceren-Braun F, Rivas SC, Hegde SM, Gangadharan A, Plote D, et al. IL-15 is a component of the inflammatory milieu in the tumor microenvironment promoting antitumor responses. *PNAS* (2019) 116:599–608. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1814642116
- 146. Cichocki F, Valamehr B, Bjordahl R, Zhang B, Rezner B, Rogers P, et al. GSK3 Inhibition Drives Maturation of NK Cells and Enhances Their Antitumor Activity. *Cancer Res* (2017) 77:5664–75. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-0799

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Gaggero, Witt, Carlsten and Mitra. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Natural Killer–Dendritic Cell Immune Axis in Anti-Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy

Erin E. Peterson and Kevin C. Barry*

Translational Research Program, Public Health Sciences Division, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, Seattle, WA, United States

Natural killer (NK) cells and dendritic cells (DCs) are crucial mediators of productive immune responses to infection and disease. NK cells and a subtype of DCs, the type 1 conventional DCs (cDC1s), are individually important for regulating immune responses to cancer in mice and humans. Recent work has found that NK cells and cDC1s engage in intercellular cross-talk integral to initiating and coordinating adaptive immunity to cancer. This NK cell–cDC1 axis has been linked to increased overall survival and responses to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy in metastatic melanoma patients. Here, we review recent findings on the role of NK cells and cDC1s in protective immune responses to cancer and immunotherapy, as well as current therapies targeting this NK cell–cDC1 axis. Further, we explore the concept that intercellular cross-talk between NK cells and cDC1s may be key for many of the positive prognostic associations seen with NK cells and DCs individually. It is clear that increasing our understanding of the NK cell–cDC1 innate immune cell axis will be critical for the generation of novel therapies that can modulate anti-cancer immunity and increase patient responses to common immunotherapies.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yumeng Mao, Uppsala University, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Dhifaf Sarhan, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden Barbara Maier, Austrian Academy of Sciences (OeAW), Austria

> *Correspondence: Kevin C. Barry kbarry@fredhutch.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 25 October 2020 Accepted: 21 December 2020 Published: 03 February 2021

Citation:

Peterson EE and Barry KC (2021) The Natural Killer–Dendritic Cell Immune Axis in Anti-Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy. Front. Immunol. 11:621254. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.621254 Keywords: cancer immunology, immunotherapy, natural killer cell, dendritic cell, innate immunity

INTRODUCTION

Natural killer (NK) cells are important innate immune effectors that belong to the family of innate lymphoid cells (ILCs). In humans, NK cells are defined by the expression of CD56 (CD3⁻CD56⁺), while the expression of NK1.1 and NKp46 (CD3⁻NK1.1⁺NKp46⁺) define NK cells in mice. Human NK cells can be divided into two subsets—highly cytotoxic CD56^{dim}CD16^{high} cells located primarily in the peripheral blood, and cytokine-producing CD56^{high}CD16^{dim} cells found predominately in secondary lymphoid organs [rev. in (1, 2)]. Similar functional classes of NK cells are found in mice and defined by the expression of TNF-receptor superfamily member CD27 and the integrin CD11b/Mac-1 [rev. in (1, 2)]. NK cells are heterogeneous and plastic in nature, which leads to variable expression of a number of markers (CD16, natural cytotoxicity receptors, and others) that can be used to further classify NK cells based on their differentiation, tissue location, and microenvironmental cues [rev. in (3, 4)].

NK cell effector functions consist of direct cytotoxicity to infected, transformed, and/or physiologically stressed cells [rev. in (5, 6)] and modulation of immune responses through the

NK Cell-cDC1 Immune Axis in Cancer

production of cytokines and chemokines [rev. in (2, 7)]. These functions are regulated by an intricate balance of germlineencoded inhibitory and activating receptors [rev. in (2, 4)]. Inhibitory receptors expressed by NK cells include Ly49-type inhibitory receptors (in mice), killer immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs; in humans), and the CD94-NKG2A heterodimer (in humans and mice) [rev. in (2)]. Activating receptors expressed by NK cells include the natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs) NKp46, NKp44, and NKp30, the lectin-like type 2 transmembrane receptor NKG2D, DNAX accessory molecule 1 (DNAM1/CD226), and adhesion molecule lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1) [rev. in (2)]. These receptors balance inhibitory signals delivered through the recognition of self MHC-I molecules and activating ligands that are upregulated in response to cellular stress, infection, or transformation [rev. in (2, 8, 9)]. Additionally, NK cell function may be regulated by the immune checkpoint molecules PD-1, CTLA-4, TIGIT, LAG3, and TIM-3 [rev. in (4, 10)].

NK cells are integral to antiviral responses, anti-cancer immunity [rev. in (2, 7, 11, 12)], and have a role in cancer prevention (13). NK cell abundance in the tumor microenvironment (TME) is associated with greater overall survival in patients with melanoma (14–18), hepatocellular carcinoma (19), pulmonary adenocarcinoma (20), renal cell carcinoma (21), gastric cancer (22), breast cancer (23), squamous cell lung cancer (24), non-small cell lung cancer (25), and neuroblastoma (26). The protective immunity provided by NK cells is controlled by their direct cytotoxicity and the production of immunomodulatory cytokines and chemokines that sculpt local and distant immune cell responses [rev. in (2, 4, 7, 11, 12, 27)]. This critical association of NK cells with controlled tumor growth and metastasis highlights their role as dynamic anti-cancer agents [rev. in (4, 7)].

Dendritic cells (DCs) are an innate immune myeloid cell that provide an essential link between the innate and adaptive immune responses. As specialized antigen-presenting cells DCs play a key role in initiating T cell-mediated antigen-specific immunity and tolerance [rev. in (28)]. DCs perform this role by continuously sampling and presenting antigens to T cells *via* major histocompatibility complex (MHC) I and II, a process that is greatly increased upon activation [rev. in (29, 30)]. DC functions are shaped by the integration of environmental cues sensed by pattern recognition (PRRs) and cytokine receptors [rev. in (29, 31)].

Conventional DCs can be classified most simply as cDC1 or cDC2, both of which express CD11c and MHC-II in humans and mice [rev. in (32)]. cDC1s and cDC2s are defined by, and require, distinct transcription factors and cell surface markers, possess differential growth factor requirements, and, critically, undertake distinct functions (29). cDC1s rely on the transcription and growth factors BATF3, IRF8, BCL6, ID2, and FLT3L for development, and can be defined by expression of the chemokine receptor XCR1 and the C-type lectin endocytic receptor CLEC9A [rev. in (29, 32–34)]. Human cDC1s can be further identified by BDCA3 expression, while murine cDC1s can be defined as CD103⁺ or CD8 α^+ populations [rev in (29)].

cDC2s, on the other hand, depend on IRF4 and ZEB2 for development and express CD11b and CD172a [rev. in (29, 32)]. Classically, cDC1s are thought to induce robust CD8⁺ T cell responses, while cDC2s are thought to be more important for CD4⁺ T cell responses (29). cCD1s and cDC2s both play roles in anti-cancer immunity [rev. in (32) (35)], but we will focus on the protective effects of cDC1s in this review.

The presence of cDC1s in the TME is correlated with improved clinical outcomes in numerous cancers and serves as a strong biomarker for responsiveness to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy in metastatic melanoma patients (16, 17, 26, 32, 36-38). While cDC1s are rare in human and murine tumors, they efficiently cross-present exogenous antigens to CD8⁺ T cells, are capable of initiating de novo cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cell responses after migrating to the tumor-draining lymph node, and play an integral role in repriming CD8⁺ T cells directly in the TME [rev. in (29, 32, 36)] (Figure 1). Further, cDC1s can contribute to T helper (Th) 1 cell polarization of naive CD4⁺ T cells [rev. in (29, 32, 36)]. Augmenting cDC1 frequency in the tumor has resulted in enhanced tumor responses (16, 17, 32, 39). Alternatively, the in vivo depletion of cDC1s is associated with failed tumor rejection, immune escape, and an inability to respond to multiple T-cell immunotherapiessuch as immune checkpoint blockade and adoptive T cell therapy [rev. in (29, 32)]. Accordingly, cDC1s provide essential roles in anticancer immune responses and offer promising immunotherapeutic targets against cancer.

THE NATURAL KILLER-DENDRITIC CELL INNATE IMMUNE AXIS IN CANCER

There is a rich literature surrounding the individual functions of NK cells and DCs in anti-tumor immunity (2, 7, 16, 17). Recent work supports an integral role for NK cells in shaping DC maturation and promoting DC recruitment, retention, and/or survival in the tumor (2, 7, 16, 17). It is well known that NK cells can perform DC editing, a quality control process in which activated NK cells selectively kill immature DCs to ensure successful T cell priming by mature, immunogenic DCs [rev. in (2, 4)]. NK cell editing of DCs established a direct, functional relationship between NK cells and DCs [rev. in (2, 4)].

Emerging evidence indicates that NK cell-cDC1 interactions have a profound effect on anti-cancer immunity (**Figure 1**). NK cells promote the recruitment of cDC1s into the TME through the production of the chemokines CCL5, XCL1, and XCL2 (16). This pathway is abrogated by the presence of tumor-derived prostaglandin E2 (PGE₂), which leads to impaired NK cell function and downregulation of CCR5 and XCR1 receptors on cDC1s (16). *CCL5* expression has further been linked to NK cells and the abundance of cDC1s in neuroblastoma patient samples (26). NK cells also produce FLT3LG, the formative cytokine for cDC1s, in the TME (17) (**Figure 1**). *FLT3LG* expression and NK cell abundance in the tumor are correlated with increased cDC1 levels, better overall survival, and increased responses to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy in metastatic melanoma patients (17). Further, cDC1s and NK cells were positively correlated with



FIGURE 1 | The NK cell-cDC1 axis modulates the TME to boost immune responses to cancer. NK cell production of the chemokines CCL5, XCL1, and XCL2 recruits cDC1s to the tumor. Additionally, FLT3L produced by NK cells increases survival and/or differentiation of cCD1s in the tumor. IFN-γ produced by NK cells enhances cDC1 antigen presentation and maturation and leads to cDC1 production of IL-12, which can increase NK cell activity. cDC1s can further modulate NK cell activity through the expression of CD155 and/or CD112 which can signal through inhibitory receptors (TIGIT and CD96) or activating receptors (CD226/DNAM1) expressed on NK cells. Activated cDC1s in the TME upregulate CCR7 and migrate to the tumor-draining lymph node, where they activate naive CD8⁺ T cells. Effector CD8⁺ T cells are recruited to the TME, at least in part, by cDC1-produced CXCL9/10 and, critically, undergo local restimulation by cDC1s. Repriming of CD8⁺ T cells in the TME increases tumor control, patient survival, and improves responses to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy.

FLT3LG expression, T cell infiltration, increased survival, and the expression of checkpoint molecules (PD-1 and PD-L1) in the tumors of glioblastoma patients (26). NK cell production of FLT3LG may increase cDC1 survival in the TME, but other mechanisms, such as increasing the differentiation of precursor DCs (pre-DCs), remain possible (17). The importance of FLT3L control of cDC1s in the tumor was further demonstrated in a recent murine model of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) where FLT3L and anti-CD40 combination therapy restored cDC1 infiltration, improved CD8⁺ T cell and Th1 control of tumor growth, and boosted responses to external radiation therapy (40, 41). These data suggest that NK cells play an important role in recruiting and retaining cDC1s in the tumor, which subsequently activate protective anti-tumor CD8⁺ T cell responses (**Figure 1**).

The NK cell-cDC1 innate immune axis is undoubtably a bidirectional relationship with cDC1s playing an important role in regulating NK cells in the tumor. The role of DCs in shaping NK cell responses in cancer has been thoroughly reviewed recently [rev. in (42)]; thus, we will provide a brief description

of these mechanisms and how they may affect the NK cell-cDC1 axis. Activated DCs produce IL-12, which stimulates NK cells and anti-tumor T cell immunity [rev. in (32)] (43) (Figure 1). Further, IL-12 production by tumor-infiltrating DCs is required for effective anti-PD-1 immunotherapy responses (43). In addition to cytokines, DCs express a number of cell adhesion molecules with immune regulatory functions that can regulate NK cells [rev. in (44-47)] (Figure 1). CD155 and CD112 are two such molecules that are upregulated upon DC maturation and activation and can signal through the receptors CD226/DNAM1, TIGIT (T cell immunoreceptor with immunoglobulin and ITIM domains), and CD96 expressed on NK cells [rev. in (44-47)]. CD226 ligation by CD155 or CD112 can induce NK cell activation, while ligation of TIGIT inhibits NK cells (rev. in (44-47)]. Ligation of CD96 acts as an inhibitor of NK cell responses in mice, but the role of CD96 in human NK cells remains less clear (45). A recent study found that a subset of CD112-expressing DCs in the TME of human hepatocellular carcinoma interact with NK cells through CD226 and TIGIT (48). These data suggest that expression of CD155 and CD112 by DCs can modulate NK cell responses in the tumor. Importantly, NK cell expression of CD226 has been linked to the NK celldependent killing of immature and mature DCs expressing CD155 and CD112 (49), suggesting this pathway may play multiple roles in shaping the NK cell-cDC1 axis. The activation of NK cells by DCs (e.g., IL-12, CD226/CD155) may act as a feed-forward loop to increase DC activation through the induction of NK cell production of chemokines and cytokines, subsequently improving anti-tumor immune responses [rev. in (32)] (43). More research is needed to determine how DCdependent stimulation or inhibition of NK cells may shape production of XCL1, XCL2, CCL5, and FLT3LG in the TME. However, a bidirectional relationship between NK cells and cDC1s in the TME clearly exists and targeting cDC1 factors that influence NK cell activity may be another tool to increase immune responses to cancer.

NK cells and cDC1s make stable and close interactions in the TME of mouse ectopic B78 melanoma tumors (17) and multiplex immunofluorescence imaging of human glioblastoma found a similar close interaction (26). Given these findings, it is intriguing to hypothesize that local concentrations of chemokines and cytokines (e.g., FLT3LG, IFN- γ , or IL-12), or receptor-ligand interactions (e.g., CD226/CD155) that require cell-cell contacts, may control the NK cell-cDC1 axis. The spatial organization of NK cells and cDC1s in the tumor may be an important factor in controlling the NK cell-cDC1 axis (17, 26), but clearly more data is needed to fully define this spatial regulation.

The NK cell-cDC1 axis is integral for controlling immune responses to cancer and is linked to increased patient survival and/or responses to immunotherapies in metastatic melanoma, head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, triple negative breast cancer, and neuroblastoma (16, 17, 26). It is important to note that in certain tumor settings NK cells have been shown to have inhibitory effects on DC functions (50-52) and DCs can have inhibitory effects on NK cell functions [rev. in (44-47)]. These findings suggest that there may be tumor-specific regulation of the NK cell-cDC1 axis and highlight the need for more detailed studies of this innate immune axis across other cancer indications. The data presented here suggest that a better understanding of the mechanisms that influence the bidirectional relationship of NK cells and cDC1s in the tumor could be used to enhance existing therapies or reveal new therapeutic avenues to protect patients from cancer.

NK CELL REGULATION OF cDC1s IN PRE-CLINICAL MODELS OF CANCER

The NK cell-cDC1 axis has been defined within the TME and, as such, these cells are susceptible to tumor-induced immune suppression [rev. in (53–55)]. Conditions in the TME can lead to impairment of antigen presentation, activation of negative costimulatory signals (i.e., immunological checkpoints), and production of immunosuppressive and pro-apoptotic factors [rev. in (53–55)]. Metabolic restrictions within the tumor are also known to inhibit immune responses [rev. in (56)]. Namely,

nutrient and oxygen deficiency and increased concentration of metabolic products (e.g., adenosine, lactic acid, retinoic acid) (57–59) can pose significant challenges to infiltrating immune cells [rev. in (32)]. As such, diverse strategies have been explored to improve effector cell responses in cancer. Importantly, the NK cell-cDC1 axis must be studied in the context of these suppressive signals in the TME.

A number of studies have shown that shifting the cytokine milieu or metabolic factors in the TME to modulate NK cells activity can lead to protective immune responses to cancer [rev. in (2, 7)]. Here, we will review recent studies exploring these novel mechanisms and, further pose the question: are the protective responses seen by targeting NK cells, at least partially, due to changes in NK cell regulation of cDC1s in the tumor?

Adenosine 2A Receptor

Adenosine is an immunosuppressive metabolite present at high levels in the TME [rev. in (60-63)]. Adenosine signaling through A2A adenosine receptor (A2AR) on immune cells can dampen anti-tumor immune responses [rev. in (64)]. In a recent study, A2AR signaling was shown to inhibit NK cell maturation in mice at homeostasis and in the tumor (65). Transcriptional profiling of A2AR-deficient NK cells revealed decreased expression of the receptor tyrosine kinase KIT (CD117) and the interleukin-18 (IL-18) receptor IL18R1 (65). This transcriptional profile is interesting because it is opposite to a population of pro-tumorigenic KIT⁺ NK cells found to deplete peripheral pools of DCs (51). These findings suggest that inhibition of A2AR signaling in NK cells may lead to improved anti-tumor activity through a maintenance of DC populations. Further, A2AR-deficient NK cells were found to have enhanced maturation, maintain a proliferative advantage over wildtype NK cells, and protect against tumor development in a transplantable BRAF-melanoma tumor model (65). Taken together, these findings demonstrate that pairing A2AR antagonism with NK cell-based immunotherapies may provide a combinatorial strategy to improve therapeutic efficacy (65). Furthermore, these studies suggest that A2AR inhibition may help maintain the NK cell-cDC1 axis. Additional work will provide more insight into the role of the NK cell-cDC1 axis in the anti-tumor protection provided by A2AR antagonism.

Interleukin-18 (IL-18)

Treatment with high doses of IL-18 induce increased inflammation (66) and improved responses to immune checkpoint blockade (67) and CAR-T cells (68). A recent study generated a decoy-resistant IL-18 cytokine (DR-18) that has high binding affinity for the IL-18 receptor, IL-18R α , but is unable to bind to the decoy receptor, IL-18BP (69). DR-18 treatment protects animals from ectopic models of melanoma (YUMMER1.7) and colorectal cancer (MC38) (69). Further, in β 2m-deficient tumors, control of tumor growth by DR-18 requires NK cells, and DR-18 treatment increases the abundance of a cluster of NK cells that produce various effector molecule transcripts (*IFNG*, *PRF1*, *GZMB*), as well as the chemokines *CCL5* and *CCL4*, in the TME (69). CCL5 production by NK cells has previously been linked to increased recruitment of cDC1s to the TME (16). These data suggest that, in certain situations, NK cells upregulate chemokines that could increase cDC1 levels in the TME

in response to DR-18. However, in wildtype tumors, DR-18 acts directly on T cells in the TME and functions independently of cDC1s (69). Thus, it is intriguing to speculate that, depending on the setting, DR-18 treatment may protect against cancer in multiple ways, including by modulating the NK cell-cDC1 innate immune axis. However, it appears that direct stimulation of T cells in the TME may be the primary driver of protection, at least in the tumor models tested thus far.

TIGIT and CD96

TIGIT and CD96 are inhibitory receptors that signal through binding the shared ligand CD155 and CD112 or CD111, respectively (45). The role of TIGIT and CD96 in immune responses to cancer has been thoroughly reviewed elsewhere (45). As such, we will focus our discussion to recent findings regarding the role of TIGIT in regulating NK cell responses to cancer.

TIGIT⁺ NK cells are found in human hepatocellular carcinoma (70), human colorectal cancer, and a number of murine tumor models, including breast cancer (4T1), melanoma (B16), colon cancer (CT26), and MCA-induced fibrosarcoma (71). Interestingly, genetic or antibody blockade of TIGIT signaling on NK cells was found to increase NK cell function and boost cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cell responses and protective T cell-mediated memory responses (71). NK cells are required for the protective effects of anti-TIGIT alone or in combination with anti-PD-L1 immunotherapy and, in fact, are partially required for the protective immune responses caused by anti-PD-L1 treatment alone (71). Protective responses induced by anti-TIGIT treatment partially require IFN-y, and a role for direct NK cell cytotoxicity cannot be ruled out (71). It remains to be seen if these protective effects of NK cells in response to anti-TIGIT therapy function through the modulation of cDC1s in the TME, but, given the strong effects this NK cell-dependent treatment has on CD8⁺ T cells, it is an intriguing hypothesis.

MODULATION OF THE NK CELL-cDC1 AXIS IN THE CLINIC

NK cell-directed immunotherapies show great promise in the clinic [rev. in (2, 7)]. However, it is unknown if current NK cellbased therapies function through increasing cDC1s in the tumor. Here, we will discuss a recent clinical treatment, the intratumoral electroporation of a plasmid encoding IL-12 (tavokinogene telseplasmid; "tavo") (72–74), and explore its potential role in shaping the NK cell-cDC1 axis.

Interleukin-12 (IL-12), regulates NK cell and T cell responses, promotes Th1 polarization, and is a potent regulator of immune responses to infection and cancer [rev. in (75, 76)]. Systemic treatment with recombinant IL-12 (rIL-12) has shown efficacy in animal models of cancer, but these treatments are associated with modest clinical response and serious adverse events in patients [rev. in (77)]. Alternatively, intratumoral electroporation of tavo (IL-12) was found to be safe in a Phase I clinical trial,

demonstrated preliminary efficacy by increasing intratumoral IL-12 and IFN- γ , and led to remission in several patients (74). Two recent Phase II clinical trials of tavo (IL-12) electroporation found that this treatment leads to an increase in NK cell and cDC1-related transcripts in the tumor, an increase in CD8⁺ T cells in the tumor, and activation of systemic immune responses in treated patients (72, 73). In these studies, it was proposed that intratumoral electroporation of tavo (IL-12) appears to boost NK cell abundance in the tumor, which leads to an increase in abundance of protective cDC1s, increased T cell responses, and, in some patients, durable responses to treatment (72). It was further shown that intratumoral electroporation of tavo (IL-12) can increase immune infiltration in poorly infiltrated metastatic melanoma tumors and subsequently increase patient responses to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy (73).

These studies suggest that targeting the NK cell-cDC1 innate immune axis with the electroporation of IL-12 into the tumor may have efficacy as a single agent and may shape the TME to be more responsive to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy. It is important to note that electroporation of tavo (IL-12) could act directly on T cells to shape immune responses to melanoma, and thus more basic and clinical research is needed to fully elucidate the mechanisms by which this treatment is providing protection to patients. However, these correlative findings are consistent with IL-12 increasing NK cell activity in the TME and subsequently boosting cDC1 abundance and CD8⁺ T cell responses to the tumor.

CONCLUSION

As highlighted in this review, NK cells and cDC1s have a rich literature demonstrating their important individual roles in supporting protective immune responses to cancer. We propose that at least some of these protective roles are related to the cross-talk between NK cells and cDC1s. We have provided evidence that the NK cell-cDC1 axis is a bidirectional relationship with each cell type shaping the responses of the other. We also highlight pre-clinical and clinical studies that suggest that targeting the NK cell-cDC1 axis may provide novel pathways to increase immune responses to cancer. We propose that the NK cell-cDC1 axis should be considered in future studies exploring the individual association of these cell types in controlling immune responses to cancer. Clearly, the NK cellcDC1 innate immune axis has important roles in shaping immune responses to cancer and future studies are needed to determine exactly how this axis can be targeted and manipulated as a tool to boost immune responses to cancer.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EP and KB conceived, wrote, and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Cooper MA, Fehniger TA, Caligiuri MA. The biology of human natural killercell subsets. *Trends Immunol* (2001) 22(11):633–40. doi: 10.1016/s1471-4906 (01)02060-9
- Bald T, Krummel MF, Smyth MJ, Barry KC. The NK cell-cancer cycle: advances and new challenges in NK cell-based immunotherapies. *Nat Immunol* (2020) 21(8):835–47. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-0728-z
- Stabile H, Fionda C, Gismondi A, Santoni A. Role of Distinct Natural Killer Cell Subsets in Anticancer Response. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:293. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00293
- Chiossone L, Dumas P-Y, Vienne M, Vivier E. Natural killer cells and other innate lymphoid cells in cancer. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2018) 18(11):671–88. doi: 10.1038/s41577-018-0061-z
- Shimasaki N, Jain A, Campana D. NK cells for cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Drug Discovery (2020) 19(3):200–18. doi: 10.1038/s41573-019-0052-1
- Zhang C, Hu Y, Shi C. Targeting Natural Killer Cells for Tumor Immunotherapy. Front Immunol (2020) 11:60:60. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00060
- Huntington ND, Cursons J, Rautela J. The cancer-natural killer cell immunity cycle. Nat Rev Cancer (2020) 20(8):437–54. doi: 10.1038/s41568-020-0272-z
- Lanier LL. NK cell recognition. Annu Rev Immunol (2005) 23:225–74. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115526
- Kärre K. NK cells, MHC class I molecules and the missing self. Scandinavian J Immunol (2002) 55(3):221–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3083.2002.01053.x
- Guillerey C, Huntington ND, Smyth MJ. Targeting natural killer cells in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Immunol (2016) 17(9):1025–36. doi: 10.1038/ni.3518
- Vivier E, Tomasello E, Baratin M, Walzer T, Ugolini S. Functions of natural killer cells. Nat Immunol (2008) 9(5):503–10. doi: 10.1038/ni1582
- Biron CA, Nguyen KB, Pien GC, Cousens LP, Salazar-Mather TP. Natural killer cells in antiviral defense: function and regulation by innate cytokines. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1999) 17:189–220. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.17.1.189
- Imai K, Matsuyama S, Miyake S, Suga K, Nakachi K. Natural cytotoxic activity of peripheral-blood lymphocytes and cancer incidence: an 11-year follow-up study of a general population. *Lancet* (2000) 356(9244):1795–9. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(00)03231-1
- Cursons J, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Foroutan M, Anderson A, Hollande F, Hediyeh-Zadeh S, et al. A gene signature predicting natural killer cell infiltration and improved survival in melanoma patients. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2019) 7(7):1162–74. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0500
- Nath PR, Pal-Nath D, Mandal A, Cam MC, Schwartz AL, Roberts DD. Natural killer cell recruitment and activation are regulated by CD47 expression in the tumor microenvironment. *Transformation* (2019) 12:14. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0367
- Bottcher JP, Bonavita E, Chakravarty P, Blees H, Cabeza-Cabrerizo M, Sammicheli S, et al. NK Cells Stimulate Recruitment of cDC1 into the Tumor Microenvironment Promoting Cancer Immune Control. *Cell* (2018) 172(5):1022–1037 e14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.01.004
- Barry KC, Hsu J, Broz ML, Cueto FJ, Binnewies M, Combes AJ, et al. A natural killerdendritic cell axis defines checkpoint therapy-responsive tumor microenvironments. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(8):1178–91. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0085-8
- Ali TH, Pisanti S, Ciaglia E, Mortarini R, Anichini A, Garofalo C, et al. Enrichment of CD56 dim KIR+ CD57+ highly cytotoxic NK cells in tumourinfiltrated lymph nodes of melanoma patients. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5(1):1–9. doi: 10.1038/ncomms6639
- Wu M, Mei F, Liu W, Jiang J. Comprehensive characterization of tumor infiltrating natural killer cells and clinical significance in hepatocellular carcinoma based on gene expression profiles. *Biomed Pharmacother* (2020) 121:109637. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2019.109637
- Takanami I, Takeuchi K, Giga M. The prognostic value of natural killer cell infiltration in resected pulmonary adenocarcinoma. J Thoracic Cardiovasc Surg (2001) 121(6):1058–63. doi: 10.1067/mtc.2001.113026
- Remark R, Alifano M, Cremer I, Lupo A, Dieu-Nosjean M-C, Riquet M, et al. Characteristics and clinical impacts of the immune environments in colorectal and renal cell carcinoma lung metastases: influence of tumor origin. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19(15):4079–91. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-3847
- 22. Ishigami S, Natsugoe S, Tokuda K, Nakajo A, Che X, Iwashige H, et al. Prognostic value of intratumoral natural killer cells in gastric carcinoma.

Cancer (2000) 88(3):577–83. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(20000201) 88:3<577::AID-CNCR13>3.0.CO;2-V

- Muntasell A, Rojo F, Servitja S, Rubio-Perez C, Cabo M, Tamborero D, et al. NK cell infiltrates and HLA class I expression in primary HER2+ breast cancer predict and uncouple pathological response and disease-free survival. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25(5):1535–45. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-2365
- 24. Villegas FR, Coca S, Villarrubia VG, Jiménez R, Chillón MAJ, Jareño J, et al. Prognostic significance of tumor infiltrating natural killer cells subset CD57 in patients with squamous cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer* (2002) 35(1):23–8. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5002(01)00292-6
- Soo RA, Chen Z, Teng RSY, Tan H-L, Iacopetta B, Tai BC, et al. Prognostic significance of immune cells in non-small cell lung cancer: meta-analysis. Oncotarget (2018) 9(37):24801. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24835
- Melaiu O, Chierici M, Lucarini V, Jurman G, Conti LA, De Vito R, et al. Cellular and gene signatures of tumor-infiltrating dendritic cells and naturalkiller cells predict prognosis of neuroblastoma. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11 (1):5992. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-19781-y
- Fauriat C, Long EO, Ljunggren H-G, Bryceson YT. Regulation of human NKcell cytokine and chemokine production by target cell recognition. *Blood* (2010) 115(11):2167–76. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-08-238469
- Steinman RM. Decisions about dendritic cells: past, present, and future. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:1–22. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-100311-102839
- Wculek SK, Cueto FJ, Mujal AM, Melero I, Krummel MF, Sancho D. Dendritic cells in cancer immunology and immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2020) 20(1):7–24. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0210-z
- Macri C, Pang ES, Patton T, O'Keeffe M. Dendritic cell subsets. Semin Cell Dev Biol (2018) 84:11–21. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2017.12.009
- Schlitzer A, McGovern N, Ginhoux F. Dendritic cells and monocyte-derived cells: Two complementary and integrated functional systems. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* (2015) 41:9–22. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.03.011
- Bottcher JP, Reis ESC. The Role of Type 1 Conventional Dendritic Cells in Cancer Immunity. Trends Cancer (2018) 4(11):784–92. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2018.09.001
- 33. Merad M, Sathe P, Helft J, Miller J, Mortha A. The dendritic cell lineage: ontogeny and function of dendritic cells and their subsets in the steady state and the inflamed setting. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2013) 31:563–604. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-immunol-020711-074950
- Cancel JC, Crozat K, Dalod M, Mattiuz R. Are Conventional Type 1 Dendritic Cells Critical for Protective Antitumor Immunity and How? *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:9:9. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00009
- Binnewies M, Mujal AM, Pollack JL, Combes AJ, Hardison EA, Barry KC, et al. Unleashing Type-2 Dendritic Cells to Drive Protective Antitumor CD4 (+) T Cell Immunity. *Cell* (2019) 177(3):556–71.e16. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2019.02.005
- Broz ML, Binnewies M, Boldajipour B, Nelson AE, Pollack JL, Erle DJ, et al. Dissecting the tumor myeloid compartment reveals rare activating antigenpresenting cells critical for T cell immunity. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 26(5):638–52. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2014.09.007
- Michea P, Noel F, Zakine E, Czerwinska U, Sirven P, Abouzid O, et al. Adjustment of dendritic cells to the breast-cancer microenvironment is subset specific. *Nat Immunol* (2018) 19(8):885–97. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0145-8
- 38. Truxova I, Kasikova L, Hensler M, Skapa P, Laco J, Pecen L, et al. Mature dendritic cells correlate with favorable immune infiltrate and improved prognosis in ovarian carcinoma patients. J Immunother Cancer (2018) 6 (1):139. doi: 10.1186/s40425-018-0446-3
- Salmon H, Idoyaga J, Rahman A, Leboeuf M, Remark R, Jordan S, et al. Expansion and Activation of CD103(+) Dendritic Cell Progenitors at the Tumor Site Enhances Tumor Responses to Therapeutic PD-L1 and BRAF Inhibition. *Immunity* (2016) 44(4):924–38. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.03.012
- Bednar F, Pasca di Magliano M. Context-Dependent Immune Responses Explain Pancreatic Cancer Immunoresistance. *Cancer Cell* (2020) 37(3):261– 3. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2020.02.010
- Hegde S, Krisnawan VE, Herzog BH, Zuo C, Breden MA, Knolhoff BL, et al. Dendritic Cell Paucity Leads to Dysfunctional Immune Surveillance in Pancreatic Cancer. Cancer Cell (2020) 37(3):289–307.e9. doi: 10.1016/ j.ccell.2020.02.008
- 42. Gaggero S, Witt K, Carlsten M, Mitra S. Cytokines orchestrating the NKmyeloid cell crosstalk in the tumor microenvironment: Implications for NK

cell-based cancer immunotherapy. Front Immunol (2020). doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2020.621225

- Garris CS, Arlauckas SP, Kohler RH, Trefny MP, Garren S, Piot C, et al. Successful Anti-PD-1 Cancer Immunotherapy Requires T Cell-Dendritic Cell Crosstalk Involving the Cytokines IFN-gamma and IL-12. *Immunity* (2018) 49(6):1148–61.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.09.024
- Martinet L, Smyth MJ. Regulation of Immune Cell Functions through Nectin and Nectin-Like Receptors. *Encyclopedia Immunobiol* (2016) 2:404–14. doi: 10.1016/b978-0-12-374279-7.02010-5
- Dougall WC, Kurtulus S, Smyth MJ, Anderson AC. TIGIT and CD96: new checkpoint receptor targets for cancer immunotherapy. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 276(1):112–20. doi: 10.1111/imr.12518
- Gao J, Zheng Q, Xin N, Wang W, Zhao C. CD155, an onco-immunologic molecule in human tumors. *Cancer Sci* (2017) 108(10):1934–8. doi: 10.1111/ cas.13324
- O'Donnell JS, Madore J, Li XY, Smyth MJ. Tumor intrinsic and extrinsic immune functions of CD155. Semin Cancer Biol (2020) 65:189–96. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2019.11.013
- Zhang Q, He Y, Luo N, Patel SJ, Han Y, Gao R, et al. Landscape and Dynamics of Single Immune Cells in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Cell* (2019) 179(4):829– 45.e20. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.10.003
- Pende D, Castriconi R, Romagnani P, Spaggiari GM, Marcenaro S, Dondero A, et al. Expression of the DNAM-1 ligands, Nectin-2 (CD112) and poliovirus receptor (CD155), on dendritic cells: relevance for natural killer-dendritic cell interaction. *Blood* (2006) 107(5):2030–6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-07-2696
- Russick J, Torset C, Hemery E, Cremer I. NK cells in the tumor microenvironment: Prognostic and theranostic impact. Recent advances and trends. *Semin Immunol Elsevier* (2020) 48:101407. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2020.101407
- Terme M, Ullrich E, Aymeric L, Meinhardt K, Coudert JD, Desbois M, et al. Cancer-induced immunosuppression: IL-18-elicited immunoablative NK cells. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(11):2757–67. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3379
- Russick J, Joubert PE, Gillard-Bocquet M, Torset C, Meylan M, Petitprez F, et al. Natural killer cells in the human lung tumor microenvironment display immune inhibitory functions. *J Immunother Cancer* (2020) 8(2):e001054. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-001054
- 53. Whiteside TL. The tumor microenvironment and its role in promoting tumor growth. *Oncogene* (2008) 27(45):5904–12. doi: 10.1038/onc.2008.271
- Rabinovich GA, Gabrilovich D, Sotomayor EM. Immunosuppressive strategies that are mediated by tumor cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2007) 25:267–96. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141609
- 55. Binnewies M, Roberts EW, Kersten K, Chan V, Fearon DF, Merad M, et al. Understanding the tumor immune microenvironment (TIME) for effective therapy. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(5):541–50. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0014-x
- Renner K, Singer K, Koehl GE, Geissler EK, Peter K, Siska PJ, et al. Metabolic Hallmarks of Tumor and Immune Cells in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:248. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00248
- 57. Chandra D, Barbon CM, Borodovsky A, Wang Y, Ye M, Prickett L, et al. Abstract A87: The A2AR antagonist AZD4635 prevents adenosine-mediated immunosuppression in tumor microenvironment and enhances antitumor immunity partly by enhancing CD103+ dendritic cells. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2020) 8(3 Supplement):A87–7. doi: 10.1158/2326-6074.Tumimm19-a87
- Devalaraja S, To TKJ, Folkert IW, Natesan R, Alam MZ, Li M, et al. Tumor-Derived Retinoic Acid Regulates Intratumoral Monocyte Differentiation to Promote Immune Suppression. *Cell* (2020) 180(6):1098–1114 e16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.042
- Brown TP, Bhattacharjee P, Ramachandran S, Sivaprakasam S, Ristic B, Sikder MOF, et al. The lactate receptor GPR81 promotes breast cancer growth via a paracrine mechanism involving antigen-presenting cells in the tumor microenvironment. *Oncogene* (2020) 39(16):3292–304. doi: 10.1038/s41388-020-1216-5
- Daher M, Rezvani K. Next generation natural killer cells for cancer immunotherapy: the promise of genetic engineering. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2018) 51:146–53. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2018.03.013
- Hoskin DW, Mader JS, Furlong SJ, Conrad DM, Blay J. Inhibition of T cell and natural killer cell function by adenosine and its contribution to immune evasion by tumor cells (Review). *Int J Oncol* (2008) 32(3):527–35. doi: 10.3892/ijo.32.3.527

- 62. Vigano S, Alatzoglou D, Irving M, Menetrier-Caux C, Caux C, Romero P, et al. Targeting Adenosine in Cancer Immunotherapy to Enhance T-Cell Function. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:925. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00925
- Fong L, Hotson A, Powderly JD, Sznol M, Heist RS, Choueiri TK, et al. Adenosine 2A Receptor Blockade as an Immunotherapy for Treatment-Refractory Renal Cell Cancer. *Cancer Discovery* (2020) 10(1):40–53. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-19-0980
- 64. Leone RD, Emens LA. Targeting adenosine for cancer immunotherapy. J Immunother Cancer (2018) 6(1):57. doi: 10.1186/s40425-018-0360-8
- Young A, Ngiow SF, Gao Y, Patch AM, Barkauskas DS, Messaoudene M, et al. A2AR Adenosine Signaling Suppresses Natural Killer Cell Maturation in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Cancer Res* (2018) 78(4):1003–16. doi: 10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-17-2826
- Terme M, Ullrich E, Aymeric L, Meinhardt K, Desbois M, Delahaye N, et al. IL-18 induces PD-1-dependent immunosuppression in cancer. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(16):5393–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0993
- Ma Z, Li W, Yoshiya S, Xu Y, Hata M, El-Darawish Y, et al. Augmentation of Immune Checkpoint Cancer Immunotherapy with IL18. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016) 22(12):2969–80. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1655
- Hu B, Ren J, Luo Y, Keith B, Young RM, Scholler J, et al. Augmentation of Antitumor Immunity by Human and Mouse CAR T Cells Secreting IL-18. *Cell Rep* (2017) 20(13):3025–33. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.09.002
- Zhou T, Damsky W, Weizman OE, McGeary MK, Hartmann KP, Rosen CE, et al. IL-18BP is a secreted immune checkpoint and barrier to IL-18 immunotherapy. *Nature* (2020) 583(7817):609–14. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2422-6
- Sun H, Huang Q, Huang M, Wen H, Lin R, Zheng M, et al. Human CD96 Correlates to Natural Killer Cell Exhaustion and Predicts the Prognosis of Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Hepatology* (2019) 70(1):168–83. doi: 10.1002/hep.30347
- Zhang Q, Bi J, Zheng X, Chen Y, Wang H, Wu W, et al. Blockade of the checkpoint receptor TIGIT prevents NK cell exhaustion and elicits potent anti-tumor immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2018) 19(7):723–32. doi: 10.1038/ s41590-018-0132-0
- Algazi A, Bhatia S, Agarwala S, Molina M, Lewis K, Faries M, et al. Intratumoral delivery of tavokinogene telseplasmid yields systemic immune responses in metastatic melanoma patients. *Ann Oncol* (2020) 31(4):532–40. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2019.12.008
- Algazi AP, Twitty CG, Tsai KK, Le M, Pierce R, Browning E, et al. Phase II Trial of IL-12 Plasmid Transfection and PD-1 Blockade in Immunologically Quiescent Melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2020) 26(12):2827–37. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-19-2217
- 74. Daud AII, DeConti RC, Andrews S, Urbas P, Riker AII, Sondak VK, et al. Phase I trial of interleukin-12 plasmid electroporation in patients with metastatic melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2008) 26(36):5896–903. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2007.15.6794
- Tait Wojno ED, Hunter CA, Stumhofer JS. The Immunobiology of the Interleukin-12 Family: Room for Discovery. *Immunity* (2019) 50(4):851–70. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.03.011
- Trinchieri G. Interleukin-12 and the regulation of innate resistance and adaptive immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2003) 3(2):133-46. doi: 10.1038/ nri1001
- 77. Colombo MP, Trinchieri G. Interleukin-12 in anti-tumor immunity and immunotherapy. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev (2002) 13(2):155–68. doi: 10.1016/s1359-6101(01)00032-6

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Peterson and Barry. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Interaction Between MDSC and NK Cells in Solid and Hematological Malignancies: Impact on HSCT

Nicola Tumino, Anna Laura Di Pace, Francesca Besi, Linda Quatrini, Paola Vacca † and Lorenzo Moretta *†

Immunology Research Area, IRCCS Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, Rome, Italy

Myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSC) are heterogeneous populations that through the release of soluble factors and/or by cell-to-cell interactions suppress both innate and adaptive immune effector cells. In pathological conditions, characterized by the presence of inflammation, a partial block in the differentiation potential of myeloid precursors causes an accumulation of these immunosuppressive cell subsets both in peripheral blood and in tissues. On the contrary, NK cells represent a major player of innate immunity able to counteract tumor growth. The anti-tumor activity of NK cells is primarily related to their cytolytic potential and to the secretion of soluble factors or cytokines that may act on tumors either directly or indirectly upon the recruitment of other cell types. NK cells have been shown to play a fundamental role in haploidentical hemopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT), for the therapy of high-risk leukemias. A deeper analysis of MDSC functional effects demonstrated that these cells are capable, through several mechanisms, to reduce the potent GvL activity exerted by NK cells. It is conceivable that, in this transplantation setting, the MDSC-removal or -inactivation may represent a promising strategy to restore the anti-leukemia effect mediated by NK cells. Thus, a better knowledge of the cellular interactions occurring in the tumor microenvironment could promote the development of novel therapeutic strategies for the treatment of solid and hematological malignances.

Keywords: natural killer cells, myeloid-derived suppressor cells, hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, tumor microenvironment, hematological malignancies

INTRODUCTION

Tumor microenvironment (TME) consists of an assortment of tumor and non-tumor cells (including mesenchymal stromal cells, endothelial cells, regulatory T-cells, and myeloid-derived suppressor cells), as well as soluble components. Tumor associated (TA)-cells may favor neoplastic transformation, tumor growth, and metastasis thus contributing to tumor escape from host immunity. In addition to TA-cells, TME also contains immune cells including innate and adaptive lymphocytes. A growing body of evidences has revealed the existence of a close relationship between tumor and immune components. Many of the interactions between TME and tumor infiltrating (TI) immune cells are already well-known (1). Consistent positive prognostic correlations have been reported for T-cells, especially cytotoxic T-cells, in different tumor types (2). In particular, TI-lymphocyte density can influence prognosis within each tumor, lymph

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Erik Wennerberg, Institute of Cancer Research (ICR), United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Dhifaf Sarhan, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden Subramaniam Malarkannan, Medical College of Wisconsin, United States

*Correspondence:

Lorenzo Moretta lorenzo.moretta@opbg.net

> [†]These authors share senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to NK and Innate Lymphoid Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 07 December 2020 Accepted: 25 January 2021 Published: 12 February 2021

Citation:

Tumino N, Di Pace AL, Besi F, Quatrini L, Vacca P and Moretta L (2021) Interaction Between MDSC and NK Cells in Solid and Hematological Malignancies: Impact on HSCT. Front. Immunol. 12:638841. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.638841

50

node, and metastasis (TNM) stage, complementing or even outperforming pathological criteria alone, as shown in colorectal and lung cancers (3–5). In order to develop strategies to overcome immunosuppression and tumor escape it is important to further unravel the cellular interactions occurring in TME. This contribution is focalized on the polymorphonuclear (PMN)-MDSC, an important, strongly immunosuppressive myeloid component, which may greatly impair the anti-tumor defenses in particular those mediated by NK cells.

MDSC in Physiological and Pathological Condition

One important cellular subset present in TME is represented by MDSC. These cells were first identified in 1970 as a heterogeneous group of immune cells with immature features derived from a common myeloid progenitor (CMP) (6). They possess high immunosuppressive and pro-tumorigenic capabilities and actively cooperate with other myeloid regulatory cells as tumor-associated neutrophils (TANs), tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), and regulatory dendritic cells to favor cancer development (7). MDSC are usually classified in two or three classes in mice and humans, respectively. In mice, MDSC are classified into monocytic (M-MDSC) (CD11b+Ly6C^{hi}Ly6G⁻) and PMN-MDSC (CD11b⁺Ly6C^{lo}Ly6G⁺ cells) subsets. In humans, the granulocytic and the monocytic classified as Lin⁻(CD3, CD19, subsets are CD56), CD11b⁺CD33⁺CD15⁺CD66b⁺CD14⁻HLA-DR^{low/-} and Lin⁻CD11b⁺CD33⁺CD15⁻CD14⁺HLA-DR^{low/-}cells,

respectively. A new subset of immature and early-stage MDSC (e-MDSC) has been found in humans and classified as Lin⁻ HLA-DR^{low/-} CD11b⁺ CD14⁻ CD15⁻ CD33⁺. Recently, the lectin-type oxidized LDL receptor-1 (LOX-1) molecule has been suggested as novel marker to discriminate MDSC from neutrophils (8–10).

In physiological condition, the CMP differentiate into neutrophils or monocytes. In pathological conditions such as cancer or infection the inflammatory milieu (e.g., GM-CSF, TNF-α, VEGF, and PGE2) induces the CMP differentiation into M-MDSC, and subsequently TAM, or PMN-MDSC that can differentiate into TAN. In addition, chronic inflammatory conditions induce release of soluble mediators that are responsible for MDSC accumulation due to their reduced susceptibility to Fas-mediated apoptosis (11). In this setting, MDSC can help to control excessive inflammation, by reducing both innate and adaptive immune responses (12, 13), while their reduction normally occurs following inflammation resolution. Conversely, if MDSC numbers do not decrease, they can be associated to disease progression. Indeed, a continuous inhibitory effect of immune response can interfere with tissue homeostasis, energy metabolism, and dead cell removal.

In cancer, MDSC activity is mainly regulated by three key events: myelopoiesis impairment, MDSC migration to tumor site and subsequent activation. Thus, deregulated myelopoiesis leads to accumulation of immature MDSC in bone marrow that are subsequently recruited to primary and metastatic tumor sites by tumor-released chemokines. Due to their potent immunosuppressive and pro-tumorigenic potential, high levels of MDSC, especially PMN-MDSC, have been observed in high grade cancers and are correlated with poor prognosis, treatment resistance and reduced overall survival in solid cancers (14-18). Breast, ovarian and gastric cancer cells secrete CCL2 that recruits MDSC and sustains tumor growth (19). In addition, CCR2⁺MDSC can support tumor growth in colon-rectal-cancer (CRC)-bearing mice (20). CXCL1 is another cytokine, highly expressed in CRC that exerts chemoattractant activity on CXCR2⁺MDSC. Moreover, MDSC also express CCR5 that has been suggested to be involved in MDSC migration to tumor site (21, 22). Regarding MDSC recruitment, it has been demonstrated that the hematopoietic 5-lipoxygenase (5LO), a metabolite of the arachidonic acid implied in colon carcinogenesis, is involved into MDSC migration (23). In addition, MDSC can regulate and induce their recruitment by a positive feedback. Indeed, Reactive Nitrogen Species produced by MDSC lead to chemokine nitration that in turn recruit MDSC (24).

Following recruitment, MDSC are activated through many mechanisms. In particular, PGE2 can induce STAT3 phosphorylation that mediates both MDSC activation (25) and inhibition of their physiological differentiation toward neutrophils or monocytes (26, 27). Histamine can modulate the expression of Arginase-1 (ARG-1) and Nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) in M-MDSCs and PMN-MDSC, respectively (28, 29). Hypoxia can induce the Hypoxia-inducible Factor 1 alpha (HIF-1 α) that in turn increases ARG-1 and iNOS activation in MDSC (30).

While many studies on the involvement of MDSC in hematological disorders have been performed, their actual role is still debated. High numbers of PMN-MDSC were reported in chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), possibly playing a role in CML cell immune escape (31-33). The increased numbers of PMN-MDSC, evaluated at diagnosis of CML, return to normal levels after treatment with Imatinib. In acute leukemia, the role of MDSC is not fully defined. Patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML) display increased numbers of MDSC in PB and BM as compared to patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and a significant correlation exists with conventional prognostic factors at diagnosis (34). Moreover, a significant decrease of MDSC was observed only in those patients in complete remission after treatment. In pediatric patients, the frequency and the strength of the immunosuppressive function correlated with classical prognostic markers such as MRD and CD20⁺ blast cell counts and with response to therapy. In addition, patients in remission have been reported to lose MDSC suppressive function further corroborating the effect of these cells in favoring immune evasion mechanisms (35, 36). In diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (37), indolent lymphoma (38), chronic lymphocytic leukemia (39), and Hodgkin lymphoma (40), the frequency of circulating MDSC has been correlated with poor prognosis. Recent studies, in the S100A9 knockout transgenic mice, revealed that MDSC are also involved in the pathogenesis and progression of Multiple myeloma (MM) (41). MDSC isolated from the PB of patients with MM display an inhibitory effect on T-cells which could be abrogated by drugs inhibiting arginase-1 and iNOS activity (42). Available data would suggest that MDSC represent a sizable subset present in MM patients that may play a role in the pathophysiology of the disease by favoring survival and proliferation of malignant plasma cells as a consequence of their suppressive activity on anti-tumor immune response. Finally, recent evidence suggests that MDSC have also a predominant role in the pathophysiology of Immune Thrombocytopenia and Chronic Idiopathic Neutropenia (43–45).

Immunosuppressive Mechanisms Exerted by MDSC

Several studies described different mechanisms adopted by MDSC to exert their immunomodulatory function either by mechanisms that require cell-to-cell contact or by the release of soluble factors. They can directly inhibit the innate or adaptive immune system or indirectly contribute to tumor progression through regulation of angiogenesis or cell motility. In particular, MDSC-derived Nitric oxide (NO) can suppress proliferation of T-cells by inhibiting the Jak/STAT5 pathway and inducing T-cell apoptosis (46). MDSC-derived NO can also impair T-cell migration by reducing E-selectin expression on endothelial cells (47). In addition, oxygen reactive species (ROS) produced by MDSC can induce apoptosis in T-cells by decreasing expression of the T-cell receptor (TCR) ζ-chain (48, 49). Immunosuppression of T-cell response by MDSC may be accomplished through cleavage of L-selectin on CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cells by ADAM metallopeptidase domain 17 (ADAM17) and disintegrin thus impairing T-cell trafficking to tumor sites (50). Moreover, via the ARG-1 or IDO enzymes, MDSC can deprive TME of the amminoacids required by T-cells for proliferation (51-53). Secretion of IL-10 and TGF-B by MDSC represents another mechanism to induce immunosuppression trough Treg induction (54). In lung cancer, IL-10 secreted by M-MDSC has been reported to be in part responsible for Treg induction in vitro (55).

Notably, TGF- β and IL-10 can also mediate immunosuppression indirectly, by inducing CD39 and CD73 expression on MDSC that are receptors involved in ATP/ADP hydrolysis and AMP cleavage, respectively, therefore MDSC affect T and NK cell response also by interfering with the adenosine metabolism (56, 57).

Huang B and colleagues showed that IFN-γ secreted by Tcells leads MDSC to release IL-10 and TGF-β that in turn induce Treg (54). In addition to IL-10 and TGF-β, it has been demonstrated that cell-to-cell contact and the CD40 expression on MDSC surface are also required for Treg expansion (58). Contact-dependent mechanism has been demonstrated also in hepatocellular carcinoma where MDSC induce Treg expansion (59). Different factors present in TME (transmembrane TNF-α, TGF-β, lipopolysaccharide, Semaphorin 4D, NKG2D ligands and extracellular vesicles) and hypoxia, can upregulate the secretion of IL-10 by MDSC (60–63). In addition, other factor such as HIF-1α increases the immunosuppressive activity of MDSC by inducing Programmed Cell Death 1 (PD-1) expression and by upregulating the V-domain of Ig suppressor of T-cell activation (VISTA) (64, 65). Notably, angiogenesis represents another immunosuppressive mechanisms used by MDSC and it is mediated by VEGF upregulation. It has been demonstrated that MDSC, previously activated with VEGF, have a more potent inhibitory activity (66). MDSC can also secrete proangiogenic factors as Metalloproteases (MMP2, MMP8, MMP9, MMP13, and MMP14) that can disrupt the extracellular matrix thus facilitating the extravasation (67).

Another mechanism able to induce immunosuppression is represented by the release of protumorigenic mediators such as \$100A8/A9 by MDSC and tumor cells. These factors are capable to induce M2-macrophage polarization and MDSC chemotaxis in TME that results in immunosuppression of effector cells (68, 69).

NK Cells in Tumors

Natural killer (NK) cells belong to the innate lymphoid cell (ILC) family. ILCs have recently been classified into five different subsets: NK cells that represent killer ILC, and ILC1, ILC2 ILC3, and Lymphoid tissue-inducer cells (LTi) that belong to helper-ILC. Unlike NK cells, the other ILC subpopulations were discovered only recently because they are relatively infrequent and are prevalently located in mucosal tissues and secondary lymphoid organs (70).

NK cells are present primarily in the PB, spleen and bone marrow, but they can infiltrate tissues and are also found in the liver, lungs, gut, lymph nodes and uterus (71–73). Two major subsets of PB-NK cells were identified on the basis of the surface density of CD56 antigen (CD56^{bright} and CD56^{dim}). CD56^{dim} NK cells are predominant in PB, display a potent cytolytic activity and release cytokines shortly after receptor-mediated signaling. CD56^{bright} predominate in tissues and secondary lymphoid organs, are poorly cytolytic, while they produce cytokines (74, 75).

The anti-tumor activity of NK cells is primarily related to their cytolytic potential and to the secretion of soluble factors or cytokines that may act on tumors either directly or indirectly upon recruitment of other cell types. NK cell cytotoxicity is induced by surface receptors capable of recognizing ligands that are primarily expressed by tumor cells, but not by most normal resting cells (76). These receptors may induce NK cell activation resulting in tumor cell lysis and secretion of cytokines. The major activating NK receptors include Natural cytotoxic receptor (NCR) (i.e., NKp46, NKp44, and NKp30), DNAM-1 and NKG2D. In addition, NK cells, in most instances, do not kill normal cells thanks to a fail-safe mechanism involving inhibitory receptors specific for HLA-class I molecules. These include killer Ig-like receptors (KIRs) that recognize allotypic determinants of HLA-cl I molecules shared by different groups of alleles and CD94/NKG2A that recognizes HLA-E (77).

During cancer progression, the transformed cells display a decrease or even a loss of the surface expression of MHC-I (78) while strongly upregulate or acquire the expression of ligands for activating NK receptors: two events necessary for NK activation and induction of anti-tumor immune cell responses (79). However, the frequent downregulation of activating receptor expression in NK cells may result in decreased activity leading

to increases in tumor expansion and metastases. Indeed, it is well-known that tumor cells may create an immunosuppressive environment through the modulation of inhibitory checkpoints expression on NK cells in order to evade their cytolytic activity and to induce tumor immune escape (79–82).

Some tumors are poorly permeable to NK cells, as the TME may affect their ability to infiltrate the tumor mass. In particular, colorectal carcinoma and melanoma lesions display poor NK cell infiltration (83, 84). On the other hand, NK cell infiltration has been described in other types of tumor and a high number of NK cells in neoplastic tissues has been associated with better survival. For example in breast cancers, tumor-infiltrating (TI) NK cells are used as biomarkers to predict the response to anti-HER2 mAbs therapy (85–87). In the Head and Neck cancers the presence of TI-NK cells correlated with a longer survival (88). Similarly, NK cell infiltration of renal tumors is associated with a good prognosis (85). On the contrary, NK cell infiltration has no impact on clinical outcome in non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (89, 90).

NK-MDSC Interactions

NK cells may interact with tumor cells and other cells present in TME through three fundamental pathways, i.e., cell-to cell contact, secretion of soluble molecules in the extracellular milieu, and release of extracellular vesicles (EVs) (91). In cancer patients and tumor mice models, an inverse correlation between the presence of MDSC and NK cells exists (92).

In mice, the mechanism of NK cell inhibition exerted by MDSC is mainly related to cell-to-cell contact and it requires TGF- β (93). Membrane-bound TGF- β on MDSC has been shown to induce NK cell anergy thus impairing their cytotoxic capability and reducing NKG2D expression and IFN- γ production (94). Another study reported IL-33 as a novel player in MDSC-NK interaction. Following stress or damage, IL-33 is secreted by endothelial and epithelial cells and recruits both pro-tumorigenic or anti-tumorigenic immune cells (95, 96).

Furthermore, it has been reported that, in the presence of IL-1 β , a novel subset of Ly6C^{neg} MDSC with higher inhibitory properties to NK cells expands in mice (97).

In humans, the inhibition of IFN- γ production by NK cells is related to a NKp30-dependent mechanism (98). MDSC can impair NK cell activity also by interfering with NK FcR-mediated cytotoxicity, as shown in cancer patients NK cells displaying reduced antibody-dependent cytotoxicity and production of cytokines (99).

The IFN- γ and other molecules present in the inflammatory microenvironment are able to promote the expansion of MDSC that, in turn, release high amount of IL-10. IL-10 is considered an anti-inflammatory cytokine capable of inhibiting the release of inflammatory cytokines playing an important role in anti-tumor immunoresponse. In particular, IL-10 may induce a pro-tumorigenic microenvironment affecting both NK cell and CD8⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocyte activation and promoting a switch toward type 2 immunoresponse. Targeting either MDSC or IL-10 may favor type1 response and improve the anti-tumor activity of immune cells (100, 101).

Checkpoint blockade immunotherapy targeting the PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitory axis produced remarkable results in the treatment of several types of cancer (102-106). PD-1 is mostly expressed by T-cells, but NK cells with an activated and more responsive phenotype can also express PD-1 (107-110). In TME, tumor cells and their soluble mediators can increase PD-L1 expression on tumor-infiltrating MDSC (111, 112). Thus, PD-L1 expressed by MDSC can suppress NK cell activity while PD-L1 blockade may restore NK and T-cell responses. In different tumor types, increased PD-L1+MDSC has been observed and, in some instances, a correlation between the percentage of PD-L1⁺MDSC and disease stages or clinical outcome has been reported (113). In addition, NO produced by MDSC has a potent inhibitory effect on NK cells by impairing the Fc receptor-mediated killing, the secretion of IFN- γ , TNF- α , and Granzyme B, as detected in MDSC-co-cultured NK cells (99). Furthermore, IDO produced by MDSC can impair development and activation of NK cells by decreasing expression of NKG2D, NCR, DNAM1, and IFN- γ secretion (99, 114). IDO production is regulated by STAT3- induced NF-KB activation. It has been demonstrated that blockage of STAT3 and TGF-β can revert the MDSC-mediated inhibition of NK cell function (115, 116).

On the other hand, STAT5 has an opposite effect to that of STAT3. Indeed, STAT5, induced by Jak3, is responsible for perforin, granzyme and IFN- γ production in IL-2 –activated NK cells (117). NK cells co-cultured with MDSC isolated from spleen of tumor-bearing mice, showed both Jak3-inhibition and reduced STAT5 activation (98).

Another mechanism occurring in NK-MDSC interaction involves the TIGIT-CD155 axis. Thus, analysis of patients with CMV⁺ myelodysplastic syndrome revealed the presence of adaptive NK cells with lower TIGIT expression (partially) resistant to MDSC-mediated immunosuppression (118). Recently, in NK cells the IL-1R8 has been suggested as a novel immune check-point that can potentially interact with MDSC cells (119).

MDSC and NK Cross Talk in HSCT

MDSC were originally described as cells able to inhibit T cell activation, proliferation, and function. Other studies provided evidences that MDSC could also interact and interfere with the function of other cells, including NK cells, B cells, NKT cells, and DCs. All these observations are in line with the suppressive effect of MDSC in the context of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT). Notably, HSCT from HLAmatched donor, either related or unrelated, is extensively used to cure patients with Acute Leukemia. The HSCT from HLAhaploidentical relatives (haplo-HSCT) gave the opportunity of a prompt transplantation in patients with no HLA-matched donor. Graft-vs.-host disease (GvHD) and post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD) are two life-threatening effects of un-manipulated HSCT, due to the presence of T cells and B cells in the graft. In haplo-HSCT, graft of "megadoses" of highly purified CD34⁺ HSC has been applied for many years. However, the lack in the graft of different mature lymphoid subsets and of (CD34⁻) committed hematopoietic progenitors results in a prolonged lymphopenia and delayed

immune reconstitution that causes an increased risk of nonrelapse-related mortality (NRM), due primarily to opportunistic infections. Thus, selective depletion of $\alpha\beta$ T lymphocytes, and of B cells was used more as a novel method of graft manipulation. This approach allows the infusion in the recipient not only of hematopoietic progenitors but also of high numbers of donor mature NK cells, yo T-cells and myeloid cells. In particular, NK and $\gamma\delta$ T-cells transferred with the graft may contribute to prevent leukemia relapses and severe viral infections and/or reactivation before the establishment of adaptive immune responses thanks to their activity against leukemia blasts remaining in the patient after the conditioning regimen (120). Notably, it has been shown that in $\alpha\beta$ T- and B-cell depleted HSCT setting, the contribution of the NK cell alloreactivity to the 5 years' survival probability was partially obscured, possibly by the effect of $\gamma\delta$ T-cells (121–123).

Regarding the strategy routinely applied to increase the number of circulating HSC to be infused, donors receive G-CSF for 5 days (**Figure 1**). G-CSF induces a proteolytic microenvironment and inhibits CXCL12 production, thus favoring HSC egress from BM. An adequate number of HSC can be achieved also in "poor mobilizer" donors, who, in addition

to G-CSF, receive Plerixafor (PL), a CXCR4 antagonist, which inhibits HSC retention in the BM, favoring their collection in the peripheral blood (PB). The G-CSF mobilization regimen induces an accumulation in PB of PMN-MDSC (124).

We could demonstrate that PMN-MDSC derived from G-CSF mobilized donors did not interfere with the differentiation of donor HSC (124). On the contrary, they could affect the cytotoxic potential of donor-mature NK cells, which are infused into the patients during transplantation, compromising their GvL activity.

PMN-MDSC through the release of IDO metabolites and PGE2 down modulate the expression of intracellular polypeptides involved in the signal transduction and of the major activating NK receptors. In particular, signaling via activating receptor is mediated intracellularly by immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAM) and by downstream protein kinases. KARAP/DAP12 and CD3 ζ are ITAM-bearing adaptor proteins known to associate with different activating NK receptors. These intracellular molecules involved in signal transduction were down-modulated in NK cells upon interaction with PMN-MDSC.



FIGURE 1 | $\alpha\beta$ T- and B-depleted hematopoietic stem cell transplantation protocol. Donors undergo lymphoapheresis after 5 days G-CSF stimulation for increasing the number of HSC cells and to induce PMN-MDSC mobilization. Thus, $\alpha\beta$ T and B cells are depleted and infusion (enriched in NK cells, $\gamma\delta$ T-cells and myeloid cells) is administered to recipient patients. In this transplant setting, the enrichment of PMN-MDSC helps to reduce NK cell cytotoxic effects against the graft by the release of IDO2, PGE2, and exosomes thus suggesting a possible involvement of these myeloid cells into the GvL activity mediated by NK cells.

NK and MDSC in TME

PMN-MDSC were also shown to affect NK cell degranulation, cytokine release and cytotoxicity. Indeed, in the presence of IDO- and PGE2-inhibitors the NK-cell activity can be recovered suggesting the involvement of IDO catabolites and PGE2 in the inhibition of the NK-mediated killing of leukemia blasts (124). It is known that MDSC may exploit additional immunomodulatory mechanisms including, for example, the release of exosomes. In this context, PMN-MDSC were able to release exosomes that are, in turn, internalized into NK cells and cause an impairment of their cytolytic activity (125) (**Figure 1**). Altogether, these data indicate that PMN-MDSC exert a potent inhibitory effect on antitumor NK cell function suggesting their possible involvement in the impairment of GvL activity mediated by NK cells.

Based on the *in vitro* data and on the role of these cells in hematologic malignancies, it is conceivable that MDSC may indeed represent a key immunosuppressive cell type induced in allogeneic HSCT. Further investigation regarding molecular and functional characteristics of MDSC may help to discover new strategies/drugs, to either dampen or enhance MDSC immunosuppressive activity, depending on the therapeutic need in different clinical contexts.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

A deeper comprehension of the mechanisms and relative molecular pathways adopted by MDSC present in TME to impair the anti-tumor function of immune effector cells may allow to identify novel therapeutic strategies capable to disrupt these potent inhibitory mechanisms. Thus, in HSCT the large proportion of PMN-MDSC can counteract the GvL activity mediated by donor-mature NK cells infused in the recipient, particularly in the early post-transplant period. Previous reports revealed that a reduction of the immunosuppressive activity of MDSC could be achieved by inducing their differentiation. It

REFERENCES

- Dadi S, Chhangawala S, Whitlock BM, Franklin RA, Luo CT, Oh SA, et al. Cancer immunosurveillance by tissue-resident innate lymphoid cells and innate-like T cells. *Cell*. (2016) 164:365–77. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.01.002
- Vano YA, Petitprez F, Giraldo NA, Fridman WH, Sautes-Fridman C. Immune-based identification of cancer patients at high risk of progression. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2018) 51:97–102. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2018.03.005
- Kwak Y, Koh J, Kim DW, Kang SB, Kim WH, Lee HS. Immunoscore encompassing CD3+ and CD8+ T cell densities in distant metastasis is a robust prognostic marker for advanced colorectal cancer. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:81778–90. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.13207
- Palucka AK, Coussens LM. The basis of oncoimmunology. Cell. (2016) 164:1233–47. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.01.049
- Fridman WH, Pages F, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2012) 12:298–306. doi: 10.1038/nrc3245
- Talmadge JE, Gabrilovich DI. History of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Nat Rev Cancer. (2013) 13:739–52. doi: 10.1038/nrc 3581
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2009) 9:162–74. doi: 10.1038/nri 2506

has been reported that the combined administration of ATRA (all-trans-retinoic acid) (126), paclitaxel (ultra-low non-cytotoxic doses) (127), vitamin D (128), and IL-2 (129) is able to induce MDSC differentiation by blocking their immunosuppressive activity and resulting in the recovery of immune response. *In vitro* data showed that chemotherapeutic agents (i.e., gemcitabine or 5-fluorouracil) could be used to selectively deplete MDSC with no toxic effects on other leukocyte populations (130, 131).

A better outstanding of interactions occurring between NK cells and PMN-MDSC, in particular in TME, may offer an interesting clue to further improve the efficacy of immunotherapy. In particular, in $\alpha\beta$ T- and B cell-depleted haplo-HSCT setting, removing also PMN-MDSC, could preserve the NK-cell function with a further positive effect on the GvL activity and viral protection, obtaining a better patient's clinical outcome.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants awarded by Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro (AIRC)-Special Program Metastatic disease: the key unmet need in oncology 5X1000 2018 Id. 21147 (LM), AIRC IG 2017 Id. 19920 (LM); RC-2020 OPBG (LM, PV); LQ has received funding from AIRC and from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement no 800924; NT and ALDP were supported by an AIRC fellowship for Italy.

- Condamine T, Dominguez GA, Youn JI, Kossenkov AV, Mony S, Alicea-Torres K, et al. Lectin-type oxidized LDL receptor-1 distinguishes population of human polymorphonuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer patients. *Sci Immunol.* (2016) 1:aaf8943. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aaf8943
- Bronte V, Brandau S, Chen SH, Colombo MP, Frey AB, Greten TF, et al. Recommendations for myeloid-derived suppressor cell nomenclature and characterization standards. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:12150. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12150
- Gabrilovich DI, Bronte V, Chen SH, Colombo MP, Ochoa A, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, et al. The terminology issue for myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Cancer Res.* (2007) 67:425. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3037
- Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Sinha P, Chornoguz O, Ecker C. Regulating the suppressors: apoptosis and inflammation govern the survival of tumorinduced myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC). *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2012) 61:1319–25. doi: 10.1007/s00262-012-1269-6
- Ray A, Chakraborty K, Ray P. Immunosuppressive MDSCs induced by TLR signaling during infection and role in resolution of inflammation. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2013) 3:52. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2013.00052
- Saiwai H, Kumamaru H, Ohkawa Y, Kubota K, Kobayakawa K, Yamada H, et al. Ly6C+ Ly6G- myeloid-derived suppressor cells play a critical role in the resolution of acute inflammation and the subsequent tissue repair process after spinal cord injury. *J Neurochem.* (2013) 125:74–88. doi: 10.1111/jnc.12135

- Yamauchi Y, Safi S, Blattner C, Rathinasamy A, Umansky L, Juenger S, et al. Circulating and tumor myeloid-derived suppressor cells in resectable non-small cell lung cancer. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2018) 198:777– 87. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201708-1707OC
- Clavijo PE, Moore EC, Chen J, Davis RJ, Friedman J, Kim Y, et al. Resistance to CTLA-4 checkpoint inhibition reversed through selective elimination of granulocytic myeloid cells. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:55804– 20. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.18437
- Chai E, Zhang L, Li C. LOX-1+ PMN-MDSC enhances immune suppression which promotes glioblastoma multiforme progression. *Cancer Manag Res.* (2019) 11:7307–15. doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S210545
- Sheng IY, Diaz-Montero CM, Rayman P, Wei W, Finke JH, Kim JS, et al. Blood myeloid-derived suppressor cells correlate with neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio and overall survival in metastatic urothelial carcinoma. *Target Oncol.* (2020) 15:211–20. doi: 10.1007/s11523-020-00707-z
- Zhong LM, Liu ZG, Zhou X, Song SH, Weng GY, Wen Y, et al. Expansion of PMN-myeloid derived suppressor cells and their clinical relevance in patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral oncology*. (2019) 95:157– 63. doi: 10.1016/j.oraloncology.2019.06.004
- Huang B, Lei Z, Zhao J, Gong W, Liu J, Chen Z, et al. CCL2/CCR2 pathway mediates recruitment of myeloid suppressor cells to cancers. *Cancer Lett.* (2007) 252:86–92. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2006.12.012
- Katoh H, Wang D, Daikoku T, Sun H, Dey SK, Dubois RN. CXCR2-expressing myeloid-derived suppressor cells are essential to promote colitis-associated tumorigenesis. *Cancer Cell.* (2013) 24:631–44. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2013.10.009
- Blattner C, Fleming V, Weber R, Himmelhan B, Altevogt P, Gebhardt C, et al. CCR5(+) myeloid-derived suppressor cells are enriched and activated in melanoma lesions. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:157–67. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-0348
- Umansky V, Blattner C, Gebhardt C, Utikal J. CCR5 in recruitment and activation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in melanoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2017) 66:1015–23. doi: 10.1007/s00262-017-1988-9
- Cheon EC, Khazaie K, Khan MW, Strouch MJ, Krantz SB, Phillips J, et al. Mast cell 5-lipoxygenase activity promotes intestinal polyposis in APCDelta468 mice. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:1627–36. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1923
- Molon B, Ugel S, Del Pozzo F, Soldani C, Zilio S, Avella D, et al. Chemokine nitration prevents intratumoral infiltration of antigen-specific T cells. *J Exp Med.* (2011) 208:1949–62. doi: 10.1084/jem.20101956
- Obermajer N, Muthuswamy R, Lesnock J, Edwards RP, Kalinski P. Positive feedback between PGE2 and COX2 redirects the differentiation of human dendritic cells toward stable myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Blood.* (2011) 118:5498–505. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-07-365825
- Kortylewski M, Kujawski M, Wang T, Wei S, Zhang S, Pilon-Thomas S, et al. Inhibiting Stat3 signaling in the hematopoietic system elicits multicomponent antitumor immunity. *Nature medicine*. (2005) 11:1314– 21. doi: 10.1038/nm1325
- Nefedova Y, Cheng P, Gilkes D, Blaskovich M, Beg AA, Sebti SM, et al. Activation of dendritic cells via inhibition of Jak2/STAT3 signaling. J Immunol. (2005) 175:4338–46. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.7.4338
- Martin RK, Saleem SJ, Folgosa L, Zellner HB, Damle SR, Nguyen GK, et al. Mast cell histamine promotes the immunoregulatory activity of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2014) 96:151–9. doi: 10.1189/jlb.5A1213-644R
- Saleem SJ, Martin RK, Morales JK, Sturgill JL, Gibb DR, Graham L, et al. Cutting edge: mast cells critically augment myeloid-derived suppressor cell activity. J Immunol. (2012) 189:511–5. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200647
- Corzo CA, Condamine T, Lu L, Cotter MJ, Youn JI, Cheng P, et al. HIFlalpha regulates function and differentiation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment. *J Exp Med.* (2010) 207:2439– 53. doi: 10.1084/jem.20100587
- 31. Christiansson L, Soderlund S, Svensson E, Mustjoki S, Bengtsson M, Simonsson B, et al. Increased level of myeloid-derived suppressor cells, programmed death receptor ligand 1/programmed death receptor 1, and soluble CD25 in Sokal high risk chronic myeloid leukemia. *PloS ONE*. (2013) 8:e55818. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0055818

- 32. Giallongo C, Parrinello N, Tibullo D, La Cava P, Romano A, Chiarenza A, et al. Myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) are increased and exert immunosuppressive activity together with polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs) in chronic myeloid leukemia patients. *PloS ONE.* (2014) 9:e101848. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0101848
- 33. Giallongo C, Romano A, Parrinello NL, La Cava P, Brundo MV, Bramanti V, et al. Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSC) regulate activation of Granulocyte-like Myeloid Derived Suppressor Cells (G-MDSC) in chronic myeloid leukemia patients. *PloS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0158392. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0158392
- Sun H, Li Y, Zhang ZF, Ju Y, Li L, Zhang BC, et al. Increase in myeloidderived suppressor cells (MDSCs) associated with minimal residual disease (MRD) detection in adult acute myeloid leukemia. *Int J Hematol.* (2015) 102:579–86. doi: 10.1007/s12185-015-1865-2
- Liu YF, Chen YY, He YY, Wang JY, Yang JP, Zhong SL, et al. Expansion and activation of granulocytic, myeloid-derived suppressor cells in childhood precursor B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2017) 102:449– 58. doi: 10.1189/jlb.5MA1116-453RR
- Bansal AK, Sharawat SK, Gupta R, Vishnubhatla S, Dhawan D, Bakhshi S. Regulatory T cells in pediatric AML are associated with disease load and their serial assessment suggests role in leukemogenesis. *Am J Blood Res.* (2020) 10:90–6.
- 37. Marini O, Spina C, Mimiola E, Cassaro A, Malerba G, Todeschini G, et al. Identification of granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells (G-MDSCs) in the peripheral blood of Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphoma patients. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:27676–88. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.8507
- Lin Y, Gustafson MP, Bulur PA, Gastineau DA, Witzig TE, Dietz AB. Immunosuppressive CD14+HLA-DR(low)/- monocytes in B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood.* (2011) 117:872– 81. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-05-283820
- 39. Gustafson MP, Abraham RS, Lin Y, Wu W, Gastineau DA, Zent CS, et al. Association of an increased frequency of CD14+ HLA-DR lo/neg monocytes with decreased time to progression in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL). *Br J Haematol.* (2012) 156:674–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2011.08902.x
- Romano A, Parrinello NL, Vetro C, Forte S, Chiarenza A, Figuera A, et al. Circulating myeloid-derived suppressor cells correlate with clinical outcome in Hodgkin Lymphoma patients treated up-front with a riskadapted strategy. *Br J Haematol.* (2015) 168:689–700. doi: 10.1111/bjh.13198
- Malek E, de Lima M, Letterio JJ, Kim BG, Finke JH, Driscoll JJ, et al. Myeloidderived suppressor cells: the green light for myeloma immune escape. *Blood Rev.* (2016) 30:341–8. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2016.04.002
- Serafini P, Meckel K, Kelso M, Noonan K, Califano J, Koch W, et al. Phosphodiesterase-5 inhibition augments endogenous antitumor immunity by reducing myeloid-derived suppressor cell function. *J Exp Med.* (2006) 203:2691–702. doi: 10.1084/jem.20061104
- Hou Y, Feng Q, Xu M, Li GS, Liu XN, Sheng Z, et al. Highdose dexamethasone corrects impaired myeloid-derived suppressor cell function via Ets1 in immune thrombocytopenia. *Blood.* (2016) 127:1587– 97. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-10-674531
- 44. Shao X, Wu B, Cheng L, Li F, Zhan Y, Liu C, et al. Distinct alterations of CD68(+)CD163(+) M2-like macrophages and myeloid-derived suppressor cells in newly diagnosed primary immune thrombocytopenia with or without CR after high-dose dexamethasone treatment. *J Transl Med.* (2018) 16:48. doi: 10.1186/s12967-018-1424-8
- Papadaki HA, Stamatopoulos K, Damianaki A, Gemetzi C, Anagnostopoulos A, Papadaki T, et al. Activated T-lymphocytes with myelosuppressive properties in patients with chronic idiopathic neutropenia. *Br J Haematol.* (2005) 128:863–76. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2005.05380.x
- Wang Z, Jiang J, Li Z, Zhang J, Wang H, Qin Z. A myeloid cell population induced by Freund adjuvant suppresses Tcell-mediated antitumor immunity. *J Immunother*. (2010) 33:167–77. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181bed2ba
- Gehad AE, Lichtman MK, Schmults CD, Teague JE, Calarese AW, Jiang Y, et al. Nitric oxide-producing myeloid-derived suppressor cells inhibit vascular E-selectin expression in human squamous cell carcinomas. *J Investig Dermatol.* (2012) 132:2642–51. doi: 10.1038/jid.2012.190
- 48. Kusmartsev S, Nefedova Y, Yoder D, Gabrilovich DI. Antigen-specific inhibition of CD8+ T cell response by immature myeloid cells in cancer

is mediated by reactive oxygen species. J Immunol. (2004) 172:989-99. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.2.989

- Tumino N, Turchi F, Meschi S, Lalle E, Bordoni V, Casetti R, et al. In HIVpositive patients, myeloid-derived suppressor cells induce T-cell anergy by suppressing CD3zeta expression through ELF-1 inhibition. *AIDS*. (2015) 29:2397–407. doi: 10.1097/QAD.00000000000871
- Hanson EM, Clements VK, Sinha P, Ilkovitch D, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells down-regulate L-selectin expression on CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. J Immunol. (2009) 183:937–44. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0804253
- Rodriguez PC, Quiceno DG, Zabaleta J, Ortiz B, Zea AH, Piazuelo MB, et al. Arginase I production in the tumor microenvironment by mature myeloid cells inhibits T-cell receptor expression and antigen-specific T-cell responses. *Cancer Res.* (2004) 64:5839–49. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-0465
- Srivastava MK, Sinha P, Clements VK, Rodriguez P, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells inhibit T-cell activation by depleting cystine and cysteine. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:68–77. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2587
- Rodriguez PC, Quiceno DG, Ochoa AC. L-arginine availability regulates T-lymphocyte cell-cycle progression. *Blood.* (2007) 109:1568–73. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-06-031856
- Huang B, Pan PY, Li Q, Sato AI, Levy DE, Bromberg J, et al. Gr-1+CD115+ immature myeloid suppressor cells mediate the development of tumorinduced T regulatory cells and T-cell anergy in tumor-bearing host. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:1123–31. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1299
- Zhang G, Huang H, Zhu Y, Yu G, Gao X, Xu Y, et al. A novel subset of B7-H3(+)CD14(+)HLA-DR(-/low) myeloid-derived suppressor cells are associated with progression of human NSCLC. *Oncoimmunology*. (2015) 4:e977164. doi: 10.4161/2162402X.2014.977164
- Li L, Wang L, Li J, Fan Z, Yang L, Zhang Z, et al. Metformin-induced reduction of CD39 and CD73 blocks myeloid-derived suppressor cell activity in patients with ovarian cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:1779– 91. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-2460
- Li J, Wang L, Chen X, Li L, Li Y, Ping Y, et al. CD39/CD73 upregulation on myeloid-derived suppressor cells via TGF-beta-mTOR-HIF-1 signaling in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1320011. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1320011
- Pan PY, Ma G, Weber KJ, Ozao-Choy J, Wang G, Yin B, et al. Immune stimulatory receptor CD40 is required for T-cell suppression and T regulatory cell activation mediated by myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:99–108. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1882
- Hoechst B, Ormandy LA, Ballmaier M, Lehner F, Kruger C, Manns MP, et al. A new population of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in hepatocellular carcinoma patients induces CD4(+)CD25(+)Foxp3(+) T cells. *Gastroenterology*. (2008) 135:234–43. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.03.020
- Younis RH, Han KL, Webb TJ. Human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma-associated semaphorin 4D induces expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. J Immunol. (2016) 196:1419–29. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1501293
- Domenis R, Cesselli D, Toffoletto B, Bourkoula E, Caponnetto F, Manini I, et al. Systemic T cells immunosuppression of glioma stem cell-derived exosomes is mediated by monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *PloS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0169932. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169932
- Qian L, Liu Y, Wang S, Gong W, Jia X, Liu L, et al. NKG2D ligand RAE1epsilon induces generation and enhances the inhibitor function of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in mice. J Cell Mol Med. (2017) 21:2046– 54. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.13124
- Hoechst B, Gamrekelashvili J, Manns MP, Greten TF, Korangy F. Plasticity of human Th17 cells and iTregs is orchestrated by different subsets of myeloid cells. *Blood.* (2011) 117:6532–41. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-11-317321
- 64. Noman MZ, Desantis G, Janji B, Hasmim M, Karray S, Dessen P, et al. PD-L1 is a novel direct target of HIF-1alpha, and its blockade under hypoxia enhanced MDSC-mediated T cell activation. *J Exp Med.* (2014) 211:781–90. doi: 10.1084/jem.2013 1916
- Spranger S, Koblish HK, Horton B, Scherle PA, Newton R, Gajewski TF. Mechanism of tumor rejection with doublets of CTLA-4, PD-1/PD-L1, or IDO blockade involves restored IL-2 production

and proliferation of CD8(+) T cells directly within the tumor microenvironment. *J Immunother Cancer*. (2014) 2:3. doi: 10.1186/2051-142 6-2-3

- Wang Y, Ding Y, Guo N, Wang S. MDSCs: key criminals of tumor pre-metastatic niche formation. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:172. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00172
- Rivera LB, Bergers G. Intertwined regulation of angiogenesis and immunity by myeloid cells. *Trends Immunol.* (2015) 36:240–9. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015.02.005
- Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: more mechanisms for inhibiting antitumor immunity. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2010) 59:1593–600. doi: 10.1007/s00262-010-0855-8
- Burke M, Choksawangkarn W, Edwards N, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Fenselau C. Exosomes from myeloid-derived suppressor cells carry biologically active proteins. J Proteome Res. (2014) 13:836–43. doi: 10.1021/pr400879c
- Artis D, Spits H. The biology of innate lymphoid cells. Nature. (2015) 517:293–301. doi: 10.1038/nature14189
- Shi FD, Ljunggren HG, La Cava A, Van Kaer L. Organ-specific features of natural killer cells. Nat Rev Immunol. (2011) 11:658–71. doi: 10.1038/nri3065
- Tumino N, Martini S, Munari E, Scordamaglia F, Besi F, Mariotti FR, et al. Presence of innate lymphoid cells in pleural effusions of primary and metastatic tumors: functional analysis and expression of PD-1 receptor. *Int J Cancer.* (2019) 145:1660–8. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32262
- Sivori S, Pende D, Quatrini L, Pietra G, Della Chiesa M, Vacca P, et al. NK cells and ILCs in tumor immunotherapy. *Mol Aspects Med.* (2020) 100870. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2020.100870
- Moretta L. Dissecting CD56dim human NK cells. Blood. (2010) 116:3689– 91. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-09-303057
- Cooper MA, Fehniger TA, Turner SC, Chen KS, Ghaheri BA, Ghayur T, et al. Human natural killer cells: a unique innate immunoregulatory role for the CD56(bright) subset. *Blood.* (2001) 97:3146–51. doi: 10.1182/blood.V97.10.3146
- Moretta A, Bottino C, Vitale M, Pende D, Cantoni C, Mingari MC, et al. Activating receptors and coreceptors involved in human natural killer cell-mediated cytolysis. *Ann Rev Immunol.* (2001) 19:197– 223. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.197
- Moretta A, Bottino C, Vitale M, Pende D, Biassoni R, Mingari MC, et al. Receptors for HLA class-I molecules in human natural killer cells. *Ann Rev Immunol.* (1996) 14:619–48. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.14.1.619
- DuPage M, Mazumdar C, Schmidt LM, Cheung AF, Jacks T. Expression of tumour-specific antigens underlies cancer immunoediting. *Nature*. (2012) 482:405–9. doi: 10.1038/nature10803
- Fregni G, Perier A, Avril MF, Caignard A. NK cells sense tumors, course of disease and treatments: consequences for NK-based therapies. *Oncoimmunology*. (2012) 1:38–47. doi: 10.4161/onci.1.1.18312
- Chinai JM, Janakiram M, Chen F, Chen W, Kaplan M, Zang X. New immunotherapies targeting the PD-1 pathway. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* (2015) 36:587–95. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2015.06.005
- Zitvogel L, Galluzzi L, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G. Mechanism of action of conventional and targeted anticancer therapies: reinstating immunosurveillance. *Immunity*. (2013) 39:74– 88. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.06.014
- Habif G, Crinier A, Andre P, Vivier E, Narni-Mancinelli E. Targeting natural killer cells in solid tumors. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2019) 16:415– 22. doi: 10.1038/s41423-019-0224-2
- Tartter PI, Steinberg B, Barron DM, Martinelli G. The prognostic significance of natural killer cytotoxicity in patients with colorectal cancer. *Arch Surg.* (1987) 122:1264–8. doi: 10.1001/archsurg.1987.01400230050009
- Halama N, Braun M, Kahlert C, Spille A, Quack C, Rahbari N, et al. Natural killer cells are scarce in colorectal carcinoma tissue despite high levels of chemokines and cytokines. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2011) 17:678– 89. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2173
- Eckl J, Buchner A, Prinz PU, Riesenberg R, Siegert SI, Kammerer R, et al. Transcript signature predicts tissue NK cell content and defines renal cell carcinoma subgroups independent of TNM staging. J Mol Med. (2012) 90:55–66. doi: 10.1007/s00109-011-0806-7
- 86. Salgado R, Denkert C, Campbell C, Savas P, Nuciforo P, Aura C, et al. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and associations with pathological

complete response and event-free survival in HER2-positive earlystage breast cancer treated with lapatinib and trastuzumab: a secondary analysis of the NeoALTTO trial. *JAMA Oncol.* (2015) 1:448–54. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2015.0830

- Arnould L, Gelly M, Penault-Llorca F, Benoit L, Bonnetain F, Migeon C, et al. Trastuzumab-based treatment of HER2-positive breast cancer: an antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity mechanism? *Br J Cancer*. (2006) 94:259–67. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6602930
- Schantz SP, Ordonez NG. Quantitation of natural killer cell function and risk of metastatic poorly differentiated head and neck cancer. *Nat Immunity Cell Growth Regul.* (1991) 10:278–88.
- Lavin Y, Kobayashi S, Leader A, Amir ED, Elefant N, Bigenwald C, et al. Innate immune landscape in early lung adenocarcinoma by paired single-cell analyses. *Cell.* (2017) 169:750–65 e17. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.04.014
- Carrega P, Morandi B, Costa R, Frumento G, Forte G, Altavilla G, et al. Natural killer cells infiltrating human nonsmall-cell lung cancer are enriched in CD56 bright CD16(-) cells and display an impaired capability to kill tumor cells. *Cancer*. (2008) 112:863–75. doi: 10.1002/cncr.23239
- 91. Di Pace AL, Tumino N, Besi F, Alicata C, Conti LA, Munari E, et al. Characterization of human NK cell-derived exosomes: role of DNAM1 receptor in exosome-mediated cytotoxicity against tumor. *Cancers.* (2020) 12:661. doi: 10.3390/cancers12030661
- 92. Wu AA, Drake V, Huang HS, Chiu S, Zheng L. Reprogramming the tumor microenvironment: tumor-induced immunosuppressive factors paralyze T cells. *Oncoimmunology*. (2015) 4:e1016700. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1016700
- 93. Li Z, Pang Y, Gara SK, Achyut BR, Heger C, Goldsmith PK, et al. Gr-1+CD11b+ cells are responsible for tumor promoting effect of TGF-beta in breast cancer progression. *Int J Cancer.* (2012) 131:2584– 95. doi: 10.1002/ijc.27572
- Li H, Han Y, Guo Q, Zhang M, Cao X. Cancer-expanded myeloid-derived suppressor cells induce anergy of NK cells through membrane-bound TGFbeta 1. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:240–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.182.1.240
- Fournie JJ, Poupot M. The pro-tumorigenic IL-33 involved in antitumor immunity: a yin and yang cytokine. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2506. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02506
- Shen JX, Liu J, Zhang GJ. Interleukin-33 in malignancies: friends or foes? Front Immunol. (2018) 9:3051. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.03051
- Elkabets M, Ribeiro VS, Dinarello CA, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Di Santo JP, Apte RN, et al. IL-1beta regulates a novel myeloid-derived suppressor cell subset that impairs NK cell development and function. *Eur J Immunol.* (2010) 40:3347–57. doi: 10.1002/eji.201041037
- Hoechst B, Voigtlaender T, Ormandy L, Gamrekelashvili J, Zhao F, Wedemeyer H, et al. Myeloid derived suppressor cells inhibit natural killer cells in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma via the NKp30 receptor. *Hepatology*. (2009) 50:799–807. doi: 10.1002/hep.23054
- Stiff A, Trikha P, Mundy-Bosse B, McMichael E, Mace TA, Benner B, et al. Nitric oxide production by myeloid-derived suppressor cells plays a role in impairing Fc receptor-mediated natural killer cell function. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:1891–904. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-0691
- 100. Ibrahim ML, Klement JD, Lu C, Redd PS, Xiao W, Yang D, et al. Myeloidderived suppressor cells produce IL-10 to elicit DNMT3b-dependent IRF8 silencing to promote colitis-associated colon tumorigenesis. *Cell Rep.* (2018) 25:3036–46 e6. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.11.050
- 101. Yaseen MM, Abuharfeil NM, Darmani H, Daoud A. Mechanisms of immune suppression by myeloid-derived suppressor cells: the role of interleukin-10 as a key immunoregulatory cytokine. *Open Biol.* (2020) 10:200111. doi: 10.1098/rsob.200111
- Baumeister SH, Freeman GJ, Dranoff G, Sharpe AH. Coinhibitory pathways in immunotherapy for cancer. *Ann Immunol.* (2016) 34:539– 73. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112049
- Okazaki T, Chikuma S, Iwai Y, Fagarasan S, Honjo T. A rheostat for immune responses: the unique properties of PD-1 and their advantages for clinical application. *Nat Immunol.* (2013) 14:1212–8. doi: 10.1038/ni.2762
- Okazaki T, Honjo T. PD-1 and PD-1 ligands: from discovery to clinical application. *Int Immunol.* (2007) 19:813–24. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxm057
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science. (2015) 348:69–74. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa4971

- 106. Sharma P, Allison JP. Immune checkpoint targeting in cancer therapy: toward combination strategies with curative potential. *Cell.* (2015) 161:205– 14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.03.030
- 107. Barry KC, Hsu J, Broz ML, Cueto FJ, Binnewies M, Combes AJ, et al. A natural killer-dendritic cell axis defines checkpoint therapy-responsive tumor microenvironments. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:1178–91. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0085-8
- Hsu J, Hodgins JJ, Marathe M, Nicolai CJ, Bourgeois-Daigneault MC, Trevino TN, et al. Contribution of NK cells to immunotherapy mediated by PD-1/PD-L1 blockade. J Clin Investig. (2018) 128:4654–68. doi: 10.1172/JCI99317
- 109. Quatrini L, Mariotti FR, Munari E, Tumino N, Vacca P, Moretta L. The immune checkpoint PD-1 in natural killer cells: expression, function and targeting in tumour immunotherapy. *Cancers.* (2020) 12:3285. doi: 10.3390/cancers12113285
- 110. Mariotti FR, Petrini S, Ingegnere T, Tumino N, Besi F, Scordamaglia F, et al. PD-1 in human NK cells: evidence of cytoplasmic mRNA and protein expression. *Oncoimmunology*. (2019) 8:1557030. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1557030
- 111. Azzaoui I, Uhel F, Rossille D, Pangault C, Dulong J, Le Priol J, et al. T-cell defect in diffuse large B-cell lymphomas involves expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Blood.* (2016) 128:1081–92. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-08-662783
- 112. Lu C, Redd PS, Lee JR, Savage N, Liu K. The expression profiles and regulation of PD-L1 in tumor-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Oncoimmunology*. (2016) 5:e1247135. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1247135
- 113. Iwata T, Kondo Y, Kimura O, Morosawa T, Fujisaka Y, Umetsu T, et al. PD-L1(+)MDSCs are increased in HCC patients and induced by soluble factor in the tumor microenvironment. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:39296. doi: 10.1038/srep39296
- 114. Zhang J, Han X, Hu X, Jin F, Gao Z, Yin L, et al. IDO1 impairs NK cell cytotoxicity by decreasing NKG2D/NKG2DLs via promoting miR-18a. *Mol Immunol.* (2018) 103:144–55. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2018.09.011
- 115. Sun X, Sui Q, Zhang C, Tian Z, Zhang J. Targeting blockage of STAT3 in hepatocellular carcinoma cells augments NK cell functions via reverse hepatocellular carcinoma-induced immune suppression. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2013) 12:2885–96. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-12-1087
- 116. Sui Q, Zhang J, Sun X, Zhang C, Han Q, Tian Z. NK cells are the crucial antitumor mediators when STAT3-mediated immunosuppression is blocked in hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Immunol.* (2014) 193:2016– 23. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302389
- 117. Gotthardt D, Sexl V. STATs in NK-cells: the good, the bad, and the ugly. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:694. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00694
- 118. Sarhan D, Cichocki F, Zhang B, Yingst A, Spellman SR, Cooley S, et al. Adaptive NK cells with low TIGIT expression are inherently resistant to myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:5696– 706. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-0839
- 119. Molgora M, Bonavita E, Ponzetta A, Riva F, Barbagallo M, Jaillon S, et al. IL-1R8 is a checkpoint in NK cells regulating anti-tumour and anti-viral activity. *Nature*. (2017) 551:110–4. doi: 10.1038/nature24293
- 120. Pistoia V, Tumino N, Vacca P, Veneziani I, Moretta A, Locatelli F, et al. Human gammadelta T-Cells: from surface receptors to the therapy of high-risk leukemias. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:984. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00984
- 121. Locatelli F, Merli P, Pagliara D, Li Pira G, Falco M, Pende D, et al. Outcome of children with acute leukemia given HLA-haploidentical HSCT after alphabeta T-cell and B-cell depletion. *Blood.* (2017) 130:677– 85. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-04-779769
- 122. Vacca P, Montaldo E, Croxatto D, Moretta F, Bertaina A, Vitale C, et al. NK cells and other innate lymphoid cells in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:188. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00188
- 123. Pietra G, Vitale C, Pende D, Bertaina A, Moretta F, Falco M, et al. Human natural killer cells: news in the therapy of solid tumors and high-risk leukemias. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2016) 65:465– 76. doi: 10.1007/s00262-015-1744-y
- 124. Tumino N, Besi F, Di Pace AL, Mariotti FR, Merli P, Li Pira G, et al. PMN-MDSC are a new target to rescue graft-versus-leukemia activity

of NK cells in haplo-HSC transplantation. *Leukemia*. (2020) 34:932-7. doi: 10.1038/s41375-019-0585-7

- 125. Zoller M, Zhao K, Kutlu N, Bauer N, Provaznik J, Hackert T, et al. Immunoregulatory effects of myeloid-derived suppressor cell exosomes in mouse model of autoimmune alopecia areata. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1279. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01279
- Ugel S, Delpozzo F, Desantis G, Papalini F, Simonato F, Sonda N, et al. Therapeutic targeting of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Curr Opin Pharmacol.* (2009) 9:470–81. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2009.06.014
- 127. Sevko A, Michels T, Vrohlings M, Umansky L, Beckhove P, Kato M, et al. Antitumor effect of paclitaxel is mediated by inhibition of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and chronic inflammation in the spontaneous melanoma model. *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:2464–71. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.12 02781
- Friedman AD. Transcriptional control of granulocyte and monocyte development. Oncogene. (2007) 26:6816–28. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210764
- 129. Mirza N, Fishman M, Fricke I, Dunn M, Neuger AM, Frost TJ, et al. All-trans-retinoic acid improves differentiation of myeloid cells and immune response in cancer patients. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:9299– 307. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-1690

- 130. Suzuki E, Kapoor V, Jassar AS, Kaiser LR, Albelda SM. Gemcitabine selectively eliminates splenic Gr-1+/CD11b+ myeloid suppressor cells in tumor-bearing animals and enhances antitumor immune activity. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2005) 11:6713–21. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0883
- 131. Vincent J, Mignot G, Chalmin F, Ladoire S, Bruchard M, Chevriaux A, et al. 5-Fluorouracil selectively kills tumor-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells resulting in enhanced T cell-dependent antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:3052–61. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3690

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Tumino, Di Pace, Besi, Quatrini, Vacca and Moretta. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Harnessing the cDC1-NK Cross-Talk in the Tumor Microenvironment to Battle Cancer

Johanna Bödder, Tasmin Zahan, Rianne van Slooten, Gerty Schreibelt, I. Jolanda M. de Vries^{*} and Georgina Flórez-Grau

Department of Tumor Immunology, Radboud Institute for Molecular Life Sciences, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, Netherlands

Immunotherapeutic approaches have revolutionized the treatment of several diseases such as cancer. The main goal of immunotherapy for cancer is to modulate the anti-tumor immune responses by favoring the recognition and destruction of tumor cells. Recently, a better understanding of the suppressive effect of the tumor microenvironment (TME) on immune cells, indicates that restoring the suppressive effect of the TME is crucial for an efficient immunotherapy. Natural killer (NK) cells and dendritic cells (DCs) are cell types that are currently administered to cancer patients. NK cells are used because of their ability to kill tumor cells directly via cytotoxic granzymes. DCs are employed to enhance anti-tumor T cell responses based on their ability to present antigens and induce tumor-antigen specific CD8⁺ T cell responses. In preclinical models, a particular DC subset, conventional type 1 DCs (cDC1s) is shown to be specialized in cross-presenting extracellular antigens to CD8⁺ T cells. This feature makes them a promising DC subset for cancer treatment. Within the TME, cDC1s show a bidirectional cross-talk with NK cells, resulting in a higher cDC1 recruitment, differentiation, and maturation as well as activation and stimulation of NK cells. Consequently, the presence of cDC1s and NK cells within the TME might be of utmost importance for the success of immunotherapy. In this review, we discuss the function of cDC1s and NK cells, their bidirectional cross-talk and potential strategies that could improve cancer immunotherapy.

Keywords: natural killer cells, conventional type 1 DCs, cross-talk, tumor microenvironment, immunotherapy

INTRODUCTION

Cancer immunotherapy is an approach that aims to activate the immune system to fight cancer. The immune system consists of many different cell types interacting with each other. Natural Killer (NK) cells and dendritic cells (DCs) are two cell types used for immunotherapy that are currently being tested in the clinic.

NK cells are granular innate lymphoid cells that display rapid, contact-dependent cytotoxic activities against viral-infected and cancer cells without prior sensitization. In general, NK cells

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Erik Wennerberg, Weill Cornell Medicine, United States

Reviewed by:

Alessandro Poggi, San Martino Hospital (IRCCS), Italy Fabian Benencia, Ohio University, United States

*Correspondence:

I. Jolanda M. de Vries Jolanda.devries@radboudumc.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 20 November 2020 Accepted: 29 December 2020 Published: 19 February 2021

Citation:

Bödder J, Zahan T, van Slooten R, Schreibelt G, de Vries IJM and Flórez-Grau G (2021) Harnessing the cDC1-NK Cross-Talk in the Tumor Microenvironment to Battle Cancer. Front. Immunol. 11:631713. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.631713

60

rapidly accumulate at sites of inflammation, where they recruit other immune cells via cytokine and chemokine secretion. After activation, NK cells induce lysis or apoptosis in mutated cells by releasing granules containing cytotoxic granzymes. Activation occurs in an antigen-independent manner that is regulated by a tight balance of activating and inhibitory germline-encoded surface receptor ligation (1). Activating receptors bind to ligands (e.g., CD155, CD112) upregulated on tumor cells. Inhibitory receptors recognize major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I, which is expressed by all nucleated cells, and upon binding, suppress NK cell activation. Hence, the highly diverse receptor repertoire on NK cells and the balance of activating and inhibitory receptors determine the magnitude of NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity and allow them to remain tolerant towards healthy cells (1-3). DCs, are a heterogeneous cell population which main function is to initiate an immune response. Immature DCs act as sentinels as they take up antigens, undergo a maturation process, and present these antigens on MHC molecules to naive T cells in lymph nodes. In general, antigen presenting cells present endogenous antigens on MHC class I (MHC-I), and exogenous antigens on MHC class II molecules (MHC-II) and thereby prime and activate CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, respectively (4). However, DCs have the unique capacity to present exogenous antigens on MHC-I molecules to CD8⁺ T cells, a process known as antigen cross-presentation.

NK cells are exploited as immunotherapeutic tool due to their cytotoxic and immunomodulatory functions and DCs because they are able to antigen-specifically activate T cells. However, both NK cell and DC functions can be restricted by the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment (TME). In this review, we describe the main features of NK cells and a very rare type of DC, cDC1s, and emphasize the importance of these cell types within the TME. We focus on how to exploit cDC1s and NK cells and their interaction as a potential target to enhance efficacy of cancer immunotherapy.

DENDRITIC CELLS

Both in humans and mice, circulating blood DCs have been classically divided into myeloid or conventional DCs (cDCs), and plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs). The DC subsets are classified by surface marker expression and different functional properties. Human pDCs express CD123, CD303 (BDCA-2) and CD304 (BDCA-4) as distinctive markers and are known for the production of large amounts of type 1 interferon (IFN-I) especially important for strong anti-viral responses (5). Conventional DCs express the common myeloid markers: CD11c, CD11b, CD33, and CD13 and are efficient in antigen presentation and T cell activation (5). They can be subdivided into type 1 conventional DCs (cDC1s) and type 2 cDCs (cDC2s) (6, 7). In humans, cDC1s express CD141 (BDCA-3) and cDC2s express CD1c (BDCA-1) (5). In mice, cDC2s are CD11b⁺, and cDC1s are characterized by $CD8\alpha^+$ or $CD103^+$ expression (8). Genome-wide association studies of human and mouse cDC1s revealed phenotypic similarities, including expression of nectinlike protein 2 (Necl2), C-type lectin CLEC9a, and the XC chemokine receptor 1 (XCR1) as well as toll-like-receptor 3 (TLR-3) (Figure 1) (9-14). Hence, human cDC1s are considered to be the equivalent of the mouse $CD8\alpha^+$ D C subset (10-13, 15, 16) (Figure 1).

cDC1s Phenotypic Characterization

Whereas in mice, cDC1s are the most abundant DC subset, human cDC1s are the rarest with approximately 0.03% of PBMCs and lymphoid and non-lymphoid cells are cDC1s (10, 11). This low occurrence of cDC1s resulted in difficulties to characterize them phenotypically. Initially, CD141 (BDCA-3) was described as a distinctive marker for cDC1s. However, CD141 was also found on cDC2s and other myeloid cells like monocytes (17). Therefore, many research groups sought to redefine subset division and attempted to identify conserved



61

and exclusive markers across species. In this context, single-cell RNA-sequencing data recently demonstrated that cDC1s indeed form a single, separate cluster with CLEC9a as a specific marker for human cDC1s (18). CLEC9a is a receptor for necrotic cellderived antigens (19). Yet, also CLEC9a is not exclusively expressed on cDC1s (13, 20, 21). The chemokine receptor XCR1 was established to be a specific marker for cDC1s. It is exclusively expressed on both human and mouse cDC1s (12, 13, 22-24). XCR1 mediates chemotaxis of cDC1s towards CD8⁺ T cells and NK cells, because they are the main producers of the ligand of XCR1, XC chemokine ligand 1 (XCL1), the ligand of XCR1 (12, 23). Besides exclusive expression of XCR1, cDC1s have a higher expression of the TLR-3 compared to other DCs subsets. TLR-3 signaling triggers IRF3/7, leading to IFN-ß secretion, thereby providing cDC1s with the enhanced capability to initiate T helper 1 responses (10, 11). As a result of the expression of CLEC9a and XCR1, cDC1s can take up necrotic cell-derived antigens and can migrate towards CD8⁺ T cells.

cDC1s Activate T Cells *via* Cross-Presentation

Cross-presentation of extracellular antigens is essential to activate CD8⁺ T cells specific for antigens derived from tumor cells (25). In mice, cDC1s are the only subset that cross-present antigens. Depletion of cDC1s, for example using *Batf3* knockouts, results in loss of cross-presentation. Mice lacking cDC1s have less tumor-specific CD8⁺ T cells hence an impaired anti-tumor response (24, 26–29). Of note, depletion of cDC1s leads, besides to diminished cross-presentation also to loss of other functions mediated by cDC1s like attracting CD8⁺ T cells *via* XCL1-XCR1 interactions as well as less IL-12 and IFN- β since it is produced by cDC1s upon TLR-3 triggering. These processes also enhance anti-tumor responses and are less efficient upon depletion of cDC1s (6, 24).

In line with data obtained from mouse experiments, human cDC1s are shown to be highly efficient at antigen crosspresentation (10–13). However, in humans, cDC1s are not the only subset capable to cross-present. Plasmacytoid DCs, cDC2s and monocyte-derived DCs are also able to cross-present (30– 34). However, data show that cDC1s are the most competent DC subset to cross-present antigens, especially of necrotic cells after uptake via CLEC9A (27, 35). The efficiency of cross-presentation of cDC1 is enhanced after triggering of TLR3 (11). Hence, human cDC1s are also highly specialized to cross-present antigens from necrotic tumor cells and to initiate a tumor antigen specific CD8⁺ T cell response (36, 37).

NATURAL KILLER CELLS

Human blood NK cells are a heterogeneous immune cell population classified by surface receptor expression of CD56 into two main functionally different subsets. $\text{CD56}^{\text{high}}$ NK cells secrete high levels of IFN- γ and other cytokines important for immunoregulatory functions, but produce low levels of perforin (38). Furthermore, CD56^{high} NK cells express high levels of natural killer group 2A (NKG2A) and C-C chemokine receptor type 7 (CCR7) and low levels of Fc γ receptor IIIa (CD16) and killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs) (38, 39). In contrast, CD56^{low} NK cells display a high expression of KIR and CD16 receptor. The receptor CD16 enables CD56^{low} NK cells to mediate antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCCs). This CD16 expression together with the secretion of perforin and granzyme B provides CD56^{low} NK cells with efficient killing abilities (38).

In general, NK cells display either killer (CD56lowNK cells) or helper (CD56high) functions against virus-infected or tumor cells due to activating and inhibitory receptor signaling and cytokine secretion (Figure 2). Inhibitory KIR and NKG2A receptors recognize MHC-I molecules. In the case of absent, changed, or mismatched MHC-I expression, the inhibitory receptor signal is lost, and NK cells get activated. The diversity of inhibitory receptors expressed on NK cells allows to recognize the high polymorphism of the MHC class I genes resulting in NK cell tolerance for healthy cells (3). Virusinfected or tumor cells often show gradually or complete loss of MHC-I expression to escape cytotoxic T cell recognition, simultaneously leading to a lack of inhibitory signal and NK cell activation (38, 40). Besides NK cell activation by loss of inhibitory signals, ligands overexpressed on mutated cells engaging with activating receptors such as natural cytotoxicity receptors (NKp30, NKp44, and NKp46) and NKG2D also lead to NK cell activation (41). Exposure of NK



cells to cytokines such as IL-2 or IL-15 enhances activating receptor upregulation and promotes survival and proliferation (42–44). Activated NK cells can kill by forming a synapse with target cells and releasing perforin and cytotoxic granules. Perforin penetrates the membrane of target cells and granules containing cytotoxic granzymes enter target cells to provoke programmed cell death (45, 46). Another killing mechanism of NK cells is *via* ADCC. CD16 on NK cells recognize IgG antibody-coated tumor cells upon which granules are released by NK cells and target cells are killed (47). Some anti-tumor therapies based on neutralizing antibodies such as Rituximab or Trastuzumab demonstrate that the clinical benefit is partly mediated by ADCC (47).

Immunomodulatory functions, mainly ascribed to CD56^{high} NK cells are the secretion of different cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors, for example, IFN- γ , TNF- α , fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand (FLT3L), Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 3 (CCL3), CCL4, CCL5, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and XCL1 (41). These factors attract other immune cells like DCs, induce Th1 polarization, and CTL responses against target cells (41, 48). NK cells are essential for anti-tumor immune responses especially for eradication of MHC-I negative tumors. Different strategies to boost NK cell activity, particularly in the suppressive TME, are currently investigated.

TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT AND IMMUNE ESCAPE MECHANISMS

Escaping immune surveillance is one of the key hallmarks of cancer (49). Different suppressive mechanisms are employed by cancer cells to bypass immune system attacks. These mechanisms include the upregulation of co-inhibitory ligands (such as programmed death-ligand 1, PD-L1), down-regulation or loss of MHC-I, or secretion of immunosuppressive factors like IL-10, VEGF, and TGF- β (50–54).

The composition of the TME differs between cancer type and patient and plays an essential role in the tumor immune escape. This highly heterogeneous TME is composed of tumor cells, blood vessels, tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, and other immune cells, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, signaling molecules (cytokines, chemokines), and the extracellular matrix (55). Tumors can be divided into "hot" and "cold" depending on the presence or absence of effector immune cells within the tumor. The occurrence of effector immune cells, for example T cells which directly can eliminate tumor cells, impacts patient outcome (55). In some cancer types, such as epithelial ovarian cancer and colorectal cancer T cell infiltration, specifically in the tumor has been associated with positive clinical effects (56-58). Moreover, pre-existing CD8⁺ T cells within the tumor are crucial for tumor regression upon PD-1 checkpoint inhibition (59). In contrast to CD8⁺ T cells, regulatory T cells, myeloid-derived-suppressor cells, or tumor-associated macrophages inhibit the immune response and are therefore associated with tumor growth and a poor clinical outcome (60, 61).

NK Cells and DC Within the TME

Next to the presence of CD8⁺ T cells, the occurrence and active state of NK cells in the tumor are related to a positive prognostic outcome (62-64). In some types of cancer such as head and neck or prostate cancer, a high ratio of tumor infiltrating NK cells is associated with a positive clinical outcome for patients, whereas in non-small-cell lung cancer, the presence of NK cells within the TME has no clinical impact due to down-regulation of activating receptors on the infiltrated NK cells (63, 65). NK cells isolated from prostate cancer are mainly CD56^{high} and display reduced cytotoxicity because of an increased inhibitory and decreased activating receptor expression pattern. In non- small cell lung carcinoma CTLA-4 expression is upregulated on NK cells in the TME compared with healthy tissue NK cells and negatively effects DC maturation (66). This unfavorable activating and inhibitory receptor expression pattern have been implicated as cause for impaired killing activity of NK cells in the TME (67, 68).

NK cells isolated from tumors differ phenotypically and transcriptomically from NK cells isolated from blood (69). These variations can arise from several cellular and soluble factors present within the TME, which influence phenotype, functionality, and migration characteristics of infiltrated NK cells (63, 66, 70). Soluble factors influencing NK cell cytotoxicity and infiltration into the TME for instance TGF- β and Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) are secreted by immunosuppressive cells such as regulatory T cells, tumor-associated macrophages, myeloidderived-suppressor cells (68, 71-73). TGF-B suppresses NK cell cytotoxicity by inhibiting IFN- γ secretion, down-regulating activating receptor expression, and the adapter molecule DAP12 (74-76). PGE2 hampers NK cell cytotoxicity by decreasing IFN- γ secretion, thereby facilitating cancer progression (77, 78). Other factors within the TME, like hypoxia, high expression of checkpoint receptor ligands, and chronic activation of activating receptors, can cause functional exhaustion of NK cells (79-81). Exhausted NK cells show a dampened inflammatory cytokine secretion pattern, a reduced activity due to decreased activating receptor expression and an upregulation of inhibitory receptors and checkpoint receptors such as PD1, TIM3, CD69, and LAG3 (63, 68, 82, 83).

Immunosuppressive factors within the TME also strongly influence the function of DCs within this microenvironment (Figure 3). Tumor-infiltrated DCs are less efficient in antigen presentation and cytokine production upon TLR stimulation than peripheral blood DCs (84, 85). Factors in the TME, including IL-10, IL-6, TGF-ß, and PGE2, modulate DCs, for example, inhibition of DC maturation. Hence, tumor-infiltrated DCs often display an immature phenotype with a low expression of co-stimulatory markers: CD80, CD86, and CD40, while coinhibitory markers like PD-L1 and TIM3 are upregulated. Consequently, DCs within the TME are often associated with immunosuppressive and impaired functions (86-88). Notably, the infiltration of pDCs is associated with poor prognosis in breast- and ovarian cancer (89, 90). In contrast, cDC1s in the TME have been linked with favorable patient survival (91). Several reports indicate that cDC1s in tumors are associated



cells. Together with diminished IFN-γ secretion, the changed receptor expression results in reduced cytotoxicity of NK cells. Due to immunosuppressive factors in the TME cDC1s express low levels of XCR1 and CCR5 and display an immature phenotype with reduced CD80, CD86, and CD40 expression. Whereas checkpoint receptors and anti-inflammatory cytokine expression are upregulated.

with a higher number of CD8⁺ T cells within the TME, better prognosis of cancer patients, and immunotherapeutic success (36, 92-95). In addition to the presence of CD8⁺ T cells, the occurrence of cDC1s in the TME also correlates with high numbers of NK cells and better overall survival of melanoma patients (14, 94, 96). Positive effects of cDC1s within the TME seem to be partly mediated via their IL-12 secretion which is essential for the induction of T-helper 1 (Th1) responses and CD8⁺ T cell activation, both of which are crucial for a longlasting anti-tumor response (97). Moreover, IL-12 effects IFN-y production by NK cells. The lack of IL-12 secreting cDC1s in mice leads to reduced IFN-y production by NK cells and growth of metastases (98). In human breast cancer, IL-12 expression correlates with cDC1s and cytotoxic effector molecules like IFNG (99). Nevertheless, positive effects of the presence of cDC1s can be negatively affected by different factors in the TME. For example, in mice, tumor-infiltrating cDC1s show increased PD-L1 expression upon antigen uptake and IFN- γ stimulation. High PD-L1 expression protects cDC1s from killing by CD8⁺ T cells. However, within the TME, this protective high PD-L1 expression on cDC1s can lead to a diminished anti-tumor immune response (100). Macrophage-derived IL-10 inhibits IL-12 production by cDC1s during chemotherapy, resulting in a lower CD8⁺ T cell cytotoxicity and, tumor progression in a mammary carcinoma mice model (99). A factor that affects the presence of cDC1s within the tumor is cyclooxygenases (COX), an enzyme crucial for PGE2 production. In mice, increased COX levels lead to diminished cDC1 numbers within melanoma tumors and a dampened activity by suppressed IL-12 production. COX inhibition, together with anti-PD-1 treatment, enhanced eradication of tumors. Changed immune

cell infiltration due to COX expression is further confirmed in various tumor types in mice and in human tumors; COX levels correlate negatively with immune cell infiltration (101). Even though, cDC1s in the TME positively affect patient outcome different factors in the TME suppress their functional properties.

Migration Patterns of NK Cells and cDC1s

The migration of immune cells towards lymph nodes and solid tumors is essential for proper immune activation and cancer cell elimination (55, 102). In general, the attraction and migration of immune cells occur through chemokine production and the interaction with their receptors (55). DC migration to lymph nodes is mediated by CCL19 and CCL21, the ligands for CCR7, where they present antigens to T cells and induce an antigenspecific immune response (103). The expression of CCR7 on cDC1s is crucial for migration and therefore important for antigen trafficking to lymph nodes. The lack of CCR7 expression in mice results in reduced numbers of cDC1s in the draining lymph node and increased tumor growth compared to wild type mice. In melanoma patients, cDC1s in the TME express high levels of CCR7, which predict T cell infiltration and improves clinical outcome, underscoring the importance of CCR7 expressing cDC1s for antigen trafficking and T cell priming (104).

After antigen specific activation of T cells in the lymph nodes these effector cells should migrate to the tumor to be able to kill tumor cells. Differences in chemokine and cytokine expression between hot and cold tumors impact the infiltration of effector cells (55, 105, 106). Hot tumors express high gene- and protein levels of chemokines CXC ligand (CXCL)9, CXCL10, and CXCL11 (106). All these three chemokines are secreted by DCs and bind to CXCR3 expressed on activated T- and NK cells. The high presence of CXCL9, CXCL10, and CXCL11 in the TME is associated with favorable clinical outcome in some cancers in humans (107). Interestingly, cDC1s are the primary source of those chemokines, underscoring the importance of cDC1s to attract effector cells towards the TME (95). For T cell chemotaxis into the tumor, the CXCR3/CXCL9,10,11 axis seems crucial (108, 109). For NK cells the role of CXCR3 for tumor infiltration is less straight forward. CXCR3 expression differs per NK cell subset, which influences their migration pattern. CD56^{high} NK cells express CCR7 and CXCR3, CD56^{low} NK cells express CXCR1 and CXCR2 (107, 110, 111). In breast and lung cancer, CXCL9 and CXCL10 mediate directed migration of CD56^{high} NK cells, but not of cvtotoxic CD56^{low} NK cells (112). Moreover, suppressive factors present in the TME can influence chemokine production leading to altered NK cell migration. TGF-β favors CD56^{high} and dampens CD56^{low} NK cell recruitment. TGF-B decreases chemokine secretion of CXCL2, CX₃CL1, and CXCL1 which attract CD56^{low} and increases chemokine production, which recruit CD56^{high} (CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11, and CCL5) (107, 110, 113). Even though factors in the TME can influence migration patterns of effector cells, the secretion of chemokines by cDC1s seem to be crucial for the recruitment of T cells and NK cells.

CROSS-TALK CDC1S AND NK CELLS

The cross-talk between NK cells and cDC1s is bidirectional and NK cells as well as T cells can recruit cDC1s into the tumor *via*

chemokine secretion and thereby promote anti-tumor immunity (14). In both preclinical and clinical settings, cDC1s are found enriched in TMEs with a specific chemokine profile. This profile includes XCL1, mainly secreted by tumor resident CD56^{low} NK cells, and CCL4 and CCL5 mostly produced by CD56^{low} and CD56^{high} NK cells and CD8⁺ T cells (14). cDC1s express the receptors for those chemokines, namely XCR1 and CCR5 (14, 23). Indicating the importance of NK and CD8⁺ T cells for intratumoral migration of cDC1s due to XCL1, CCL5, and CCL4 (14). NK cells stimulated with IL-18 and IFN- α attract immature DC based on CCR5 expression, and stimulate DCs to increase CXCL9, CXCL10, and CCL5 production, promoting the attraction of effectors cells (114). In vitro, XCR1 and CCR5 expression on cDC1s is downregulated by PGE2, diminishing responsiveness to XCL1 and CCL5. In addition, PGE2 inhibits XCL1 and CCL5 secretion by NK cells, underlining the role of PGE2 as an immunosuppressive mediator to interfere with cDC1s migration to the tumor (14). In human tumors, cDC1 and NK cell gene signatures correlate with CCL5 and XCL1 gene expression and with CD8⁺ T cell infiltration. Further, NK cell and cDC1 gene signatures in the TME correlate positively with patient survival (14).

The cross-talk between NK cells and cDC1s influences the migration pattern of both cell types in addition to multiple other mechanisms by which DCs and NK cells interact (**Figure 4**). One mutual process is the maturation of DCs initiated by NK cells. Mature DCs release cytokines (IL-2, IL-12, or IL-18), which provoke NK cells to produce IFN- γ , TNF- α , or GM-CSF. These cytokines promote DC maturation (115, 116). Besides cytokine secretion, NK cells mature DCs *via* the ligation of CD40/CD40L



(117). Upon CD40/CD40L ligation, the membrane bound IL-15 expression on DCs is upregulated promoting proliferation of NK cells (118, 119). The expression of CD40L on NK cells is regulated by IL-12 and IFN- γ and might determine cytotoxicity of NK cells (117, 120). Indeed, in a mouse tumor model, IL-12 and IFN- γ inhibition resulted in the down-regulation of CD40L expression on NK cells and diminished NK cell cytotoxicity (120).

Besides maturation factors, NK cells produce the differentiation factor FLT3L, which stimulates cDC1 survival, differentiation, and recruitment and thereby positively influence cDC1s in the TME (94, 121). Interestingly, intratumoral NK cells in humans and mice are a major source of FLT3L, which maintains DC viability within the TME (94). The depletion of NK cells in mice reduced the frequency of cDC1s within the tumor, indicating that FLT3L production by NK cells is required for stable cDC1 numbers within the TME. In humans, genes encoding for FLT3LG within the tumor are linked to NK cell presence. In melanoma patients, the presence of cDC1s and NK cells within the tumor correlate with increased survival and responsiveness to anti-PD1 treatment. This underscores the hypothesis that NK cells producing FLT3L are responsible for the abundance of cDC1s within the tumor resulting in improved patient survival (94).

Taken together, chemokines such as XCL1, CCL4, and CCL5 secreted by NK cells and activated T cells within the TME recruit cDC1s into the tumor where they efficiently process antigens and then migrate to lymph nodes while they undergo maturation. In the draining lymph nodes, cDC1s prime naïve CD8⁺ T cells *via* cross-presentation. The cytotoxic T cells expand and are attracted to the tumor site, guided by local cDC1s secreting CXCL9 and CXCL10 (**Figure 5**). Thus, NK cells, cDC1s and their interaction are crucial for anti-tumor activity and, therefore, are promising targets to improve cancer immunotherapy outcome (6, 14, 37, 122).

MANIPULATION OF NK-CDC1 CROSS TALK

Targeting cDC1s and XCR1-XCL1 Axis

The presence and interaction of cDC1s and NK cells within the TME are associated with activation and increased cytotoxicity of NK cells, cDC1s infiltration and maturation, and better prognosis for cancer patients (14, 93, 95). Hence, interfering with the XCR1-XCL1 axis could be an approach to increasecDC1s numbers and thereby also increase numbers of T cells and NK cells within the tumor (Figure 6). Activated intratumoral CD8⁺ T cells and NK cells produce XCL1, attracting XCR1 expressing cDC1s. The intratumoral injection of XCL1 can increase the migration of cDC1s towards the TME (91). In mice, administration of XCL1 linked with antigen (e.g., OVA) targeting cDC1s results in an antigen-specific T cell response and reduced tumor growth (123-125). Nonetheless, there is skepticism about using XCL1 to attract cDC1s because of its unstable structure and relatively weak chemotactic activity (126, 127). For this reason, Kazuhiko et al. engineered a stabilized, more potent agonist form of murine XCL1. Upon injection in mice, this potent version of XCL1 showed increased recruitment of XCR1⁺ DCs, compared to wild-type XCL1 (126).

Besides targeting XCL1 to increase CD8⁺ T cell and NK cell numbers within the TME, direct administration of cDC1s into the TME could also be an approach. In mice, the application of cDC1s loaded with tumor-cell derived antigens enhanced tumor T cell infiltration and reduced tumor cell growth (128). DC therapy in the clinic shifts the application of monocyte-derived DC towards the application of blood-derived cDC2s and the combination of cDC2s and pDCs (129). Even though cDC1s are associated with improved survival in different types of cancer, the application of cDC1s is not yet assessed due to their low frequency in human blood (14, 93, 104, 129). Proposed



T cells, which migrate to the tumor attracted by CXCL9-11 secreted by local cDC1s. (D) Activated CD8+ T cells kill tumor cells antigen-specifically



alternatives to overcome the low abundance of cDC1s are the *ex vivo* generation of cDC1s from progenitor cells or expanding cDC1 progenitors *in vivo* (94, 130, 131). *In vitro* stimulation of human hematopoietic progenitors with Notch signaling and FLT3L induces cDC differentiation and yields phenotypical cDC1s with cross-presenting abilities (132). In mice, injection of FLT3L and intratumoral TLR3 stimulus poly IC, leads to expansion of cDC1 progenitor cells in the bone marrow and promotes cDC1s accumulation within the TME (131).

Monoclonal Antibody Treatment

Checkpoint blockade therapies targeting CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1 are successfully used as cancer immunotherapy (133). PD-1 and CTLA-4 expression on NK cells is upregulated in several types of cancer and is associated with reduced cytotoxicity and cytokine secretion (66, 82, 134, 135). Especially in low MHC-I expressing tumors, the effect of mAbs blocking PD-1/PDL-1 might partly be facilitated by NK cells (136). Antibodies targeting PD-1 or CD40 stimulate IFN-y secretion, which drives IL-12 production by cDC1s that licenses cytotoxic T cell responses in both mice and cancer patients (137). Mice lacking cDC1s display no specific T cell response upon mAbs targeting of PD-1, indicating that the effectiveness of anti-PD1 mAbs depends on the presence of cDC1s within the tumor (94, 131, 138). Moreover, the expression of PD-L1 on DC seems to influence the efficacy of anti-PD-L1 mAb treatment as mice lacking PD-L1 expression on DCs show no response to anti-PD-L1 mAb

treatment (100). Based on pre-clinical data, it is proposed that therapies recruiting and activating NK cells within the TME could increase cDC1s within the tumor, benefitting responsiveness to checkpoint inhibitors (94). In line with that, enhanced NK cell activity in mice resulted in increased anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA4 responses and a better control of tumor growth (139). In melanoma patients, anti-PD-1 treatment response correlates with the presence of cDC1s and NK cells within the TME (94).

Other mAbs target tumor-associated antigens like Her2/neu which are overexpressed on malignant cells compared to healthy cells (140). Monoclonal Ab administration induces NK cell-mediated ADCC (47). NK cells activated *via* ADCC release soluble factors like cytotoxic granules and cytokines (IFN- γ and TNF- α). The uptake of cytotoxic granules initiates tumor cell apoptosis causing the release of tumor-cell derived antigens, which can be taken up and presented by DCs (47, 141). Simultaneously, IFN- γ and TNF- α secreted by NK cells activate cDC1s to cross-present antigens leading to an antigenspecific CD8⁺ T cell activation (47, 142). Moreover, mAbactivated NK cells can enhance NK cell-cDC1 cross-talk by activating cDC1s to secrete IL-12 which amplifies NK cell activation (141).

In some tumor types, inhibitory receptors such as KIRs and NKG2A are upregulated on NK cells (3, 143, 144). Therefore, mAb against these inhibitory receptors could be targets for blocking immune inhibition and thereby increase the cytotoxic

potential of NK cells and anti-tumor immunity (145). mAbs targeting KIRs, NKGA2, and other inhibitory receptors are currently investigated in clinical trials and are until now considered safe with limited side effects (3, 145).

CONCLUSION

Both cDC1s and NK cells are important for a proper anti-tumor immune response. cDC1s due to their specialization in crosspresenting tumor antigens and initiating an antigen-specific T cell response. NK cells because of cytotoxic and immunomodulatory functions. Even though both cell types can be affected by immunosuppressive factors in the TME, the NKcDC1 cross-talk within this microenvironment establishes the cooperative nature of protective immunity against tumors. cDC1s, as producer of IL-12, CXCR9, CXCR10, and CCL5, attract NK cells to the TME, initiate cytokine production and boost NK cell cytotoxicity. At the same time, NK cells enhance cDC1 accumulation in the TME via XCL1 and CCL4, CCL5 secretion, and favor differentiation of cDC precursors to cDC1s. NK cells further stimulate DC maturation via cytokine secretion and CD40 ligation. Moreover, NK cell-mediated lysis of target cell releases cell debris including tumor-antigens, processed by

REFERENCES

- Paul S, Lal G. The Molecular Mechanism of Natural Killer Cells Function and Its Importance in Cancer Immunotherapy. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:1124–4. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01124
- Long EO, Kim HS, Liu D, Peterson ME, Rajagopalan S. Controlling Natural Killer Cell Responses: Integration of Signals for Activation and Inhibition. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2013) 31(1):227–58. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075005
- Pende D, Falco M, Vitale M, Cantoni C, Vitale C, Munari E, et al. Killer Ig-Like Receptors (KIRs): Their Role in NK Cell Modulation and Developments Leading to Their Clinical Exploitation. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10(1179). doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01179
- Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature* (1998) 392:245. doi: 10.1038/32588
- Collin M, McGovern N, Haniffa M. Human dendritic cell subsets. Immunology (2013) 140(1):22–30. doi: 10.1111/imm.12117
- Cancel J-C, Crozat K, Dalod M, Mattiuz R. Are Conventional Type 1 Dendritic Cells Critical for Protective Antitumor Immunity and How? *Front Immunol* (2019) 10(9). doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00009
- Guilliams M, Ginhoux F, Jakubzick C, Naik SH, Onai BU, Schraml BU, et al. Dendritic cells, monocytes and macrophages: a unified nomenclature based on ontogeny. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2014) 14:571. doi: 10.1038/nri3712
- 8. Schlitzer A, Ginhoux F. Organization of the mouse and human DC network. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2014) 26:90–9. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2013.11.002
- Robbins SH, Walzer T, Dembélé D, Thibault C, Defays A, Bessou G, et al. Novel insights into the relationships between dendritic cell subsets in human and mouse revealed by genome-wide expression profiling. *Genome Biol* (2008) 9(1):R17–7. doi: 10.1186/gb-2008-9-1-r17
- van der Aa E, van Montfoort N, Woltman AM. BDCA3+CLEC9A+ human dendritic cell function and development. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* (2015) 41:39– 48. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2014.05.016
- Jongbloed SL, Kassianos AJ, McDonald KJ, Clark GJ, Ju X, Angel CE, et al. Human CD141+ (BDCA-3)+ dendritic cells (DCs) represent a unique myeloid DC subset that cross-presents necrotic cell antigens. J Exp Med (2010) 207(6):1247–60. doi: 10.1084/jem.20092140

cDC1s and cross-presented to CD8⁺ T cells. Thus, NK cell-cDC1 cross-talk is a promising target for immunotherapy to improve the clinical outcome of cancer patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JB wrote the manuscript and designed the figures. TZ and RS helped with the literature and wrote the manuscript. GS, IV, and GF-G designed and reviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

NHealth Holland/SGF grant DC4Balance (LSHM18056-SGF) and EU grant PROCROP (grant nr. 635122).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Images were self-made using the server medical art.

- Bachem A, Güttler S, Hartung E, Ebstein F, Schaefer M, Tannert A, et al. Superior antigen cross-presentation and XCR1 expression define human CD11c+CD141+ cells as homologues of mouse CD8+ dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(6):1273–81. doi: 10.1084/jem.20100348
- Crozat K, Guiton R, Contreras V, Feuillet V, Dutertre C-A, Ventre E, et al. The XC chemokine receptor 1 is a conserved selective marker of mammalian cells homologous to mouse CD8alpha+ dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2010) 207(6):1283-92. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20100223
- Böttcher JP, Bonavita E, Chakravarty P, Blees H, Cabeza-Cabrerizo M, Sammicheli S, et al. NK Cells Stimulate Recruitment of cDC1 into the Tumor Microenvironment Promoting Cancer Immune Control. *Cell* (2018) 172 (5):1022–1037.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.01.004
- Villadangos JA, Shortman K. Found in translation: the human equivalent of mouse CD8+ dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2010) 207(6):1131–4. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20100985
- Guilliams M, Dutertre C-A, Scott CL, McGovern N, Sichien D, Chakarov S, et al. Unsupervised High-Dimensional Analysis Aligns Dendritic Cells across Tissues and Species. *Immunity* (2016) 45(3):669–84. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2016.08.015
- Chu C-C, Ali N, Karagiannis P, Di Meglio P, Skowera A, Napolitano L, et al. Resident CD141 (BDCA3)+ dendritic cells in human skin produce IL-10 and induce regulatory T cells that suppress skin inflammation. J Exp Med (2012) 209(5):935-45. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20112583
- Villani A-C, Satija R, Reynolds G, Sarkizova S, Shekhar K, Fletcher J, et al. Single-cell RNA-seq reveals new types of human blood dendritic cells, monocytes, and progenitors. *Science* (2017) 356(6335):eaah4573. doi: 10.1126/science.aah4573
- Schreibelt G, Klinkenberg LJJ, Cruz LJ, Tacken PJ, Tel J, Kreutz M, et al. The C-type lectin receptor CLEC9A mediates antigen uptake and (cross-) presentation by human blood BDCA3+ myeloid dendritic cells. *Blood* (2012) 119(10):2284–92. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-08-373944
- Huysamen C, Willment JA, Dennehy KM, Brown GD. CLEC9A Is a Novel Activation C-type Lectin-like Receptor Expressed on BDCA3+ Dendritic Cells and a Subset of Monocytes. *J Biol Chem* (2008) 283(24):16693–701. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M709923200

- Thul PJ, Åkesson L, Wiking M, Mahdessian D, Geladaki A, Ait Blal H, et al. A subcellular map of the human proteome. *Science* (2017) 356(6340): eaal3321. doi: 10.1126/science.aal3321
- Sancho D, Joffre OP, Keller AM, Rogers NC, Martínez D, Hernanz-Falcön P, et al. Identification of a dendritic cell receptor that couples sensing of necrosis to immunity. *Nature* (2009) 458:899. doi: 10.1038/nature07750
- Dorner BG, Dorner MB, Zhou X, Opitz C, Mora A, Güttler S, et al. Selective Expression of the Chemokine Receptor XCR1 on Cross-presenting Dendritic Cells Determines Cooperation with CD8+ T Cells. *Immunity* (2009) 31 (5):823–33. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.08.027
- Maier B, Leader AM, Chen ST, Tung N, Chang C, LeBerichel J, et al. A conserved dendritic-cell regulatory program limits antitumour immunity. *Nature* (2020) 580(7802):257–62. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2326-5
- Huang A, Golumbek P, Ahmadzadeh M, Jaffee E, Pardoll D, Levitsky H. Role of bone marrow-derived cells in presenting MHC class I-restricted tumor antigens. *Science* (1994) 264(5161):961–5. doi: 10.1126/science.7513904
- Hildner K, Edelson BT, Purtha WE, Diamond M, Matsushita H, Kohyama M, et al. Batf3 deficiency reveals a critical role for CD8alpha+ dendritic cells in cytotoxic T cell immunity. *Science (New York NY)* (2008) 322 (5904):1097–100. doi: 10.1126/science.1164206
- Poulin LF, Reyal Y, Uronen-Hansson H, Schraml BU, Sancho D, Murphy KM, et al. DNGR-1 is a specific and universal marker of mouse and human Batf3-dependent dendritic cells in lymphoid and nonlymphoid tissues. *Blood* (2012) 119(25):6052–62. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-01-406967
- Hammerich L, Marron TU, Upadhyay R, Svensson-Arvelund J, Dhainaut M, Hussein S, et al. Systemic clinical tumor regressions and potentiation of PD1 blockade with in situ vaccination. *Nat Med* (2019) 25(5):814–24. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0410-x
- Wylie B, Seppanen E, Xiao K, Zemek R, Zanker D, Prato S, et al. Crosspresentation of cutaneous melanoma antigen by migratory XCR1(+)CD103(-) and XCR1(+)CD103(+) dendritic cells. *Oncoimmunology* (2015) 4(8):e1019198– e1019198. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1019198
- 30. Tel J, Schreibelt G, Sittig SP, Mathan TSM, Buschow SI, Cruz LJ, et al. Human plasmacytoid dendritic cells efficiently cross-present exogenous Ags to CD8+ T cells despite lower Ag uptake than myeloid dendritic cell subsets. *Blood* (2013) 121(3):459–67. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-06-435644
- Nizzoli G, Krietsch J, Weick A, Steinfelder S, Facciotti F, Gruarin P, et al. Human CD1c+ dendritic cells secrete high levels of IL-12 and potently prime cytotoxic T-cell responses. *Blood* (2013) 122(6):932–42. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-04-495424
- Tullett KM, Lahoud MH, Radford KJ. Harnessing Human Cross-Presenting CLEC9A(+)XCR1(+) Dendritic Cells for Immunotherapy. Front Immunol (2014) 5:239–9. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00239
- 33. Cohn L, Chatterjee B, Esselborn F, Smed-Sörensen A, Nakamura N, Chalouni C, et al. Antigen delivery to early endosomes eliminates the superiority of human blood BDCA3+ dendritic cells at cross presentation. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(5):1049–63. doi: 10.1084/jem.20121251
- 34. Chiang M-C, Tullett KM, Lee YS, Idris A, Ding Y, McDonald KJ, et al. Differential uptake and cross-presentation of soluble and necrotic cell antigen by human DC subsets. *Eur J Immunol* (2016) 46(2):329–39. doi: 10.1002/eji.201546023
- Joffre OP, Segura E, Savina A, Amigorena S. Cross-presentation by dendritic cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2012) 12:557. doi: 10.1038/nri3254
- Fu C, Jiang A. Dendritic Cells and CD8 T Cell Immunity in Tumor Microenvironment. Front Immunol (2018) 9:3059–9. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.03059
- 37. Sánchez-Arráez A, Teijeira A, Sánchez-Paulete AR, Garasa S, Melero I, Sancho D, et al. Antigen cross-presentation and T-cell cross-priming in cancer immunology and immunotherapy. *Ann Oncol* (2017) 28(suppl_12): xii44–55. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx237
- Freud AG, Mundy-Bosse BL, Yu J, Caligiuri MA. The Broad Spectrum of Human Natural Killer Cell Diversity. *Immunity* (2017) 47(5):820–33. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.10.008
- Smith SL, Kennedy PR, Stacey KB, Worboys JD, Yarwood A, Seo S, et al. Diversity of peripheral blood human NK cells identified by single-cell RNA sequencing. *Blood Adv* (2020) 4(7):1388–406. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances. 2019000699

- Garrido F, Ruiz-Cabello F, Aptsiauri N. Rejection versus escape: the tumor MHC dilemma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2017) 66(2):259–71. doi: 10.1007/s00262-016-1947-x
- Shimasaki N, Jain A, Campana D. NK cells for cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2020) 19(3):200–18. doi: 10.1038/s41573-019-0052-1
- 42. Mukherjee S, Jensen H, Stewart W, Stewart D, Ray WC, Chen S-Y, et al. In silico modeling identifies CD45 as a regulator of IL-2 synergy in the NKG2D-mediated activation of immature human NK cells. *Sci Signal* (2017) 10(485):eaai9062. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aai9062
- Miller JS, Morishima C, McNeel DG, Patel MR, Kohrt HEK, Thompson JA, et al. A First-in-Human Phase I Study of Subcutaneous Outpatient Recombinant Human IL15 (rhIL15) in Adults with Advanced Solid Tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 24(7):1525–35. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-2451
- 44. Sakellariou C, Elhage O, Papaevangelou E, Giustarini G, Esteves AM, Smolarek D, et al. Prostate cancer cells enhance interleukin-15-mediated expansion of NK cells. *BJU Int* (2020) 125(1):89–102. doi: 10.1111/bju.14893
- Gwalani LA, Orange JS. Single Degranulations in NK Cells Can Mediate Target Cell Killing. J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950) (2018) 200(9):3231–43. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1701500
- Krzewski K, Coligan JE. Human NK cell lytic granules and regulation of their exocytosis. Front Immunol (2012) 3:335–5. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00335
- Wang W, Erbe AK, Hank JA, Morris ZS, Sondel PM. NK Cell-Mediated Antibody-Dependent Cellular Cytotoxicity in Cancer Immunotherapy. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:368–8. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00368
- Mocikat R, Braumüller H, Gumy A, Egeter O, Ziegler H, Reusch U, et al. Natural Killer Cells Activated by MHC Class ILow Targets Prime Dendritic Cells to Induce Protective CD8 T Cell Responses. *Immunity* (2003) 19 (4):561–9. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00264-4
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. Cell (2011) 144(5):646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Vinay DS, Ryan EP, Pawelec G, Talib WH, Stagg J, Elkord E, et al. Immune evasion in cancer: Mechanistic basis and therapeutic strategies. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2015) 35:S185–98. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2015.03.004
- Seliger B. The link between MHC class I abnormalities of tumors, oncogenes, tumor suppressor genes, and transcription factors. *J Immunotoxicol* (2014) 11(4):308–10. doi: 10.3109/1547691X.2013.875084
- Gabrilovich DI, Chen HL, Girgis KR, Cunningham HT, Meny GM, Nadaf S, et al. Production of vascular endothelial growth factor by human tumors inhibits the functional maturation of dendritic cells. *Nat Med* (1996) 2 (10):1096–103. doi: 10.1038/nm1096-1096
- Wu AA, Drake V, Huang HS, Chiu S, Zheng L. Reprogramming the tumor microenvironment: tumor-induced immunosuppressive factors paralyze T cells. *Oncoimmunology* (2015) 4(7):e1016700–e1016700. doi: 10.1080/ 2162402X.2015.1016700
- 54. Gerlini G, Tun-Kyi A, Dudli C, Burg G, Pimpinelli N, Nestle FO, et al. Metastatic melanoma secreted IL-10 down-regulates CD1 molecules on dendritic cells in metastatic tumor lesions. *Am J Pathol* (2004) 165 (6):1853–63. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63238-5
- van der Woude LL, Gorris MAJ, Halilovic A, Figdor CG, de Vries IJM. Migrating into the Tumor: a Roadmap for T Cells. *Trends Cancer* (2017) 3 (11):797–808. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2017.09.006
- 56. Zhang L, Conejo-Garcia JR, Katsaros D, Gimotty PA, Massobrio M, Regnani G, et al. Intratumoral T Cells, Recurrence, and Survival in Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. N Engl J Med (2003) 348(3):203–13. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa020177
- Naito Y, Saito K, Shiiba K, Ohuchi A, Saigenji K, Nagura H, et al. CD8+ T Cells Infiltrated within Cancer Cell Nests as a Prognostic Factor in Human Colorectal Cancer. *Cancer Res* (1998) 58(16):3491–4.
- O'Donnell JS, Teng MWL, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting and resistance to T cell-based immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2019) 16(3):151–67. doi: 10.1038/s41571-018-0142-8
- Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJM, Robert L, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. *Nature* (2014) 515(7528):568–71. doi: 10.1038/nature13954
- 60. Görgün GT, Whitehill G, Anderson JL, Hideshima T, Maguire C, Laubach J, et al. Tumor-promoting immune-suppressive myeloid-derived suppressor

cells in the multiple myeloma microenvironment in humans. *Blood* (2013) 121(15):2975–87. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-08-448548

- Darrasse-Jèze G, Podsypanina K. How numbers, nature, and immune status of foxp3(+) regulatory T-cells shape the early immunological events in tumor development. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:292–2. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2013.00292
- Eckl J, Buchner A, Prinz PU, Riesenberg R, Siegert SI, Kammerer R, et al. Transcript signature predicts tissue NK cell content and defines renal cell carcinoma subgroups independent of TNM staging. J Mol Med (2012) 90 (1):55–66. doi: 10.1007/s00109-011-0806-7
- Melaiu O, Lucarini V, Cifaldi L, Fruci D. Influence of the Tumor Microenvironment on NK Cell Function in Solid Tumors. *Front Immunol* (2020) 10(3038). doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.03038
- 64. Coca S, Perez-Piqueras J, Martinez D, Colmenarejo A, Saez MA, Vallejo C, et al. The prognostic significance of intratumoral natural killer cells in patients with colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer* (1997) 79(12):2320–8. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19970615)79:12<2320::AID-CNCR5>3.0.CO;2-P
- 65. Carrega P, Morandi B, Costa R, Frumento G, Forte G, Altavilla G, et al. Natural killer cells infiltrating human nonsmall-cell lung cancer are enriched in CD56brightCD16– cells and display an impaired capability to kill tumor cells. *Cancer* (2008) 112(4):863–75. doi: 10.1002/cncr.23239
- Russick J, Joubert P-E, Gillard-Bocquet M, Torset C, Meylan M, Petitprez F, et al. Natural killer cells in the human lung tumor microenvironment display immune inhibitory functions. *J Immunother Cancer* (2020) 8(2):e001054. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-001054
- Pasero C, Gravis G, Granjeaud S, Guerin M, Thomassin-Piana J, Rocchi P, et al. Highly effective NK cells are associated with good prognosis in patients with metastatic prostate cancer. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(16):14360–73. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3965
- Pasero C, Gravis G, Guerin M, Granjeaud S, Thomassin-Piana J, Rocchi P, et al. Inherent and Tumor-Driven Immune Tolerance in the Prostate Microenvironment Impairs Natural Killer Cell Antitumor Activity. *Cancer Res* (2016) 76(8):2153–65. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-1965
- de Andrade LF, Lu Y, Luoma A, Ito Y, Pan D, Pyrdol JW, et al. Discovery of specialized NK cell populations infiltrating human melanoma metastases. *JCI Insight* (2019) 4(23):e133103. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.133103
- Chiossone L, Dumas P-Y, Vienne M, Vivier E. Natural killer cells and other innate lymphoid cells in cancer. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2018) 18(11):671–88. doi: 10.1038/s41577-018-0061-z
- Peng L-S, Zhang J-Y, Teng Y-S, Zhao Y-L, Wang T-T, Mao F-Y, et al. Tumor-Associated Monocytes/Macrophages Impair NK-Cell Function via TGFβ1 in Human Gastric Cancer. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2017) 5(3):248–56. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0152
- Ghiringhelli F, Ménard C, Terme M, Flament C, Taieb J, Chaput N, et al. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells inhibit natural killer cell functions in a transforming growth factor-beta-dependent manner. *J Exp Med* (2005) 202 (8):1075–85. doi: 10.1084/jem.20051511
- Li H, Han Y, Guo Q, Zhang M, Cao X. Cancer-Expanded Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Induce Anergy of NK Cells through Membrane-Bound TGF-β1. J Immunol (2009) 182(1):240–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.182.1.240
- Batlle E, Massagué J. Transforming Growth Factor-β Signaling in Immunity and Cancer. Immunity (2019) 50(4):924–40. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.03.024
- 75. Trotta R, Dal Col J, Yu J, Ciarlariello D, Thomas B, Zhang X, et al. TGF-beta utilizes SMAD3 to inhibit CD16-mediated IFN-gamma production and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity in human NK cells. *J Immunol* (*Baltimore Md 1950*) (2008) 181(6):3784–92. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.181.6.3784
- 76. Castriconi R, Cantoni C, Della Chiesa M, Vitale M, Marcenaro E, Conte R, et al. Transforming growth factor β1 inhibits expression of NKp30 and NKG2D receptors: Consequences for the NK-mediated killing of dendritic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2003) 100(7):4120–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0730640100
- Holt D, Ma X, Kundu N, Fulton A. Prostaglandin E(2) (PGE (2)) suppresses natural killer cell function primarily through the PGE(2) receptor EP4. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2011) 60(11):1577–86. doi: 10.1007/s00262-011-1064-9
- Park A, Lee Y, Kim MS, Kang YJ, Park YJ, Jung H, et al. Prostaglandin E2 Secreted by Thyroid Cancer Cells Contributes to Immune Escape Through

the Suppression of Natural Killer (NK) Cell Cytotoxicity and NK Cell Differentiation. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1859–9. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01859

- Concha-Benavente F, Kansy B, Moskovitz J, Moy J, Chandran U, Ferris RL. PD-L1 Mediates Dysfunction in Activated PD-1(+) NK Cells in Head and Neck Cancer Patients. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2018) 6(12):1548–60. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0062
- Alvarez M, Simonetta F, Baker J, Pierini A, Wenokur AS, Morrison AR, et al. Regulation of murine NK cell exhaustion through the activation of the DNA damage repair pathway. *JCI Insight* (2019) 5(14):e127729. doi: 10.1172/ jci.insight.127729
- Parodi M, Raggi F, Cangelosi D, Manzini C, Balsamo M, Blengio F, et al. Hypoxia Modifies the Transcriptome of Human NK Cells, Modulates Their Immunoregulatory Profile, and Influences NK Cell Subset Migration. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2358–8. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02358
- Ben-Shmuel A, Biber G, Barda-Saad M. Unleashing Natural Killer Cells in the Tumor Microenvironment–The Next Generation of Immunotherapy? *Front Immunol* (2020) 11(275). doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00275
- Bi J, Tian Z. NK Cell Exhaustion. Front Immunol (2017) 8:760–0. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00760
- Perrot I, Blanchard D, Freymond N, Isaac S, Guibert B, Pachéco I, et al. Dendritic Cells Infiltrating Human Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Are Blocked at Immature Stage. J Immunol (2007) 178(5):2763–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.5.2763
- Hartmann E, Wollenberg B, Rothenfusser S, Wagner M, Wellisch D, Mack B, et al. Identification and Functional Analysis of Tumor-Infiltrating Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells in Head and Neck Cancer. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(19):6478–87.
- Krempski J, Karyampudi L, Behrens MD, Erskine CL, Hartmann L, Dong H, et al. Tumor-infiltrating programmed death receptor-1+ dendritic cells mediate immune suppression in ovarian cancer. *J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950)* (2011) 186(12):6905–13. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1100274
- Harimoto H, Shimizu M, Nakagawa Y, Nakatsuka K, Wakabayashi A, Sakamoto C, et al. Inactivation of tumor-specific CD8⁺ CTLs by tumorinfiltrating tolerogenic dendritic cells. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2013) 91(9):545– 55. doi: 10.1038/icb.2013.38
- Tran Janco JM, Lamichhane P, Karyampudi L, Knutson KL. Tumorinfiltrating dendritic cells in cancer pathogenesis. J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950) (2015) 194(7):2985–91. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1403134
- Faget J, Sisirak V, Blay JY, Caux C, Bendriss-Vermare N, Ménétrier-Caux C. ICOS is associated with poor prognosis in breast cancer as it promotes the amplification of immunosuppressive CD4(+) T cells by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Oncoimmunology (2013) 2(3):e23185–5. doi: 10.4161/ onci.23185
- Labidi-Galy SI, Treilleux I, Goddard-Leon S, Combes J-D, Blay J-Y, Ray-Coquard I, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells infiltrating ovarian cancer are associated with poor prognosis. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1 (3):380-2. doi: 10.4161/onci.18801
- Böttcher JP, Reis E Sousa C. The Role of Type 1 Conventional Dendritic Cells in Cancer Immunity. *Trends Cancer* (2018) 4(11):784–92. doi: 10.1016/ j.trecan.2018.09.001
- 92. Spranger S, Bao R, Gajewski TF. Melanoma-intrinsic β-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity. *Nature* (2015) 523:231. doi: 10.1038/ nature14404
- Broz ML, Binnewies M, Boldajipour B, Nelson AE, Pollack JL, Erle DJ, et al. Dissecting the tumor myeloid compartment reveals rare activating antigenpresenting cells critical for T cell immunity. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 26(5):638– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2014.09.007
- 94. Barry KC, Hsu J, Broz ML, Cueto FJ, Binnewies M, Combes AJ, et al. A natural killer-dendritic cell axis defines checkpoint therapy-responsive tumor microenvironments. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(8):1178–91. doi: 10.1038/ s41591-018-0085-8
- Spranger S, Dai D, Horton B, Gajewski TF. Tumor-Residing Batf3 Dendritic Cells Are Required for Effector T Cell Trafficking and Adoptive T Cell Therapy. *Cancer Cell* (2017) 31(5):711–23.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.04.003
- Dikshit A, Anderson CM, Zhang B, Ma X-J. Conventional type 1 dendritic cells and natural killer cells demonstrate strong correlation to cytotoxic T lymphocyte infiltration in cervical cancer tumors. *J Immunol* (2020) 204(1 Supplement):243.11–1. doi: 10.1158/1538-7445.AM2020-3306

- Martínez-López M, Iborra S, Conde-Garrosa R, Sancho D. Batf3-dependent CD103+ dendritic cells are major producers of IL-12 that drive local Th1 immunity against Leishmania major infection in mice. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45(1):119–29. doi: 10.1002/eji.201444651
- Mittal D, Vijayan D, Putz EM, Aguilera AR, Markey KA, Straube J, et al. Interleukin-12 from CD103+ Batf3-Dependent Dendritic Cells Required for NK-Cell Suppression of Metastasis. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2017) 5(12):1098– 108. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0341
- 99. Ruffell B, Chang-Strachan D, Chan V, Rosenbusch A, Ho CMT, Pryer N, et al. Macrophage IL-10 blocks CD8+ T cell-dependent responses to chemotherapy by suppressing IL-12 expression in intratumoral dendritic cells. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 26(5):623–37. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2014.09.006
- 100. Peng Q, Qiu X, Zhang Z, Zhang S, Zhang Y, Liang Y, et al. PD-L1 on dendritic cells attenuates T cell activation and regulates response to immune checkpoint blockade. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11(1):4835. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-18570-x
- 101. Zelenay S, van der Veen AG, Böttcher JP, Snelgrove KJ, Rogers N, Acton SE, et al. Cyclooxygenase-Dependent Tumor Growth through Evasion of Immunity. *Cell* (2015) 162(6):1257–70. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.015
- 102. Seyfizadeh N, Muthuswamy R, Mitchell DA, Nierkens S, Seyfizadeh N. Migration of dendritic cells to the lymph nodes and its enhancement to drive anti-tumor responses. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* (2016) 107:100–10. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2016.09.002
- 103. Haessler U, Pisano M, Wu M, Swartz MA. Dendritic cell chemotaxis in 3D under defined chemokine gradients reveals differential response to ligands CCL21 and CCL19. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108(14):5614–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1014920108
- 104. Roberts EW, Broz ML, Binnewies M, Headley MB, Nelson AE, Wolf DM, et al. Critical Role for CD103+/CD141+ Dendritic Cells Bearing CCR7 for Tumor Antigen Trafficking and Priming of T Cell Immunity in Melanoma. *Cancer Cell* (2016) 30(2):324–36. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.06.003
- 105. Lanitis E, Dangaj D, Irving M, Coukos G, et al. Mechanisms regulating T-cell infiltration and activity in solid tumors. Ann Oncol (2017) 28(suppl_12): xii18–32. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx238
- 106. Harlin H, Meng Y, Peterson AC, Zha Y, Tretiakova M, Slingluff C, et al. Chemokine expression in melanoma metastases associated with CD8+ T-cell recruitment. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(7):3077–85. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2281
- 107. Susek KH, Karvouni M, Alici E, Lundqvist A. The Role of CXC Chemokine Receptors 1–4 on Immune Cells in the Tumor Microenvironment. Front Immunol (2018) 9(2159). doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02159
- 108. Mikucki ME, Fisher DT, Matsuzaki J, Skitzki JJ, Gaulin NB, Muhitch JB, et al. Non-redundant requirement for CXCR3 signalling during tumoricidal T-cell trafficking across tumour vascular checkpoints. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:7458– 8. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8458
- 109. Tokunaga R, Zhang W, Naseem M, Puccini A, Berger MD, Soni S, et al. CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11/CXCR3 axis for immune activation - A target for novel cancer therapy. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2018) 63:40–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.ctrv.2017.11.007
- 110. Castriconi R, Carrega P, Dondero A, Bellora F, Casu B, Regis S, et al. Molecular Mechanisms Directing Migration and Retention of Natural Killer Cells in Human Tissues. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2324–4. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2018.02324
- 111. Kremer V, Ligtenberg MA, Zendehdel R, Seitz C, Duivenvoorden A, Wennerberg E, et al. Genetic engineering of human NK cells to express CXCR2 improves migration to renal cell carcinoma. *J Immunother Cancer* (2017) 5(1):73. doi: 10.1186/s40425-017-0275-9
- 112. Carrega P, Bonaccorsi I, Di Carlo E, Morandi B, Paul P, Rizzello V, et al. CD56brightPerforinlow Noncytotoxic Human NK Cells Are Abundant in Both Healthy and Neoplastic Solid Tissues and Recirculate to Secondary Lymphoid Organs via Afferent Lymph. J Immunol (2014) 192(8):3805–15. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301889
- 113. Castriconi R, Dondero A, Bellora F, Moretta L, Castellano A, Locatelli F, et al. Neuroblastoma-Derived TGF-β1 Modulates the Chemokine Receptor Repertoire of Human Resting NK Cells. J Immunol (2013) 190(10):5321–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202693
- 114. Wong JL, Berk E, Edwards RP, Kalinski P. IL-18–Primed Helper NK Cells Collaborate with Dendritic Cells to Promote Recruitment of Effector CD8+

T Cells to the Tumor Microenvironment. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(15):4653–62. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4366

- 115. Fehniger TA, Shah MH, Turner MJ, VanDeusen JB, Whitman SP, Cooper MA, et al. Differential Cytokine and Chemokine Gene Expression by Human NK Cells Following Activation with IL-18 or IL-15 in Combination with IL-12: Implications for the Innate Immune Response. *J Immunol* (1999) 162 (8):4511–20.
- 116. Gerosa F, Baldani-Guerra B, Nisii C, Marchesini V, Carra G, Trinchieri G. Reciprocal Activating Interaction between Natural Killer Cells and Dendritic Cells. J Exp Med (2002) 195(3):327–33. doi: 10.1084/jem. 20010938
- Ma DY, Clark EA. The role of CD40 and CD154/CD40L in dendritic cells. Semin Immunol (2009) 21(5):265–72. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2009.05.010
- 118. Ferlazzo G, Pack M, Thomas D, Paludan C, Schmid D, Strowig T, et al. Distinct roles of IL-12 and IL-15 in human natural killer cell activation by dendritic cells from secondary lymphoid organs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101(47):16606. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0407522101
- 119. Cooper MA, Bush JE, Fehniger TA, VanDeusen JB, Waite RE, Liu Y, et al. In vivo evidence for a dependence on interleukin 15 for survival of natural killer cells. *Blood* (2002) 100(10):3633–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2001-12-0293
- 120. Jyothi MD, Khar A. Regulation of CD40L expression on natural killer cells by interleukin-12 and interferon γ : its role in the elicitation of an effective antitumor immune response. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2000) 49 (10):563–72. doi: 10.1007/s002620000151
- 121. Pulendran B, Smith JL, Caspary G, Brasel K, Pettit D, Maraskovsky E, et al. Distinct dendritic cell subsets differentially regulate the class of immune response in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) 96(3):1036–41. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.3.1036
- 122. Kroczek R, Henn V. The Role of XCR1 and its Ligand XCL1 in Antigen Cross-Presentation by Murine and Human Dendritic Cells. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3(14). doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00014
- 123. Hartung E, Becker M, Bachem A, Reeg N, Jäkel E, Hutloff A, et al. Induction of Potent CD8 T Cell Cytotoxicity by Specific Targeting of Antigen to Cross-Presenting Dendritic Cells In Vivo via Murine or Human XCR1. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(3):1069–79. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401903
- 124. Fossum E, Grødeland G, Terhorst D, Tveita AA, Vikse E, Mjaaland S, et al. Vaccine molecules targeting Xcr1 on cross-presenting DCs induce protective CD8+ T-cell responses against influenza virus. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45 (2):624–35. doi: 10.1002/eji.201445080
- 125. Chen K, Wu Z, Zhao H, Wang Y, Ge Y, Wang D, et al. XCL1/Glypican-3 Fusion Gene Immunization Generates Potent Antitumor Cellular Immunity and Enhances Anti–PD-1 Efficacy. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2020) 8(1):81–93. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-19-0210
- 126. Matsuo K, Kitahata K, Kawabata F, Kamei M, Hara Y, Takamura S, et al. A Highly Active Form of XCL1/Lymphotactin Functions as an Effective Adjuvant to Recruit Cross-Presenting Dendritic Cells for Induction of Effector and Memory CD8+ T Cells. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9(2775). doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02775
- 127. Kelner G, Kennedy J, Bacon K, Kleyensteuber S, Largaespada D, Jenkins N, et al. Lymphotactin: a cytokine that represents a new class of chemokine. *Science* (1994) 266(5189):1395–9. doi: 10.1126/science.7973732
- Wculek SK, Amores-Iniesta J, Conde-Garrosa R, Khouili SC, Melero I, Sancho D. Effective cancer immunotherapy by natural mouse conventional type-1 dendritic cells bearing dead tumor antigen. J Immunother Cancer (2019) 7(1):100–0. doi: 10.1186/s40425-019-0565-5
- 129. Bol KF, Schreibelt G, Rabold K, Wculek SK, Schwarze JK, Dzionek A, et al. The clinical application of cancer immunotherapy based on naturally circulating dendritic cells. J Immunother Cancer (2019) 7(1):109. doi: 10.1186/s40425-019-0580-6
- 130. Balan S, Arnold-Schrauf C, Abbas A, Couespel N, Savoret J, Imperatore F, et al. Large-Scale Human Dendritic Cell Differentiation Revealing Notch-Dependent Lineage Bifurcation and Heterogeneity. *Cell Rep* (2018) 24 (7):1902–1915.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.07.033
- 131. Salmon H, Idoyaga J, Rahman A, Leboeuf R, Remark R, Jordan S, et al. Expansion and Activation of CD103(+) Dendritic Cell Progenitors at the Tumor Site Enhances Tumor Responses to Therapeutic PD-L1 and BRAF Inhibition. *Immunity* (2016) 44(4):924–38. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni. 2016.03.012
- 132. Kirkling ME, Cytlak U, Lau CM, Lewis KL, Resteu A, Khodadadi-Jamayran A, et al. Notch Signaling Facilitates In Vitro Generation of Cross-Presenting Classical Dendritic Cells. *Cell Rep* (2018) 23(12):3658–3672.e6. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2018.05.068
- Topalian SL, Drake CG, Pardoll DM. Immune checkpoint blockade: a common denominator approach to cancer therapy. *Cancer Cell* (2015) 27 (4):450–61. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.03.001
- 134. Mariotti FR, Petrini S, Ingegnere T, Tumino N, Besi F, Scordamaglia F, et al. PD-1 in human NK cells: evidence of cytoplasmic mRNA and protein expression. *OncoImmunology* (2019) 8(3):1557030. doi: 10.1080/ 2162402X.2018.1557030
- 135. Pesce S, Greppi M, Tabellini G, Rampinelli F, Parolini S, Olive D, et al. Identification of a subset of human natural killer cells expressing high levels of programmed death 1: A phenotypic and functional characterization. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2017) 139(1):335–346.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.04.025
- 136. Hsu J, Hodgins JJ, Marathe M, Nicolai CJ, Bourgeois-Daigneault M-C, Trevino TN, et al. Contribution of NK cells to immunotherapy mediated by PD-1/PD-L1 blockade. J Clin Invest (2018) 128(10):4654–68. doi: 10.1172/JCI99317
- 137. Garris CS, Arlauckas SP, Kohler CS, Trefny MP, Garren S, Piot C, et al. Successful Anti-PD-1 Cancer Immunotherapy Requires T Cell-Dendritic Cell Crosstalk Involving the Cytokines IFN-γ and IL-12. *Immunity* (2018) 49 (6):1148–1161.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.09.024
- Sánchez-Paulete AR, Cueto FJ, Martínez-López M, Labiano S, Morales-Kastresana A, Rodríguez-Ruiz ME, et al. Cancer Immunotherapy with Immunomodulatory Anti-CD137 and Anti-PD-1 Monoclonal Antibodies Requires BATF3-Dependent Dendritic Cells. *Cancer Discov* (2016) 6(1):71– 9. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0510
- Blake SJ, Stannard K, Liu J, Allen S, Yong MC, Mittal D, et al. Suppression of Metastases Using a New Lymphocyte Checkpoint Target for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Cancer Discov* (2016) 6(4):446–59. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0944

- 140. Sun Z, Fu Y-X, Peng H. Targeting tumor cells with antibodies enhances antitumor immunity. *Biophys Rep* (2018) 4(5):243–53. doi: 10.1007/s41048-018-0070-2
- 141. Lee SC, Srivastava RM, López-Albaitero A, Ferrone S, Ferris RL, et al. Natural killer (NK): dendritic cell (DC) cross talk induced by therapeutic monoclonal antibody triggers tumor antigen-specific T cell immunity. *Immunol Res* (2011) 50(2-3):248–54. doi: 10.1007/s12026-011-8231-0
- 142. Deauvieau F, Ollion V, Doffin A-C, Achard C, Fonteneau J-F, Verronese E, et al. Human natural killer cells promote cross-presentation of tumor cellderived antigens by dendritic cells. *Int J Cancer* (2015) 136(5):1085–94. doi: 10.1002/ijc.29087
- 143. Monaco EL, Tremante E, Cerboni C, Melucci E, Sibilio L, Zingoni A, et al. Human Leukocyte Antigen E Contributes to Protect Tumor Cells from Lysis by Natural Killer Cells. Neoplasia (2011) 13(9):822–IN14. doi: 10.1593/neo.101684
- 144. Sun C, Xu J, Huang Q, Huang M, Wen H, Zhang C, et al. High NKG2A expression contributes to NK cell exhaustion and predicts a poor prognosis of patients with liver cancer. *OncoImmunology* (2017) 6(1):e1264562. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1264562
- Khan M, Arooj S, Wang H. NK Cell-Based Immune Checkpoint Inhibition. Front Immunol (2020) 11:167–7. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00167

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Bödder, Zahan, van Slooten, Schreibelt, de Vries and Flórez-Grau. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Platelet-Mediated Protection of Cancer Cells From Immune Surveillance – Possible Implications for Cancer Immunotherapy

Laurent Schmied, Petter Höglund and Stephan Meinke*

Department of Medicine Huddinge, Center for Hematology and Regenerative Medicine, Karolinska Institutet, Huddinge, Sweden

The growing insights in the complex interactions between metastatic cancer-cells and platelets have revealed that platelet tumor cell interactions in the blood stream are an important factor supporting tumor metastasis. An increased coagulability of platelets facilitates the vascular evasion and establishment of solid tumor metastasis. Furthermore, platelets can support an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment or shield tumor cells directly from engagement of cytotoxic lymphocytes as e.g., natural killer (NK) cells. Platelets are both in the tumor microenvironment and systemically the quantitatively most important source of TGF- β , which is a key cytokine for immunosuppression in the tumor microenvironment. If similar platelet-tumor interactions are of physiological relevance in hematological malignancies remains less well-studied. This might be important, as T- and NK cell mediated graft vs. leukemia effects (GvL) are well-documented and malignant hematological cells have a high exposure to platelets compared to solid tumors. As NK cell-based immunotherapies gain increasing attention as a therapeutic option for patients suffering from hematological and other malignancies, we review the known interactions between platelets and NK cells in the solid tumor setting and discuss how these could also apply to hematological cancers. We furthermore explore the possible implications for NK cell therapy in patients with solid tumors and patients who depend on frequent platelet transfusions. As platelets have a protective and supportive effect on cancer cells, the impact of platelet transfusion on immunotherapy and the combination of immunotherapy with platelet inhibitors needs to be evaluated.

Keywords: NK cells, platelets, immunosuppressive, tumor microenvironment, antitumor immunity, metastasis, immunotherapy, cytotoxicity

INTRODUCTION

Natural killer (NK) cells represent the largest fraction of innate lymphocytes, accounting for 10–15% of all peripheral lymphocytes in humans (1, 2), The physiological importance of NK cells is commonly ascribed to their capability to form early responses against viral infections and malignant cells (3). The main effector functions of NK cells encompass elimination of cells identified as targets, along with the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines, which can attract further immune cells and thereby promote the formation of an adaptive immune response (4). NK cell activation is regulated by the integration

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Dimitrios Mougiakakos, University of Erlangen Nuremberg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Lisa Sevenich, Georg Speyer Haus, Germany Rodabe N. Amaria, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, United States

> *Correspondence: Stephan Meinke stephan.meinke@ki.se

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 11 December 2020 Accepted: 09 February 2021 Published: 10 March 2021

Citation:

Schmied L, Höglund P and Meinke S (2021) Platelet-Mediated Protection of Cancer Cells From Immune Surveillance – Possible Implications for Cancer Immunotherapy. Front. Immunol. 12:640578. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.640578

73

of signals from an array of different germline-encoded activating and inhibitory receptors (5). Activating receptors on NK cells bind many stress-induced ligands as for example MICA and MICB, which are recognized by NKG2D on NK cells (6). The main inhibitory receptors are the killer cell immunoglobulin like receptors (KIR) which bind to HLA class I and NKG2A which binds to HLA-E, thereby allowing NK cells to kill virally infected or transformed cells that escape T cell-mediated immunosurveillance by down-regulation of HLA (3, 7, 8). This unique capability of immediate cytotoxicity toward malignant and virally infected cells makes NK cells attractive for antitumor therapy approaches (9). Especially since a clinically relevant antitumor effect has been described before, when a NK cell-mediated graft vs. leukemia effect (GvL) was found after haploidentical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT), in case of HLA mismatch when NK cell tolerance is broken (10, 11). Currently, different anti-tumor therapies rely on tumor cell lysis through cytotoxic lymphocytes, mainly NK- and T cells. This includes beside NK- and T-cell-mediated GvL after HSCT (10, 12) the therapies inhibiting immune checkpoints (13). Moreover, the success of monoclonal antibody therapies including e.g., Rituximab depends on NK cell-mediated antibody dependent cytotoxicity (ADCC) as a main effector function (14). Lastly, there are many studies evaluating the therapeutic value of expanded NK cells or therapies with engineered NK cells or T cells (15-18).

Platelets have a well-established and important role in hemostasis and wound healing, but it has become clear that they also function as immune cells (19). In the context of cancer, they have been shown to support various steps of tumor expansion, including local growth, migration in and out of the blood stream and metastasis establishment. During several of those steps platelets are important for evasion of the immune system (20). The protection from immunosurveillance can be the result of a direct or indirect inhibition of tumor cell engagement by cytotoxic lymphocytes. Here, we review the different ways how platelets can support cancer cells to avoid or disarm lymphocyte cytotoxicity focusing on NK cells. We furthermore explore the possible implications of NK cell platelet-interactions on NK cell therapy and platelet transfusions.

PLATELET-MEDIATED IMMUNE ESCAPE MECHANISMS IN THE TUMOR ENVIRONMENT

High platelet counts were identified as a risk factor associated with adverse outcome in numerous different tumor entities including lung cancer, breast cancer, ovarian cancer, gastric cancer, pancreas carcinoma, hepato-cellular carcinoma, colon carcinoma, renal cell carcinoma or glioblastoma to name just a few (21–28). Based on these robust data, and studies showing that low lymphocyte counts correlate with shorter survival time (29), the ratio between lymphocytes and platelets has been investigated and identified as a predictive marker for the disease outcome with low platelet-lymphocyte ratios (PLR) favoring a beneficial course of the disease (30–32). Of note, a meta-analysis

including 1,340 cancer patients that were treated with an immune checkpoint inhibitor, showed a clear advantage of patients with a low PLR (33). In sum, these observational studies gave rise to the question if platelet count and PLR are mere surrogate markers indicating strong systemic inflammatory response, reflecting advanced progression, or if clinically relevant interactions between platelets and lymphocytes can influence the disease outcome by themselves. Notably, these two explanations are not mutually exclusive. The understanding of how platelets can interfere with the function of different lymphocyte subsets has significantly grown and different mechanisms were uncovered. It was shown that platelets protect tumor cells from different cytotoxic lymphocytes including NK cells and effector T cells. The protective mechanisms from lysis by NK cells can be divided in those resulting from direct interaction including cell contact and cytokine interaction and those involving further cell types (34).

When a single cell or micro metastasis, consisting of a few cells enters the blood stream, it is at the same time leaving the immunosuppressive, protective environment of the tumor. It becomes vulnerable and is more exposed to potential recognition and elimination by the immune system. Metastatic tumor cells that enter the blood can activate platelets by tissue factor (TF)-mediated thrombin generation and the release of ADP or Thromboxane A2 (TXA2) (35, 36). The activated platelets can attach to the cancer cells via integrins, fibrin, and Pselectin, forming a layer of platelets, hiding the malignant cell from cellular components of the immune system (37) (Figure 1, left). This "cloaking" of cancer cells with platelets protects them from NK cell-mediated lysis as it was first described in mouse models of metastatic cancers (38, 39). Initially, it was hypothesized that the platelets would simply physically shield the cancer cells from direct interaction with the NK cells. More recent research on solid tumor-derived cancer cells showed that there are several more specific mechanisms by which the adherent platelets inhibit activation of NK cells. Adherent platelets can transfer their ligands for inhibitory NK cell receptors to the cancer cell surface, namely HLA class I (40), glucocorticoid-induced TNF-related protein (GITR) ligand (41), and the receptor activator of NF κ B (RANK) ligand (42) (Figure 1, right). While KIRs, the receptors for HLA class I, are constitutively expressed on the majority of circulating NK cells, the latter two inhibitory receptors are only up-regulated under certain circumstances. GITR is expressed at low levels in resting NK cells from healthy donors but is up-regulated after activation through IL-2 or IL-15 (43). RANK expression is also absent on resting NK cells from healthy donors but is found on NK cells from patients with AML (44), breast cancer, and colon cancer (42). A recent report suggested that plateletderived PD-L1 could protect PD-L1-negative solid tumors from elimination by T cells (45), a mechanism that extends also to NK cells (46). In addition, adherent platelets can promote the shedding of the NKG2D ligands MICA and MICB from the cancer cell surface through ADAM10/17-mediated cleavage (47, 48) (Figure 1, right). It has also been shown that platelet-coated tumor cells have less detectable CD112 and CD155 on their surface, the ligands to the activating NK cell receptor DNAM-1



encountering tumor cells, which release adenosine diphosphate (ADP) and tissue factor (TF), depicted as blue dots. Activated platelets adhere to the tumor cells surface, providing a physical and an immunological shield by presenting ligands to inhibitory NK cell receptors. Moreover, activated platelets exchange surface receptors with tumor cells. Several ligands to inhibitory NK cell receptors have been shown to be passed over from platelets to tumor cells, including HLA class I, glucocorticoid-induced TNF-related protein (GITR) ligand, receptor activator of NFκB (RANK) ligand and PD-L1. The figure furthermore delineates the shedding of MICA and MICB, which are ligands to the activating NK cell receptor NKG2D.

(48). If the mechanism of this reduction involves the interaction of platelet DNAM-1 with its ligands on the cancer cells was not investigated.

The "cloaking" of cancer cells by platelets has mostly been studied in the context of solid tumor metastasis. However, it is very likely to play a role in hematological malignancies, too. Platelets attach to leukocytes in the circulation of healthy donors (49) and have been shown to adhere to the erythroleukemia cell line K562 (48), as well as primary acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) cells in vitro (50). Shedding of NKG2D ligands was observed when platelets attached to K562 cells, similar to cell lines derived from solid tumors (48). Hematological malignancies are often accompanied by thrombocytopenia or platelet dysfunction, a fact that makes platelets appear less likely to play a significant role in the immune evasion of these cancer types, which can explain why the interactions of platelets with hematological cancer cells have been less well-studied. However, in a small study, platelets were found attached to circulating AML blast in three out of eight patients (50) and a study with cryopreserved material from over 1,000 AML patients found platelets adherent to AML blasts in about one third of the cases (51). It appears therefore plausible that leukemia cells may benefit from adhering platelets in a similar way as metastasizing cells from solid tumors do. In consequence, those leukemia cells might be more difficult to target by host immunity, monoclonal antibodies or cellular immunotherapies.

Beside the direct contact-dependent tumor cloaking, platelets can support tumor growth and metastasis through the secretion of various factors (**Figure 2**). The granules released by platelets upon activation contain amongst others several factors of the coagulation cascade, growth factors and cytokines including TGF- β (52). Platelets are, in fact, the main source of TGF- β in the human body, both systemically and also specifically in the tumor microenvironment (53–56). TGF- β figures among the most extensively investigated immunosuppressive cytokines in the tumor microenvironment and it has been demonstrated to exert deleterious effects by affecting different lymphocytes. TGF- β inhibits the differentiation of T cells into cytotoxic T cells and raises the number of regulatory T cells (Tregs) (57–59). Tregs in turn can inhibit effector T cells and NK cells. TGF- β also exerts direct impact on NK cells: It has been shown that TGF- β



through release of ADP and TF. ADP directly activates platelets through engagement of the ADP receptor, while TF activates platelets together with other coagulation factors. Platelet activation results in the release of the dense granules and α -granules that contain amongst others more ADP, different clotting factors, growth factors, and TGF- β , which can impact different tumor infiltrating lymphocytes. The impact of TGF- β on T cells and NK cells is indicated by solid line arrows and the suspected impact on transfused cellular therapy products is shown by dashed line arrows.

impairs the lytic activity as well as IFN- γ production (60, 61). The mechanisms how TGF- β reduces NK cell activity encompass downregulation of activating receptors on NK cells as e.g., NKp30 or NKG2D, resulting in decreased capability to kill target cells with the respective ligands (55, 62) and interference with IFN- γ transcription (63). Importantly and beside the fact that platelets are the main source of TGF- β it has been specifically proven that platelet-derived TGF- β can impair cytokine production and degranulation of NK cells (55, 64). Taken together, the TGF- β provided by platelets can restrain cellular immune responses in solid tumors, as well as in the bone marrow microenvironment of hematological malignancies and thus support the survival of cancer cells.

DISCUSSION

Beside the physiological role of NK cells in the control of transformed or virally infected cells, they are also a cornerstone of monoclonal antibody therapies as a mediator of ADCC (14, 65). In addition, NK cells exert, beside T cells, graft vs. tumor effects in allogeneic HSCT settings (10, 15) and various cellular therapy approaches based on *ex vivo* activated or expanded NK cells are pursued (18). In all these settings, it is a common goal to maximize cytotoxicity to achieve tumor eradication. While it remains so far elusive if and to which extent the killing capacity of cellular therapy products are reduced by platelets in the tumor microenvironment, we

extrapolate that the infused cellular therapies are likewise inhibited by platelets. Therefore, it is necessary to assess the impact of tumor PLT interactions on cytotoxicity of cellular therapy products. Similar considerations apply to further immunotherapies, that rely on tumor cell lysis mediated by other cytotoxic lymphocytes, especially the inhibition of checkpoints for T cell activation e.g., by anti-CTLA4, anti-PD1 or anti-PDL1 antibodies, as well as therapies with engineered T cells. An increasing number of different immunotherapies which rely on NK cell and other lymphocyte-mediated effector functions find already broad application or have the perspective of doing so (18, 66). With a growing understanding of the adverse effects of tumor cell-platelet interactions and the consequences on various lymphocytes, new questions arise. Starting from practical questions; a large portion of patients with hematological malignancies e.g., receive frequent infusions of platelet products (67). Regarding the immunosuppressive potential of platelets described above, an optimization of the transfusion management might be worth considering if the patient is in need of both platelets and cellular therapy at the same time, especially as platelet storage increases the available TGF- β in the transfusion unit (64). Beyond this, it is highly desirable to find a generally applicable approach to prevent the adverse interactions between platelets and NK cells. This may also be beneficial for cancer patients regardless if they receive immunotherapy. While it was previously not the scope to target interactions between platelets and NK cells specifically, different approaches were evaluated either aiming to reduce the number of platelets in the tumor microenvironment or to prevent the activation of platelets or their interaction with tumor cells: It was shown that a specific inhibition of tumor-associated platelets by directing the platelet inhibitor ticagrelor to tumor-associated platelets, using a tumor homing liposomal nanoparticle strongly reduced lung metastases in a mammary carcinoma mouse model (68). Another recent study investigated the possibility of targeting cancer cell TF expression with nanoparticle-mediated delivery of siRNA to the site of metastasis in a breast cancer mouse model. This led to a tumor specific silencing of tissue factor, which in turn resulted in reduced platelet adhesion and ultimately in lower numbers of lung metastases (69). Similar observations were made studying the impact of systemic ticagrelor treatment in a breast cancer mouse model (70). However, while NK cell-mediated killing of K562 in vitro was inhibited in the presence of platelets, no difference was observed if the platelets were pre-treated with ticagrelor or not (71). A very recent study in mice showed reduced metastasis and a reversal of TGF-β mediated immunosuppression upon delivery of NOreleasing nanoparticles. The NO released, inhibited platelet activation and therefore TGF-B release specifically in the tumor microenvironment (72). A limitation that all approaches targeting the platelet activation share, is that the desired interruption of tumor platelet interaction with tumor cells comes with the risk of reduced coagulation function of platelets. Inhibiting platelet activation is therefore likely unsuitable for thrombocytopenic patients but might be a promising therapy for patients with normal thrombocyte counts, especially when the delivery of the platelet inhibitor can be targeted to the tumor microenvironment and unspecific coagulation inhibition can be further reduced.

CONCLUSION

As platelets can protect cancer cells from cytotoxic lymphocytes by various mechanisms, it is very suggestive that they have an impact on the efficiency of cancer immunotherapies. So far, most studies have investigated either immunotherapy or inhibition of platelet activation, but not the combination of both. Future research will show if targeting the protective interaction of platelets with tumor cells can improve the efficiency of NK cell therapy in solid tumors where results so far were less promising than in immunotherapy of hematological malignancies. On the other hand, in hematological malignancies that are often accompanied by thrombocytopenia, it is less likely that inhibition of platelet activation would be beneficial for the patients. Here, however, the effects of platelets on NK cell cytotoxicity should be considered in the scheduling of platelet transfusions and treatment.

REFERENCES

- Cooper MA, Fehniger TA, Caligiuri MA. The biology of human natural killer-cell subsets. *Trends Immunol.* (2001) 22:633–40. doi: 10.1016/S1471-4906(01)02060-9
- Timonen T, Saksela E. Isolation of human NK cells by density gradient centrifugation. J Immunol Methods. (1980) 36:285– 91. doi: 10.1016/0022-1759(80)90133-7
- Ljunggren HG, Karre K. In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunol Today*. (1990) 11:237–44. doi: 10.1016/0167-5699(90)90097-S
- Alter G, Malenfant JM, Altfeld M. CD107a as a functional marker for the identification of natural killer cell activity. *J Immunol Methods*. (2004) 294:15– 22. doi: 10.1016/j.jim.2004.08.008
- Watzl C. How to trigger a killer: modulation of natural killer cell reactivity on many levels. *Adv Immunol.* (2014) 124:137– 70. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800147-9.00005-4
- Raulet DH, Gasser S, Gowen BG, Deng W, Jung H. Regulation of ligands for the NKG2D activating receptor. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2013) 31:413– 41. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095951
- Biassoni R, Cantoni C, Pende D, Sivori S, Parolini S, Vitale M, et al. Human natural killer cell receptors and co-receptors. *Immunol Rev.* (2001) 181:203– 14. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-065X.2001.1810117.x
- Orange JS. Natural killer cell deficiency. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2013) 132:515–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.07.020
- 9. Yokoyama WM, Scalzo AA. Natural killer cell activation receptors in innate immunity to infection. *Microbes Infect.* (2002) 4:1513–21. doi: 10.1016/S1286-4579(02)00034-5
- Ruggeri L, Capanni M, Casucci M, Volpi I, Tosti A, Perruccio K, et al. Role of natural killer cell alloreactivity in HLA-mismatched hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Blood.* (1999) 94:333–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.V94.1.333.413a31_333_339
- Becker PS, Suck G, Nowakowska P, Ullrich E, Seifried E, Bader P, et al. Selection and expansion of natural killer cells for NK cellbased immunotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2016) 65:477– 84. doi: 10.1007/s00262-016-1792-y
- 12. Kolb HJ. Graft-versus-leukemia effects of transplantation and donor lymphocytes. *Blood*. (2008) 112:4371–83. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-03-077974
- Pesce S, Trabanelli S, Di Vito C, Greppi M, Obino V, Guolo F, et al. Cancer immunotherapy by blocking immune checkpoints on innate lymphocytes. *Cancers*. (2020) 12:3504. doi: 10.3390/cancers12123504

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LS, PH, and SM wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by grants to PH from the Swedish Cancer Society (2018/689), Radiumhemmets Forskningsfonder (181133), Cancer och Allergifonden, Aroseniusfonden, the Karolinska Institute Strategic Research Area in Stem Cells and Regenerative Medicine, and the Stockholm City Council (20170287). LS was supported from the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNF): P400PM_183909 to LS.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all members of the PH group at HERM for fruitful discussions.

- Terszowski G, Klein C, Schmied L, Stern M. How to outsmart NK cell tolerance. Oncoimmunology. (2015) 4:e1016708. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1016708
- Ruggeri L, Mancusi A, Capanni M, Urbani E, Carotti A, Aloisi T, et al. Donor natural killer cell allorecognition of missing self in haploidentical hematopoietic transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia: challenging its predictive value. *Blood.* (2007) 110:433–40. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-07-038687
- Shimasaki N, Jain A, Campana D. NK cells for cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Drug Discov. (2020) 19:200–18. doi: 10.1038/s41573-019-0052-1
- June CH, O'Connor RS, Kawalekar OU, Ghassemi S, Milone MC. CAR T cell immunotherapy for human cancer. *Science*. (2018) 359:1361– 5. doi: 10.1126/science.aar6711
- Myers JA, Miller JS. Exploring the NK cell platform for cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. (2021) 18:85– 100. doi: 10.1038/s41571-020-0426-7
- Maouia A, Rebetz J, Kapur R, Semple JW. The immune nature of platelets revisited. *Transfus Med Rev.* (2020) 34:209– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.tmrv.2020.09.005
- Goubran HA, Stakiw J, Radosevic M, Burnouf T. Platelets effects on tumor growth. *Semin Oncol.* (2014) 41:359– 69. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2014.04.006
- Lu L, Su Z, Zheng P, Wu Z, Zhang Y, He H, et al. Association between platelet count and hepatocellular carcinoma overall survival: a large retrospective cohort study. *BMJ Open.* (2020) 10:e038172. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-038172
- 22. Yang C, Jiang H, Huang S, Hong H, Huang X, Wang X, et al. The prognostic role of pretreatment thrombocytosis in gastric cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medicine*. (2018) 97:e11763. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000011763
- Taucher S, Salat A, Gnant M, Kwasny W, Mlineritsch B, Menzel RC, et al. Impact of pretreatment thrombocytosis on survival in primary breast cancer. *Thromb Haemost.* (2003) 89:1098–106. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1613413
- Brown KM, Domin C, Aranha GV, Yong S, Shoup M. Increased preoperative platelet count is associated with decreased survival after resection for adenocarcinoma of the pancreas. *Am J Surg.* (2005) 189:278– 82. doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2004.11.014
- Brockmann MA, Giese A, Mueller K, Kaba FJ, Lohr F, Weiss C, et al. Preoperative thrombocytosis predicts poor survival in patients with glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol.* (2007) 9:335–42. doi: 10.1215/15228517-2007-013

- Costantini V, Zacharski LR, Moritz TE, Edwards RL. The platelet count in carcinoma of the lung and colon. *Thromb Haemost.* (1990) 64:501– 5. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1647347
- Inoue K, Kohashikawa K, Suzuki S, Shimada M, Yoshida H. Prognostic significance of thrombocytosis in renal cell carcinoma patients. *Int J Urol.* (2004) 11:364–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1442-2042.2004.00808.x
- Menczer J, Schejter E, Geva D, Ginath S, Zakut H. Ovarian carcinoma associated thrombocytosis. Correlation with prognostic factors and with survival. *Eur J Gynaecol Oncol.* (1998) 19:82–4.
- Vigano A, Bruera E, Jhangri GS, Newman SC, Fields AL, Suarez-Almazor ME. Clinical survival predictors in patients with advanced cancer. *Arch Intern Med.* (2000) 160:861–8. doi: 10.1001/archinte.160.6.861
- Kim R, Kawai A, Wakisaka M, Sawada S, Shimoyama M, Yasuda N, et al. Immune factors associated with the pathological and therapeutic effects of preoperative chemotherapy in patients with breast cancer. *Transl Oncol.* (2020) 14:100927. doi: 10.1016/j.tranon.2020.100927
- Riauka R, Ignatavicius P, Barauskas G. Preoperative platelet to lymphocyte ratio as a prognostic factor for resectable pancreatic cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Dig Surg.* (2020) 37:447–55. doi: 10.1159/000508444
- 32. Cao W, Yao X, Cen D, Zhi Y, Zhu N, Xu L. The prognostic role of platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio on overall survival in gastric cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Gastroenterol.* (2020) 20:16. doi: 10.1186/s12876-020-1167-x
- 33. Xu H, He A, Liu A, Tong W, Cao D. Evaluation of the prognostic role of platelet-lymphocyte ratio in cancer patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2019) 77:105957. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2019.105957
- Quail DF, Joyce JA. Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. Nat Med. (2013) 19:1423–37. doi: 10.1038/nm.3394
- Zara M, Canobbio I, Visconte C, Canino J, Torti M, Guidetti GF. Molecular mechanisms of platelet activation and aggregation induced by breast cancer cells. *Cell Signal.* (2018) 48:45–53. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2018.04.008
- Nie D, Che M, Zacharek A, Qiao Y, Li L, Li X, et al. Differential expression of thromboxane synthase in prostate carcinoma: role in tumor cell motility. *Am J Pathol.* (2004) 164:429–39. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63133-1
- Amo L, Tamayo-Orbegozo E, Maruri N, Eguizabal C, Zenarruzabeitia O, Rinon M, et al. Involvement of platelet-tumor cell interaction in immune evasion. Potential role of podocalyxin-like protein 1. *Front Oncol.* (2014) 4:245. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00245
- Nieswandt B, Hafner M, Echtenacher B, Mannel DN. Lysis of tumor cells by natural killer cells in mice is impeded by platelets. *Cancer Res.* (1999) 59:1295– 300.
- Palumbo JS, Talmage KE, Massari JV, La Jeunesse CM, Flick MJ, Kombrinck KW, et al. Platelets and fibrin(ogen) increase metastatic potential by impeding natural killer cell-mediated elimination of tumor cells. *Blood.* (2005) 105:178– 85. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-06-2272
- Placke T, Orgel M, Schaller M, Jung G, Rammensee HG, Kopp HG, et al. Platelet-derived MHC class I confers a pseudonormal phenotype to cancer cells that subverts the antitumor reactivity of natural killer immune cells. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:440–8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1872
- Placke T, Salih HR, Kopp HG. GITR ligand provided by thrombopoietic cells inhibits NK cell antitumor activity. J Immunol. (2012) 189:154– 60. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103194
- Clar KL, Hinterleitner C, Schneider P, Salih HR, Maurer S. Inhibition of NK reactivity against solid tumors by platelet-derived RANKL. *Cancers.* (2019) 11:277. doi: 10.3390/cancers11030277
- Baltz KM, Krusch M, Bringmann A, Brossart P, Mayer F, Kloss M, et al. Cancer immunoediting by GITR (glucocorticoid-induced TNF-related protein) ligand in humans: NK cell/tumor cell interactions. *FASEB J.* (2007) 21:2442–54. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-7724com
- 44. Schmiedel BJ, Nuebling T, Steinbacher J, Malinovska A, Wende CM, Azuma M, et al. Receptor activator for NF-kappaB ligand in acute myeloid leukemia: expression, function, and modulation of NK cell immunosurveillance. J Immunol. (2013) 190:821–31. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201792
- 45. Zaslavsky AB, Adams MP, Cao X, Maj T, Choi JE, Stangl-Kremser J, et al. Platelet PD-L1 suppresses anti-cancer immune cell activity in PD-L1 negative tumors. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:19296. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-76 351-4

- Pesce S, Greppi M, Grossi F, Del Zotto G, Moretta L, Sivori S, et al. PD/1-PD-Ls checkpoint: insight on the potential role of NK cells. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1242. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01242
- Maurer S, Kropp KN, Klein G, Steinle A, Haen SP, Walz JS, et al. Platelet-mediated shedding of NKG2D ligands impairs NK cell immune-surveillance of tumor cells. *Oncoimmunology*. (2018) 7:e1364827. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1364827
- Cluxton CD, Spillane C, O'Toole SA, Sheils O, Gardiner CM, O'Leary JJ. Suppression of natural killer cell NKG2D and CD226 anti-tumour cascades by platelet cloaked cancer cells: implications for the metastatic cascade. *PLoS ONE*. (2019) 14:e0211538. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0211538
- Li N, Hu H, Lindqvist M, Wikstrom-Jonsson E, Goodall AH, Hjemdahl P. Platelet-leukocyte cross talk in whole blood. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2000) 20:2702–8. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.20.12.2702
- Foss B, Ulvestad E, Hervig T, Bruserud O. Effects of cytarabine and various anthracyclins on platelet activation: characterization of *in vitro* effects and their possible clinical relevance in acute myelogenous leukemia. *Int J Cancer.* (2002) 97:106–14. doi: 10.1002/ijc.1566
- Betz SA, Foucar K, Head DR, Chen IM, Willman CL. False-positive flow cytometric platelet glycoprotein IIb/IIIa expression in myeloid leukemias secondary to platelet adherence to blasts. *Blood.* (1992) 79:2399– 403. doi: 10.1182/blood.V79.9.2399.2399
- 52. Whiteheart SW. Platelet granules: surprise packages. *Blood.* (2011) 118:1190– 1. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-06-359836
- Rachidi S, Metelli A, Riesenberg B, Wu BX, Nelson MH, Wallace C, et al. Platelets subvert T cell immunity against cancer via GARP-TGFbeta axis. Sci Immunol. (2017) 2:eaai7911. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aai7911
- Hu Q, Hisamatsu T, Haemmerle M, Cho MS, Pradeep S, Rupaimoole R, et al. Role of platelet-derived Tgfbeta1 in the progression of ovarian cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:5611–21. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-3272
- 55. Kopp HG, Placke T, Salih HR. Platelet-derived transforming growth factor-beta down-regulates NKG2D thereby inhibiting natural killer cell antitumor reactivity. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:7775–83. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2123
- Assoian RK, Komoriya A, Meyers CA, Miller DM, Sporn MB. Transforming growth factor-beta in human platelets. Identification of a major storage site, purification, and characterization. J Biol Chem. (1983) 258:7155– 60. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9258(18)32345-7
- Gorelik L, Flavell RA. Abrogation of TGFbeta signaling in T cells leads to spontaneous T cell differentiation and autoimmune disease. *Immunity.* (2000) 12:171–81. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00) 80170-3
- Gorelik L, Flavell RA. Immune-mediated eradication of tumors through the blockade of transforming growth factor-beta signaling in T cells. *Nat Med.* (2001) 7:1118–22. doi: 10.1038/nm1001-1118
- Flavell RA, Sanjabi S, Wrzesinski SH, Licona-Limon P. The polarization of immune cells in the tumour environment by TGFbeta. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2010) 10:554–67. doi: 10.1038/nri2808
- Laouar Y, Sutterwala FS, Gorelik L, Flavell RA. Transforming growth factor-beta controls T helper type 1 cell development through regulation of natural killer cell interferon-gamma. *Nat Immunol.* (2005) 6:600– 7. doi: 10.1038/ni1197
- Rook AH, Kehrl JH, Wakefield LM, Roberts AB, Sporn MB, Burlington DB, et al. Effects of transforming growth factor beta on the functions of natural killer cells: depressed cytolytic activity and blunting of interferon responsiveness. *J Immunol.* (1986) 136:3916–20.
- Castriconi R, Cantoni C, Della Chiesa M, Vitale M, Marcenaro E, Conte R, et al. Transforming growth factor beta 1 inhibits expression of NKp30 and NKG2D receptors: consequences for the NK-mediated killing of dendritic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:4120– 5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0730640100
- Trotta R, Dal Col J, Yu J, Ciarlariello D, Thomas B, Zhang X, et al. TGFbeta utilizes SMAD3 to inhibit CD16-mediated IFN-gamma production and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity in human NK cells. *J Immunol.* (2008) 181:3784–92. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.6.3784
- Sadallah S, Schmied L, Eken C, Charoudeh HN, Amicarella F, Schifferli JA. Platelet-derived ectosomes reduce NK cell function. *J Immunol.* (2016) 197:1663–71. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1502658

- Terszowski G, Klein C, Stern M. KIR/HLA interactions negatively affect rituximab- but not GA101 (obinutuzumab)-induced antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. J Immunol. (2014) 192:5618–24. doi: 10.1158/1538-7445.AM2014-650
- Brudno JN, Kochenderfer JN. Recent advances in CAR T-cell toxicity: mechanisms, manifestations and management. *Blood Rev.* (2019) 34:45– 55. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2018.11.002
- 67. Estcourt LJ, Stanworth SJ, Harrison P, Powter G, McClure M, Murphy MF, et al. Prospective observational cohort study of the association between thromboelastometry, coagulation and platelet parameters and bleeding in patients with haematological malignancies- the ATHENA study. *Br J Haematol.* (2014) 166:581–91. doi: 10.1111/bjh. 12928
- Zhang Y, Wei J, Liu S, Wang J, Han X, Qin H, et al. Inhibition of platelet function using liposomal nanoparticles blocks tumor metastasis. *Theranostics*. (2017) 7:1062–71. doi: 10.7150/thno.17908
- Liu S, Zhang Y, Zhao X, Wang J, Di C, Zhao Y, et al. Tumorspecific silencing of tissue factor suppresses metastasis and prevents cancer-associated hypercoagulability. *Nano Lett.* (2019) 19:4721–30. doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.9b01785
- Gebremeskel S, LeVatte T, Liwski RS, Johnston B, Bezuhly M. The reversible P2Y12 inhibitor ticagrelor inhibits metastasis and improves survival in

mouse models of cancer. Int J Cancer. (2015) 136:234-40. doi: 10.1002/ijc. 28947

- Gareau AJ, Brien C, Gebremeskel S, Liwski RS, Johnston B, Bezuhly M. Ticagrelor inhibits platelet-tumor cell interactions and metastasis in human and murine breast cancer. *Clin Exp Metastasis.* (2018) 35:25– 35. doi: 10.1007/s10585-018-9874-1
- Xu Y, Liu J, Liu Z, Ren H, Yong J, Li W, et al. Blockade of platelets using tumor-specific NO-releasing nanoparticles prevents tumor metastasis and reverses tumor immunosuppression. ACS Nano. (2020) 14:9780– 95. doi: 10.1021/acsnano.0c01687

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Schmied, Höglund and Meinke. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Therapeutic Approaches Targeting the Natural Killer-Myeloid Cell Axis in the Tumor Microenvironment

Larissa S. Carnevalli*, Hormas Ghadially and Simon T. Barry*

Early Oncology, Research and Development, AstraZeneca, Cambridge, United Kingdom

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Erik Wennerberg, Institute of Cancer Research (ICR), United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Hun Sik Kim, University of Ulsan, South Korea Dagmar Gotthardt, University of Veterinary Medicine Vienna, Austria

*Correspondence:

Larissa S. Carnevalli larissa.carnevalli@astrazeneca.com Simon T. Barry simon.t.barry@astrazeneca.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to NK and Innate Lymphoid Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 25 November 2020 Accepted: 29 March 2021 Published: 19 April 2021

Citation:

Carnevalli LS, Ghadially H and Barry ST (2021) Therapeutic Approaches Targeting the Natural Killer-Myeloid Cell Axis in the Tumor Microenvironment. Front. Immunol. 12:633685. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.633685 Immunotherapy has transformed cancer treatment by promoting durable clinical responses in a proportion of patients; however, treatment still fails in many patients. Innate immune cells play a key role in the response to immunotherapy. Crosstalk between innate and adaptive immune systems drives T-cell activation but also limits immunotherapy response, as myeloid cells are commonly associated with resistance. Hence, innate cells have both negative and positive effects within the tumor microenvironment (TME), and despite investment in early clinical trials targeting innate cells, they have seen limited success. Suppressive myeloid cells facilitate metastasis and immunotherapy resistance through TME remodeling and inhibition of adaptive immune cells. Natural killer (NK) cells, in contrast, secrete inflammatory cytokines and directly kill transformed cells, playing a key immunosurveillance role in early tumor development. Myeloid and NK cells show reciprocal crosstalk, influencing myeloid cell functional status or antigen presentation and NK effector function, respectively. Crosstalk between myeloid cells and the NK immune network in the TME is especially important in the context of therapeutic intervention. Here we discuss how myeloid and NK cell interactions shape anti-tumor responses by influencing an immunosuppressive TME and how this may influence outcomes of treatment strategies involving drugs that target myeloid and NK cells.

Keywords: immunotherapy, cancer immunotherapy, myeloid cell, NK cell, tumor microenvironment

INTRODUCTION

Immunotherapy has transformed cancer treatment by harnessing the immune system to target solid and hematological cancers (1), achieving durable responses across multiple tumor types (2). However, only approximately 20% of patients have a durable response, and intrinsic or acquired resistance is often observed in the clinic (3, 4). Therefore, novel combination approaches are needed to expand

the therapeutic benefit of these drugs. Currently, several anticancer therapies employing multiple drug modalities and combinatorial approaches are being tested clinically (5), but few have been found to enhance benefit in combination with checkpoint inhibitors.

Because the balance of immunosuppressive versus immunostimulatory cells varies among individual tumors, a major goal of these approaches going forward is to understand immune contexture and segmentation. Most solid tumors include a variety of immunosuppressive cells, such as regulatory T cells, polymorphonuclear (PMN) myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), mononuclear MDSCs (M-MDSCs), tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) [as defined by Bronte et al., (6)] and neutrophils that can suppress effector CD8⁺ T cells and NK cells (7).

Two cell types of the innate immune system that shape the tumor microenvironment (TME) and can initiate anti-tumor immune responses are natural killer (NK) cells and cells of the myeloid lineage, including immunosuppressive PMN-MDSCs, M-MDSCs, and immune-activating macrophages, dendritic cells, and neutrophils. Although the individual roles of these cell types in the anti-tumor immune response have been extensively studied [for review, see Neophytou et al., (8)] the ways in which interactions between these cell types affect immune responses is only just emerging. Consideration of the interplay between NK cells and suppressive myeloid cells could give new insight into the effects of therapies combining PD-1/PD-L1 and CTLA-4 blockade in the clinic and may also have an impact in early-stage cancers and hematological diseases.

The most advanced therapies are those that modulate myeloid cells, depleting or inhibiting recruitment or promoting reprogramming to activate or de-repress tumoricidal mechanisms (9), but these modalities have been disappointing in the clinic (**Table 1**). These trials include inhibitors of CSF1R, CCR2, CXCR2, CXCR4, and most recently, PI3K γ (10, 11). Although many of these modalities have been tested clinically, few have passed beyond phase 2 studies, due to either lack of efficacy or associated adverse effects. It is important to gain insight into the mechanism of action and biomarker changes associated with efficacy in order to refine therapeutic strategies for myeloid-targeting agents and to identify patients who could benefit from these therapies as monotherapies or in combination with immune checkpoint blockade.

n contrast, only a few drugs targeting NK biology to reverse NK tumor immune tolerance have been progressed to clinical trials (**Table 1**). These therapies include the anti–KIR2DL-1, -2, and -3 antibody IPH2102/BMS-986015 (lirilumab), the anti-NKG2A antibody IPH2201 (monalizumab), and the anti-CD16 innate cell engager AFM13.

To date, the concept of modulating NK-myeloid cell interactions to relieve tumor immunosuppression is underexplored. However, further consideration of NK-myeloid cell interactions in the TME and periphery may provide insights into both innate and adaptive immune anti-tumor responses. Here we discuss possible mechanisms that can attenuate or enhance a productive immune response through innate cell-mediated responses and the consequence for activation of effector cell types in the TME.

NK CELL BIOLOGY AND THE TME

NK cells are large, granular lymphocytes that can kill target cells without previously encountering an antigen. NK cells also produce proinflammatory cytokines like interferon-alpha (IFN- α), tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF α), and granulocyte macrophage-colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), as well as chemokines such as CCL1, CCL3, CCL4, CCL5, CCL22, and CXCL8. Their activity is regulated by a balance of signals from activating and inhibitory receptors (12). Most of the inhibitory receptors bind to major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I-like proteins, which enable NK cells to detect the downregulation of MHC class I molecules on target cells. Activating receptors, on the other hand, bind a variety of molecules, some of which are derived from pathogens such as CMV protein pp65, which is recognized by NKp30 (13), or are induced by cell stress, transformation, or infection (e.g., MICA/B and ULBP1-6, the ligands of NKG2D) (14). NK cells not only play an important role as a first line of defense against viral, bacterial, and fungal infections (15, 16), but are also important in tumor immuno-editing (17), tumor development (18), and control of metastasis (19-21).

Under nonpathological conditions, NK cells and myeloid cell subtypes crosstalk through multiple mechanisms. NK cells interact with macrophages and dendritic cells through both soluble factors, such as IL-12, IL-15, IL-27, and IL-18, and cell-to-cell contact (22–24). These interactions can induce maturation of NK cells, cytotoxicity, and cytokine release. Reciprocally, NK cell-derived cytokines can drive stimulation of macrophages. Pathogen-induced upregulation of ligands for activating NK-cell receptors can result in the elimination of monocytes and macrophages by NK cells (25), as well as the killing of immature but not mature dendritic cells *in vitro* (26), a process thought to limit the generation of potentially tolerogenic dendritic cells.

MYELOID CELLS IN THE TME INFLUENCE NK FUNCTION

Tumor-derived myeloid cells are plastic and heterogeneous and have both positive and negative roles in anti-tumor immunity. There are two main subsets of suppressive myeloid cells in tumors, PMN-MDSCs and M-MDSCs (6, 27, 28). Monocytes, M-MDSCs, and TAMs are abundant in solid tumors (29) and are associated with poor prognosis (30, 31). M-MDSCs support tumor progression through both immune-mediated mechanisms and mechanisms not directly associated with immune suppression (32). Macrophages and monocytic MDSCs isolated from mouse murine and human solid tumors can directly suppress T-cell responses (29, 33) and NKcell cytotoxicity (34). M-MDSCs are implicated in the recruitment of T regulatory cells and inhibition of T-cell cytotoxicity and have been shown to inhibit NK cell function in vitro and in vivo (35). Normally, neutrophils respond to tissue damage and defend against pathogens (36), but in the TME, tumor-associated neutrophils or PMN-MDSCs express various cytokines, including CCL2 and CCL17, depending on their immunosuppressive or immune-

TABLE 1 | Myeloid and NK target therapies tested in clinical studies.

Target	Mechanism of Action	Modality	Drugs/ Company	Dose regimen	Current clinical status	Combinations	Indications	Clinical trial number
CCR2	CCR2 is expressed by monocytes and macrophages and interacts with CCL2 to mediate chemotaxis of monocytes and TAMs, promoting tumor progression	Small molecule	PF-04136309 (Pfizer)	Continuous	Discontinued post-phase 1b/2	Folfirinox	Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma	NCT01413022
						Nab-paclitaxel		NCT02732938
CSF1R	CSF1 receptor (CSF1R)- mediated signaling is crucial for the differentiation, recruitment, and survival of the	Small molecule	Pexidartinib (Turalio) (PLX7486), Daiichi Sankyo	Continuous	Phase 2/ approved	Monotherapy	Tenosynovial giant cell tumor	NCT01804530
	mononuclear phagocyte system and macrophages	Small molecule	JNJ-40346527 (J&J)	21-day cycle or PO BID for 4–5 weeks	Discontinued after phase 1b/2	Monotherapy	Relapsed or refractory Hodgkin lymphoma	NCT01572519
							Relapsed or	NCT03557970
						Surgery	refractory AML Advanced Prostate Cancer	NCT03177460
		Small molecule	ARRY-382 (Array/Pfizer)	21-day treatment cycles	Phase1b	Keytruda (anti– PD-1 antibody)	Relapsed or refractory Hodgkin lymphoma, AML	NCT02880371 NCT01316822
		Small	BLZ945		Phase I	PDR001 (anti-	Advanced solid	NCT02829723,
		molecule Antibody	(Novartis) RG7155/ emactuzumab (Roche)	IV Q3W	(ongoing) Phase 2	PD-1) Atezolizumab (anti–PD-L1 mAb)	tumors Advanced solid tumors	NCT02404441 NCT02323191
						Selicrelumab (anti-CD40)		NCT02760797
						Paclitaxel and bevacizumab	Platinum- resistant ovarian cancer	NCT02923739
		Antibody	AMG 820-mAb (Amgen)	IV weekly	Phase 1/2	Pembrolizumab (anti–PD-1 mAb)	Advanced solid tumors	NCT02713529, NCT01444404
		Antibody (human mAb)	LY3022855 (Lilly)	IV Q4W	Phase 1	Durvalumab (anti–PD-L1 mAb) or tremelimumab (anti–CTLA-4 mAb) GVAX	Advanced solid tumors	NCT02718911
						awk	Pancreatic cancer	NCT03153410
CXCR2/IL8 axis	CXCR2 plays a critical role in the regulation of neutrophil homeostasis and recruitment to the tumor	Small molecule	AZD5069 (AstraZeneca)	Continuous + PD-L1	Phase1/2	Durvalumab (anti–PD-L1 mAb)	Head & neck/ pancreatic cancer	NCT02499328, NCT02583477
		Antibody	HuMax-IL8/ BMS-986253 (BMS)	IV Q2W	Phase1/2	Enzalutamide Nivolumab + degarelix Nivolumab	mCRPC Hormone- sensitive prostate cancer	NCT03177187 NCT03689699
						NVOUTAU	HCC metastatic or unresectable solid tumors NSCLC/HCC	NCT04050462 NCT03400332 NCT04123379
		Small molecule	Navarixin/MK- 7123 (Merck)	IV infusion on day 1 of each 3-week cycle	Phase 2	Pembrolizumab	Advanced/ metastatic solid tumors	NCT03473925
					Phase 1	Pembrolizumab		NCT03161431

TABLE 1 | Continued

Target	Mechanism of Action	Modality	Drugs/ Company	Dose regimen	Current clinical status	Combinations	Indications	Clinical trial number
		Small molecule	SX-682 (Syntrix Pharmaceuticals)	SX-682 monotherapy for 21 days, then 90 days with pembro			Metastatic melanoma	
		Small molecule	Reparixin (IL-8) (Dompe)		Phase 2; discontinued	Paclitaxel	HER2 ⁻ breast cancer	NCT02001974 NCT02370238 NCT01861054
ΡΙ3Κγ	PI3Kγ signaling promotes macrophage pro-inflammatory profile and anti-tumor activity	Small molecule	Eganelisib (IPI- 549)	Continuous	Phase 2	Nivolumab	Advanced urothelial carcinoma	NCT03980041 UC
						Tecentriq and abraxane (TNBC)/ bevacizumab (RCC)	TNBC and RCC	NCT03961698 RCC
						AB928 (A2ARi)/ pegylated liposomal doxorubicin (PLD)/ nanoparticle albumin-bound paclitaxel (NP)	TNBC and ovarian cancer	
						,		NCT03719326 TNBC/OV NCT03719326 TNBC/GC
CCL2	CCL2 chemokine interacts with CCR2 in monocytes and macrophages, impairing migration	Antibody (human mAb)	Carlumab (CNTO888)	IV Q2W	Phase 2	Monotherapy Chemotherapy (SoC)	MCRP advanced solid tumors	NCT00992186 NCT01204996
CD47/CD47- SIRPα	Promotes the adaptive immune response and enhances the phagocytosis of tumor cells by macrophages	Antibody (hu mAb)	Magrolimab (Hu5F9-G4)/ Gilead Sciences	IV every 3 cycles	Phase 3	Azacitidine	MDS AML DLBCL FL	NCT03248479
		Antibody (hu mAb)	CC-90002/ Celgene	IV infusion on a 28-day cycle	Phase 2	Rituximab	Advanced solid and hematologic cancers	DOI: 10.1056/ NEJMoa180731 NCT02367196
NK2GA	NKG2A/CD94 are inhibitory receptors expressed on T and NK cells. Inhibition of interaction with HLA-E relieves inhibitory signals and leads to cell activation and cytotoxicity	Antibody (hu mAb)	Monalizumab	IV	Phase 1/2 Phase 3	Durvalumab (MEDI4736) Ibrutinib	advanced solid tumors Relapsed, refractory or previously untreated CLL	NCT02671435
						Durvalumab	Advanced NSCLC (resistance CPI)	NCT02557516
						Durvalumab Durvalumab	NSCLC Resectable NSCLC	NCT03833440 NCT03822351
						Cetuximab	Metastatic HNSCC	NCT03794544 NCT02643550
						Cetuximab	Recurrent or metastatic HNSCC	NCT04590963
CD30xCD16a	AFM13 is a bispecific, tetravalent chimeric antibody designed for the treatment of	Affimed	AFM13	Weekly IV	Phase 2	Pembrolizumab	Relapsed or refractory classical	NCT02665650

TABLE 1 | Continued

Target	Mechanism of Action	Modality	Drugs/ Company	Dose regimen	Current clinical status	Combinations	Indications	Clinical trial number
	CD30-expressing malignancies. AFM13 recruits NK and macrophage cells <i>via</i> binding to CD16A as immune effector cells. https://dx.doi. org/10.1182%2Fblood-2014- 12-614636			Weekly IV	Phase 1/2 approved (orphan drug designation)		Hodgkin lymphoma Peripheral T-cell lymphoma	NCT04101331
EGFRxCD16A	AFM24 NK-cell–engaging bispecific antibodies to target EGFR-expressing tumor cells irrespective of their mutational status.	Bispecific engager	Affimed (AFM24)	Weekly IV	Phase 1		Advanced solid cancers	NCT04259450
BCMAxCD16a	Bispecific antibody (IgG-scFv) targeting B-cell maturation antigen and CD16a (FcγRIIIA) being developed for treatment of multiple myeloma	Bispecific engager	Roche (RO7297089)	Weekly IV	Phase 1		Multiple myeloma	NCT04434469
HER2 x NKG2D x CD16A	HER2 trispecific NK cell engager; binds to HER2 on tumor cells and simultaneously binds to NK cells	Trispecific engager	Dragonfly Therapeutics (DF1001)		Phase 1/2	Pembrolizumab	Advanced solid tumors	NCT04143711
KIR2DL-1, -2, -3	Inhibits major inhibitory receptors on NK cells	Humanized mAb	Innate Pharma/ BMS (IPH2102/ BMS-986015/ Iirilumab)	4 cycles Q4W IV	Phase 1/2	lpilimumab or nivolumab	Advanced solid tumors	NCT01750580 NCT01714739
CD16/IL-15/ CD33	Trispecific scFv recombinant fusion protein conjugate composed of heavy and light chains of anti-CD16 and anti- CD33 antibodies and human IL-15	Trispecific engager	GT Biopharma (GTB-3550)	3x weekly IV	Phase 1/2		High-risk heme malignancies	NCT03214666

AML, acute myeloid leukemia; BID, twice daily; CLL, chronic lymphocytic leukemia; CPI, checkpoint inhibitor; EGFR, epithelial growth factor receptor; HCC, hepatocellular carcinoma; HNSCC, head and neck squamous cell carcinoma; IV, intravenous; mAb, monoclonal antibody; m-CRPC, metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer; MDS, myelodysplastic syndrome; NP, nonpegylated; NSCLC, non-small-cell lung carcinoma; PLD, pegylated liposomal doxorubicin; PO, orally; PTCL, peripheral T-cell lymphoma; Q2W, Q3W, Q4W, every 2, 3, 4 weeks; RCC, renal cell carcinoma; scFv, single-chain variable fragment; SoC, standard of care; TNBC, triple-negative breast cancer.

activating state, and can degranulate to release various types of bioactive molecules (37, 38). The formation of neutrophil extracellular traps can convert dormant cancer cells, drive aggressive lung metastases in mice (39), and accelerate hepatocellular cancer (40) in patients and in mouse models (41).

NK CELLS IN THE TME

The TME not only shapes the adaptive immune response but also has profound effects on NK cells, which in many tumors are functionally distinct. Anti-tumor NK effector mechanisms such as cytotoxicity and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines are impaired due to low expression of effector molecules perforin and granzyme in patients with lung adenocarcinoma (42), downmodulation of activating receptors NKG2D or NKp30 in gastric cancer (43), and upregulation of inhibitory receptors like NKG2A in cervical cancer (44).

NK cells in tumors also acquire pro-angiogenic and protumor functions, including the secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (45), angiogenin, and MMP9 (46, 47). Indeed, NK cells play an important role in the menstrual cycle and establishing the placenta (48). The induction of some of these phenotypic features have been attributed to immunemodulatory molecules present in the TME, such as indoleaminepyrrole 2,3-dioxygenase and tumor growth factor-beta (TGF- β), which can be secreted by MDSCs (49). NK cells in which STAT5 has been silenced express VEGF-A at a level sufficient to promote the growth of murine syngeneic tumors (50). NK cells with a proangiogenic phenotype have been identified in non-small-cell lung cancer (47) and colorectal cancer (51). However, it is not clear whether there is a meaningful or broad contribution of these potentially pro-angiogenic NK cells to drive tumor progression or whether they represent the primary angiogenic drive. In one study, genetic inactivation of VEGF in myeloid cells prevented tumor growth and chemotherapy-induced cachexia in B16 and LLC mouse tumor models (52). This study also suggested that increased levels of circulating chemerin by the tumor endothelium improved NK-cell recruitment to the tumor site, suggesting that an indirect mechanism of targeting myeloid cells affects NK recruitment and function. It would be important to understand whether pharmacological interventions would have a similar effect and whether this is a dominant mechanism.

Some of the factors that are known to contribute to functional impairment of NK cells, such as hypoxia, are tumor intrinsic, whereas others are secreted by tumor-associated cells, in particular MDSCs and TAMs. In mouse models, one such mechanism is induction of NK-cell scavenger receptor expression, which is involved in lipid metabolism. Uptake of MDSC-derived factors leads to lipid accumulation and functional impairment (53).

NK cells have also been implicated in anti-tumor immune responses after checkpoint blockade. PD-1 is expressed on about 25% of NK cells in some healthy donors, usually at low levels (54), but has been found to be expressed at substantial levels in patients with ovarian cancer (54); digestive cancers, including esophageal, liver, colorectal, and gastric cancers (55); multiple myeloma (56); Kaposi sarcoma (57); and renal cell carcinoma (58). However, infiltrating NK cells in non-small-cell lung cancer do not express PD-1 (59), although a recent systematic study using multiple methods to detect PD-1 protein and mRNA concluded that NK cells showed only minimal expression of PD-1 in primary human tumor samples of round-cell sarcoma and colorectal cancer, as well as in multiple mouse tumor models (60). Despite these findings, several studies have reported upregulation of PD-1 expression on NK cells in various mouse models (61, 62), and although blockade of PD-1/PD-L1 interaction has been shown to enhance activity of NK cells in vitro and in animal models (63), this is suggested to be mediated mainly through expression of PD-L1 by NK cells (64). Moreover, it is not clear how NK cells contribute to anti-tumor responses in patients. NK cells have also been implicated in playing a role in response to treatment with agonistic anti-CD137/4-1BB antibodies. CD137 is upregulated by Fc receptor cross-linking on NK cells (65) and in patients after treatment with monoclonal antibodies (66). CD137 ligation contributes to activation in vitro (67) and in humanized mice (68) but reports that enhances antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity have been retracted (69, 70).

HUMORAL VS. CELL-CELL INTERACTION CROSSTALK BETWEEN NK AND MYELOID CELLS

In the TME, cell-cell interactions and humoral responses build an anti-tumor immune response; therefore, it is important to consider how different therapeutic approaches can affect these interactions. The role of myeloid cells in the TME has been extensively studied, and a number of therapeutics have been developed to target these cells. Both neutrophil/PMN-MDSC and macrophage/M-MDSC-like myeloid cells can influence both T-cell and NK-cell activation and play both positive and negative roles in tumor growth and metastatic progression.

During infection, macrophages can modulate NK function either through direct cell-to-cell contact or through secretion of soluble mediators such as IL-18, IL-12, and TGF- β (25) (**Figure 1A**). CD56^{bright} NK cells accumulate in inflammatory lesions in the presence of IL-12, IL-15, and IL-18 and engage with CD14⁺ monocytes in a reciprocal activation loop, amplifying the inflammatory response by increasing TNFa production by monocytes and IFNy by NK cells (71). In vitro, appropriately activated myeloid cells can also facilitate activation of NK cells via cell-cell interactions, enhancing CD69 expression and secretion of IFN γ in co-cultures (71, 72). In contrast, monocytes and macrophages isolated from hepatocellular carcinoma patient samples (34) and gastric cancer (73) tumors can induce NK-cell dysfunction via direct cell-cell interaction and indirectly, e.g., through soluble TGF-B signaling. In other studies, macrophages and monocytes isolated from hepatocellular carcinoma samples expressed high levels of CD48, driving NK-cell dysfunction. This effect was attenuated by blocking the NK-cell CD48 receptor 2B4 (34). Macrophage or M-MDSC secreted factors can have direct and indirect effects on myeloid and NK-cell crosstalk. Soluble TGFB modulates NK-cell function via activating receptors NKG2D and CD16 antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity in tumors by impairing cytotoxicity potential in vivo and in co-culture experiments with acute myeloid leukemia and colon cancer models (74, 75). Conversely, IL-15 plays a role in maintaining NK activation to suppress tumor escape and metastasis (76). Other secreted factors may act indirectly; these include tumor-derived prostaglandin-E2, which induces MDSCs and inhibits NK-cell function in melanoma samples (77). Restoring NK-cell function by co-targeting immunosuppressive myeloid cells may be an important therapeutic strategy to prevent tumor immune escape (Figure 1A).

Pro-inflammatory macrophages, such as IL-12-secreting macrophages (9, 78), that promote NK function in infection and mouse tumor models highlight the importance of understanding the difference between specific myeloid phenotypes and their influence on NK activation and function (79). Some myeloid-targeting therapies rely on cell depletion mechanisms, whereas others attempt to block recruitment or to reprogram these cells into a pro-inflammatory anti-tumor state (9). This is an important consideration when developing therapies, given the high plasticity of myeloid cell types and multiple cell interactions, including activating and suppressive impacts on T- and NK-cell effector functions.

Most studies have focused on the effects of myeloid-cell inhibitors (e.g., CSF1R inhibitors) on primary tumors, but not much information is available in the context of metastasis. CSF1R inhibition reprograms the TME to increase responses to chemotherapy and checkpoint inhibitors and to decrease metastatic spread (80). In some studies, inhibition of CSF1R depleted tumor-associated macrophages but unexpectedly promoted metastasis in 4T1 orthotopic syngeneic models. In one report, CSF1R inhibition reduced the number of NK cells due to a decrease in IL-15, a T-cell and NK-cell survival factor secreted by myeloid cells (22). Moreover, dosing exogenous IL-15 during CSF1Ri treatment restored NK-cell numbers and metastasis control. Genetic ablation of IL-15 in mice and in Th2-polarized CD4 T cells has been found to promote the formation of M2 macrophages that are thought to contribute to



metastasis formation (81). NK cells may control the seeding of circulating tumor cells due to crosstalk with myeloid cells, a process that is affected when tumors are treated with depleting CSF1R antibodies (82). It is interesting to contrast this finding with the observation that neutrophils or PMN-MDSCs promoted metastasis in this model (83). Other therapeutic approaches can influence this axis. Blocking CD39 activity in myeloid cells has been shown to improve control of metastases *via* NK-cell effector function (84). CD39 expression by myeloid cells, but not NK cells, was required for efficacy, suggesting that blockade of CD39 on myeloid cells limits the impact of eATP in driving intratumor myeloid pyroptosis or the release of IL-18, both of which have been shown to stimulate NK-cell effector function (84).

CCL2 (MCP1), which interacts with CCR2, is an alternative mechanism that influences macrophage-related myeloid recruitment to tumors and subsequent tumor progression (85). Inhibition of CCL2 has been shown to limit early metastatic processes in breast cancer; however, after cessation of therapy, increased metastatic spread is observed due to enhanced recruitment of monocytes to micrometastatic lesions in breast (86, 87) and lung (88, 89) metastasis mouse tumor models. Importantly, it has been suggested that combined inhibition of CCL2 and IL-6, a cytokine expressed by myeloid cells, reduced metastasis and improved survival in prostate cancer (90). Targeting CCR2 also reduces tumor progression associated with an influx of T cells in preclinical glioma (91) and pancreatic models (92).

Although macrophages can contribute to anti-tumor immunity, both monocyte-derived MDSCs and TAMs can also promote cancer initiation, stimulate angiogenesis, and suppress anti-tumor immunity during malignant progression. Proinflammatory, or "anti-tumor", macrophages contribute to an anti-tumor response by producing pro-inflammatory cues such as IFNy and IL-12 secretion or by acquiring an antimicrobial and tumoricidal phenotype (93, 94). Therefore, "reprogramming" macrophages into an anti-tumor and proinflammatory state is an attractive strategy to tip the balance on tumor immunity. Targeting STAT3 (95) or PI3Ky signaling has been shown preclinically to change the TME in tumors by remodeling suppressive macrophages into proinflammatory macrophages. Selective targeting of PI3Ky signaling in combination with checkpoint blockade is thought to promote reprogramming of macrophages into a pro-inflammatory state, leading to cytotoxic T-cell-mediated anti-tumor response in preclinical mouse models (96, 97). The combination of PI3Ky with PD-1 blockade is currently under investigation in clinical trials and recently received FDA Fast Track designation in urothelial cancers (ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03980041).

In normal physiological processes, neutrophil depletion impairs NK-cell maturation, function, and homeostasis (98). The role of neutrophils and PMN-MDSCs in cancer has been extensively studied, and these cells play an important role in facilitating tumor progression. In various tumor models, targeting or depleting neutrophils or PMN-MDSCs reduces metastasis in both autochthonous models of pancreas (99), colon cancer (100), breast (101), and metastatic syngeneic models (83, 102). This metastatic process may be through yoT-cell-orchestrated suppression of CD8 T cells by modified neutrophils (101). However, there is evidence that immunosurveillance of metastatic 4T1 cells by NK cells is inhibited by interaction with CD11B⁺/Ly6G⁺ neutrophils (most likely PMN-MDSCs), increasing residence time for metastatic tumor cells arriving at the lung and enabling extravasation and establishment of the metastatic niche (83). Soluble factors such as IL-17, granulocyte-CSF (G-CSF) (101), and TGF β signaling (100, 103) play pivotal roles in establishing this suppressive network. The crosstalk between neutrophils and PMN-MDSCs is not a one-way process. In MCA205-Luc2 tumors, depletion of NK cells with antibodies or CXCR3 blockade has been shown to promote tumor growth due to reduced IFNy and upregulation of IL-17A and VEGF-A, modifying the TME and recruitment of suppressive neutrophils of PMN-MDSCs (104).

Therapeutic targeting of CXCR2 (or IL-8) inhibits neutrophil-granulocytic myeloid cells or PMN-MDSCs, leading to suppression of metastasis in mouse models of pancreatic cancer (99) and colorectal cancer (100), as well as in metastatic syngeneic models 4T1 and B16F10 (105). In preclinical efficacy studies, CXCR2 inhibition resulted in an influx of T cells (99, 100, 105, 106); however, the impact on the broader immune environment, including NK biology, has not been explored. Although CXCR2 blockade inhibits recruitment of granulocytic myeloid cells to the tumor, it may also inhibit NK recruitment. CXCR1 and CXCR2 are highly expressed by cytotoxic CD56^{dim} NK cells (107), and increasing CXCR2 expression on NK cells promotes recruitment to tumors that overexpress CXCR2 ligands (108). Importantly, the CXCR2 ligand CXCL8 is secreted within the TME of melanoma-infiltrated lymph nodes and may play a role in the efficient recruitment of highly cytotoxic NK cells (109). Because it has been suggested that chronic combined inhibition of both CXCR2 and CSF1R can increase the efficacy of checkpoint inhibition in syngeneic models (110), understanding the potential impact of comprehensive myeloid suppressor cell inhibition on NK-cell activity should be considered.

Taken together, these studies of different myeloid lineages exemplify how depletion of specific subsets of myeloid cells can affect different features of the TME, modulating innate effector-cell activity and promoting tumor progression and metastasis. However, because myeloid cells, and particularly macrophages, play an important role in assisting NK- and T-cell activation, it is important to target the right population of cells. Moreover, given that these are essential cell types, translation to a clinical setting may be limited by tolerability, as observed in studies targeting the CSFR1 axis with antibodies or small molecules (80, 111, 112), which resulted in increased liver enzymes and induction of periorbital edema. Less toxicity was observed when the alternate macrophage regulating receptor CCR2 was targeted (113–115).

Nontargeted therapies, such as chemotherapy, can also deplete myeloid cells from tumor. Paclitaxel-carboplatin treatment was shown to alter circulating and intratumoral myeloid cell populations and to promote anti-tumor responses when combined with vaccination in HPV-16–positive tumors in mice (98). In a phase 2 trial in patients with extensive small-cell lung cancer, it was reported that ipilimumab treatment beginning with the third cycle of paclitaxel-carboplatin treatment produced better clinical outcomes than giving the drugs during cycles 1 to 4 (116). An understanding of the pivotal points in these complex signaling and transcriptional networks that program the myeloid cell phenotypes is essential to guide more effective therapeutic approaches.

PERSPECTIVE: IMPACT OF DOSE AND SCHEDULE IN MYELOID TARGET THERAPIES AND CHECKPOINT INHIBITORS

Translation to the clinic of preclinical concepts, which were largely developed using fast-growing subcutaneous *in vivo* models, presents a challenge. Subcutaneous models are limited because they do not reflect the variations observed in the tissue of residence, and the speed of cell growth in these models does not enable elucidation of the longer-term consequences of the treatment strategy. As shown in **Table 1**, most clinical studies have taken a standard approach in which the myeloid therapy is co-administered with the checkpoint inhibitor or chemotherapy and then dosing is maintained chronically (80, 111–113, 115). This approach has a number of drawbacks. Myeloid cells exhibit both positive and negative effects on the TME, as described

above. Accumulation of myeloid cells in the tumor (macrophagelike and neutrophil-like cells) clearly defines a resistance phenotype, and depletion of macrophages and neutrophils can remodel the TME. In addition to preventing the suppressive crosstalk to immune cell types, including T cells and NK cells, removal of these cells results in remodeling of the stroma and, in some cases, reprogramming of the tumor cell compartment. These changes make the tumor more susceptible to appropriate recruitment of activated immune cells. Hence, it is likely that pretreatment with a myeloid modulation agent prior to treatment with immunotherapy or even chemotherapy would "prime" the TME by reversing the resistant features in the tumor, facilitating more effective stimulation of the immune system. However, once the immune response is progressing, then more "normal" myeloid cells could be required to sustain that response, especially in situations where there is less effective immune recognition of the tumor. Paradoxically, chronic suppression of the myeloid cells may result in attenuation of the immune response in certain situations, mitigating the advantages gained from targeting the suppressive cells. Therefore, therapies that deplete myeloid cells or prevent recruitment to the TME may be more effective with intermittent or sequenced dosing, using the myeloid therapy for a short time prior to treatment to "prime" the TME, but then stopping dosing after introduction of the checkpoint inhibitor to allow the more normal immune response to progress (Figure 1B). These types of intermittent approaches could also mitigate clinical toxicity.

DISCUSSION

The development of cancer immunotherapies, specifically immune checkpoint blockade, has shifted the treatment of

REFERENCES

- Waldman AD, Fritz JM, Lenardo MJ. A guide to cancer immunotherapy: from T cell basic science to clinical practice. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2020) 20:651–68. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0306-5
- Sharma P, Allison JP. Immune checkpoint targeting in cancer therapy: toward combination strategies with curative potential. *Cell* (2015) 161 (2):205–14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.03.030
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(26):2443-54. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1200690
- Garon EB, Rizvi NA, Hui R, Leighl N, Balmanoukian AS, Eder JP, et al. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med (2015) 372(21):2018–28. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1501824
- Hoos A. Development of immuno-oncology drugs: from CTLA4 to PD1 to the next generations. *Nat Rev Drug Discovery* (2016) 15(4):235–47. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2015.35
- Bronte V, Brandau S, Chen SH, Colombo MP, Frey AB, Greten TF, et al. Recommendations for myeloid-derived suppressor cell nomenclature and characterization standards. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:12150. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms12150
- Jaillon S, Ponzetta A, Di Mitri D, Santoni A, Bonecchi R, Mantovani A. Neutrophil diversity and plasticity in tumour progression and therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2020) 20(9):485–503. doi: 10.1038/s41568-020-0281-y

cancer by promoting complete and durable responses (117, 118). Immunotherapies focus on enhancing the activities of T cells; however, the complexity of the TME limits the response. The pivotal role of tumor myeloid cells, particularly macrophages, in conditioning the TME and regulating the broader response to host immune response and therapy is broadly appreciated. Unfortunately, the development of targeted therapeutics has only just started to teach us about the complexity of this cross-regulation, particularly in the context of different tumor mutational backgrounds and TMEs, as well as the broader systemic immune response. To enhance success, it is worth considering the positive influence of myeloid cells on the other components of the immune system, such as NK cells, and their role in sustaining persistent T-cell responses. Although myeloid therapies have largely been combined with checkpoint inhibitors and, to a lesser extent, chemotherapeutics, little consideration has been given to combinations with therapies targeting other functional nodes, such as NK cells or stimulators of innate immunity. As we seek to improve responses in patients earlier in disease progression, at the point of metastatic spread, such alternative strategies could become important.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thanks to Deborah Shuman for comments and revision of the manuscript.

- Neophytou CM, Pierides C, Christodoulou MI, Costeas P, Kyriakou TC, Papageorgis P. The role of tumor-associated myeloid cells in modulating cancer therapy. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:899. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2020.00899
- Cassetta L, Pollard JW. Targeting macrophages: therapeutic approaches in cancer. Nat Rev Drug Discovery (2018) 17(12):887–904. doi: 10.1038/ nrd.2018.169
- Cassetta L, Kitamura T. Macrophage targeting: opening new possibilities for cancer immunotherapy. *Immunology* (2018) 155(3):285–93. doi: 10.1111/ imm.12976
- Awad RM, De Vlaeminck Y, Maebe J, Goyvaerts C, Breckpot K. Turn Back the TIMe: Targeting Tumor Infiltrating Myeloid Cells to Revert Cancer Progression. Front Immunol (2018) 9:1977. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.01977
- Sivori S, Vacca P, Del Zotto G, Munari E, Mingari MC, Moretta L. Human NK cells: surface receptors, inhibitory checkpoints, and translational applications. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2019) 16(5):430–41. doi: 10.1038/s41423-019-0206-4
- Arnon TI, Achdout H, Levi O, Markel G, Saleh N, Katz G, et al. Inhibition of the NKp30 activating receptor by pp65 of human cytomegalovirus. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(5):515–23. doi: 10.1038/ni1190
- Zingoni A, Molfetta R, Fionda C, Soriani A, Paolini R, Cippitelli M, et al. NKG2D and its ligands: "one for all, all for one". *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:476. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00476
- Schmidt S, Tramsen L, Lehrnbecher T. Natural killer cells in antifungal immunity. Front Immunol (2017) 8:1623. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01623

- Schmidt S, Ullrich E, Bochennek K, Zimmermann SY, Lehrnbecher T. Role of natural killer cells in antibacterial immunity. *Exp Rev Hematol* (2016) 9 (12):1119–27. doi: 10.1080/17474086.2016.1254546
- Elboim M, Gazit R, Gur C, Ghadially H, Betser-Cohen G, Mandelboim O. Tumor immunoediting by NKp46. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(10):5637–44. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901644
- Imai K, Matsuyama S, Miyake S, Suga K, Nakachi K. Natural cytotoxic activity of peripheral-blood lymphocytes and cancer incidence: an 11-year follow-up study of a general population. *Lancet* (2000) 356(9244):1795–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)03231-1
- Kim S, Iizuka K, Aguila HL, Weissman IL, Yokoyama WM. *In vivo* natural killer cell activities revealed by natural killer cell-deficient mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2000) 97(6):2731–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.050588297
- Lopez-Soto A, Gonzalez S, Smyth MJ, Galluzzi L. Control of metastasis by NK cells. Cancer Cell (2017) 32(2):135–54. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.06.009
- Sathe P, Delconte RB, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Seillet C, Chopin M, Vandenberg CJ, et al. Innate immunodeficiency following genetic ablation of Mcl1 in natural killer cells. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:4539. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms5539
- 22. Santana Carrero RM, Beceren-Braun F, Rivas SC, Hegde SM, Gangadharan A, Plote D, et al. IL-15 is a component of the inflammatory milieu in the tumor microenvironment promoting antitumor responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2019) 116(2):599–608. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1814642116
- Vignali DA, Kuchroo VK. IL-12 family cytokines: immunological playmakers. Nat Immunol (2012) 13(8):722–8. doi: 10.1038/ni.2366
- Ziblat A, Domaica CI, Spallanzani RG, Iraolagoitia XL, Rossi LE, Avila DE, et al. IL-27 stimulates human NK-cell effector functions and primes NK cells for IL-18 responsiveness. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45(1):192–202. doi: 10.1002/ eji.201444699
- Michel T, Hentges F, Zimmer J. Consequences of the crosstalk between monocytes/macrophages and natural killer cells. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:403. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00403
- Morandi B, Mortara L, Chiossone L, Accolla RS, Mingari MC, Moretta L, et al. Dendritic cell editing by activated natural killer cells results in a more protective cancer-specific immune response. *PloS One* (2012) 7(6):e39170. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0039170
- Movahedi K, Guilliams M, Van den Bossche J, Van den Bergh R, Gysemans C, Beschin A, et al. Identification of discrete tumor-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cell subpopulations with distinct T cell-suppressive activity. *Blood* (2008) 111(8):4233–44. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-07-099226
- Youn JI, Nagaraj S, Collazo M, Gabrilovich DI. Subsets of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. *J Immunol* (2008) 181(8):5791–802. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.8.5791
- Ruffell B, Coussens LM. Macrophages and therapeutic resistance in cancer. Cancer Cell (2015) 27(4):462–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.02.015
- Gentles AJ, Newman AM, Liu CL, Bratman SV, Feng W, Kim D, et al. The prognostic landscape of genes and infiltrating immune cells across human cancers. *Nat Med* (2015) 21(8):938–45. doi: 10.1038/nm.3909
- Zhang QW, Liu L, Gong CY, Shi HS, Zeng YH, Wang XZ, et al. Prognostic significance of tumor-associated macrophages in solid tumor: a metaanalysis of the literature. *PloS One* (2012) 7(12):e50946. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0050946
- Solito S, Marigo I, Pinton L, Damuzzo V, Mandruzzato S, Bronte V. Myeloid-derived suppressor cell heterogeneity in human cancers. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2014) 1319:47–65. doi: 10.1111/nyas.12469
- Kitamura T, Qian BZ, Pollard JW. Immune cell promotion of metastasis. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15(2):73–86. doi: 10.1038/nri3789
- 34. Wu Y, Kuang DM, Pan WD, Wan YL, Lao XM, Wang D, et al. Monocyte/ macrophage-elicited natural killer cell dysfunction in hepatocellular carcinoma is mediated by CD48/2B4 interactions. *Hepatology* (2013) 57 (3):1107–16. doi: 10.1002/hep.26192
- Elkabets M, Ribeiro VS, Dinarello CA, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Di Santo JP, Apte RN, et al. IL-1beta regulates a novel myeloid-derived suppressor cell subset that impairs NK cell development and function. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(12):3347–57. doi: 10.1002/eji.201041037
- Mollinedo F. Neutrophil Degranulation, Plasticity, and Cancer Metastasis. *Trends Immunol* (2019) 40(3):228–42. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2019.01.006

- Shaul ME, Fridlender ZG. Tumour-associated neutrophils in patients with cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2019) 16(10):601–20. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0222-4
- Shaul ME, Levy L, Sun J, Mishalian I, Singhal S, Kapoor V, et al. Tumorassociated neutrophils display a distinct N1 profile following TGFbeta modulation: A transcriptomics analysis of pro- vs. antitumor TANs. *Oncoimmunology* (2016) 5(11):e1232221. doi: 10.1080/2162402X. 2016.1232221
- Albrengues J, Shields MA, Ng D, Park CG, Ambrico A, Poindexter ME, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps produced during inflammation awaken dormant cancer cells in mice. *Science* (2018) 361(6409);eaao4227. doi: 10.1126/science.aao4227
- Tohme S, Yazdani HO, Al-Khafaji AB, Chidi AP, Loughran P, Mowen K, et al. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Promote the Development and Progression of Liver Metastases after Surgical Stress. *Cancer Res* (2016) 76 (6):1367–80. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-1591
- Masucci MT, Minopoli M, Del Vecchio S, Carriero MV. The Emerging Role of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs) in Tumor Progression and Metastasis. Front Immunol (2020) 11:1749. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01749
- Lavin Y, Kobayashi S, Leader A, Amir ED, Elefant N, Bigenwald C, et al. Innate immune landscape in early lung adenocarcinoma by paired single-cell analyses. *Cell* (2017) 169(4):750–65 e17. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.04.014
- 43. Han B, Mao FY, Zhao YL, Lv YP, Teng YS, Duan M, et al. Altered NKp30, NKp46, NKG2D, and DNAM-1 expression on circulating NK cells is associated with tumor progression in human gastric cancer. *J Immunol Res* (2018) 2018:6248590. doi: 10.1155/2018/6248590
- 44. Andre P, Denis C, Soulas C, Bourbon-Caillet C, Lopez J, Arnoux T, et al. Anti-NKG2A mAb is a checkpoint inhibitor that promotes anti-tumor immunity by unleashing both T and NK cells. *Cell* (2018) 175(7):1731– 43.e13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.10.014
- Levi I, Amsalem H, Nissan A, Darash-Yahana M, Peretz T, Mandelboim O, et al. Characterization of tumor infiltrating natural killer cell subset. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(15):13835–43. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3453
- 46. Bruno A, Bassani B, D'Urso DG, Pitaku I, Cassinotti E, Pelosi G, et al. Angiogenin and the MMP9-TIMP2 axis are up-regulated in proangiogenic, decidual NK-like cells from patients with colorectal cancer. *FASEB J* (2018) 32(10):5365–77. doi: 10.1096/fj.201701103R
- Bruno A, Focaccetti C, Pagani A, Imperatori AS, Spagnoletti M, Rotolo N, et al. The proangiogenic phenotype of natural killer cells in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Neoplasia* (2013) 15(2):133–42. doi: 10.1593/ neo.121758
- Ribatti D, Tamma R, Crivellato E. Cross talk between natural killer cells and mast cells in tumor angiogenesis. *Inflammation Res* (2019) 68(1):19–23. doi: 10.1007/s00011-018-1181-4
- Bruno A, Mortara L, Baci D, Noonan DM, Albini A. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells' interactions with natural killer cells and pro-angiogenic activities: roles in tumor progression. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:771. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00771
- Gotthardt D, Putz EM, Grundschober E, Prchal-Murphy M, Straka E, Kudweis P, et al. STAT5 Is a Key Regulator in NK Cells and Acts as a Molecular Switch from Tumor Surveillance to Tumor Promotion. *Cancer Discovery* (2016) 6(4):414–29. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0732
- Rocca YS, Roberti MP, Arriaga JM, Amat M, Bruno L, Pampena MB, et al. Altered phenotype in peripheral blood and tumor-associated NK cells from colorectal cancer patients. *Innate Immun* (2013) 19(1):76–85. doi: 10.1177/ 1753425912453187
- Klose R, Krzywinska E, Castells M, Gotthardt D, Putz EM, Kantari-Mimoun C, et al. Targeting VEGF-A in myeloid cells enhances natural killer cell responses to chemotherapy and ameliorates cachexia. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:12528. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12528
- Niavarani SR, Lawson C, Bakos O, Boudaud M, Batenchuk C, Rouleau S, et al. Lipid accumulation impairs natural killer cell cytotoxicity and tumor control in the postoperative period. *BMC Cancer* (2019) 19(1):823. doi: 10.1186/s12885-019-6045-y
- 54. Pesce S, Greppi M, Tabellini G, Rampinelli F, Parolini S, Olive D, et al. Identification of a subset of human natural killer cells expressing high levels of programmed death 1: A phenotypic and functional characterization.

J Allergy Clin Immunol (2017) 139(1):335-46 e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci. 2016.04.025

- 55. Liu Y, Cheng Y, Xu Y, Wang Z, Du X, Li C, et al. Increased expression of programmed cell death protein 1 on NK cells inhibits NK-cell-mediated anti-tumor function and indicates poor prognosis in digestive cancers. *Oncogene* (2017) 36(44):6143–53. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.209
- Benson DMJr, Bakan CE, Mishra A, Hofmeister CC, Efebera Y, Becknell B, et al. The PD-1/PD-L1 axis modulates the natural killer cell versus multiple myeloma effect: a therapeutic target for CT-011, a novel monoclonal anti-PD-1 antibody. *Blood* (2010) 116(13):2286–94. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-02-271874
- Beldi-Ferchiou A, Lambert M, Dogniaux S, Vely F, Vivier E, Olive D, et al. PD-1 mediates functional exhaustion of activated NK cells in patients with Kaposi sarcoma. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(45):72961–77. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.12150
- MacFarlane AW, Jillab M, Plimack ER, Hudes GR, Uzzo RG, Litwin S, et al. PD-1 expression on peripheral blood cells increases with stage in renal cell carcinoma patients and is rapidly reduced after surgical tumor resection. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2(4):320–31. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0133
- 59. Datar I, Sanmamed MF, Wang J, Henick BS, Choi J, Badri T, et al. Expression analysis and significance of PD-1, LAG-3, and TIM-3 in human non-small cell lung cancer using spatially resolved and multiparametric single-cell analysis. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25(15):4663– 73. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-4142
- Judge SJ, Dunai C, Aguilar EG, Vick SC, Sturgill IR, Khuat LT, et al. Minimal PD-1 expression in mouse and human NK cells under diverse conditions. *J Clin Invest* (2020) 130(6):3051–68. doi: 10.1172/JCI133353
- Hsu J, Hodgins JJ, Marathe M, Nicolai CJ, Bourgeois-Daigneault MC, Trevino TN, et al. Contribution of NK cells to immunotherapy mediated by PD-1/PD-L1 blockade. J Clin Invest (2018) 128(10):4654–68. doi: 10.1172/JCI99317
- Zhang Q, Bi J, Zheng X, Chen Y, Wang H, Wu W, et al. Blockade of the checkpoint receptor TIGIT prevents NK cell exhaustion and elicits potent anti-tumor immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2018) 19(7):723–32. doi: 10.1038/ s41590-018-0132-0
- Concha-Benavente F, Kansy B, Moskovitz J, Moy J, Chandran U, Ferris RL. PD-L1 Mediates Dysfunction in Activated PD-1(+) NK Cells in Head and Neck Cancer Patients. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2018) 6(12):1548–60. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0062
- 64. Dong W, Wu X, Ma S, Wang Y, Nalin AP, Zhu Z, et al. The mechanism of anti-PD-L1 antibody efficacy against PD-L1-negative tumors identifies NK cells expressing PD-L1 as a cytolytic effector. *Cancer Discovery* (2019) 9 (10):1422–37. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-1259
- 65. Srivastava RM, Trivedi S, Concha-Benavente F, Gibson SP, Reeder C, Ferrone S, et al. CD137 Stimulation Enhances Cetuximab-Induced Natural Killer: Dendritic Cell Priming of Antitumor T-Cell Immunity in Patients with Head and Neck Cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23(3):707–16. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0879
- 66. Makkouk A, Sundaram V, Chester C, Chang S, Colevas AD, Sunwoo JB, et al. Characterizing CD137 upregulation on NK cells in patients receiving monoclonal antibody therapy. *Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol* (2017) 28 (2):415–20. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdw570
- Vidard L, Dureuil C, Baudhuin J, Vescovi L, Durand L, Sierra V, et al. CD137 (4-1BB) Engagement Fine-Tunes Synergistic IL-15- and IL-21-Driven NK Cell Proliferation. *J Immunol* (2019) 203(3):676–85. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1801137
- Ochoa MC, Perez-Ruiz E, Minute L, Onate C, Perez G, Rodriguez I, et al. Daratumumab in combination with urelumab to potentiate anti-myeloma activity in lymphocyte-deficient mice reconstituted with human NK cells. *Oncoimmunology* (2019) 8(7):1599636. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2019. 1599636
- 69. Kohrt HE, Houot R, Weiskopf K, Goldstein MJ, Scheeren F, Czerwinski D, et al. Stimulation of natural killer cells with a CD137-specific antibody enhances trastuzumab efficacy in xenotransplant models of breast cancer. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122(3):1066–75. doi: 10.1172/JCI61226
- Kohrt HE, Colevas AD, Houot R, Weiskopf K, Goldstein MJ, Lund P, et al. Targeting CD137 enhances the efficacy of cetuximab. *J Clin Invest* (2019) 129 (6):2595. doi: 10.1172/JCI129689

- Dalbeth N, Gundle R, Davies RJ, Lee YC, McMichael AJ, Callan MF. CD56bright NK cells are enriched at inflammatory sites and can engage with monocytes in a reciprocal program of activation. *J Immunol* (2004) 173 (10):6418–26. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.10.6418
- Haller D, Serrant P, Granato D, Schiffrin EJ, Blum S. Activation of human NK cells by staphylococci and lactobacilli requires cell contact-dependent costimulation by autologous monocytes. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* (2002) 9 (3):649–57. doi: 10.1128/CDLI.9.3.649-657.2002
- Peng LS, Zhang JY, Teng YS, Zhao YL, Wang TT, Mao FY, et al. Tumor-Associated Monocytes/Macrophages Impair NK-Cell Function via TGFbeta1 in Human Gastric Cancer. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2017) 5 (3):248–56. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0152
- 74. Liu C, Yu S, Kappes J, Wang J, Grizzle WE, Zinn KR, et al. Expansion of spleen myeloid suppressor cells represses NK cell cytotoxicity in tumorbearing host. *Blood* (2007) 109(10):4336–42. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-09-046201
- 75. Otegbeye F, Ojo E, Moreton S, Mackowski N, Lee DA, de Lima M, et al. Inhibiting TGF-beta signaling preserves the function of highly activated, *in vitro* expanded natural killer cells in AML and colon cancer models. *PloS One* (2018) 13(1):e0191358. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0191358
- Kubo H, Mensurado S, Goncalves-Sousa N, Serre K, Silva-Santos B. Primary Tumors Limit Metastasis Formation through Induction of IL15-Mediated Cross-Talk between Patrolling Monocytes and NK Cells. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2017) 5(9):812–20. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0082
- Mao Y, Sarhan D, Steven A, Seliger B, Kiessling R, Lundqvist A. Inhibition of tumor-derived prostaglandin-e2 blocks the induction of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and recovers natural killer cell activity. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) 20(15):4096–106. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0635
- Watkins SK, Egilmez NK, Suttles J, Stout RD. IL-12 rapidly alters the functional profile of tumor-associated and tumor-infiltrating macrophages in vitro and in vivo. J Immunol (2007) 178(3):1357–62. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.178.3.1357
- Narasimhan PB, Eggert T, Zhu YP, Marcovecchio P, Meyer MA, Wu R, et al. Patrolling Monocytes Control NK Cell Expression of Activating and Stimulatory Receptors to Curtail Lung Metastases. J Immunol (2020) 204 (1):192–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1900998
- Ries CH, Cannarile MA, Hoves S, Benz J, Wartha K, Runza V, et al. Targeting tumor-associated macrophages with anti-CSF-1R antibody reveals a strategy for cancer therapy. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 25(6):846–59. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2014.05.016
- Gillgrass A, Gill N, Babian A, Ashkar AA. The absence or overexpression of IL-15 drastically alters breast cancer metastasis via effects on NK cells, CD4 T cells, and macrophages. *J Immunol* (2014) 193(12):6184–91. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1303175
- Beffinger M, Tallon de Lara P, Tugues S, Vermeer M, Montagnolo Y, Ohs I, et al. CSF1R-dependent myeloid cells are required for NK-mediated control of metastasis. *JCI Insight* (2018) 3(10):e97792. doi: 10.1172/ jci.insight.97792
- Spiegel A, Brooks MW, Houshyar S, Reinhardt F, Ardolino M, Fessler E, et al. Neutrophils Suppress Intraluminal NK Cell-Mediated Tumor Cell Clearance and Enhance Extravasation of Disseminated Carcinoma Cells. *Cancer Discovery* (2016) 6(6):630–49. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-1157
- 84. Yan J, Li XY, Roman Aguilera A, Xiao C, Jacoberger-Foissac C, Nowlan B, et al. Control of Metastases via Myeloid CD39 and NK Cell Effector Function. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2020) 8(3):356–67. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-19-0749
- Chun E, Lavoie S, Michaud M, Gallini CA, Kim J, Soucy G, et al. CCL2 Promotes Colorectal Carcinogenesis by Enhancing Polymorphonuclear Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell Population and Function. *Cell Rep* (2015) 12(2):244–57. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.06.024
- Bonapace L, Coissieux MM, Wyckoff J, Mertz KD, Varga Z, Junt T, et al. Cessation of CCL2 inhibition accelerates breast cancer metastasis by promoting angiogenesis. *Nature* (2014) 515(7525):130–3. doi: 10.1038/ nature13862
- Kitamura T, Qian BZ, Soong D, Cassetta L, Noy R, Sugano G, et al. CCL2induced chemokine cascade promotes breast cancer metastasis by enhancing retention of metastasis-associated macrophages. J Exp Med (2015) 212 (7):1043–59. doi: 10.1084/jem.20141836

- Roblek M, Protsyuk D, Becker PF, Stefanescu C, Gorzelanny C, Glaus Garzon JF, et al. CCL2 Is a Vascular Permeability Factor Inducing CCR2-Dependent Endothelial Retraction during Lung Metastasis. *Mol Cancer Res* (2019) 17(3):783–93. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-18-0530
- Tu MM, Abdel-Hafiz HA, Jones RT, Jean A, Hoff KJ, Duex JE, et al. Inhibition of the CCL2 receptor, CCR2, enhances tumor response to immune checkpoint therapy. *Commun Biol* (2020) 3(1):720. doi: 10.1038/ s42003-020-01441-y
- Roca H, Varsos ZS, Sud S, Craig MJ, Ying C, Pienta KJ. CCL2 and interleukin-6 promote survival of human CD11b+ peripheral blood mononuclear cells and induce M2-type macrophage polarization. J Biol Chem (2009) 284(49):34342–54. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.042671
- Flores-Toro JA, Luo D, Gopinath A, Sarkisian MR, Campbell JJ, Charo IF, et al. CCR2 inhibition reduces tumor myeloid cells and unmasks a checkpoint inhibitor effect to slow progression of resistant murine gliomas. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2020) 117(2):1129–38. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1910856117
- 92. Sanford DE, Belt BA, Panni RZ, Mayer A, Deshpande AD, Carpenter D, et al. Inflammatory monocyte mobilization decreases patient survival in pancreatic cancer: a role for targeting the CCL2/CCR2 axis. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19(13):3404–15. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0525
- Bogdan C, Schleicher U. Production of interferon-gamma by myeloid cells fact or fancy? *Trends Immunol* (2006) 27(6):282–90. doi: 10.1016/ j.it.2006.04.004
- Frucht DM, Fukao T, Bogdan C, Schindler H, O'Shea JJ, Koyasu S. IFNgamma production by antigen-presenting cells: mechanisms emerge. *Trends Immunol* (2001) 22(10):556–60. doi: 10.1016/S1471-4906(01)02005-1
- Proia TA, Singh M, Woessner R, Carnevalli L, Bommakanti G, Magiera L, et al. STAT3 Antisense Oligonucleotide Remodels the Suppressive Tumor Microenvironment to Enhance Immune Activation in Combination with Anti-PD-L1. *Clin Cancer Res* (2020) 26(23):6335–49. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-20-1066
- 96. De Henau O, Rausch M, Winkler D, Campesato LF, Liu C, Cymerman DH, et al. Overcoming resistance to checkpoint blockade therapy by targeting PI3Kγ in myeloid cells. *Nature* (2016) 539(7629):443–7. doi: 10.1038/ nature20554
- Kaneda MM, Messer KS, Ralainirina N, Li H, Leem CJ, Gorjestani S, et al. PI3Kγ is a molecular switch that controls immune suppression. *Nature* (2016) 539(7629):437–42. doi: 10.1038/nature19834
- Welters MJ, van der Sluis TC, van Meir H, Loof NM, van Ham VJ, van Duikeren S, et al. Vaccination during myeloid cell depletion by cancer chemotherapy fosters robust T cell responses. *Sci Transl Med* (2016) 8 (334):334ra52. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aad8307
- Steele CW, Karim SA, Leach JDG, Bailey P, Upstill-Goddard R, Rishi L, et al. CXCR2 Inhibition Profoundly Suppresses Metastases and Augments Immunotherapy in Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Cell* (2016) 29(6):832–45. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.04.014
- 100. Jackstadt R, van Hooff SR, Leach JD, Cortes-Lavaud X, Lohuis JO, Ridgway RA, et al. Epithelial NOTCH Signaling Rewires the Tumor Microenvironment of Colorectal Cancer to Drive Poor-Prognosis Subtypes and Metastasis. *Cancer Cell* (2019) 36(3):319–36 e7. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2019.08.003
- 101. Coffelt SB, Kersten K, Doornebal CW, Weiden J, Vrijland K, Hau CS, et al. IL-17-producing gammadelta T cells and neutrophils conspire to promote breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* (2015) 522(7556):345–8. doi: 10.1038/ nature14282
- 102. Acharyya S, Oskarsson T, Vanharanta S, Malladi S, Kim J, Morris PG, et al. A CXCL1 paracrine network links cancer chemoresistance and metastasis. *Cell* (2012) 150(1):165–78. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.04.042
- 103. Fridlender ZG, Sun J, Kim S, Kapoor V, Cheng G, Ling L, et al. Polarization of tumor-associated neutrophil phenotype by TGF-beta: "N1" versus "N2" TAN. *Cancer Cell* (2009) 16(3):183–94. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.06.017
- Ogura K, Sato-Matsushita M, Yamamoto S, Hori T, Sasahara M, Iwakura Y, et al. NK Cells Control Tumor-Promoting Function of Neutrophils in Mice. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2018) 6(3):348–57. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0204
- 105. Richmond A, Yang J, Yan C, Vilgelm AE, Chen SC, Ayers GD, et al. Targeted Deletion of CXCR2 in Myeloid Cells Alters the Tumor Immune

Environment to Improve Antitumor Immunity. Cancer Immunol Res (2020) 9(2):200–13. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.cir-20-0312

- 106. Chao T, Furth EE, Vonderheide RH. CXCR2-Dependent Accumulation of Tumor-Associated Neutrophils Regulates T-cell Immunity in Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2016) 4(11):968–82. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0188
- 107. Lima M, Leander M, Santos M, Santos AH, Lau C, Queiros ML, et al. Chemokine receptor expression on normal blood CD56(+) NK cells elucidates cell partners that comigrate during the innate and adaptive immune responses and identifies a transitional NK cell population. *J Immunol Res* (2015) 2015:839684. doi: 10.1155/2015/839684
- 108. Kremer V, Ligtenberg MA, Zendehdel R, Seitz C, Duivenvoorden A, Wennerberg E, et al. Genetic engineering of human NK cells to express CXCR2 improves migration to renal cell carcinoma. *J Immunother Cancer* (2017) 5(1):73. doi: 10.1186/s40425-017-0292-8
- 109. Ali TH, Pisanti S, Ciaglia E, Mortarini R, Anichini A, Garofalo C, et al. Enrichment of CD56(dim)KIR + CD57 + highly cytotoxic NK cells in tumour-infiltrated lymph nodes of melanoma patients. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:5639. doi: 10.1038/ncomms6639
- 110. Kumar V, Donthireddy L, Marvel D, Condamine T, Wang F, Lavilla-Alonso S, et al. Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts Neutralize the Anti-tumor Effect of CSF1 Receptor Blockade by Inducing PMN-MDSC Infiltration of Tumors. *Cancer Cell* (2017) 32(5):654–68 e5. doi: 10.1016/ j.ccell.2017.10.005
- 111. Cannarile MA, Weisser M, Jacob W, Jegg AM, Ries CH, Ruttinger D. Colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor (CSF1R) inhibitors in cancer therapy. *J Immunother Cancer* (2017) 5(1):53. doi: 10.1186/s40425-017-0257-y
- 112. Razak AR, Cleary JM, Moreno V, Boyer M, Calvo Aller E, Edenfield W, et al. Safety and efficacy of AMG 820, an anti-colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor antibody, in combination with pembrolizumab in adults with advanced solid tumors. J Immunother Cancer (2020) 8(2):e001006. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-001006
- Lim SY, Yuzhalin AE, Gordon-Weeks AN, Muschel RJ. Targeting the CCL2-CCR2 signaling axis in cancer metastasis. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(19):28697– 710. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.7376
- 114. Nywening TM, Wang-Gillam A, Sanford DE, Belt BA, Panni RZ, Cusworth BM, et al. Targeting tumour-associated macrophages with CCR2 inhibition in combination with FOLFIRINOX in patients with borderline resectable and locally advanced pancreatic cancer: a single-centre, open-label, dose-finding, non-randomised, phase 1b trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2016) 17(5):651–62. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)00078-4
- 115. Qian BZ, Li J, Zhang H, Kitamura T, Zhang J, Campion LR, et al. CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes to facilitate breast-tumour metastasis. *Nature* (2011) 475(7355):222–5. doi: 10.1038/nature10138
- 116. Reck M, Bondarenko I, Luft A, Serwatowski P, Barlesi F, Chacko R, et al. Ipilimumab in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin as first-line therapy in extensive-disease-small-cell lung cancer: results from a randomized, double-blind, multicenter phase 2 trial. *Ann Oncol* (2013) 24 (1):75–83. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mds213
- 117. Fares CM, Van Allen EM, Drake CG, Allison JP, Hu-Lieskovan S. Mechanisms of Resistance to Immune Checkpoint Blockade: Why Does Checkpoint Inhibitor Immunotherapy Not Work for All Patients? Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book (2019) 39:147–64. doi: 10.1200/ EDBK_240837
- 118. Pons-Tostivint E, Latouche A, Vaflard P, Ricci F, Loirat D, Hescot S, et al. Comparative analysis of durable responses on immune checkpoint inhibitors versus other systemic therapies: a pooled analysis of phase III trials. *JCO Precis Oncol* (2019) 3):1–10. doi: 10.1200/PO.18.00114

Conflict of Interest: Authors are AstraZeneca Plc employees and shareholders.

Copyright © 2021 Carnevalli, Ghadially and Barry. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





NK Cells and PMN-MDSCs in the Graft From G-CSF Mobilized Haploidentical Donors Display Distinct Gene Expression Profiles From Those of the Non-Mobilized Counterpart

Andrea Pelosi^{1†}, Francesca Besi^{1†}, Nicola Tumino^{1*}, Pietro Merli², Linda Quatrini¹, Giuseppina Li Pira², Mattia Algeri², Lorenzo Moretta¹ and Paola Vacca^{1*}

¹ Immunology Research Area, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, IRCCS, Rome, Italy

A recent approach of hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) transplantation from haploidentical donors "mobilized" with G-CSF is based on the selective depletion of $\alpha\beta$ T and B lymphocytes from the graft. Through this approach, the patient receives both HSC and mature donor-derived effector cells (including NK cells), which exert both anti-leukemia activity and protection against infections. We previously showed that donor HSC mobilization with G-CSF results in accumulation in the graft of polymorphonuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cells (PMN-MDSCs), capable of inhibiting in vitro the antileukemia activity of allogeneic NK cells. Here, we performed a detailed gene expression analysis on NK cells and PMN-MDSCs both derived from mobilized graft. Cytotoxicity assays and real time PCR arrays were performed in NK cells. Microarray technology followed by bioinformatics analysis was used for gene expression profiling in PMN-MDSCs. Results indicate that NK cells from the graft have a lower cytolytic activity as compared to those from non-mobilized samples. Further, mobilized PMN-MDSCs displayed a peculiar transcriptional profile distinguishing them from non-mobilized ones. Differential expression of pro-proliferative and immune-modulatory genes was detected in mobilized PMN-MDSCs. These data strengthen the concept that G-CSF-mobilized PMN-MDSCs present in the graft display unique molecular characteristics, in line with the strong inhibitory effect on donor NK cells.

Keywords: myeloid-derived suppressor cells, NK cells, hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT), leukemia, microarray gene expression analysis

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Erik Wennerberg, Institute of Cancer Research (ICR), United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Roland Jacobs, Hannover Medical School, Germany Markus Uhrberg, Heinrich Heine University of Düsseldorf, Germany

*Correspondence:

Nicola Tumino nicola.tumino@opbg.net Paola Vacca paola.vacca@opbg.net

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to NK and Innate Lymphoid Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 22 January 2021 Accepted: 06 April 2021 Published: 27 April 2021

Citation:

Pelosi A, Besi F, Turnino N, Merli P, Quatrini L, Li Pira G, Algeri M, Moretta L and Vacca P (2021) NK Cells and PMN-MDSCs in the Graft From G-CSF Mobilized Haploidentical Donors Display Distinct Gene Expression Profiles From Those of the Non-Mobilized Counterpart. Front. Immunol. 12:657329. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.657329

92

INTRODUCTION

Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) is a lifesaving treatment for children with both malignant and nonmalignant severe disorders. However, a suitable HLA-compatible donor is not always available (1, 2). Thus, different HSCT strategies have been developed to offer an allograft to these patients with no alternative therapeutic options. The first approach was based on the infusion of megadoses of highly purified CD34⁺ precursors (3, 4). However, the complete lymphoid cell depletion caused a prolonged lymphopenia and a delayed immune reconstitution, resulting into an increased risk of leukemia relapses and opportunistic infections, especially in the early period after HSCT (5). In an attempt to overcome these severe complications, a novel method of graft manipulation based on the specific depletion of $\alpha\beta$ T lymphocytes (responsible of graft-versus-host disease; GvHD) and B cells (in order to prevent Epstein-Barr virus-related posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders), has been more recently introduced (6, 7). Through this new approach, the patient receives not only HSCs but also high numbers of cells of the innate immunity (including mature NK cells, $\gamma\delta$ T lymphocytes and different myeloid cells), some of which may rapidly exert antileukemia activity (graft-versus-leukemia; GvL) and early protection against infections. In particular, infused mature donor NK cells can promptly exert a GvL effect (8-12).

To obtain high numbers of HSC in the peripheral blood (PB), donors were treated with G-CSF for 5 days. G-CSF induces HSC mobilization from the bone marrow (BM). However, this treatment also induces an increase of circulating myeloid cells, including myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) (13–15).

MDSCs represent an intrinsic myeloid compartment derived from a common myeloid precursor present in the BM (16). Human MDSCs are classified in two major subsets based on their surface markers' expression, namely monocytic MDSCs (Mo-MDSCs) and polymorphonuclear MDSCs (PMN-MDSCs) (17). Mo-MDSCs are CD45⁺Lin⁻(CD3/CD19/CD56)HLA-DR^{-/low}CD33⁺CD11b⁺CD14⁺ CD66b⁻ (or CD15⁻) while PMN-MDSCs are CD45⁺Lin⁻ (CD3/ CD19/CD56)HLA-DR^{-/low}CD33⁺CD11b⁺CD14⁻CD66b⁺ (or CD15⁺) (18). Low numbers of Mo- and PMN-MDSC cells are present in PB of healthy individuals. However, a substantial accumulation of these cell subsets both in PB and in tissues was detected in different pathological conditions (including acute/chronic viral and bacterial infections), characterized by an inflammatory response (19-22). As a consequence of inflammation, a partial block in the differentiation of myeloid precursors occurs contributing to their accumulation. Importantly, MDSCs have also been detected in the microenvironment of various tumors (22, 23).

Emerging evidence indicates that MDSCs can interact and regulate the function of other immune cells, including NK cells. Several studies described different mechanisms adopted by MDSCs to exert their immunomodulatory function either by mechanisms that require cell-to-cell contact and/or by the release of soluble factors (24). In addition, a large number of data indicate that some genes are critical for MDSC function and/or represent useful markers to identify PMN-MDSCs. Thus, lectintype oxidized LDL receptor 1 (LOX1) is undetectable in neutrophils while it is expressed by PMN-MDSC with potent immunosuppressive activity (18). Arginase 1 (ARG1) and nitric oxide synthase 2 (NOS2) are enzymes involved in L-arginine metabolism and are expressed in activated MDSCs. ARG1 promotes depletion of L-arginine, whereas NOS2 stimulates nitric oxide synthesis. In an inflammatory/tumor microenvironment, both enzymes cause suppression of immune cell function (25). Another characteristic of MDSCs associated with their suppressive capability is the production of interleukin 10 (IL-10) and tumor growth factor β (TGF β), both acting as potent immunosuppressive cytokines on T and NK cell function (26). Furthermore, two important genes in MDSC biology are the S100 calcium-binding proteins S100A8 and S100A9. These proteins are constitutively expressed by myeloid cells including MDSCs, and they are down-regulated during normal differentiation of myeloid precursors. Some studies indicate that tumor-derived factors promote sustained upregulation of S100A9 in myeloid precursors inducing accumulation of MDSCs (27).

In a previous study, we showed that, in HSCT, donor HSC mobilization with G-CSF induces the accumulation of PMN-MDSCs in PB and, consequently, in the graft and that these cells are capable of inhibiting *in vitro* the anti-leukemia cytolytic activity of donor-derived mature NK cells. Their potent immunosuppressive activity was exerted both by cell-to-cell contact mechanism and by their ability to release prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), indoleamine-pyrole 2, 3-dioxygenase (IDO) metabolites, and exosomes with immunosuppressive activity (28).

In the present study, we show that NK cells isolated from "mobilized" donors display a reduced cytolytic activity paralleled by a decreased expression of genes involved in this function as compared to non-mobilized NK cells. Thus, NK cell suppression detected in mobilized donors and the striking increase of PMN-MDSCs in the graft prompted us to explore more deeply the molecular features of these PMN-MDSCs. In particular, we evaluated the global pattern of gene expression in PMN-MDSCs present in the donor both before and after G-CSFinduced mobilization. Bioinformatics-based approaches were used to better investigate the role of these cells in HSCT. In mobilized PMN-MDSCs, we found de-regulation of some immune-modulatory genes and a striking activation of genes involved in the cell cycle program. These results show that mobilized PMN-MDSCs are characterized by a peculiar transcriptional profile compatible with an intense proliferative activity. Moreover, these data suggest of a further PMN-MDSC expansion in the patient after transplantation. Thus, removal or inactivation of this immunosuppressive cell subset could represent a promising strategy to restore/improve the NKmediated GvL activity.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

G-CSF Mobilized Donors, Samples, and Ethical Statements

Healthy donors were enrolled at Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, Rome, Italy. G-CSF mobilized donors received

subcutaneous administration of G-CSF for five days (until apheresis) at the dose of $10^{-12} \mu g/kg/day$. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were obtained from G-CSF mobilized healthy donors (n = 12) and non-mobilized healthy donors (HD; n = 9). PBMCs were obtained after density gradient centrifugation (Ficoll-Lympholyte, Cederlane) as described before. Both G-CSF mobilized donors and HD gave their informed consent to participate in this study, which was approved by the Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (Rome, Italy) ethics committees (Prot. n. 1724/2018) and was conducted in accordance with the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Cell Isolation and Antibodies

NK cells and PMN-MDSCs were isolated from PBMCs of mobilized and non-mobilized donors using NK isolation kit and CD66b⁺ microbeads (purity >98%, data not shown) following manufacturer's instruction (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). Before starting any experiment, we determined the purity of isolated cells by flow cytometry using anti-CD3-APC, anti-CD19-ECD, and CD56-PC7 (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA) for NK cells. PMN-MDSCs were labeled with anti-CD3-AF700, anti-CD19-AF700, anti-CD11b-FITC, anti-CD33-PC7, anti-HLA-DR-PE, anti-CD14-ECD, anti-CD45-KrOr, and anti-CD66b-APC desiccated in the Duraclone custom design platform (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA) adding anti-CD56-BV650 (BioLegend, San Diego, CA) and following manufacturer's instruction. After the staining procedures, cells were acquired at Cytoflex LX and analyzed with Cytexpert software (v2.4, Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA). Freshly isolated NK cells were immediately used for functional studies and gene expression evaluation.

Functional Assays

Cell cytotoxicity assays were performed using as target NALM-18 cell line (childhood B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia) or K562 cell line (erythroleukemia) and as effector cells (mobilized or not) NK cells at different Effector/Target (E/T) cell ratios. Killed cells were evaluated after 4 hours. At the end of the coculture, the assay was stopped by chilling cells on ice, and Propidium Iodide (PI) was added to each sample immediately before acquisition in order to identify the percentage of target cell lysis, as previously described (29). For each set of experiment, all the acquisitions (5,000 target cells/sample) were performed within 20 min. Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism.

PMN-MDSC apoptosis was examined using Annexin V-FITC apoptosis detection kit (BD biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). PMN-MDSCs derived from non- and post-mobilized donors were separated and cultured in 24-well plates at a density of 1×10^6 cells/well. Analysis of cell viability and apoptotic status was evaluated at different time points (from 1 to 6 days). PMN-MDSCs were incubated with 5 µl of Annexin V-FITC and 2 µl of PI at room temperature for 15 min. The PMN-MDSC apoptotic rate was measured using a flow cytometer (Cytoflex LX, Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA, USA). Chemotaxis

of NK cells was measured by migration through a polycarbonate filter with an 8.0 μ m pore size in 24-well trans-well chambers (Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, Germany). The assay medium consisted of Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) derived from purified PMN-MDSCs non-mobilized and post-mobilization after 24 h of culture. 500 μ l of assay medium was added to the lower chamber in the presence or not of CCL4 blocking antibodies (1.2 μ g/ml; R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA). 500 μ l of assay medium was used as a control for spontaneous migration. Then, 1 × 10⁵ NK cells were seeded to the upper chamber. After 1 hour of incubation at 37°C, NK cells that migrated to the bottom chamber were harvested and counted by flow cytometry (absolute count).

RNA Extraction and Real Time PCR Analysis

Total RNA extraction from purified NK cells and PMN-MDSCs was performed with miRNeasy mini kit, combined with oncolumn DNase I treatment, following the manufacturer's protocol (Qiagen GmbH, Hilden, Germany). RNA concentration and purity were evaluated by spectrophotometric analysis (Nanodrop 2000; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Wilmington, DE). For gene expression analysis in NK cells and PMN-MDSCs, total RNA was reverse transcribed with random primers using Super Script IV first-strand synthesis system following manufacturer's instructions (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Wilmington, DE, U.S.A.). Real Time PCR on NK cells was performed by 384-wells TaqMan array microfluidic cards with a custom configuration for the detection of selected genes implicated in NK cell biology (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Wilmington, DE, U.S.A.). Briefly, 200 ng of cDNAs for each sample was mixed with an isovolume of TaqMan Advanced Master Mix 2× and loaded in 384-wells cards (100 ng/channel). Real time PCR on PMN-MDSCs was performed in 20 µl of total volume with TaqManTM Fast Advanced Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, U.S.A). The following TaqManTM Gene Expression assays were used: MS4A4A (Hs00254780_m1), CLEC7A (Hs01902549_s1), CD177 (Hs00360669_m1), CCL4 (Hs99999148_m1), 18S (Hs99999901_s1). Reactions were carried out on a QuantStudio 12 Flex instrument using thermal PCR cycling conditions suggested by the manufacturer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, U.S.A). Data analysis was performed on Thermo Fisher Cloud with Design and Analysis New qPCR application (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Wilmington, DE, U.S.A.). PCR array data were analyzed with relative threshold algorithm and normalized using the mean of ACTB and HPRT expression, used as reference genes. Real time PCR on PMN-MDSC samples was analyzed with baseline threshold algorithm and $2^{-\Delta Ct}$ method. Data were normalized with 18S housekeeping gene.

Microarray Analysis

The samples of non-mobilized (n = 5) and mobilized (n = 8) PMN-MDSCs from which we obtained enough amount of high quality total RNA were used as start material for the microarray gene expression analysis. Biotin labeled RNA was generated using the GeneChip 3' IVT Plus labeling kit (Thermo Fisher

Scientific, Wilmington, DE) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The Biotin labeled RNA was subsequently hybridized to a HT U133 plus 16-array plate (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Wilmington, DE). The hybridization, wash, staining, and scanning procedures were done in a GeneTitanTM Instrument according to the manufacturer's protocol (cat#: 00-0373; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Wilmington, DE). For labeling, hybridization, washing, staining, and scanning procedures we took advantage of Eurofins Genomics microarray service (Eurofins Genomics; Ebersberg, Germany).

The cel file output was used as input in the Partek Genomics Suite Software (Partek, St. Louis, MO) for generation of Robust Multi-Array Average (RMA) normalized data.

Bioinformatics and Statistical Analysis

Data in Figures 1, 2A were expressed as mean ± standard deviation (SD) or ± standard error of the mean (SEM) as indicated. For RNA yield evaluation, statistical significance was calculated using paired Student's t-test. A p value ≤0.05 was considered statistically significant. DEGs between non-mobilized and mobilized PMN-MDSC groups were calculated by ANOVA one-way test. Lists of DEGs were filtered applying fold change (FC) >2 or <-2 (FC>10 or <-10 in **Figure 3A**) and a p-value ≤0.05 with Benjamini-Hochberg (1995) False Discovery Rate (FDR) correction criteria. PCA, ANOVA test, unsupervised hierarchical clustering in Figure 3A, and box plots in Supplementary Figures 2A, B, were generated by Partek Genomics Suite (Partek, St. Louis, MO). Enrichment of GO BP terms was performed by GOrilla tool (30) applying a p-value threshold of 10-3, calculated according to the mHG or HG model. Graphical summarization of enriched GO BPs in a semantic treemap was performed by REVIGO allowing medium similarity and applying the simRel score (31). Two-way Anova was used for Figure 4A, Mann-Whitney test was used for Figures 3B, 4B, C.

RESULTS

NK Cells Present in the Donor Graft Exhibit a Reduced Cytolytic Activity

As previously shown, the HSC mobilization regimen induces accumulation of PMN-MDSCs in the PB of G-CSF-mobilized donors. Moreover, these cells sharply inhibited the effector function of autologous and allogeneic NK cells in vitro (28). Based on these results, we verified whether the cytolytic activity of NK cells, isolated from the PB of mobilized donors, was affected by the concomitant presence of high numbers of PMN-MDSCs. Fresh NK cells were isolated from apheresis (postmobilization) or from PB of unrelated HD, and their ability to kill NALM-18 tumor target cells was assessed. As shown in Figure 1A, NK cells isolated from mobilized donors showed a lower cytolytic activity as compared to HD NK cells. As previously demonstrated, PMN-MDSCs are capable, after 48 h of co-culture, to strongly impair the cytolytic activity of NK cells. In order to clearly demonstrate the impact of PMN-MDSCs on NK cell function, we further removed PMN-MDSCs after 48 h from NK/MDSC co-cultures and tested the cytolytic activity of these NK cells after additional 24 h of culture (referred as NK/ MDSC 24 h alone; Supplementary Figure 1). The inhibitory effect of PMN-MDSCs was reversible, since the cytolytic activity of NK cells could be restored by removing PMN-MDSCs from co-cultures (Supplementary Figure 1).

NK Cells in the Donor Graft Display an Altered Expression of Genes Controlling Immune Effector Functions

To support the functional data, we further investigated whether NK cells of mobilized donors were modified in their gene expression profiles. Thus, we analyzed by PCR array the



FIGURE 1 | Cytolytic activity and expression of functional genes are altered in NK cells from mobilized grafts. (A) Freshly isolated NK cells derived from donors who did (*post-mob*; in red) or did not (*pre-mob*; in blue) undergo mobilization with G-CSF were purified, and their cytolytic activity was assessed using NALM-18 as target cells. Percentages of killed cells \pm SEM at different Effector/Target (E/T) ratios are shown. Statistical analysis was performed using Mann–Whitney test (n = 5). *p \leq 0.05; where not indicated, data were not statistically significant. (B) Box and whisker plots representing the expression of the indicated panels of genes (*blue*: cell surface markers; *red*: transduction signal molecules; *green*: effector molecules) measured by real time PCR array in NK cells freshly isolated from apheresis of mobilized donors (n = 4). Values are expressed as fold change with respect to their expression in NK cells from PB of non-mobilized donors, used as control (n = 4).



PMN-MDSCs of donors before (pre-mob) and after mobilization (mob). Data are expressed as fold change with respect to non-mobilized samples. Bars indicate SD. *p-value ≤ 0.05 (Student's t-test). (B) Principal Component Analysis (PCA) summarization of microarray data for non-mobilized (MDSC control; blue circles; n = 5) and mobilized (MDSC mobilized; red circles; n = 8) PMN-MDSCs. (C) Volcano plot representing DEGs between mobilized and non-mobilized PMN-MDSCs upon ANOVA of microarray data. Vertical lines indicate FC \leq -2 and \geq 2, and horizontal line indicates p-value ≤ 0.05 , representing cut-off lines applied to filter significant DEGs. Probeset significantly up-regulated and down-regulated are highlighted in red or green, respectively. The positions of CCL4, CLEC7A, MS4A4A, and CD177 genes in the volcano plot are highlighted.

expression of a wide panel of genes regulating cell function in NK cells purified from mobilized and non-mobilized donors. In particular, we evaluated genes considered important in the control of immune effector function of NK cells. As shown in Figure 1B, in comparison to NK cells from HD, "mobilized" NK cells revealed a decrease in the expression of some genes encoding for surface receptors involved in anti-tumor activity including NKp44 and CD94, or signal transduction molecules CD3 ζ , ZAP70, DAP10, DAP12, or STAT family members, or effector molecules such as IFN- γ , TNF- α and GZMB. Interestingly, in NK cells from mobilized donors, we also found a higher expression of the CD9-encoding gene (Figure 1B). CD9 up-regulation was reported in NK cells converted into a pro-angiogenic, non-cytotoxic state upon exposure to TGF β that, in turn, can be released by PMN-MDSCs as well (32, 33). Taken together, these results suggest that the effector function and the activation status of NK cells in the graft may be influenced by the presence of PMN-MDSCs.

PMN-MDSCs in the Donor Graft Are Characterized by Distinct Gene Expression Profiles

Next, we verified whether the mobilization regimen induced changes in the molecular properties of PMN-MDSCs present in mobilized donors. First, we compared the frequency of PMN-MDSCs in G-CSF mobilized and non-mobilized donors. In G-CSF mobilized donors PMN-MDSCs were $\approx 20\%$ while they were <5% non-mobilized donors (28). Their percentages increased to $\approx 40\%$ in the collection bag (due to their enrichment related to the B- and $\alpha\beta$ T-cell depletion; data not shown). Notably, RNA yield from freshly isolated PMN-MDSC in the donor graft was significantly higher than that of the same cells isolated from the same pre-mobilized donors (~three-fold) (**Figure 2A**). The increased RNA content suggested an activated metabolic state in PMN-MDSCs of mobilized grafts. Thus, we investigated whether these cells



used as endogenous control. Bars indicate SD. *p-value ≤ 0.05; **p-value ≤0.01 (Mann-Whitney test).

displayed transcriptional features different from non-mobilized PB PMN-MDSCs. To this purpose, we performed a global gene expression profiling by microarray to compare eight samples of PMN-MDSCs isolated from PB of mobilized donors with a control group represented by five PMN-MDSC samples derived

from non-mobilized HD. In the microarray, three out five of the control samples were derived, before mobilization, from the same donors analyzed in the mobilized group (samples c#1, c#,2 and c#3 versus m#1, m#2, and m#3 respectively; Figure **2B**). We used a three-dimensional Principal Component



Analysis (PCA) plot to summarize the microarray data. This exploratory analysis showed that all the mobilized PMN-MDSCs samples finely clustered together and were clearly distinguished from non-mobilized PMN-MDSCs samples, indicating that, indeed, the two groups are characterized by distinct transcriptional profiles (**Figure 2B**).

Specific Pro-Proliferative and Immune-Modulatory Genes Are Differentially Expressed in PMN-MDSCs of Mobilized Donors

We further investigated the differentially expressed genes (DEGs) in mobilized or non-mobilized PMN-MDSCs. To this end, we performed an Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) test, imposing a p-value ≤ 0.05 and a fold change (FC) $\geq |2|$. We found 4,625 differentially expressed probe sets displaying robust and statistically significant variations between mobilized and non-mobilized PMN-MDSCs. Among them, 2,589 probe sets were up-regulated and 2,036 down-regulated in mobilized *versus* non-mobilized PMN-MDSCs (**Figure 2C** and **Supplementary Table 1**). Hierarchical clustering based on these significantly deregulated genes also confirmed a clear discrimination between

mobilized and non-mobilized PMN-MDSC samples (data not shown). It should be noted that some important genes characterizing the PMN-MDSCs subset such as LOX1, S100A9, GAS6, TGF β 1 and IL-10 were expressed in both groups with no significantly different expression level, suggesting that mobilized PMN-MDSCs retain some features of typical PMN-MDSCs (**Supplementary Figure 2A**). Remarkably, in mobilized PMN-MDSCs we detected a differential expression of some relevant genes associated with cell proliferation and immunosuppressive function. In particular, MS4A4A (\uparrow), MKI67 (\uparrow), ARG1 (\uparrow), CEACAM1 (\uparrow), FKB5 (\uparrow) genes were up-regulated whereas CCL4 (\downarrow), IL7R (\downarrow) were down-regulated in mobilized PMN-MDSCs (**Supplementary Table 1** and **Figure 3A**).

A heat-map showing the most modulated genes in mobilized PMN-MDSCs is represented in **Figure 3A**. In this analysis, we filtered the list to DEGs with $FC \ge |10|$ to narrow down to the most deregulated genes. One of the most up-regulated genes in mobilized PMN-MDSCs was CD177 (FC = +27.4) (**Supplementary Figure 2B**), a surface membrane glycoprotein expressed in neutrophils and neutrophil precursors (34). Consistent with the wide up-regulation of other genes involved in MDSC proliferation and activation, this gene is involved in neutrophil proliferation and was found to be up-regulated in

human MDSCs upon inflammation (35, 36). Furthermore, the tetraspan molecule MS4A4A was one of the most up-regulated genes in mobilized MDSCs (FC = +24). It has recently been reported that MS4A4A expression is restricted to human mononuclear phagocytes, where MS4A4A co-localizes with the β -glucan receptor dectin-1 (CLEC7A), mediates NK cell activation and exert a control of metastases in murine models (37). Our data indicate that Dectin-1/CLEC7A is down-regulated (FC= -11) in mobilized PMN-MDSCs. Since Dectin-1 signaling is crucial for mediating cell-to-cell contact and subsequent NK cell activation, the up-regulation of MS4A4A might have a different role besides inducing NK cell activation via MS4A4A-CLEC7A. A sharp increase of MS4A4A expression, usually associated with cells of the monocytic lineage, suggests that PMN-MDSCs may acquire unique molecular characteristics upon G-CSF induced mobilization. Conversely, one of the most down-regulated genes was CCL4, encoding for an inflammatory chemokine functioning as chemoattractant for different leukocytes, including NK cells (Supplementary Figure 2B). The above mentioned genes were selected for PCR validation on the same samples used in the microarray. Real time PCR analysis confirmed a striking differential expression of all the genes tested, confirming the reliability of the microarray approach (Figure 3B).

PMN-MDSCs of Mobilized Donors Display Prolonged Survival and Altered Chemo-Attraction Properties on NK Cells

Transcriptome data indicated that mobilized PMN-MDSCs are characterized by an activated phenotype. Thus, we asked whether their distinct gene expression profile was associated with an altered cell survival. To this purpose, mobilized and nonmobilized PMN-MDSCs were cultured *in vitro*, and cell viability was evaluated for 6 days. Whereas non-mobilized PMN-MDSCs underwent rapid cell death upon *in vitro* culturing, mobilized PMN-MDSCs displayed a significantly prolonged survival (**Figure 4A**). Of note, after 24 h of *in vitro* culture, the large majority of mobilized PMN-MDSCs were represented by live cells, whereas their non-mobilized counterpart already showed an extensive fraction of apoptotic cells (**Figure 4B**).

Transcriptional profiles also suggested that mobilized PMN-MDSCs could have different immune properties as compared to the non-mobilized ones. Based on down-regulation of several chemokines including CCL4 (see Figure 3A and Supplementary Table 1), we tested whether mobilized PMN-MDSCs could exhibit different chemo-attractive properties on NK cells. Supernatants of non-mobilized and mobilized PMN-MDSC cultures displayed significant differences in the capability to attract NK cells in trans-well chambers system. In particular, supernatants of mobilized PMN-MDSCs exhibited a reduced ability to attract NK cells as compared to non-mobilized ones (Figure 4C). The use of a blocking antibody against CCL4 chemokine caused a slight decrease of NK cell migration in non-mobilized supernatants, indicating that CCL4 chemokine is involved, at least in part, in this process (Figure 4C).

Biological Processes Associated With Proliferation and Myeloid Activation Are Enriched in Mobilized PMN-MDSCs

In order to deepen the biological significance of DEGs identified in PMN-MDSCs of mobilized donors, we performed an enrichment analysis of biological processes (BPs) from Gene Ontology (GO) database. We separately analyzed the list of up-regulated (FC \geq 2; p value ≤ 0.05) and down-regulated (FC ≤ -2 ; p value ≤ 0.05) genes in mobilized MDSCs to find emerging BPs in these groups. A list of BPs significantly over-represented is shown in Figure 5, whereas the complete list of enriched BPs in up-regulated and down-regulated genes is reported in Supplementary Tables 2 and 3. This analysis clearly highlighted a striking predominance of BP associated with cell proliferation in the up-regulated genes in G-CSF mobilized PMN-MDSCs, including cell cycle process (GO:0022402), chromosome organization (GO:0051276) and segregation (GO:0007059). Another important group of BPs regards the immune defense compartment, in particular, the myeloid cell activation (GO:0002274) and other processes specifically associated with granulocytes, such as neutrophil degranulation (GO:0043312), activation (GO:0042119) and extravasation (GO:0072672) (Figure 5A). Conversely, down-regulated genes in mobilized PMN-MDSCs were enriched in some BPs associated with macromolecule metabolism, e.g. transcription DNA-templated (GO:0006351) and nucleic acid metabolic process (GO:0090304). Other significantly enriched BPs were associated to covalent chromatin modification (GO:0016569) and histone modification (GO:0016570) (Figure 5B). A summarization of the GO BPs significantly enriched in up-regulated and down-regulated gene lists was performed by REVIGO (31) to graphically represent in a semantic tree-map all the BPs identified (Figure 5). Collectively, these data suggest that the mobilization regimen with G-CSF induced a transcriptional program promoting cell proliferation and activation of myeloid cells.

DISCUSSION

In the present paper, we first show that NK cells present in the graft after G-CSF mobilization regimen display a lower cytolytic activity as compared to NK cells from HD. We then performed a detailed gene expression analysis on both NK cells and PMN-MDSCs derived from apheresis after mobilization with G-CSF. Notably, PMN-MDSC and NK cells represent two important cellular components of the $\alpha\beta$ T cell- and B cell-depleted graft. Since, upon G-CSF-induced mobilization and $\alpha\beta$ T and B celldepletion of the graft, PMN-MDSCs are present in high percentages, it was conceivable that they could exert a strong negative impact on NK cell effector function. Notably, mature donor-derived NK cells were shown to contribute to both GvL activity and control of infections at early stages after transplantation, particularly in the haplo-HSCT setting using pure CD34⁺ HSC. However, we found that NK cells present in mobilized graft in $\alpha\beta$ T and B cell-depleted HSCT setting show a reduced anti-leukemia activity as compared to non-mobilized NK cells. This functional evidence was further supported by



transcriptional data, revealing that some molecules involved in NK cell-mediated anti-tumor activity were down-regulated in mobilized samples. Although the reduced cytotoxic activity of NK cells *in vivo* upon G-CSF regimen could reflect also MDSC-independent mechanisms, the high proportion of PMN-MDSCs in the graft raises the intriguing possibility that G-CSF could inhibit donor NK cell cytotoxicity through PMN-MDSC activation and expansion. Indeed, we show that the inhibition of NK cell cytolytic activity *in vitro* is due to the presence of PMN-MDSCs and that their removal results in the restoration of NK cell function. Our data are supported by a previous study in which we showed that PMN-MDSCs present in high concentrations in the $\alpha\beta$ T and B cell-depleted transplants exert a sharp inhibitory effect *in vitro* on both allogeneic and autologous NK cell function (28).

G-CSF-induced mobilization causes the release in the PB and the expansion of a broad spectrum of hematopoietic cell precursors including PMN-MDSCs. An activated state of these cells was suggested by the increase in the total RNA amount per cell in mobilized donors. Thus, we asked whether PMN-MDSCs in the graft possess peculiar molecular characteristics or whether they are similar to PMN-MDSCs isolated from non-mobilized donors. Interestingly, our comprehensive gene expression profiling by microarray revealed that PMN-MDSCs in the graft showed a peculiar transcriptional profile distinguishing them from non-mobilized PMN-MDSCs. All the mobilized samples finely clustered together and were clearly distinct from nonmobilized ones. Notably, three out of five of the control samples were derived, before mobilization, from the same donors analyzed in the mobilized group (samples c#1, c#2, and c#3 versus m#1, m#2, and m#3 respectively; Figures 2B and 3A), thus further supporting that the variability between the two groups was indeed related to the mobilization regimen. The most prominent difference in mobilized PMN-MDSCs resides in the strong up-regulation of genes promoting DNA replication, cell cycle, and cell division such as the marker of cell proliferation Ki-67 (MKI67), topoisomerase II alpha (TOP2A), cvclin B (CCNB2) or kinesin family member 2 C (KIF2C). Transcriptional data would clearly support the scenario of a rapidly expanding PMN-MDSC population in PB of mobilized donors, in agreement with their high concentration in the graft. Both the high number of PMN-MDSCs in the graft and their possible further expansion after transplantation offer a reasonable explanation for the impaired cytolytic activity of NK cells.

Although there was a pronounced difference in the transcriptome, several key genes associated with PMN-MDSCs such as LOX1, NOS1, GAS6, TGF β 1, IL10, and S100A9 were not significantly de-regulated in the two compared groups.

PMN-MDSC and NK cells in HSCT

This finding indicates that PMN-MDSCs isolated from mobilized or non-mobilized donors share a number of similar features and display some common functional properties. On the other hand, the expression of some genes with important immune-regulatory functions was sharply deregulated in mobilized PMN-MDSCs. Among them, we found a strong upregulation of the tetraspanin MS4A4A. MS4A4A was reported to be a fundamental molecule in tumor-infiltrating macrophages as well as in dectin-1-dependent activation of NK cells in cancer (37). Up-regulation of MS4A4A was reported to be restricted to cells of the macrophage-lineage (37). Of note, we show that such upregulation also occurs in PMN-MDSCs upon G-CSF induced mobilization. In addition, we found Dectin-1 (CLEC-7A) was significantly down-regulated in these cells. Since Dectin-1 is critical for NK cell-mediated killing of tumor cells (38), it is possible that MS4A4A may not be functional in mobilized PMN-MDSCs. Interestingly, an increased expression of MS4A4A was also observed in circulating MDSCs after surgical sepsis (35), suggesting that pro-inflammatory stimuli could up-regulate this molecule in MDSCs. Further studies are clearly needed to clarify the functional significance of MS4A4A up-regulation in these cells.

We also observed a striking increase of several other genes encoding for transmembrane proteins, suggesting that the membrane surface composition of mobilized PMN-MDSCs may be significantly different from that of their non-mobilized counterpart. Among these genes, the one encoding the transmembrane protein 107 (TMEM107) is the most upregulated in mobilized PMN-MDSCs. This molecule plays a critical role in ciliated cells, while to date, their potential functional role in blood cells remains to be defined. CD177 is another of the most up-regulated genes in mobilized PMN-MDSCs. CD177 has been associated with subpopulations of immature developing human neutrophils and it might be involved in their migration (34). Altered migration properties of these cells were also suggested by the up-regulation of other genes such as integrin alpha 9 (ITGA9). Of note, genes regulating neutrophil extravasation were up-regulated in mobilized PMN-MDSCs. Thus, the migration properties and the ability to extravasate may greatly differ in these cells as compared to other mature neutrophil populations.

Regarding the group of down-regulated genes, enrichment analysis underlines an emerging and strong over-representation of genes involved in transcriptional regulation and chromatin remodeling, further supporting the occurrence of a wide alteration of the metabolic state in mobilized MDSCs as well as of their prolonged survival, possibly associated with a trained immunity process. Metabolic rewiring could be explained as the response of PMN-MDSCs to the environment upon G-CSF stimulus, leading to their activation and expansion. As described above, these changes could also affect immune properties of PMN-MDSCs in the graft modulating their capability to attract NK cells. In this regard, it is also worth mentioning the sharp down-regulation occurring in the CCL4 gene expression. This chemokine is produced by neutrophils and is an important chemo-attractant for NK cells and other immune cells.

A deeper comprehension of the molecular characteristics and functional effects of PMN-MDSCs could highlight the impact of these cells in the HSCT.

Circulating and tumor-infiltrating PMN-MDSCs have a short *in vivo* lifespan, whereas during inflammation the half-life of PMN-MDSCs may be significantly prolonged (39). The persistence of mobilized PMN-MDSCs in transplanted recipient patients and their possible durable effects on NK cells is an interesting, unanswered, question. The evidence that mobilized PMN-MDSCs display an increased survival *in vitro* as compared to non-mobilized PMN-MDSCs suggests they may persist for longer time intervals *in vivo*. However, further investigation is needed to directly address this question.

For example, removal or inactivation of PMN-MDSCs could represent a promising strategy to restore/improve the NKmediated GvL activity and to control viral infections. On the other hand, PMN-MDSCs could also exert a control on GvHD due to their potent immunosuppressive effect on T cells.

The immunologic and bioinformatics-based analyses of PMN-MDSC cell function in response to donor treatment with G-CSF may be useful for better understanding their interaction with donor effector cells involved in GvL, while a better comprehension of the molecular mechanisms involved in the function of PMN-MDSCs may allow for exploiting or inactivating these cells not only in HSCT but also in other pathological conditions.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/geo/, GSE159069.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (Rome, Italy) ethics committees (protocol number 1724/2018). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AP designed and performed the research, interpreted the data, and wrote the article. FB performed the experiment and analyzed the data. GLP, PM, and MA provided samples and discussed the data. LQ and LM interpreted the data and revised the manuscript. PV and NT designed the research, interpreted the data, and wrote the article. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants awarded by Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro (AIRC)-Special Program Metastatic disease: the key unmet need in Oncology 5X1000 2018 Id. 21147 (LM), AIRC IG 2017 Id. 19920 (LM); RC-2021 OPBG (LM, PV). LQ has received funding from AIRC and from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement no 800924. NT and FB are supported by an AIRC fellowship for Italy.

REFERENCES

- Gragert L, Eapen M, Williams E, Freeman J, Spellman S, Baitty R, et al. HLA Match Likelihoods for Hematopoietic Stem-Cell Grafts in the U.S. Registry. *New Engl J Med* (2014) 371(4):339–48. doi: 10.1056/NEJMsa1311707
- Rocha V, Locatelli F. Searching for Alternative Hematopoietic Stem Cell Donors for Pediatric Patients. *Bone Marrow Transplant* (2008) 41(2):207–14. doi: 10.1038/sj.bmt.1705963
- Martelli MF, Aversa F. Haploidentical Transplants Using Ex Vivo T-cell Depletion. Semin Hematol (2016) 53(4):252–6. doi: 10.1053/j.seminhematol. 2016.07.001
- Reisner Y, Hagin D, Martelli MF. Haploidentical Hematopoietic Transplantation: Current Status and Future Perspectives. *Blood* (2011) 118 (23):6006–17. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-07-338822
- Aversa F, Terenzi A, Tabilio A, Falzetti F, Carotti A, Ballanti S, et al. Full Haplotype-Mismatched Hematopoietic Stem-Cell Transplantation: A Phase II Study in Patients With Acute Leukemia At High Risk of Relapse. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol (2005) 23(15):3447–54. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2005.09.117
- 6. Li Pira G, Malaspina D, Girolami E, Biagini S, Cicchetti E, Conflitti G, et al. Selective Depletion of Alphabeta T Cells and B Cells for Human Leukocyte Antigen-Haploidentical Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. A Three-Year Follow-Up of Procedure Efficiency. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant J Am Soc Blood Marrow Transplant* (2016) 22(11):2056–64. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbmt.2016.08.006
- Locatelli F, Bauquet A, Palumbo G, Moretta F, Bertaina A. Negative Depletion of Alpha/Beta+ T Cells and of CD19+ B Lymphocytes: A Novel Frontier to Optimize the Effect of Innate Immunity in HLA-mismatched Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. *Immunol Lett* (2013) 155(1-2):21–3. doi: 10.1016/ j.imlet.2013.09.027
- Airoldi I, Bertaina A, Prigione I, Zorzoli A, Pagliara D, Cocco C, et al. Gammadelta T-cell Reconstitution After HLA-haploidentical Hematopoietic Transplantation Depleted of TCR-alphabeta+/CD19+ Lymphocytes. *Blood* (2015) 125(15):2349–58. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-09-599423
- Locatelli F, Merli P, Pagliara D, Li Pira G, Falco M, Pende D, et al. Outcome of Children With Acute Leukemia Given HLA-haploidentical HSCT After Alphabeta T-cell and B-cell Depletion. *Blood* (2017) 130(5):677–85. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-04-779769
- Moretta L, Locatelli F, Pende D, Marcenaro E, Mingari MC, Moretta A. Killer Ig-like Receptor-Mediated Control of Natural Killer Cell Alloreactivity in Haploidentical Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. *Blood* (2011) 117 (3):764–71. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-08-264085
- Pende D, Marcenaro S, Falco M, Martini S, Bernardo ME, Montagna D, et al. Anti-Leukemia Activity of Alloreactive NK Cells in KIR Ligand-Mismatched Haploidentical HSCT for Pediatric Patients: Evaluation of the Functional Role of Activating KIR and Redefinition of Inhibitory KIR Specificity. *Blood* (2009) 113(13):3119–29. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-06-164103
- Pistoia V, Tumino N, Vacca P, Veneziani I, Moretta A, Locatelli F, et al. Human Gammadelta T-Cells: From Surface Receptors to the Therapy of High-Risk Leukemias. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:984. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00984
- Abrams SI, Waight JD. Identification of a G-CSF-Granulocytic MDSC Axis That Promotes Tumor Progression. Oncoimmunology (2012) 1(4):550–1. doi: 10.4161/onci.19334

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to thank the Eurofins Genomics microarray service for the support provided with processing of microarray experiments.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021.657329/full#supplementary-material

- Li W, Zhang X, Chen Y, Xie Y, Liu J, Feng Q, et al. G-CSF is a Key Modulator of MDSC and Could be a Potential Therapeutic Target in Colitis-Associated Colorectal Cancers. *Protein Cell* (2016) 7(2):130–40. doi: 10.1007/s13238-015-0237-2
- Marini O, Costa S, Bevilacqua D, Calzetti F, Tamassia N, Spina C, et al. Mature CD10(+) and Immature CD10(-) Neutrophils Present in G-CSF-treated Donors Display Opposite Effects on T Cells. *Blood* (2017) 129(10):1343–56. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-04-713206
- Gabrilovich DI. Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells. Cancer Immunol Res (2017) 5(1):3–8. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0297
- Bronte V, Brandau S, Chen SH, Colombo MP, Frey AB, Greten TF, et al. Recommendations for Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell Nomenclature and Characterization Standards. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:12150. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms12150
- Condamine T, Dominguez GA, Youn JI, Kossenkov AV, Mony S, Alicea-Torres K, et al. Lectin-Type Oxidized LDL Receptor-1 Distinguishes Population of Human Polymorphonuclear Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in Cancer Patients. *Sci Immunol* (2016) 1(2):aaf8943. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aaf8943
- Dorhoi A, Kotze LA, Berzofsky JA, Sui Y, Gabrilovich DI, Garg A, et al. Therapies for Tuberculosis and AIDS: Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in Focus. J Clin Invest (2020) 130(6):2789–99. doi: 10.1172/JCI136288
- Tumino N, Bilotta MT, Pinnetti C, Ammassari A, Antinori A, Turchi F, et al. Granulocytic Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Increased in Early Phases of Primary Hiv Infection Depending on TRAIL Plasma Level. J Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes (2017) 74(5):575–82. doi: 10.1097/ QAI.000000000001283
- Tumino N, Turchi F, Meschi S, Lalle E, Bordoni V, Casetti R, et al. In HIVpositive Patients, Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Induce T-cell Anergy by Suppressing CD3zeta Expression Through ELF-1 Inhibition. *Aids* (2015) 29 (18):2397–407. doi: 10.1097/QAD.00000000000871
- Veglia F, Perego M, Gabrilovich D. Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Coming of Age. Nat Immunol (2018) 19(2):108–19. doi: 10.1038/s41590-017-0022-x
- Kumar V, Patel S, Tcyganov E, Gabrilovich DI. The Nature of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Trends Immunol* (2016) 37(3):208–20. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016.01.004
- Bruger AM, Dorhoi A, Esendagli G, Barczyk-Kahlert K, van der Bruggen P, Lipoldova M, et al. How to Measure the Immunosuppressive Activity of MDSC: Assays, Problems and Potential Solutions. *Cancer Immunol Immunother CII* (2019) 68(4):631–44. doi: 10.1007/s00262-018-2170-8
- Rodriguez PC, Quiceno DG. Ochoa AC. L-Arginine Availability Regulates Tlymphocyte Cell-Cycle Progression. *Blood* (2007) 109(4):1568–73. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-06-031856
- Yang Y, Li C, Liu T, Dai X, Bazhin AV. Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in Tumors: From Mechanisms to Antigen Specificity and Microenvironmental Regulation. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1371. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01371
- 27. Srikrishna G. S100A8 and S100A9: New Insights Into Their Roles in Malignancy. J Innate Immun (2012) 4(1):31-40. doi: 10.1159/000330095
- Tumino N, Besi F, Di Pace AL, Mariotti FR, Merli P, Li Pira G, et al. Pmn-MDSC are a New Target to Rescue Graft-Versus-Leukemia Activity of NK Cells in haplo-HSC Transplantation. *Leukemia* (2020) 34(3):932–7. doi: 10.1038/s41375-019-0585-7
- 29. Ingegnere T, Mariotti FR, Pelosi A, Quintarelli C, De Angelis B, Tumino N, et al. Human CAR Nk Cells: A New Non-viral Method Allowing High

Efficient Transfection and Strong Tumor Cell Killing. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:957. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00957

- Eden E, Navon R, Steinfeld I, Lipson D, Yakhini Z. Gorilla: A Tool for Discovery and Visualization of Enriched GO Terms in Ranked Gene Lists. BMC Bioinf (2009) 10:48. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-10-48
- Supek F, Bosnjak M, Skunca N, Smuc T. REVIGO Summarizes and Visualizes Long Lists of Gene Ontology Terms. *PloS One* (2011) 6(7):e21800. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0021800
- Keskin DB, Allan DS, Rybalov B, Andzelm MM, Stern JN, Kopcow HD, et al. Tgfbeta Promotes Conversion of CD16+ Peripheral Blood NK Cells Into CD16- NK Cells With Similarities to Decidual NK Cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2007) 104(9):3378–83. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0611098104
- Montaldo E, Vacca P, Chiossone L, Croxatto D, Loiacono F, Martini S, et al. Unique Eomes(+) Nk Cell Subsets Are Present in Uterus and Decidua During Early Pregnancy. Front Immunol (2015) 6:646. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00646
- 34. Bai M, Grieshaber-Bouyer R, Wang J, Schmider AB, Wilson ZS, Zeng L, et al. CD177 Modulates Human Neutrophil Migration Through Activation-Mediated Integrin and Chemoreceptor Regulation. *Blood* (2017) 130 (19):2092–100. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-03-768507
- 35. Hollen MK, Stortz JA, Darden D, Dirain ML, Nacionales DC, Hawkins RB, et al. Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell Function and Epigenetic Expression Evolves Over Time After Surgical Sepsis. *Crit Care* (2019) 23(1):355. doi: 10.1186/s13054-019-2628-x
- 36. Stroncek DF, Caruccio L, Bettinotti M. Cd177: A Member of the Ly-6 Gene Superfamily Involved With Neutrophil Proliferation and Polycythemia Vera. *J Trans Med* (2004) 2(1):8. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-2-8

- Mattiola I, Tomay F, De Pizzol M, Silva-Gomes R, Savino B, Gulic T, et al. The Macrophage Tetraspan MS4A4A Enhances Dectin-1-Dependent NK Cell-Mediated Resistance to Metastasis. *Nat Immunol* (2019) 20(8):1012–22. doi: 10.1038/s41590-019-0417-y
- Chiba S, Ikushima H, Ueki H, Yanai H, Kimura Y, Hangai S, et al. Recognition of Tumor Cells by Dectin-1 Orchestrates Innate Immune Cells for Anti-Tumor Responses. *eLife* (2014) 3:e04177. doi: 10.7554/eLife.04177
- Rosenberg SO, Fenselau C. Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells: Immune-Suppressive Cells That Impair Antitumor Immunity and are Sculpted by Their Environment. J Immunol (2018) 200:422–31. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1701019
- Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate: a pratical and powerful approach to multiple testing. J R Statist Soc (1995) 55(7):289–300. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1701019

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Pelosi, Besi, Tumino, Merli, Quatrini, Li Pira, Algeri, Moretta and Vacca. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Natural Killer Cell Interactions With Myeloid Derived Suppressor Cells in the Tumor Microenvironment and Implications for Cancer Immunotherapy

Cristina Zalfa and Silke Paust*

Department of Immunology and Microbiology, The Scripps Research Institute, La Jolla, CA, United States

The tumor microenvironment (TME) is a complex and heterogeneous environment composed of cancer cells, tumor stroma, a mixture of tissue-resident and infiltrating immune cells, secreted factors, and extracellular matrix proteins. Natural killer (NK) cells play a vital role in fighting tumors, but chronic stimulation and immunosuppression in the TME lead to NK cell exhaustion and limited antitumor functions. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) are a heterogeneous group of myeloid cells with potent immunosuppressive activity that gradually accumulate in tumor tissues. MDSCs interact with innate and adaptive immune cells and play a crucial role in negatively regulating the immune response to tumors. This review discusses MDSC-mediated NK cell regulation within the TME, focusing on critical cellular and molecular interactions. We review current strategies that target MDSC-mediated immunosuppression to enhance NK cell cytotoxic antitumor activity. We also speculate on how NK cell-based antitumor immunotherapy could be improved.

Keywords: natural killer cells, myeloid derived suppressor cells, tumor mircroenvironment, natural killer cell immunotherapy, cancer

INTRODUCTION

Tumorigenesis is a complex and dynamic process involving three stages: initiation, progression, and metastasis (1). Besides blood and lymphatic vessels, composed in part of vascular endothelial cells, the major constituents of the tumor microenvironment (TME) are a heterogeneous population of cancer cells, fibroblasts, immune and inflammatory infiltrated cells, and secreted protein elements of the extracellular matrix (ECM) (2). The functional and physical interactions of these tumor elements determine clinical outcomes. At the beginning of the nineteenth century, Virchow described cancer as originating from chronic unresolved inflammation (3). Many studies have demonstrated that cancer-associated inflammation plays a critical role in tumor formation, contributing to genomic instability and epigenetic modification, and regulating the creation of a protected TME to promote cancer proliferation and metastasis (4–6). Tumor-associated inflammatory cells are observed in human cancers from the earliest phases of carcinogenesis (7). The first line of defense, represented by natural killer (NK) cells and cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells, usually recognizes and kills malignant cells; however, a few immunogenic cancer cell variants can escape immune recognition (8).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yumeng Mao, Uppsala University, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Hung-Chang Chen, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom Viktor Umansky, German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Germany

> *Correspondence: Silke Paust

paust@scripps.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 24 November 2020 Accepted: 12 February 2021 Published: 05 May 2021

Citation:

Zalfa C and Paust S (2021) Natural Killer Cell Interactions With Myeloid Derived Suppressor Cells in the Tumor Microenvironment and Implications for Cancer Immunotherapy. Front. Immunol. 12:633205. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.633205

The TME orchestrates multiple mechanisms to impair the antitumor functions of immune cells. These mechanisms include destabilizing the innate cell compartment, composed of NK cells, macrophages, neutrophils, and dendritic cells (DCs), and suppressing adaptive immune cell (T and B)-mediated antitumor activity. The presence and recruitment of atypical innate and adaptative immune cells in the tumor site are thought to occur during both the early and later stages of tumor development (6, 9). Tumor immune surveillance also fails because immunosuppression and its associated chronic inflammation further destabilize tumor-fighting immune cells, defending rather than eradicating tumors (10). The TME supports the growth of cancer-associated fibroblasts, stromal cells, and endothelial cells, contributing to tumor-associated capillary and lymphatic vessels that support tumor growth (11). These mechanisms select potentially aggressive tumor clones early during tumor development (9).

This review will discuss the crosstalk between NK cells, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), regulatory T cells (Tregs), and the critical cellular and molecular mechanisms within the TME that impact tumor development, progression, and angiogenesis, as well as how current therapies target these immunosuppressive cells in the TME. We will also review different NK cell exhaustion mechanisms and novel approaches for enhancing NK cell therapeutic potential against tumors.

CYTOTOXIC T LYMPHOCYTES AND NK CELLS IN CANCER

One of the adaptive and innate immune systems' essential activities is to kill infected and tumor cells. Mounting epidemiological and experimental evidence points to a critical role for cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) and NK cell-mediated effector functions in host resistance to cancer. The collaboration between innate and adaptative effector cells can lead to tumor rejection (12, 13). CTL and NK cell activity has been linked to tumor immune surveillance and protection from cancer. Both cell types can form cytotoxic immunological synapses (14), which are specialized antigen-specific cell-cell junctions with a synaptic cleft to directly communicate and transduce highly controlled secretory signals between immune cells and their target cells (14). This mechanism, also present in NK cells, improves the efficiency of cytotoxic cell-mediated killing (15). Higher numbers of tumorinfiltrating CTL and/or NK cells are a favorable prognostic indicator for many cancer types (16, 17). T cell activation occurs when a clonal T cell receptor (TCR) is triggered by a tumor-derived antigen presented on class I human leukocyte antigen (HLA-I), in combination with co-receptor ligation and co-stimulation, leading to CTL activation, proliferation, cytokine and chemokine secretion, and tumor cell killing (18). Similar to CTL cells, NK cells are also cytotoxic lymphocytes and important tumor fighters.

NK cells do not express a TCR but instead have many activating receptors and also inhibitory receptors, which bind major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) (19, 20). MHC-I is often downregulated by infected and malignant cells

to avoid CTL killing. NK cells sense this "lack of inhibition" and are further activated by tumor cell-expressed stress ligands that ligate NK cell-expressed activating receptors (20–22). NK cells secrete cytokines, chemokines, pore-forming proteins (perforin), and cytotoxic mediators (granzymes) that trigger target cell apoptosis upon activation. A potent NK cell-activating receptor is NK group 2 member D (NKG2D), and NKG2D ligands are commonly upregulated on tumors (23).

Substantial evidence supports the conclusion that NK cells play a crucial role in eliminating tumors and tumor metastases (24). First, low cytotoxicity in peripheral blood (PB) NK cells correlates with a higher risk of developing cancer (25). Second, in many types of cancer, NK cells exhibit an altered phenotype and hypo-functionality (26, 27). Third, in mice, resistance to NK cell killing favors polyclonal metastasis (28). Several mechanisms contribute to NK cell exhaustion, including modulating adhesion and epithelial genes, decreasing the expression of NK cellactivating ligands (28), and the suppressive effects of regulatory immune cells and soluble factors within the TME (29).

NK ORIGIN, DEVELOPMENT, AND TISSUE DISTRIBUTION

NK cells are bone marrow (BM)-derived granular lymphocytes that lyse target cells rapidly and continuously upon activation (30). In the BM, NK cells develop from CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem cells through a common lymphoid progenitor (CLP) intermediate that can seed and develop further in lymphoid and non-lymphoid organs (31). NK cell maturation requires several cytokines, among which interleukin (IL)-15, released by BM stromal cells, is crucial for the differentiation of CLPs toward the NK cell lineage (32). NK cells are well-represented in the PB, spleen, and BM and are found in most organs, including the liver, lungs, skin, gut, lymph nodes, tonsils, uterus, thymus, kidney, pancreas, and adipose tissue. (33, 34). Their recruitment to different tissues depends on the expression of several chemokine receptors and is reviewed elsewhere (35, 36).

Human NK cells express the hematopoietic cell marker CD45, the glycoprotein CD56 and mature NK cells, and the cluster of differentiation molecule CD16 also known as Fc receptor FcyRIIIa, but they do not express any T or B cell receptors. NK cell maturation is generally assessed by the amount of NK cell-expressed CD56 and CD16 expression. Specifically, CD56^{dim} and CD56^{bright} subsets show profound differences in cytokine secretion, response to cytokines, and killing efficiency. CD56^{dim} CD16^{bright} NK cells in the PB are about 90% of the total NK cell population and include the alloreactive NK cells described as "mature" with a higher cytotoxic potential. The remaining 10% of NK cells are CD56^{bright} CD16^{dim} and reside in the lymphoid tissue; they are considered "immature or unlicensed." These NK cells are more sensitive to cytokine stimulation, which will activate the secretion of a variety of cytokines, including interferon-gamma (IFN-y), tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNFα), IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13 (37–39).

A sophisticated array of germline-encoded activating and inhibiting receptors regulates NK cell development and,

subsequently, their activation (40). Upon activation, NK cells employ several mechanisms of target cell killing and secrete chemokines and cytokines to interact with other immune cells (41, 42). NK cells are traditionally defined as innate immune response cells because they lack recombinase-dependent clonal antigen receptors (RAG) (43). Nonetheless, recent findings have revealed that NK cells display adaptive immunity features (44–47), including several developmental and functional characteristics of the adaptive immune system (43, 48–51). These similarities include vaccination or sensitization-dependent antigen-specific immunological memory (45, 46, 52–55). How NK memory impacts the tumor-specific NK cell response is currently unknown.

ANTITUMOR RESPONSES OF NK CELLS

Many studies have demonstrated that NK cells can kill tumor cells (56). NK cells survey their environment with a distinct receptor repertoire, including activating and inhibitory receptors, adhesion molecules, and cytokine and chemokine receptors (57). NK cells recognize the expression of HLA-I, also called MHC-I, on autologous cells. This interaction is generally inhibitory and prevents NK cells from attacking healthy host tissue. Specifically, HLA-I or MHC-I binds NK cell inhibitory receptors, including killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs) in humans, Ly49 in mice, and CD94/NKG2A (58, 59). In contrast to infected or malignant cells, healthy nucleated cells express robust levels of HLA-I/MHC-I molecules and escape NK cell immune attack. However, during malignant transformation or viral infection, the expression of MHC-I antigens on the cell surface can be downmodulated. This variation in the expression of MHC-I molecules on target cells (missing self) reduces the strength of inhibitory signals delivered to NK cells, thus promoting NK cell activation. NK cells survey tissues for low MHC-I molecule expression (60, 61) and for the expression of activating ligands, such as the NKG2D ligands (62, 63), and ligands for the natural cytotoxicity receptors NKp30 and NKp44 in humans and NKp46 in humans and mice (64).

NK cells also have the unique ability to exert antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) upon engagement of CD16 with the Fc portion of the antibodies (65). Activation through these receptors elicits rapid target cell killing by several mechanisms. NK cells form an immunological synapse with target cells and kill them rapidly by secretion of lytic granules that contain an arsenal of effector molecules (perforin, granzymes) and cytokines (IFN- γ , TNF- α) that induce cell death in targeted cells (66-68). Perforin and granzyme are proteins that play a significant role in cell-mediated cytotoxicity. These molecules are expressed in NK cells, and several cytokines regulate their level of expression in CTLs. The role of perforin, which is involved in T cell- and NK cell-mediated target cell lysis, was demonstrated in mice lacking perforin with respect to their capability to eradicate a syngeneic lymphoid tumor mammary adenocarcinoma (69). Smyth and coworkers demonstrated that mice with lymphoma and deficient in the pore-forming protein perforin [(pfp)deficient] showed an increased number of premalignant cells than their immunocompetent counterparts. In fact, pfpdeficient mice were 1,000-fold more susceptible to tumor (70), demonstrating that lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity plays an essential role in promoting host resistance to spontaneous tumor formation. NK cells also express several TNF superfamily proteins and death-inducing ligands, such as TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) and FAS ligand (FASL), which induce target cell apoptosis via binding to their corresponding receptors (TRAIL-R and FAS). Activated NK cells also produce growth factors, such as granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and chemokines (XCL1, CCL3, CCL4, and CCL5) l (26, 33, 71–73).

NK CELLS IN SOLID TUMORS

Genetic alterations in oncogenic pathways associated with an aberrant inflammatory milieu (74, 75), abnormal activations of transcription factors (nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells [NF-kB] and signal transducer and activator of transcription-3 [STAT3]) (76, 77), and hypoxia (78) may contribute to development and maintenance of the TME. The TME is responsible for tumor onset and progression by orchestrating cell growth, proliferation, malignancy, and immune escape processes. TME can impair and "polarize" the innate, adaptive, stromal, and endothelial cell compartments by several mechanisms (2, 79-82). Tumor cells, MDSCs, and tumor-associated cells, such as tumor-associated fibroblasts (TAFs) and endothelial cells (83), can contribute to tissue modifications of the ECM by matrix metalloproteases (MMPs) and fibroblast activation proteins and the release of soluble factors (basic fibroblast growth factor [FGF], platelet-derived growth factor, hepatocyte growth factor, insulin-like growth factor), chemokines (CCL2, SDF1a/CXCL12, CXCL8), and immunosuppressive cytokines, such as transforming growth factor beta (TGF-β), IL-10, and IL-6 (84, 85). Due to the adverse TME, immune cells lose their ability to reach, recognize, and target tumor cells (2, 79, 86, 87). The TME impairs immune cell homing to the lymphoid organs promoting tumor immune cell escape, invasiveness, and angiogenesis (88-90). Thus, chronic inflammation orchestrated by immunosuppressive mediators of the TME supports tumor progression by exhausting immune cells, such as NK cells (74, 78).

NK cells also express inhibitory receptors targeting non-MHC molecules on healthy cells. One of these inhibitory receptors expressed on NK cells is killer cell lectin-like receptor G1 (KLRG1), a well-conserved member of the C-type lectin receptor superfamily. KLRG1 is known for its role in NK cell maturation, development, and homeostasis (91). Recently, a new role for KLRG1 has emerged as an inhibitory receptor impacting NK cell function in tumor surveillance. Impairment in the migration and/or retention of NK cells in the BM has been observed in multiple myeloma (MM). BM localization of the more functional NK KLRG1⁻ subtypes is impaired in MM by altering the chemokine microenvironment (increasing chemokine [CXC] ligand 9 [CXCL9] and CXCL10 and reducing CXCL12 expression in BM) in a mouse tumor model of an early cancer growth

stage (88). This is due to significant dysregulation of the CXCR3 and CXCR4 chemokine receptor/ligand axes, influencing NK cell responses (88, 92). Using murine models of chronic NK cell stimulation, Alvarez and colleagues have identified a "phenotypic signature of NK cell exhaustion," characterized by upregulation of KLRG1 and downregulation of the activating receptor NKG2D (93). KLRG1 ligands, such as E- and N-cadherin, were upregulated in tumor specimens from patients with melanoma, breast, prostate, and colorectal cancer (94). The same authors showed that anti-KLRG1 antibody monotherapy in a 4T1 breast cancer mouse model enhanced tumor control compared to controls (94). Tata and colleagues also demonstrated that KLRG1-deficient mice had significantly fewer lung tissue tumors than wild-type controls (95).

Several studies have demonstrated the prognostic significance of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and their antitumor actions in cancer (16, 17, 96-99). It has recently become clear that CTL and NK cell cooperation are essential in many types of tumors (100-110). Using mouse models of mastocytoma (mice heterozygous for the H-2Ld/P1A35-43-specific TCR transgene: TCRP1A on the DBA/2, B10.D2; TCRP1A tg B10.D2[×DBA/2] F1; RAG-1°/°B10.D2), a study demonstrated that the frequency of cancer antigen-specific T cell precursors and the rate of antigen variants can contribute to the efficacy of adaptive T cell responses to cancer (107). Moreover, the efficiency of an effective antitumor antigen-specific T-cell response can depend on the complementary interaction between effector T cells and NK cells (107). Another study also demonstrated that the NK cell's antitumor effect requires interaction with specific activated tumor antigen-CD8⁺ T cells (12). However, further studies are necessary to clarify the mechanism of interaction between NK cells and specific effector T cells.

In clinical trials studying solid tumors, impaired NK cell function correlated with a poor prognosis in patients with advanced disease (111, 112). The TME plays a critical role in reducing NK cell persistence and trafficking in the tumor site by inhibiting NK cell activation, leading to tumor invasion and metastasis (26). Moreover, several studies showed anergic and hypo-functional NK cells (26, 27, 113–120), including tumor-associated NK cells in the PB and tumor-infiltrating NK cells within the tumor tissue. These CD56^{bright} CD16^{low/-} Perforin^{low} NK cells even exhibited pro-tumorigenic functions and pro-angiogenic activities (80, 121–124) and have been identified preferentially in many solid tumors (80, 87, 115–121, 123, 125–129). Some of these NK cells also downregulated their expression of NKG2D, impairing their antitumor functions further.

MDSCs AND TREGS IN CANCER

Development and Phenotypes of MDSCs

Common myeloid progenitors differentiate from hematopoietic stem cells in the BM. Later, they migrate to the peripheral lymphoid organs and differentiate into myeloid cells. This pathway involves granulocyte-macrophage progenitor and various myeloblast intermediate precursors, including common monocyte progenitors (130) (**Figure 1**). Immunological

stress, as well as cancer, prolonged inflammation, trauma, and autoimmune disorders, can impair the differentiation of these immature myeloid cells (131). Tumor-associated myeloid cells are mainly represented by tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) and MDSCs, which are one of the crucial players within the TME (Figure 1). The TME often subverts immunosurveillance by generating MDSCs with strong immunosuppressive activity and functional plasticity (130). MDSCs are a heterogeneous population of myeloid-derived cells represented by myeloid progenitors, immature granulocytes, DCs, and macrophages. Therefore, the characteristics that separate MDSCs from other myeloid cells are still under investigation. It is widely accepted that MDSCs are divided into two main subsets: granulocytic or polymorphonuclear (PMN)-MDSCs and monocytic (M)-MDSCs, cells showing a phenotype and morphology similar to neutrophils and macrophages, respectively (132-136) (Figure 1). However, MDSC subtypes can be distinguished from neutrophils and TAMs that are present in the TME (137, 138). Studies have shown additional mechanisms to describe the evolution and roles of these polarized neutrophils in the TME, and some evidence supports the idea that these cells are similar to MDSCs and could be described as PMN-MDSCs (139-141), which represent the most prevalent cells in several types of tumors (142, 143). MDSCs with granulocyte and monocyte hallmarks have genomic profiles, biochemistry, and in vitro properties that differ from neutrophils, monocytes, and DCs (144). Recently, whole-transcriptomic and proteomic analyses (134, 145-147) provided specific gene expression patterns for the characterization of these different cell types. Cell-surface markers have been identified to distinguish MDSCspecific phenotypes from TAMs, tumor-associated neutrophils, and neutrophils. M-MDSCs can be separated from TAMs by their differential expression of F4/80, M-CSF and CD115^{high}, Ly6C^{lowtointermediate}, IRF8^{low}, and S100A9^{verylow} (148). In contrast, PMN-MDSCs are CD11b+Ly6G+Ly6C^{loLOX-1} in mice and CD11b⁺CD14⁻CD15⁺ or CD11b⁺ CD14⁻CD66b in humans, while M-MDSCs are CD11b+Ly6G-Ly6Chi in mice and CD11b⁺CD14⁺HLA-DR^{-/lo}CD15⁻ in humans (Figure 1). A low percentage of MDCSs (around 3%) consists of a mixture of more immature progenitors and precursors with myeloidcolony-forming activity termed "early-stage MDSCs" (e-MDSC) and are described as Lin⁻HLA-DR⁻CD33⁺ (132, 144). These and other novel marker combinations are currently under further investigation (133, 134, 149).

The number of MDSCs is associated with the clinical cancer stage and metastatic disease (150). Thus, MDSCs could be a potential biomarker of disease in several types of cancer. For example, the frequencies of MDSCs change during tumor progression in glioma (151) and cervical cancer (152). The frequency of peripheral PMN-MDSCs has been correlated with cancer prognosis, while the percentage of M-MDSCs has been shown to be higher in patients with advanced cervical cancer (152). Moreover, PMN-MDSCs' rate is negatively correlated with CD8⁺ T cells' rate (151, 152). MDSCs have been reported as prognostic markers in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (153); breast and colorectal cancer (154); gastric, esophageal, and pancreatic cancer (155); and melanoma (156). Therefore, MDSCs


FIGURE 1 Pathological myelopoiesis in cancer. Under physiological conditions and chronic inflammation, hematopoietic progenitor cells (HPCs) differentiate via common myeloid progenitor cells (CMPs) into monocytic/dendritic progenitor cells (MDPs). Myelopoiesis is altered under pathological conditions, such as in a tumor. Tumor-immunosuppressive factors produced in the TME alter myelopoiesis, leading to aberrant differentiation and accumulation of myeloid lineage cells. The black lines show the normal pathways of myeloid cell differentiation from immature myeloid precursor cells to dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages (MΦ), and granulocytes, as depicted. The red lines indicate the aberrant pathways of myeloid cell differentiation that arise in cancer, in which the TME promotes the development of immunosuppressive populations, including monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells (M-MDSCs), polymorphonuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cells (PMN-MDSCs), inflammatory DCs, and tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs). The MDSC mouse and human phenotypes are shown in the left square on the bottom. BM, bone marrow; sTNF, soluble tumor necrosis factors. Created with BioRender.com.

can also be used as a predictive marker for immunotherapy. Additionally, a diminished number of MDSCs helped to eradicate metastatic disease after the removal of primary tumors in a mammary carcinoma model (157).

Recruitment and Expansion of MDSCs in Tumors

While absent in normal physiological conditions (144), MDSCs can be detected in the BM, blood, spleen, tumor, and lymph nodes in pathological conditions (**Figure 1**). MDSCs have been shown to increase significantly in early- and late-stage cancer in preclinical animal models and human tumors (6, 145, 151). Upon their recruitment, MDSCs gradually expand in the TME and support the development of an immunosuppressive tumor environment by interacting with several components of the innate and adaptive immune systems (158, 159) and by stimulation of neo-angiogenesis (160, 161). Vetsika et al. described all phases of this process (162); here, we will

summarize. The network of transcriptional regulators that directs MDSC development can be combined into two partially overlapping groups: (i) factors promoting myelopoiesis and avoiding differentiation of mature myeloid cells and (ii) factors contributing to pathologic activation of MDSCs. In different types of mouse and human cancers (132, 144, 163-166), MDSCs are gradually recruited and increase in the TME. They support tumor progression through non-immune activities by stimulating pre-metastatic niche formation, invasion (167, 168), and inducing pro-tumor angiogenesis (169). Some authors have proposed a "two-signal model" for describing how MDSCs can acquire the modifications guiding their pathological activation, immunosuppressive activity, and expansion in the TME under tumor pathologic signals (170, 171). Myeloid cells exposed to pathological conditions (autoimmunity, cancer, trauma, graft vs. host disease, and infections) can be activated in response to damage-associated molecular pattern molecules, pathogenassociated molecular pattern molecules, or pro-inflammatory

cytokines (144). Because patient blood has been observed to have increased tumor-released macro- and micro-vehicles during tumor progression, tumor niches could potentially gather MDSCs from the BM by releasing exosomes. Their contents have been demonstrated to reprogram target cells in different types of cancer, increase the mobility of the progenitor myeloid population to the tumor site, and increase tumor immunosuppression (162).

MDSCs migrate in response to several chemo-attractant molecules released from cells in the TME using two main pathways: PMN-MDSC migration includes the secretion of CXCL1, CXCL5, CXCL6, CXCL8, and CXCL12, and M-MDSCs respond to CCL2, CCL5, and CSF1 (172) (Figure 1). The TME can guide the differentiation of incoming MDSCs in several different directions. The commitment of myeloid progenitor and precursor cells into MDSCs can be triggered by immunosuppressive cytokines released in the TME, such as soluble tumor necrosis factors (sTNF), IL-1β, IL-6, IL10, TGF-B, and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (173, 174) (Figure 1). MDSC phenotypes develop under conditions of acute or chronic inflammation, stress and hypoxia, high concentrations of oxidative molecules, and reduced nutrients (172, 175) (Figure 1). Hypoxia, specifically hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha (HIF-1 α), appears to be one of the most critical stresses (35, 56) and was shown to be essential in M2-type TAM generation from Ly6C^{hi} monocytes inside a tumor (176). During hypoxia, immunomodulatory proteins and chemokines also mediate the differentiation of TAMs or M2 macrophages (177) from M-MDSCs or/and guide later events in tumor progression (177, 178).

Because M-MDSCs have a longer lifespan (179), their differentiation has been studied more extensively than that of PMN-MDSCs. TAMs can be derived from tissue-resident macrophages proliferating in situ in pancreatic and mammary tumors (180, 181). Several studies have shown the ability of M-MDSCs to differentiate into TAMs after migrating from the spleen to a tumor (178, 180, 182, 183), and TAMs can be "regenerated" by the arrival of new M-MDSCs from other organs during tumor progression (184-186) (Figure 1). MDSCs can also differentiate into DCs and fibrocytes during cancer progression (187). Moreover, Ly6C^{hi}, Ly6CX3CR1, and Ly6C⁺CCR2⁺ monocytes can differentiate into TAM subsets (Figure 1) in mammary adenocarcinoma, lung adenocarcinoma, and lung carcinoma models (188, 189). In the chronic inflammation present in tumor tissues, IL-18 can support the function of TGF-\u03b31 that is produced and activated by M2-polarized TAMs (190, 191). IL-18 promotes the differentiation of CD11b⁻ BM progenitor cells into M-MDSCs and increases their suppressive functions, including arginase expression (ARG1) and NO secretion (192). MDSCs induced by IL-18 can inhibit CD4⁺ T cell proliferation and IFN-y production (192), contributing to the negative regulation of immune responses in tumors through immunosuppressive functions.

Treg Origin and Development in the TME

CD4⁺CD25⁺ Tregs are a subpopulation of suppressor T cells that mediate immune homeostasis, maintain peripheral tolerance,

and prevent immune and auto-immune disease by suppressing autoreactive T cells (193). These cells regulate immune responses in the context of immunity and infections differently (194, 195). In cancers, Tregs are linked to the development of an immunosuppressive TME, promoting immune evasion and cancer progression and preventing antitumor immunity (196-198). Tregs represent about 1-3% of CD4⁺ T cells in human tumors and about 10% in rodents. These cells express cell surface molecules associated with activated/memory T cells, CD25, FoxP3, CD45RBlow, CD62L, CD103, cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associated protein 4 (CTLA-4), and glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor (199). An increase in Tregs prevalence has been shown in several tumor malignances (7), and they are recruited and expand within the TME via several mechanisms (200). We will summarize these stages in the following steps. Tregs are recruited into tumors in response to chemokines secreted by tumor cells and innate immune cells. Tregs then expand and proliferate in response to tumor-derived factors (TGF-\u03b3, adenosine, VEGF, and IL-10) within the TME. TGF- β and adenosine, released from cancer cells and also MDSCs, seem to play a key role in generating suppressive CD25⁺ FoxP3⁺ Tregs from non-suppressive CD25⁻ FoxP3⁻ conventional Tregs. The recruitment of Tregs occurs at early tumor stages, as demonstrated by their presence in premalignant lesions, and their prevalence increases with pancreatic and breast tumor progression and worsening clinical outcomes (114, 201–203). Moreover, it has been shown that the depletion of Tregs cells in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma slows tumor growth and prolongs survival (204-207).

Crosstalk Between MDSCs and Tregs

MDSC expansion in PB is directly correlated with poor clinical outcomes (208-210). MDSCs can support the conversion of naive CD4⁺ T cells into Tregs by secreting retinoic acid and TGF- β (Figure 2), promoting the trans-differentiation of Th17 cells into Foxp3⁺ Tregs (211). Moreover, MDSCs can also induce Tregs immunosuppressive functions by mediating the release of IL-10 and IFN- γ (162). Tumor-infiltrating M-MDSCs express high levels of C-C chemokine receptor type 5 (CCR5) ligands and recruit high numbers of Tregs into the TME (212), establishing an additional cooperative network between MDSCs and Tregs (24, 35). Therefore, Tregs are accumulated in the TME and produce VEGF, which promotes angiogenesis (161, 213). By using light-sheet fluorescent microscopy, Siret and colleagues demonstrated direct interactions between MDSCs and Tregs in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (214), and in vivo depletion of MDSCs significantly reduced the Tregs population in pancreatic tumors (215). Furthermore, video-microscopy and ex vivo functional assays have demonstrated that MDSCs can induce Treg cells by cell-cell-dependent contact at different stages of human cancer, and Tregs can also affect the survival and/or the proliferation of MDSCs (214). The molecular mechanisms guiding MDSC/Tregs interplay are not fully understood. The role of co-stimulatory molecules, protein membranes, and receptor candidates, respectively, such as PD-L1 (216), CD80 (217), and CD40 (218), is currently under investigation. Together, Tregs and MDSCs contribute to establishing an immunosuppressive TME in multiple solid neoplasms (114, 201, 202, 214).



The The cartoon shows the immunosuppressive activity of MDSCs and regulatory T cells (Tregs) on NK cells using different pathways. MDSCs impair NK cell activation, cytotoxicity, survival, and maturation by several secreted factors, including transforming growth factor beta (TGF-β), indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), nitrogen oxide (NO), reactive oxygen species (ROS), and prostaglandin-E2 (PGE2). MDSCs contribute to tumor angiogenesis by releasing pro-angiogenic factors, such as adenosine and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), under pathological conditions. Created with BioRender.com.

CYTOKINES AND OTHER MEDIATORS IN MDSC-MEDIATED NK CELL REGULATION

In addition to cell-intrinsic defects caused by chronic stimulation (219), an immunosuppressive TME represses CTL and NK killing (29, 220) via the recruitment of other cells types, such as MDSCs, M2 macrophages (221), and Tregs (222), which contribute to immune exhaustion via the expression of inhibitory ligands, suppressive cytokines, and tumor-promoting factors (221, 223). MDSCs display potent immunosuppressive activity and play a critical role in regulating tumors and metastasis development (144). MDSCs can impair CD8⁺ CTLs and NK cells directly by influencing the pro-tumor TME (224). Their contribution to regulating T lymphocytes is well-described, while their interactions with other immune cells, such as NK cells, DCs, or macrophages, in the TME are less understood (158). The suppressive effects of MDSCs are mediated through cell-cell contact, as well as the secretion of soluble factors, and result

in antigen-specific or antigen-non-specific suppression of T-cell responses (225). The presence of MDSCs in tumors is associated with chronic inflammation and antigen-specific tolerance by T cells (226). MDSCs can also regulate the innate immune response by inhibiting NK cell functions (227–230) and/or by modulating macrophages' cytokine production (159, 225). The immunosuppressive activity of MDSCs plays an essential role in the regulation of the NK cell response to the tumor. *In vitro* co-culture of MDSCs and NK cells showed a reduction in NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity and higher tumor cell tolerance. MDSCs inhibit antitumor responses in part through immune checkpoint inhibition (ICI), including programmed death (PD)-1/PD-L1, galectin-9/T-cell immunoglobulin domain and mucin domain 3, and CTLA-4/B7 interactions (231).

STAT3 regulates NK cell biology at several levels, including activation, cytokine/cytolytic-mediated functions, and interactions with other immune system components (232). Many growth factors and cytokine receptors signal through STAT family transcription factors. STATs are impaired in several types of cancer and play a crucial role in innate and adaptive immunity (225, 233-235). In particular, STAT3 regulates several pathways involved in NK cell development, cytotoxic activities, and killing (232). Similarly, several cytokines, transcription factors/regulators, and signaling pathways are involved in the expansion and differentiation of MDSCs. These include interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF8), CCAAT-enhancer-binding protein, and retinoblastoma protein; signaling pathways STAT3, STAT1, STAT6, Notch, NF-κB, and cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2); and endoplasmic reticulum. Stress pathways are involved in MDSCs' expansion (170) (Figure 2) and include STAT3 activation in e-MDSC subtypes, which is critical for NF-KB activation and increasing indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), the release of which inhibits NK cell activation, proliferation, and effector functions (236). The molecular mechanisms regulating PMN-MDSC and M-MDSC populations differ from the aforedescribed pathways and are currently under investigation. Danvatirsen, a STAT3 antisense oligonucleotide, reversed the immunosuppressive TME and enhanced immune activity, as well as checkpoint blockades, in patient tumor samples from two phase I clinical trials and murine models (237).

Tumor-derived IL-1 β release into the TME has been shown to enhance the recruitment of specific MDSCs during chronic inflammation (173). The augmented suppressive potential of IL-1 β -induced MDSCs in mice was due to the activity of a novel subset of MDSCs lacking Ly6C expression (173). When these cells are prevalent under inflammatory conditions, they can impair NK cell development and function *in vitro* and *in vivo* by reducing the expression of the NK cell activating receptor NKG2D (173). Ly6C⁻ MDSCs may be a valuable therapeutic target.

Tumor-derived prostaglandin-E2 (PGE2) may also play a crucial pro-tumor role in inducing MDSCs, mainly via COX-2 (238) (Figure 2). Monocytes exposed to PGE2 acquire MDSClike functions, gaining the ability to inhibit NK cells via TGF- β (239, 240). High levels of TGF- β in the plasma were observed in patients with advanced tumors and correlated with worse outcomes (241, 242). TGF- β is released from cancer cells and can increase the expansion of M-MDSCs (243), recruit suppressive cells to the TME (MDSCs, Tregs, DCs, and stromal cells), and compromise the function of NK cells (230, 244-246), cytotoxic CD8⁺ cells, DCs, Tregs, and macrophages (247). NK cells exposed to MDSCs secrete less IFN-y and downregulate NKG2D and CD247 in vitro and in vivo (229, 230, 248, 249). TGF- β not only impairs NK cell functions by downregulating the expression of activating receptors (NKG2D and NKp30) and inhibiting their transcription but also downregulates tumor cell-expressed NKG2D ligands (250). Thereby, NK cells lose their capacity to recognize and kill tumor cells via NKG2D (250). Furthermore, TGF- β inhibits CD16-mediated IFN- γ production and ADCC in human NK cells through mothers against decapentaplegic homolog 3 (SMAD3) activation (251) and affects CD34⁺ hematopoietic progenitors by inhibiting the maturation of CD56^{bright}CD16⁺ NK cells fraction in the PB (246). The incubation of PB-NK cells with stromal cells, isolated from decidual tissue conditioned media, mimicked

the suppressive effects of TGF-B1. NK cell interactions with CXC chemokine ligands and progesterone at the maternalfetal interface after TGF- β 1 exposure resulted in the reduction of CD56^{bright}CD16⁺ NK cells and induced decidual-like NK cells that showed an exhausted phenotype (246). As such, STAT3 blockade and TGF-β inhibition improve tumor immune surveillance by NK cells (252). Specifically, tumor-infiltrating and tumor-associated NK cells from STAT3-deficient tumorbearing mice express enhanced levels of NKG2D, CD69, FASL, granzyme B, perforin, and IFN-y, reducing tumor growth and improving survival (252, 253). TGF-B signaling is deregulated in many diseases, including cancer. In early-stage tumor cells, this pathway has tumor-suppressor functions, including cellcycle arrest and apoptosis (254). TGF-β signaling in late-stage cancer can promote tumorigenesis, angiogenesis, metastasis, and immunosuppression (254–256). MDSCs release TGF- β in the TME (144, 163, 175), and NK cell anergy (Figure 2) correlates with the marked increase of MDSCs in the liver and spleen in orthotropic liver cancer-bearing mice (230). Also, MDSCs prevent cytotoxicity, NKG2D expression, and IFN-y production by NK cells (Figure 2) in vitro and in vivo through membranebound TGF- β (230).

IDO is an intracellular enzyme, and it regulates tryptophan catabolism into kynurenine (257, 258), which inhibits the proliferation and function of NK and T cells (259–261). IDO synthesized by MDSCs impairs NK cell activation, development, and expansion, resulting in dramatically decreased expression of NKG2D and DNAM-1 and limiting IFN- γ secretion (262, 263) (**Figure 2**).

ARG1 and reactive oxygen species (ROS), soluble factors secreted by MDSCs, also impair NK cell functions (Figure 2) in cancer models in vivo (248, 264). Moreover, several pro-inflammatory cytokines have been identified to mediate MDSC/NK crosstalk in the TME (264). These phenotypic and functional TME alterations due to MDSC/NK cell and/or T cell interactions contribute to pro-tumor, pro-angiogenic, and pre-metastatic activities in the tumor. Further studies are necessary to elucidate the mechanisms involved in MDSC/NK cell interactions to identify potential therapeutic candidates or pathways to limit NK cell MDSC-mediated suppression in the TME. MDSCs secrete high levels of soluble factors, such as ROS, inducible nitrogen-oxygen synthase (iNOS), nitrogen oxide (NO), peroxynitrate, and ARG1 (144), and show an elevated endoplasmic reticulum stress response (132, 265) (Figure 2).

NO is a ubiquitous, water-soluble, gaseous transmitter, which plays an essential role in various physiological conditions, inflammation, and cancer (266, 267). NO can play different roles in regulating immunity depending on the exact circumstances of its secretion. The autocrine production of NO by NK cells can improve NK cell function, but when MDSCs produce NO, it plays a vital role in mediating immunosuppression (266, 267). Co-cultures of autologous NK cells and MDSCs from patients with cancer showed that MDSCs suppress FcR-mediated function and signal transduction, leading to reduced responses to monoclonal antibody (mAb) therapies, and inhibit the secretion of IFN- γ and TNF- α by NK cells. Elimination of MDSCs or abrogation of NO production can improve responses to mAb immunotherapy (228).

MDSCs also support tumor progression by inducing tumor angiogenesis through the release of VEGF, basic FGF (bFGF), prokineticin 2 (Bv8), and some MMPs (169, 172, 268-270) (Figure 2). Some studies showed that MDSCs in the TME produce high levels of MMPs, including MMP2, MMP8, MMP9, MMP13, and MMP14 (167, 268, 271, 272). MDSCs in the presence of high levels of MMP9 can promote VEGF function by raising its bioavailability (273). VEGF stimulates MDSCs via STAT3 in the TME and potentiates their immunosuppressive activity by expanding other immune cell populations (213, 274, 275) and stimulating the secretion of numerous additional angiogenic factors and chemokines, which further enhance MDSCs accumulation within tumors. IL-1β, C-C motif chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2), CXCL8, CXCL2, angiopoietin 1 and 2 (AGPTs), and GM-CSF (Figure 2) have been shown to contribute to MDSC-mediated angiogenesis and involve STAT3 for their expression (80, 276-278).

The major components of the TME are the endothelial cells of the blood and lymphatic vessels, fibroblasts, immune cells, and the ECM (2). During tumor development and progression, cancer and stromal cells often have restricted access to nutrients and oxygen. Most solid tumors have hypoxic regions due to abnormal vascularization and inadequate blood supply (279). The changes to cancer and stromal cells that are necessary for tumor progression in a hypoxic environment are attributed to HIF-dependent signaling. The HIF family of transcription factors includes HIF-1, HIF-2, and HIF-3. Signaling by HIF-1 and HIF-2 induces the expression of multiple pro-angiogenic factors (VEGF, angiopoietin-2 [ANG-2], phosphatidylinositolglycan biosynthesis class F protein [PlGF], bFGF, and semaphorin 4D), and angiogenesis was promoted in MDSCs by HIF-1 through VEGF and S100 calcium-binding protein A8 (S100A8) (280).

The TME has high levels of adenosine during hypoxia and inflammation. Adenosine/adenosine receptor interactions increase immunosuppression and angiogenesis through immune cells (281, 282). MDSCs express increased levels of CD39 and CD73 under hypoxic conditions or TGF- β stimulation (283, 284). These enzymes can convert adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and adenosine monophosphate (AMP) to adenosine, resulting in increased adenosine levels in tumor lesions (**Figure 2**). Adenosine accumulation impairs IL-2 and Ly49D activation, NKp46-receptor crosslinking, and maturation in NK cells (285). It has also been shown that adenosine signaling is involved in reducing the engagement of A2A adenosine receptor (A2AR) as a checkpoint in NK cell maturation (286).

Tregs interact with different components of the TME (287) and exert their suppressive function via contact-dependent and -independent mechanisms, which have been previously reviewed (288, 289). NK cell–Treg crosstalk in the human tumor has not been studied extensively (290). However, it has been shown that peripheral Tregs isolated from healthy donors and patients with gastrointestinal stromal tumors impaired NK cells by downregulating the expression of NKG2D activated receptors and also inhibited NK cell functions via membrane-bound TGF- β

(291) (Figure 2). A similar effect was observed *in vitro* with cervical carcinomas (292).

Through these mechanisms, MDSCs and Tregs inhibit CTL and NK cell activity, promote tumor progression, and hinder antitumor immunity (169, 172, 287, 293–296). Therefore, it is not surprising that high MDSC infiltration of tumors correlates with poor patient prognosis and resistance to immunotherapy and chemotherapy (150, 175, 297–300). MDSC and Treg numbers also positively correlate with disease stage and tumor burden (114, 132, 144, 163–166, 201–203) and are predictors of poor outcome in patients with solid tumors (301–304). Both MDSCs and Tregs increase suppressive activity via signaling pathways, and their interactions in tumors have recently been reviewed (287, 305). Consistent with these findings, pharmacological targeting of MDSCs and Tregs in animal models and cancer patients significantly improves antitumor immunity, enabling tumor control (306, 307).

TARGETING MDSCs AND THEIR LIGANDS-CROSSTALK WITH NK CELLS

The complexity of the TME impairs immune cell functions and affects their phenotype. Several strategies have been developed, investigated, and applied in clinical trials to target MDSC immunosuppression and enhance NK cells' cytotoxic activity in the TME.

Studies have indicated that the types of mediators responsible for the differentiation, inhibition, and recruitment of MDSCs into the tumor were dependent on the different MDSCs subsets and tumor models (175). Targeting MDSCs is an approach designed to limit their immunosuppression within the TME and reduce neo-angiogenesis. Many therapies are focused on blocking intratumoral recruitment and expansion of MDSCs (**Figure 3**). Other approaches are dedicated to increasing MDSC differentiation or inhibiting their immunosuppression activity (264) (**Figure 3**). MDSCs are robust immunosuppressors in the TME and are an impediment for many cancer immune therapies (161).

Low doses of chemotherapy induce MDSC exhaustion (308, 309). Chemotherapy drugs such as gemcitabine (310), 5-Fluorouracil (311), and doxorubicin (312) reduce MDSC frequency, which enhances NK-mediated antitumor cytotoxicity (313-315). Phenformin and metformin, two antidiabetic drugs, impair MDSC functions mainly by blocking 5' AMPactivated protein kinase (AMPK). These drugs also upregulate the expression of MHC class I polypeptide-related sequence A (MICA) and heat shock protein 70 (HSP70) on cancer cells through the phosphatidylinositide 3-kinase/protein kinase B pathway leading to NK cell activation (316). In addition to chemotherapy and radiotherapy, many studies have combined MDSC targeting methods with immune-based therapies to increase the antitumor effects (317). Encouraging progress has been made combining MDSC targeting with immunotherapy strategies.

Blocking TGF- β pathways is a promising strategy in some preclinical and clinical trials. Some of the approaches currently



including immunotherapy, and may improve antitumor response efficacy. ICIs, immune checkpoint molecules. Created with BioRender.com.

under investigation in preclinical models and clinical trials consist of decreasing circulating TGF- β , blocking ligand-receptor interactions using neutralizing antibodies, and inhibiting TGF- β signaling pathways (NCT00356460 and

NCT01722825) (318–323). Blocking TGF- β is a viable strategy to prevent myeloid precursors from differentiating into M-MDSCs and impair the migration and expansion of MDSCs and Tregs in the TME (**Figure 3**). Alternatively, manipulating

NK cells to block TGF-β signaling pathways is an attractive and promising strategy for solid tumors. In SMAD3-silenced NK cells (NK-92-S3KD), TGFβ1-mediated immunosuppression was blocked, inhibiting cancer progression in mouse models with human hepatoma and melanoma (324). Similarly, NK-92 cells genetically modified to express a chimeric TGF-β type II receptor (extracellular and transmembrane domains) and the intracellular domain of NK cell-activating receptor NKG2D were resistant to TGF-β-induced suppressive signaling and did not downmodulate expression of NKG2D (325). The same authors demonstrated that NK-92-TN cells inhibited the differentiation of human naïve CD4⁺ T cells to Tregs and decreased tumor volumes *in vivo* in a hepatocellular carcinoma xenograft cancer model (325).

A recent study demonstrated that NK cell sensitivity to TGF- β can be reduced by stimulation of NK cells with IL-2 (**Figure 3**), which increases IFN- γ and TNF- α production by NK cells in the tumor, compared to NK cells that encountered acute TGF- β exposure or were not TGF- β imprinted (326). A new approach to overcoming tumor resistance mechanisms to ICIs has been tested by combining TGF- β , CXCR1/2 signaling, and PD-L1 (327). This simultaneous inhibition reduced mesenchymal tumor features and infiltration of suppressive PMN-MDSCs into the TME, improving antitumor activity by promoting immune cell infiltration and activation in tumors (327).

Cytotoxic agents and tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) deplete MDSCs and regulate myelopoiesis (264). TKIs, such as axitinib, sorafenib, and sunitinib, induce DNA damage by histone y-H2AX phosphorylation and checkpoint kinase 1 activation, leading to senescence of human renal carcinoma cells (328). The presence of DNA damage in cancer cells also improved the identification of tumor cells by NK cells (328). TKIs can directly target VEGF and/or involve c-KIT signaling and interact with other factors, such as CSF or STAT3. These mechanisms impaired MDSC function and inhibited tumor angiogenesis (329, 330). These processes upregulate NKG2DLs and, consequently, stimulate NK cell antitumor cytotoxicity (329, 330). Several in vivo studies combined TKI and ICI therapies; the combination therapy improved antitumor mechanisms and simultaneously reduced immune cell exhaustion (330 - 333).

STATs are activated in tumor cells by multiple soluble factors. This activation causes impaired cytolytic functions mediated by perforin and granzyme B in NK cells and alters the expression of NK cell receptors NKG2D and DNAX accessory molecule-1 (DNAM-1) (232). STAT3 activation in tumor cells also represses the expression of NK cell-chemotactic factors, which reduce the migration of NK cells in the TME. TGF- β and IDO produced by tumor cells and MDSCs impair NK cell development, proliferation, and activation (232), leading to reduced NK-mediated cytotoxicity. Exhausted NK cells and T cells have a diminished secretion of IFN- γ (334). MDSCs secrete type I interferons to maintain a high level of PD-L1 expression and preserve their immunosuppressive activity in the TME as a compensatory mechanism (335); therefore, the autocrine IFNα/IFNβ-pSTAT1-PD-L1 circuit represents a pivotal pathway to targeted MDSCs (335).

STAT3 also increases the expression of PD-L1, which engages PD-1 expressed on NK cells, reducing their antitumor response (232). Janus kinase (JAK)/STAT3 inhibitors decrease MDSC trafficking in the TME, diminishing angiogenesis by inhibiting VEGFA and casein kinase 2 (336) and driving NK cell activation (336, 337). Targeting STAT3 in tumor-bearing mice leads to tumor reduction, better survival, and a significantly higher number of activated NK cells following treatment, as compared to control mice (252, 253).

Other approaches using STAT3 inhibitors combined with ICIs, such as nivolumab (NCT03647839), STAT3 small interfering RNA (siRNA), or decoy STAT3 oligonucleotide inhibitors alone or combined with ICIs (AZD9190), are in phase I/II clinical trials (NCT03421353). STAT3 siRNAs coupled to CpG oligonucleotides reduced the immunosuppression of tolllike receptor 9 (TLR9)-expressing PMN-MDSCs in preclinical data (338). Mouse and human PMN-MDSCs overexpress fatty acid transporter protein 2 (FATP2) due to stimulation by GM-CSF through activation of the STAT5 transcription factor (339). FATP2 inhibitors alone, or in combination with ICIs, delayed tumor progression in tumor-bearing mice (339). CSF-1R inhibitors, combined with anti-PD-1, improved the immune response in a mouse model of neuroblastoma (340).

MDSC immune functions are also impaired using class I deacetylase, entinostat, or ARG1 small-molecule inhibitors by decreasing iNOS and COX-2 levels (341). Some of these treatments enhanced NK killing and blocked MDSC-mediated suppression of T cells *in vitro* and *in vivo* in tumor models (342–344). One study showed that an ARG1 small peptide inhibitor combined with anti-PD-L1 slowed tumor growth (345). ARG1 inhibitors (such as CB-1158) showed encouraging preclinical results (346), increasing tumor-infiltrating NK cells and CD8⁺ T cells (345, 347), reducing tumor burden (348, 349), and decreasing MDSCs recruitment into the TME (345).

Conventionally, phosphodiesterase-5 (PDE5) inhibitors (sildenafil and tadalafil) are used as therapies for non-malignant conditions (350). Recent evidence suggests that PDE5 inhibitors could improve antitumor cell responses by inhibiting the suppressive functions of MDSCs in the TME (306, 351, 352). Preclinical and clinical data show that the PDE5 inhibitor tadalafil enhanced the immune response in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) patients through inhibition of MDSCs (NCT01697800) (352). However, another PDE5 inhibitor, Sildenafil, reduced PMN-MDSC function through downregulation of ARG1, IL4Ra, and ROS expression (248). PDE5 inhibitors also enabled NK cell antitumor cytotoxicity and reduced postoperative disease recurrence. These studies have also shown Treg reduction and enhanced CD4/CD8 T cell function in the TME (248, 306, 352). Phase I/II Clinical Trial NCT02544880 used tadalafil as a therapy for decreasing MDSCs and Tregs, improving the antitumor response. The treatment might also enhance antitumor mucin 1 (MUC1) vaccine efficacy in patients with resectable and recurrent HNSCC by promoting a permissive environment (NCT02544880).

All-trans retinoic acid (ATRA) and vitamin A metabolites (retinol) have been used to treat acute myelogenous leukemia (353–355). Several studies reported that ATRA inhibited cell

migration, metastasis, and proliferation, and promoted apoptosis of tumor cells (356-358). ATRA alone (359-361) or in combination with a DC vaccine against p53 (360) or IL-2 administration (361) showed lower MDSC frequencies and enhanced differentiation of MDSCs (359-361) into mature DCs, macrophages, and neutrophils (362). ATRA decreased the expression of immunosuppressive genes through the downregulation of TGF-B, PD-L1, IL-10, and IDO in MDSCs and upregulated MHC class I homologs MICA and MICB on tumor cells, enhancing NK cell activity (363, 364) and cytotoxicity of T cells (365) in the CD8⁻ and CD4⁻ immune response (362). In clinical studies, ATRA alone or combined with ipilimumab significantly reduced the level of circulating MDSCs in advancedstage melanoma patients (366). In a preclinical breast cancer model, ATRA therapy improved the efficacy of anti-angiogenic treatments (367).

VEGF is produced by tumor cells in the TME and supports neo-angiogenesis, metastasis dissemination, and also acts as a chemoattractant for MDSCs in the tumor site (302, 368, 369). This has been shown in both NSCLC and renal cell carcinoma patients, especially under hypoxic conditions (370, 371). In a NSCLC model, VEGF attracts MDSCs from the BM to the periphery, expanding their presence throughout the individual (372). The binding of VEGF to its receptor is correlated with increased production ROS via the JAK2/STAT3 activation pathway. MDSCs can also secrete VEGF (Figure 2), creating, together with the tumor cells, a positive autocrine feedback loop in the TME (373, 374). Therefore, anti-VEGFR2 reduced the accumulation of intratumoral MDSCs, decreased hypoxia, and interfered with the formation of tumor microvessels through S100A8 (367). Genetic inactivation of VEGFA in MDSCs improved clearance of senescent tumor cells by NK cells, inhibited tumor regrowth after chemotherapy and, prevented cachexia in tumor-bearing mice (375). A phase II clinical trial evaluated the efficacy and pharmacokinetics of bevacizumab, an anti-VEGF recombinant human mAb, combined with capecitabine and paclitaxel chemotherapy in subjects with triplenegative, metastatic, or locally advanced breast cancer. In 77% of patients, the therapy showed an objective response rate, with complete response in 19%, and the median progression-free survival was 7.6 months (376). Several studies also demonstrated that MDSCs possess secondary pro-angiogenic mechanisms involving MMPs, as discussed in Vetsika et al.' review (162).

Because MDSCs are recruited to the TME by tumor cells, blocking their migration using a CCR5 antagonist and CCL2 inhibitors seems to be a promising therapeutic approach. Accumulation of CCR5⁺ MDSCs with high suppressive activity, associated with increased concentrations of CCR5 ligands and tumor progression, has been shown in a tumor-bearing melanoma study model (377). The upregulation of CCR5⁺ on CD11b⁺Gr1⁺ myeloid cells was induced *in vitro* by CCR5 ligands and other inflammatory factors. Blocking the CCR5/CCR5 ligand interaction improved survival by reducing the migration and the immunosuppressive functions of MDSCs in melanoma lesions of tumor-bearing mice (377). This strategy can also enhance the suppression of MDSCs by NK cells, as shown in a premetastatic lung animal model (378). CCL2 expression in MDSCs has been elucidated in a lung tumor model, and anti-CCL2 treatment can decrease peripheral and intratumoral PMN-MDSCs and M-MDSCs by inhibiting the ARG1 expression and iNOS (379). The same study showed enhancement in CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell infiltration and production of IFN- γ in the TME. As a result, anti-CCL2 therapy increased the survival time of tumor-bearing mice. Anti-CCL2 therapy could be a potential approach to improve NK cell activity and the efficacy of ICI immunotherapy.

Some studies have shown that COX-2 inhibitors (celecoxib or nimesulide) reduced the expansion of MDSC subtypes and decreased cancer progression (380-382). COX-2 inhibitors also stimulate NKG2D ligand expression on tumor cells, enhancing NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity (383) and reducing angiogenic pathways via VEGF (384). A phase II clinical trial showed that perioperative treatment with a COX-2 inhibitor (etodolac) in combination with a β -adrenergic antagonist (propranolol) reduced circulating CD14⁺ monocytes and improved NK cell activation (385). Thus, this study supports the rationale for targeting MDSCs in the perioperative period to enhance clinical outcomes. A decrease in MDSC COX-2 and PEG2 activity and NO and ROS production has been shown in animals and humans after Vitamin D3 or E treatments (386). MDSCs impair NK cell function through NO production, and clinical trials are evaluating novel therapies to block this mechanism (228). A clinical trial using celecoxib, in combination with nivolumab and ipilimumab, is currently recruiting for the treatment of colon carcinoma (NCT03026140). A colorectal cancer phase III trial combining vitamin D3 with standard chemotherapy and bevacizumab is also ongoing (NCT04094688). Vitamin E supplementation decreased PGE2 production by inhibiting COX-2 activity, resulting from decreased NO production, in mice and humans (386). It also improved the activation of T and NK cells, increased lymphocyte proliferation, and modulated DC function (386).

ROS molecules are involved in many pathways, thereby controlling a wide range of biological events, such as immunosuppression in the TME (387). Following pathogenic and inflammatory immune responses, MDSCs release ROS (387). Although ROS has toxic effects on most cells, MDSCs survive despite the elevated levels and constant production of ROS in the TME (388). The production of ROS by MDSCs is upregulated in many murine tumor models and human cancers (389, 390) and plays a crucial role in maintaining MDSCs in an undifferentiated state (387). ROS production is regulated by the nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (Nrf2). Synthetic triterpenoid C-28 methyl ester of 2-cyano-3,12-dioxooleana-1,9,-dien-28-oic acid (CDDO-Me; bardoxolone methyl) in an MC38 colon carcinoma model has been shown to reduce MDSC ROS production via Nrf2 activation (307) and IL-17D production (391). A phase I clinical trial showed encouraging results using this therapy (392). Forcing IL-17D production using Nrf2 agonists can enhance NK cell activation and recruitment, leading to tumor regression (391, 393).

The pathological intratumoral accumulation of CXCR2⁺ PMN-MDSCs impairs the functions of NK cells in mice bearing oral carcinoma tumors by secreting TGF- β , NO, and ROS (394).

NK-MDSC Interactions in the TME

CXCR1/2 inhibitors (SX-682) significantly abrogated MDSCs trafficking within a tumor and improved tumor infiltration, activation, and therapeutic efficacy of adoptively transferred murine NK cells in the HNSCC preclinical model (394), and in combination with anti-PD-1, they improved ICI therapy (395).

HIF-1 α , released in the TME from tumor cells, is another protein that has a crucial role in MDSC differentiation toward TAMs (178, 396). Some progress has been achieved targeting hypoxia using hypoxia-activated prodrugs (TH-302) (Figure 3), hypoxia-modulator drugs (modulating expression, DNA-binding, transcriptional activity, and degradation of HIF proteins), drugs directly modulating HIF mRNA (antisense oligonucleotides), and inhibiting pathways involved in the control of HIF-1a mRNA (397). Combination therapy of TH-302 with gemcitabine in a phase II clinical trial for advanced or metastatic pancreatic cancer (NCT01144455) (398) or with doxorubicin in a phase III trial for advanced soft tissue sarcoma (NCT01440088) (399) showed encouraging results. The combination of TH-302 therapy with anti-CTLA-4 and PD-1 cured more than 80% of tumors in a mouse prostate cancer model by reducing MDSCs and granulocytic subsets and driving T cell migration into the hypoxic tumor sites (400). Innovative combinatorial approaches, such as drugs targeting hypoxia used with current cancer therapies, including immunotherapy and MDSCs targeting, may improve antitumor response efficacy.

IL-18 and IL-33 are involved in CD11b⁻ BM progenitor cell differentiation to M-MDSCs (192) and PMN-MDSCs (401), respectively. Targeting of CD11b⁻ BM treated with anti-IL-18 or IL-33 has been shown to enhance T cell proliferation and IFN- γ secretion (192, 401). Other MDSC molecules targeting aminoacyl tRNA synthetase complex interacting multifunctional protein 1, TLR agonists, tumor-derived exosome-associated HSP72, and inflammasome component NLR family pyrin domain containing 3 have also been shown to contribute to MDSC differentiation and have been reviewed previously (402). MDSCs can be blocked by combining ICIs (anti-PD-1, PD-L1, and CTLA-4) with anti-IL-18 (192), inhibitors of FATP2 (339), long non-coding RNA Pvt1 (403), downregulation of the pseudogene Olfr29-ps1 (404), or deletion of the nuclear factor 1 A gene (405).

PRE-ACTIVATED NK CELL PRODUCTS FOR CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

Cancer immunotherapy strategies have focused on T-cell-based immunotherapy using expanded tumor-specific CD8⁺ CTLs from tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) (406). Adoptive transfer of TILs following lymph-depleting strategies have shown promising effectiveness in metastatic melanoma studies (407– 409), but short-lived responses (410) and side effects, such as vitiligo, uveitis, and retinitis, have been reported (407, 411).

Pre-clinically and clinically, studies have identified several cytokines and other novel soluble factors that increase NK cell numbers, function, and persistence. The two most common strategies are pretreating NK cells with cytokines (before the adoptive transfer) or *in vivo* cytokine administration. IL-2 (412), IL-15 (413), IL-12 (414, 415), IL-18 (416, 417),

IL-21, their combinations, and administrations with other immunotherapeutic agents have all been described in the context of regulating NK cell function, maturation, survival, and improving activation and cytotoxicity (Figure 3). Results are expected from clinical trials evaluating the safety and efficacy of combining IL-21 with other immunotherapeutic mediators: IL-21/anti-PD-1 against solid tumors (NCT01629758) and IL-21/ipilimumab against melanoma (NCT01489059). Cytokine analogs of IL-15, such as IL-15 superagonist ALT-803 (NCT03228667, NCT03127098, NCT03022825, NCT02384954, NCT02138734, NCT02890758, NCT02559674, and NCT03520686) and NKTR-255, are under investigation. Furthermore, multiple ongoing clinical trials are evaluating the safety and efficacy of several other immune cytokines alone or in combination with other therapeutic strategies, such as immune checkpoint inhibitors (NCT03209869, NCT03386721, NCT02627274, and NCT02350673) (Figure 3).

Combination therapies of PD-1 blockade and IL-15 stimulation and also IL-15 and IL-15RaFc have been reported as safe in mouse models (418) and patients with NSCLC (419). IL-15 stimulation increases the expression of the activating receptors CD16 and NKG2D on NK cells and increases the activation, proliferation, cytotoxic activity, and survival of NK cells and CTLs (420). One of our preclinical studies found that the combination of PD-1 blockade and IL-15 signaling resulted in eradication of transplanted lung adenocarcinoma (LUAD) cells in about one-half of treated LUAD-SIS-PDX mice, while the other half presented with a partial response. Notably, IL-15 alone, without PD-1 blockade, significantly reduced tumor burden in all treated LUAD-SIS-PDX animals (418). PD-1 blockade alone transiently prevented tumor growth, but tumors grew at a similar rate to untreated control tumors after 2 weeks. The addition of IL-15 to PD-1 blockade completely abrogated tumor escape from ICI, resulting in a powerful additive therapeutic effect capable of tumor eradication. These findings support a key role for adjuvant IL-15 treatment to induce an immune cell-mediated tumor attack, which can prevent tumor escape from checkpoint blockade therapy, as shown using our novel LUAD-SIS-PDX model (418).

In addition to cytokine stimulation, mAb can be used to block the activity of NK cell inhibitory receptors. The ligation of inhibitory KIRs by HLA molecules triggers NK cell inhibition (64), and anti-KIR antibodies are under investigation to improve NK cell cytotoxicity in cancer (421). Because the expression of NK cell-expressed inhibitory KIRs and PD-1 correlate in patients with solid tumors (e.g., NSCLC), combining anti-KIR antibodies with anti-PD-1 treatments to avoid immune escape of tumors in these patients may be an effective treatment strategy (422). Several clinical trials are currently evaluating anti-KIR antibodies against solid tumors combined with other immune treatments (NCT03341936, NCT03203876, and NCT03347123).

NK CELL SOURCES

NK cells do not need prior activation to target tumor cells. The fine-tuning of NK cell functions occurs during their

maturation and instills a form of tolerance. NK cells are "educated" to recognize healthy MHC-I-expressing cells with KIR receptors, resulting in inhibitory signals and preventing NK cell activation. In addition to KIRs, NK cells also express two other types of inhibitory receptors (423): leukocyte immunoglobulin-like receptors (LILRs) (424) and C-type lectin receptors (NKG2A/CD94). The balance of inhibitory and activating signals expressed on target cells mediate NK cell activation and response (425–427).

NK cells can kill tumor target cells through a variety of mechanisms, as discussed previously in this review. Since NK cells represent an important defense against tumors, NK cell infusion products have been evaluated as a possible cancer immunotherapy. Different NK cell sources have been tested in patients with tumors combined with chemotherapy (428) and, allogeneic NK cells have been selected in many studies for their increased alloreactivity, achieved by mismatching of inhibitory KIRs and tumor HLA (429) (Figure 3). This is referred to as a haploidentical or half-matched setting. Haploidentical NK cells are more reactive against recipient tumor cells because of reduced KIR-mediated inhibition (429). NK cells for adoptive transfers can be obtained from five different sources: autologous NK cells, allogeneic NK cells (430), umbilical cord-derived NK cells, NK cell lines, and embryonic stem cell-derived/induced pluripotent stem cell (ES/iPSC)-derived NK cells (431) (Figure 3), allowing for a multitude of choices to match or mismatch KIR-HLA receptor pairings.

CHIMERIC ANTIGEN RECEPTOR-NK CELLS FOR CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

One currently promising strategy is redirecting NK cells with chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) (Figure 3). Autologous CAR-T cell successes in patients with leukemia and lymphoma (432) have raised considerable interest in using immune cells as a cancer treatment. The advantage of a CAR strategy is that one CAR can be applied for many tumor types expressing the matching ligands. Modification with CAR is also proposed for reprogramming NK cells to improve their cytotoxicity. CAR-NK cells represent an exciting approach for cancer immunotherapy. NK cells can be targeted with CARs against surface molecules expressed by tumor cells and might avoid some of limitations or side effects of CAR-T cells. While conventional T cells are HLA-restricted, CAR-T cells are designed to recognize their target antigens independent of HLA expression and deliver their costimulatory signal. However, CAR-T cells are expensive and labor-intensive to generate (433), and the application of CAR-T cell therapy is often limited by intrinsic risks, such as graftvs.-host disease (GvHD) (434). Also, off-target effects, cytokine release syndrome, and other side effects restrict their clinical applications. CAR-T cell therapy has been successful in treating blood cancers. However, a significant obstacle for the treatment of solid tumors is an extremely immunosuppressive TME that decreases the ability of immune cells to infiltrate tumors (435). CAR-T cell functions are often suppressed in solid tumors due to T cell expression of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in the TME. These data may explain why the use of CAR-T cells has not been as useful for treating solid tumors as it has been to treat hematological malignancies (436). However, PD-1 levels expressed by NK cells are substantially lower, making NK cells good candidates for eradicating solid tumors (437).

Allogeneic NK cell transplantation rarely induces GvHD (438) and has the potential to become "off-the-shelf" products, making CAR-NK cell therapies a possible widespread product (433). Large-scale culture and genetic modification of allogenic human NK cells are feasible and could readily be used to treat a broad range of cancer patients. NK cell-expressed CARs typically include a single-chain variable fragment from a mAb, a transmembrane hinge region, and a costimulatory signaling domain, such as CD28, CD3-zeta, 4-1BB (CD137), or 2B4 (CD244) heterodimers (439, 440). These main signaling domains frequently have been derived from TCR moieties (441). Four generations of CARs are currently under development (442). The first generation of CARs usually contains only the CD35 activation signaling domain (443). In the second and the third generations of CARs, costimulatory molecules like CD28, 4-1BB, and CD134 are also included to increase NK cell activation (444). The fourth generation of CARs is engineered to secrete transgenic cytokine-like IL-12, which should help to remodel the tumor environment to promote therapeutic success (442, 445). Once CAR-modified NK cells recognize their specific targets, such as CD19⁻, CD20⁻, or CD138⁻ cells, the CAR receptors trigger an intracellular signaling cascade that activates CAR-NK cells to kill the antigen-expressing target cell.

Methods to generate CAR-NK cells that target solid tumors include lentiviral transduction or electroporation of the NK-92 NK-like cell line (438), primary NK cells, and the differentiation of NK cells from modified pluripotent stem cells (431). NK cells express NKG2D, an activating receptor triggered by MICA/B and UL binding protein (ULBPs) expressed on the surface of stressed cells upon DNA damage, hypoxia, or viral infection (446). NKG2D ligands are often overexpressed on solid tumors and tumor-infiltrating cells like MDSCs (447). However, the NKG2D cytotoxic adapter molecule, DNAX-activation protein 10 (DAP10), is downregulated by suppressive molecules like TGF- β , which is abundantly expressed in the TME (448). NK cells and CAR-NK cells expressing the native NKG2D receptors are thus downmodulated in the TME due to the reduction in DAP10 expression. To overcome the repressive effects of the solid TME on NKG2D functions, one group (449) established a gene-modified NK cell bearing a chimeric receptor in which the activating receptor NKG2D is fused to the cytotoxic ζ -chain of the T-cell receptor (NKG2D. ζ) (450). This specific CAR has been designed to target MDSCs in the TME of solid tumors, which are refractory to other types of immunotherapy. The NKG2D.ζ-NK cells are cytotoxic against MDSCs, but unmodified NK cells are not. They also showed that NKG2D.ζ-NK cells generated from patients with neuroblastoma successfully killed autologous MDSCs in the TME, which were capable of suppressing CAR-T functions (449). CAR-NK cells have been established and engineered against several antigens for solid tumors, including epidermal growth factor receptor, human epidermal growth factor receptor-2 (HER2), egeria,

disialoganglioside, epithelial cell adhesion molecule, mesothelin, and tyrosine-protein kinase transmembrane receptor ROR1, with promising results in preclinical or clinical studies (39). In a recently published phase I/II clinical trial, HLA-mismatched anti-CD19 CAR-NK cells were administered to 11 patients with relapsed or refractory CD19-positive cancers. The majority of treated patients showed a response to treatment with anti-CD19 CAR-NK cells without developing significant toxic side effects (451). The phase I/II trial was approved for B-cell lymphoma in 2017 (NCT03056339). In another study, NK cells derived from umbilical cord blood were transfected with a CAR containing inducible caspase 9/IL-15 (iC9/CAR.19/IL-15) (452). They produce IL-15, which supports CAR-NK cell survival, and are engineered to express the inducible suicide gene caspase 9 for their pharmacologically induced elimination. Liu and coworkers showed efficient iC9/CAR.19/IL-15 cell killing of CD19-expressing tumor cell lines in vitro and improved clinical outcome in a xenograft Raji lymphoma murine model (452). In the clinical trial, iC9/CAR.19/IL-15 cells were used to treat patients with relapsed/refractory CD19⁺ B lymphoid malignancies. This cell therapy was applied with high-dose chemotherapy (NCT03579927).

An alternative approach for the generation of CAR-NK cells is the use of iPSC as a platform to generate CAR-NK cells (453) (Figure 3). In 2018, a NK cell line was established from human iPSCs that expresses a CAR containing the transmembrane domain of NKG2D, the 2B4 costimulatory domain, and the CD3^{\zet} signaling domain able to mediate strong antigen-specific NK cell signaling (iPSC-CAR-NK cells) (453). The combination of NKG2D-2B4ζ in this CAR construct conferred strong upregulation and activation of phospholipase C gamma, Sykvav1-Erk, and NF-kB pathways, improving iPSC-CAR-NK cell activation, proliferation, and antitumor activity. This cell line maintains the same NK cell phenotype as wild-type cells but enhanced antitumor activity compared to CAR-T cells, iPSC-NK cells, or non-CAR PB-NK cells. In an ovarian cancer xenograft model, iPSC-CAR-NK cells significantly inhibited tumor growth and improved survival in mice and showed less toxicity than CAR-T cells (453).

A pilot study investigated the use of NKG2D ligand targeted CAR-NK cells in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer and evaluated the safety and feasibility of CAR-NK cell treatment against solid metastatic tumors (454). For these studies, autologous or allogeneic NK cells were transfected by mRNA electroporation to generate CAR-NK cells with transiently enhanced specificity and activity against NKG2D ligand-expressing cancer cells. This approach has also been used in a clinical trial involving solid metastatic tumors (NCT03415100).

About 200 clinical trials are currently using CAR-T cells, and only 20 clinical trials so far are utilizing CAR-NK cells (http://www.clinicaltrials.gov). For these trials, CAR-NK cell products are derived from either primary NK cells or NK cell lines. Only five clinical trials were conducted to evaluate the safety of CAR-NK-92 infusion products, while 15 trials evaluated CAR-NK cells from other sources. CD7 (NCT02742727), CD19 (NCT02892695), and CD33 (NCT02944162) targeted blood cancer (455); HER2 targeted glioblastoma (NCT03383978); co-stimulating conversion

receptors targeted NSCLC (NCT03656705); and MUC1 targeted multiple refractory solid tumors, including hepatocellular carcinoma, NSCLC, pancreatic tumors, and triple-negative metastatic breast tumors (NCT02839954) (455).

Additional preclinical or clinical trials targeting CD19⁻ (NCT03690310) or CD22⁻ expressing (NCT03692767) cells are ongoing, and bivalent CD19/22 (NCT03824964) CAR-NK cell products are also being examined in patients with relapsed and refractory B cell lymphoma (456). One clinical trial targeting CD19-positive cells is testing CD19-CAR-NK cell infusions in a pediatric setting (NCT00995137), using irradiated K562-mb15-41BBL expanded PB-derived NK cells transfected with CD19-41BBz-CAR (455).

Roundabout homolog 1 (ROBO1), a member of the axon guidance receptor family (Robo1–4), is a potential target for immunotherapy (457). ROBO1 modulates the chemotaxis of T cells and tumor angiogenesis to counteract the tumor growth (458–460). Some solid tumors, such as pancreatic cancer, have increased expression of ROBO1 (461). Three clinical trials are currently studying CAR-NK cells directed against ROBO1, using CAR-NK (NCT03940820), bi-chimeric antigen receptor-NK cell BiCAR-NK (NCT03941457), and bi-chimeric antigen receptor-NK cell or T cell BiCAR-NK/T (NCT03931720) cells on patients with solid tumors (456).

Additional strategies for optimizing NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity have been employed. ADCC is a potent mechanism of cytotoxicity used by NK cells. An increasing number of mAbs are currently being examined in preclinical and clinical studies for their ability to improve antitumor ADCC (462). Limiting shedding of CD16 from NK cell membranes also enhances ADCC, and iPSC-NK cells modified to overexpress a non-cleavable version of CD16 showed improved ADCC in vitro and in vivo in a human B-cell lymphoma model (463). iPSC can also be modified to improve in vivo persistence of iPSC-NK cells. Furthermore, the deletion of cytokine-inducible SH2-containing protein (CISH) in iPSC differentiated NK cells improved persistence and enhanced antitumor activity in a leukemia xenograft model (464). Other relevant strategies to strengthen NK killing potential use antibody therapy to target NK cell checkpoints that inhibit NK cell activity in the TME, such as PD-1 (465), T cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains (466), and single Ig IL-1-related receptor (467). These findings provide some flexibility in the combining of therapeutic approaches. NK cells can be modified to express CARs and/or be used in combination with ICI or additional antibody immunotherapy. While significantly more work is needed to optimize these approaches, these data nevertheless demonstrate the potential for "off-the-shelf" NK cell platforms for treating solid tumors and hematological malignancies. Further research needs to be done to identify and understand possible CAR-NK exhaustion mechanisms after transplantation in preclinical and clinical studies.

CONCLUSION

The TME plays a critical role in regulating NK cell antitumor functions and regulating NK cell trafficking, persistence, proliferation, and activation. MDSCs are one of the critical players inducing and regulating the immunosuppressive environment of the TME. MDSCs interact with numerous innate immune cells, modulating their functions and suppressing strong tumor-specific immunity. As such, MDSCs represent an essential target in oncology. While NK cell-MDSC interactions have been investigated, few studies have evaluated how NK cell cytotoxicity can be exploited to attack both the immunosuppressive TME as well as the tumor. We have provided an updated review of several current prospective therapies for targeting the MDSC-Treg axis and improving antitumor NK cell functions (several mechanisms are summarized in **Figure 3**). These pathways have substantial implications for the tumor and are currently under investigation. The combinatorial treatments that target these pathways have been showing promising results. More

REFERENCES

- Wang M, Zhao J, Zhang L, Wei F, Lian Y, Wu Y, et al. Role of tumor microenvironment in tumorigenesis. J Cancer. (2017) 8:761–73. doi: 10.7150/jca.17648
- Balkwill FR, Capasso M, Hagemann T. The tumor microenvironment at a glance. J Cell Sci. (2012) 125:5591–6. doi: 10.1242/jcs.116392
- Balkwill F, Mantovani A. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? Lancet. (2001) 357:539–45. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04046-0
- Coussens LM, Werb Z. Inflammation and cancer. Nature. (2002) 420:860–7. doi: 10.1038/nature01322
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. (2011) 144:646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Gonzalez H, Hagerling C, Werb Z. Roles of the immune system in cancer: from tumor initiation to metastatic progression. *Genes Dev.* (2018) 32:1267– 84. doi: 10.1101/gad.314617.118
- Fridman WH, Pagès F, Sautès-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2012) 12:298–306. doi: 10.1038/nrc3245
- Teng MW, Galon J, Fridman WH, Smyth MJ. From mice to humans: developments in cancer immunoediting. J Clin Invest. (2015) 125:3338–46. doi: 10.1172/JCI80004
- Palucka AK, Coussens LM. The basis of oncoimmunology. Cell. (2016) 164:1233–47. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.01.049
- Wang D, DuBois RN. Immunosuppression associated with chronic inflammation in the tumor microenvironment. *Carcinogenesis*. (2015) 36:1085–93. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgv123
- Schaaf MB, Garg AD, Agostinis P. Defining the role of the tumor vasculature in antitumor immunity and immunotherapy. *Cell Death Dis.* (2018) 9:115. doi: 10.1038/s41419-017-0061-0
- Shanker A, Verdeil G, Buferne M, Inderberg-Suso EM, Puthier D, Joly F, et al. CD8T cell help for innate antitumor immunity. *J Immunol.* (2007) 179:6651–62. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.10.6651
- Uzhachenko RV, Shanker A. CD8(+) T lymphocyte and NK cell network: circuitry in the cytotoxic domain of immunity. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1906. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01906
- Dustin ML, Colman DR. Neural and immunological synaptic relations. Science. (2002) 298:785–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1076386
- Dustin ML, Long EO. Cytotoxic immunological synapses. *Immunol Rev.* (2010) 235:24–34. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2010.00904.x
- Gooden MJ, de Bock GH, Leffers N, Daemen T, Nijman HW. The prognostic influence of tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes in cancer: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Br J Cancer. (2011) 105:93–103. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2011.189
- Lee WS, Kang M, Baek JH, Lee JI, Ha SY. Clinical impact of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes for survival in curatively resected stage IV colon cancer with isolated liver or lung metastasis. *Ann Surg Oncol.* (2013) 20:697– 702. doi: 10.1245/s10434-012-2752-1

work is needed to fully exploit NK cell functions to eradicate hematological malignancies and solid tumors.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CZ and SP conceptualized the content and wrote the article. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by unrestricted funds from The Scripps Research Institute, La Jolla, CA (SP).

- Halle S, Halle O, Forster R. Mechanisms and dynamics of T cellmediated cytotoxicity in vivo. Trends Immunol. (2017) 38:432–43. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2017.04.002
- Lanier LL. Evolutionary struggles between NK cells and viruses. Nat Rev Immunol. (2008) 8:259–68. doi: 10.1038/nri2276
- Lanier LL. NKG2D receptor and its ligands in host defense. Cancer Immunol Res. (2015) 3:575–82. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0098
- El-Gazzar A, Cai X, Reeves RS, Dai Z, Caballero-Benitez A, McDonald DL, et al. Effects on tumor development and metastatic dissemination by the NKG2D lymphocyte receptor expressed on cancer cells. *Oncogene*. (2014) 33:4932–40. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.435
- 22. Spear P, Wu MR, Sentman ML, Sentman CL. NKG2D ligands as therapeutic targets. *Cancer Immunity.* (2013) 13:8.
- Trembath AP, Sharma N, Raju S, Polic B, Markiewicz MA. A protective role for NKG2D-H60a interaction via homotypic T cell contact in nonobese diabetic autoimmune diabetes pathogenesis. *Immunohorizons*. (2017) 1:198– 212. doi: 10.4049/immunohorizons.1700011
- Tanaka J, Miller JS. Recent progress in and challenges in cellular therapy using NK cells for hematological malignancies. *Blood Rev.* (2020) 44:100678. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2020.100678
- Vivier E, Ugolini S, Blaise D, Chabannon C, Brossay L. Targeting natural killer cells and natural killer T cells in cancer. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2012) 12:239–52. doi: 10.1038/nri3174
- Guillerey C, Huntington ND, Smyth MJ. Targeting natural killer cells in cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Immunol.* (2016) 17:1025–36. doi: 10.1038/ni.3518
- Baginska J, Viry E, Paggetti J, Medves S, Berchem G, Moussay E, et al. The critical role of the tumor microenvironment in shaping natural killer cell-mediated anti-tumor immunity. *Front Immunol.* (2013) 4:490. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00490
- Lo HC, Xu Z, Kim IS, Pingel B, Aguirre S, Kodali S, et al. Resistance to natural killer cell immunosurveillance confers a selective advantage to polyclonal metastasis. *Nature Cancer.* (2020) 1:709–22. doi: 10.1038/s43018-020-0068-9
- Bi J, Tian Z. NK cell exhaustion. Front Immunol. (2017) 8:760. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00760
- Herberman RB, Nunn ME, Lavrin DH. Natural cytotoxic reactivity of mouse lymphoid cells against syngeneic acid allogeneic tumors. I. Distribution of reactivity and specificity. *Int J Cancer.* (1975) 16:216–29. doi: 10.1002/ijc.2910160204
- Cichocki F, Grzywacz B, Miller JS. Human NK cell development: one road or many? *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:2078. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019. 02078
- Abel AM, Yang C, Thakar MS, Malarkannan S. Natural killer cells: development, maturation, clinical utilization. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1869. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01869
- Crinier A, Narni-Mancinelli E, Ugolini S, Vivier E. SnapShot: natural killer cells. *Cell.* (2020) 180:1280.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.029

- Bjorkstrom NK, Ljunggren HG, Michaelsson J. Emerging insights into natural killer cells in human peripheral tissues. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2016) 16:310–20. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.34
- Shi FD, Ljunggren HG, La Cava A, L. Van Kaer, Organ-specific features of natural killer cells. Nat Rev Immunol. (2011) 11:658–71. doi: 10.1038/nri3065
- Freud AG, Mundy-Bosse BL, Yu J, Caligiuri MA. The broad spectrum of human natural killer cell diversity. *Immunity*. (2017) 47:820–33. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.10.008
- Cooper MA, Fehniger TA, Caligiuri MA. The biology of human natural killer-cell subsets. *Trends Immunol.* (2001) 22:633–40. doi: 10.1016/S1471-4906(01)02060-9
- Gras Navarro, Bjorklund AT, Chekenya M. Therapeutic potential and challenges of natural killer cells in treatment of solid tumors. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:202. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00202
- Nayyar G, Chu Y, Cairo MS. Overcoming resistance to natural killer cell based immunotherapies for solid tumors. *Front Oncol.* (2019) 9:51. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00051
- Vivier E, Ugolini S. Natural killer cells: from basic research to treatments. Front Immunol. (2011) 2:18. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00018
- Lanier LL. NK cell recognition. Annu Rev Immunol. (2005) 23:225–74. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115526
- Walzer T, Dalod M, Robbins SH, Zitvogel L, Vivier E. Natural-killer cells and dendritic cells: "l'union fait la force". *Blood.* (2005) 106:2252–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-03-1154
- Karo JM, Schatz DG, Sun JC. The RAG recombinase dictates functional heterogeneity and cellular fitness in natural killer cells. *Cell*. (2014) 159:94– 107. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.08.026
- 44. Nikzad R, Angelo LS, Aviles-Padilla K, Le DT, Singh VK, Bimler L, et al. Human natural killer cells mediate adaptive immunity to viral antigens. *Sci Immunol.* (2019) 4:eaat8116. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aa t8116
- 45. Stary V, Pandey RV, Strobl J, Kleissl L, Starlinger P, Pereyra D, et al. A discrete subset of epigenetically primed human NK cells mediates antigen-specific immune responses. *Sci Immunol.* (2020) 5:eaba6232. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aba6232
- Paust S, Blish CA, Reeves RK. Redefining memory: building the case for adaptive NK cells. J Virol. (2017) 91:e00169-17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00169-17
- Paust S, Senman B, von Andrian UH. Adaptive immune responses mediated by natural killer cells. *Immunol Rev.* (2010) 235:286–96. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2010.00906.x
- Kondo M, Weissman IL, Akashi K. Identification of clonogenic common lymphoid progenitors in mouse bone marrow. *Cell.* (1997) 91:661–72. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80453-5
- Di Santo JP. Natural killer cell developmental pathways: a question of balance. Annu Rev Immunol. (2006) 24:257–86. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.24.021605.090700
- Orr MT, Lanier LL. Natural killer cell education and tolerance. *Cell.* (2010) 142:847–56. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.08.031
- Sun JC, Lanier LL. NK cell development, homeostasis and function: parallels with CD8(+) T cells. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2011) 11:645–57. doi: 10.1038/nri3044
- Reeves RK, Li H, Jost S, Blass E, Li H, Schafer JL, et al. Antigen-specific NK cell memory in rhesus macaques. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:927–32. doi: 10.1038/ni.3227
- Paust S, von Andrian UH. Natural killer cell memory. Nat Immunol. (2011) 12:500–8. doi: 10.1038/ni.2032
- Sun JC, Ugolini S, Vivier E. Immunological memory within the innate immune system. *Embo J.* (2014) 33:1295–303. doi: 10.1002/embj.201387651
- O'Leary JG, Goodarzi M, Drayton DL, von Andrian UH. T cell- and B cell-independent adaptive immunity mediated by natural killer cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2006) 7:507–16. doi: 10.1038/ni1332
- Chiossone L, Dumas PY, Vienne M, Vivier E. Natural killer cells and other innate lymphoid cells in cancer. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2018) 18:671–88. doi: 10.1038/s41577-018-0061-z
- 57. Strauss-Albee DM, Fukuyama J, Liang EC, Yao Y, Jarrell JA, Drake AL, et al. Human NK cell repertoire diversity reflects immune experience and correlates with viral susceptibility. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:297ra115. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aac5722

- Ljunggren HG, Karre K. Experimental strategies and interpretations in the analysis of changes in MHC gene expression during tumour progression. Opposing influences of T cell and natural killer mediated resistance? *J Immunogenet*. (1986) 13:141–51. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-313X.1986.tb01095.x
- Diefenbach A, Hsia JK, Hsiung MY, Raulet DH. A novel ligand for the NKG2D receptor activates NK cells and macrophages and induces tumor immunity. *Eur J Immunol.* (2003) 33:381–91. doi: 10.1002/immu.200310012
- Ljunggren HG, Karre K. In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunol Today*. (1990) 11:237–44. doi: 10.1016/0167-5699(90)90097-S
- Rezvani K, Rouce RH. The application of natural killer cell immunotherapy for the treatment of cancer. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:578. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00578
- Trembath AP, Markiewicz MA. More than decoration: roles for natural killer group 2 member d ligand expression by immune cells. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:231. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00231
- Sivori S, Parolini S, Marcenaro E, Millo R, Bottino C, Moretta A. Triggering receptors involved in natural killer cell-mediated cytotoxicity against choriocarcinoma cell lines. *Hum Immunol.* (2000) 61:1055–8. doi: 10.1016/S0198-8859(00)00201-9
- Campbell KS, Hasegawa J. Natural killer cell biology: an update and future directions. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2013) 132:536–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.07.006
- Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. FcgammaRs in health and disease. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. (2011) 350:105–25. doi: 10.1007/82_2010_86
- 66. Bradley M, Zeytun A, Rafi-Janajreh A, Nagarkatti PS, Nagarkatti M. Role of spontaneous and interleukin-2-induced natural killer cell activity in the cytotoxicity and rejection of Fas+ and Fas- tumor cells. *Blood.* (1998) 92:4248–55. doi: 10.1182/blood.V92.11.4248.423k20_4248_4255
- Kayagaki N, Yamaguchi N, Nakayama M, Takeda K, Akiba H, Tsutsui H, et al. Expression and function of TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand on murine activated NK cells. *J Immunol.* (1999) 163:1906–13.
- Habif G, Crinier A, Andre P, Vivier E, Narni-Mancinelli E. Targeting natural killer cells in solid tumors. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2019) 16:415–22. doi: 10.1038/s41423-019-0224-2
- Street SE, Zerafa N, Iezzi M, Westwood JA, Stagg J, Musiani P, et al. Host perforin reduces tumor number but does not increase survival in oncogene-driven mammary adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Res.* (2007) 67:5454– 60. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4084
- Smyth MJ, Thia KY, Street SE, MacGregor D, Godfrey DI, Trapani JA. Perforin-mediated cytotoxicity is critical for surveillance of spontaneous lymphoma. J Exp Med. (2000) 192:755–60. doi: 10.1084/jem.192.5.755
- Robertson MJ. Role of chemokines in the biology of natural killer cells. J Leukoc Biol. (2002) 71:173–83.
- Mace EM, Orange JS. Genetic causes of human NK cell deficiency and their effect on NK cell subsets. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:545. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00545
- Vivier E, Raulet DH, Moretta A, Caligiuri MA, Zitvogel L, Lanier LL, et al. Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. *Science*. (2011) 331:44–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1198687
- Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Balkwill F. Cancer-related inflammation. Nature. (2008) 454:436–44. doi: 10.1038/nature07205
- Colotta F, Allavena P, Sica A, Garlanda C, Mantovani A. Cancer-related inflammation, the seventh hallmark of cancer: links to genetic instability. *Carcinogenesis*. (2009) 30:1073–81. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgp127
- Yu H, Kortylewski M, Pardoll D. Crosstalk between cancer and immune cells: role of STAT3 in the tumour microenvironment. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2007) 7:41–51. doi: 10.1038/nri1995
- Karin M, Nuclear factor-kappaB in cancer development and progression. Nature. (2006) 441:431–6. doi: 10.1038/nature04870
- Vitale M, Cantoni C, Pietra G, Mingari MC, Moretta L. Effect of tumor cells and tumor microenvironment on NK-cell function. *Eur J Immunol.* (2014) 44:1582–92. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344272
- Binnewies M, Roberts EW, Kersten K, Chan V, Fearon DF, Merad M, et al. Understanding the tumor immune microenvironment (TIME) for effective therapy. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:541–50. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0014-x
- Albini A, Bruno A, Noonan DM, Mortara L. Contribution to tumor angiogenesis from innate immune cells within the tumor microenvironment:

implications for immunotherapy. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:527. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00527

- Granot Z, Fridlender ZG. Plasticity beyond cancer cells and the "immunosuppressive switch". *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:4441–5. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-1502
- Holzel M, Bovier A, Tuting T. Plasticity of tumour and immune cells: a source of heterogeneity and a cause for therapy resistance? *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2013) 13:365–76. doi: 10.1038/nrc3498
- Servais C, Erez N. From sentinel cells to inflammatory culprits: cancerassociated fibroblasts in tumour-related inflammation. J Pathol. (2013) 229:198–207. doi: 10.1002/path.4103
- 84. Lee JC, Lee KM, Kim DW, Heo DS. Elevated TGF-beta1 secretion and down-modulation of NKG2D underlies impaired NK cytotoxicity in cancer patients. J Immunol. (2004) 172:7335–40. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.12.7335
- Cifaldi L, Prencipe G, Caiello I, Bracaglia C, Locatelli F, De Benedetti F, et al. Inhibition of natural killer cell cytotoxicity by interleukin-6: implications for the pathogenesis of macrophage activation syndrome. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2015) 67:3037–46. doi: 10.1002/art.39295
- Marcus A, Gowen BG, Thompson TW, Iannello A, Ardolino M, Deng W, et al. Recognition of tumors by the innate immune system and natural killer cells. *Adv Immunol.* (2014) 122:91–128. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800267-4.00003-1
- Cantoni C, Huergo-Zapico L, Parodi M, Pedrazzi M, Mingari MC, Moretta A, et al. NK cells, tumor cell transition, and tumor progression in solid malignancies: new hints for NK-based immunotherapy? J Immunol Res. (2016) 2016:4684268. doi: 10.1155/2016/4684268
- Ponzetta A, Benigni G, Antonangeli F, Sciume G, Sanseviero E, Zingoni A, et al. Multiple myeloma impairs bone marrow localization of effector natural killer cells by altering the chemokine microenvironment. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:4766–77. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-1320
- Cortez VS, Ulland TK, Cervantes-Barragan L, Bando JK, Robinette ML, Wang Q, et al. SMAD4 impedes the conversion of NK cells into ILC1-like cells by curtailing non-canonical TGF-beta signaling. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:995–1003. doi: 10.1038/ni.3809
- Gao Y, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Bald T, Ng SS, Young A, Ngiow SF, et al. Tumor immunoevasion by the conversion of effector NK cells into type 1 innate lymphoid cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:1004–15. doi: 10.1038/ni.3800
- Huntington ND, Tabarias H, Fairfax K, Brady J, Hayakawa Y, Degli-Esposti MA, et al. NK cell maturation and peripheral homeostasis is associated with KLRG1 up-regulation. *J Immunol.* (2007) 178:4764–70. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.8.4764
- Wendel M, Galani IE, Suri-Payer E, Cerwenka A. Natural killer cell accumulation in tumors is dependent on IFN-gamma and CXCR3 ligands. *Cancer Res.* (2008) 68:8437–45. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1440
- Alvarez M, Simonetta F, Baker J, Pierini A, Wenokur AS, Morrison AR, et al. Regulation of murine NK cell exhaustion through the activation of the DNA damage repair pathway. *JCI Insight*. (2019) 5:e127729. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.127729
- 94. Greenberg SA, Kong SW, Thompson E, Gulla SV. Co-inhibitory T cell receptor KLRG1: human cancer expression and efficacy of neutralization in murine cancer models. *Oncotarget.* (2019) 10:1399–406. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.26659
- 95. Tata A, Vivier E, Brossay L. Role of the KLRG1 pathway during the immune response to cancer. *J Immunol.* (2020) 204.
- 96. Ibrahim EM, Al-Foheidi ME, Al-Mansour MM, Kazkaz GA. The prognostic value of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in triple-negative breast cancer: a meta-analysis. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* (2014) 148:467–76. doi: 10.1007/s10549-014-3185-2
- Deschoolmeester V, Baay M, Van Marck E, Weyler J, Vermeulen P, Lardon F, et al. Tumor infiltrating lymphocytes: an intriguing player in the survival of colorectal cancer patients. *BMC Immunol.* (2010) 11:19. doi: 10.1186/1471-2172-11-19
- Coca S, Perez-Piqueras J, Martinez D, Colmenarejo A, Saez MA, Vallejo C, et al. The prognostic significance of intratumoral natural killer cells in patients with colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer*. (1997) 79:2320–8.

- Villegas FR, Coca S, Villarrubia VG, Jimenez R, Chillon MJ, Jareno J, et al. Prognostic significance of tumor infiltrating natural killer cells subset CD57 in patients with squamous cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer*. (2002) 35:23–8. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5002(01)00292-6
- Barkin J, Rodriguez-Suarez R, Betito K. Association between natural killer cell activity and prostate cancer: a pilot study. *Can J Urol.* (2017) 24:8708– 713.
- Gutkin DW, Shurin MR. Clinical evaluation of systemic and local immune responses in cancer: time for integration. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2014) 63:45–57. doi: 10.1007/s00262-013-1480-0
- 102. Imai K, Matsuyama S, Miyake S, Suga K, Nakachi K. Natural cytotoxic activity of peripheral-blood lymphocytes and cancer incidence: an 11year follow-up study of a general population. *Lancet.* (2000) 356:1795–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)03231-1
- Jobin G, Rodriguez-Suarez R, Betito K. Association between natural killer cell activity and colorectal cancer in high-risk subjects undergoing colonoscopy. *Gastroenterology.* (2017) 153:980–7. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.06.009
- 104. Kastelan M, Kovacic K, Tarle R, Kraljic I, Tarle M. Analysis of NK cell activity, lymphocyte reactivity to mitogens and serotest PSA and TPS values in patients with primary and disseminated prostate cancer, PIN and BPH. *Anticancer Res.* (1997) 17:1671–5.
- 105. Koo KC, Shim DH, Yang CM, Lee SB, Kim SM, Shin TY, et al. Reduction of the CD16(-)CD56bright NK cell subset precedes NK cell dysfunction in prostate cancer. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e78049. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0078049
- 106. Lin CF, Lin CM, Lee KY, Wu SY, Feng PH, Chen KY, et al. Escape from IFN-gamma-dependent immunosurveillance in tumorigenesis. J Biomed Sci. (2017) 24:10. doi: 10.1186/s12929-017-0317-0
- 107. Shanker A, Buferne M, Schmitt-Verhulst AM. Cooperative action of CD8 T lymphocytes and natural killer cells controls tumour growth under conditions of restricted T-cell receptor diversity. *Immunology*. (2010) 129:41–54. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2009.03150.x
- Knudson KM, Hicks KC, Alter S, Schlom J, Gameiro SR. Mechanisms involved in IL-15 superagonist enhancement of anti-PD-L1 therapy. J Immunother Cancer. (2019) 7:82. doi: 10.1186/s40425-019-0551-y
- Ferlazzo G, Morandi B. Cross-talks between natural killer cells and distinct subsets of dendritic cells. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:159. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00159
- 110. Stojanovic A, Cerwenka A. Natural killer cells and solid tumors. J Innate Immun. (2011) 3:355–64. doi: 10.1159/000325465
- 111. Konjevic G, Jurisic V, Jovic V, Vuletic A, Mirjacic Martinovic K, Radenkovic S, et al. Investigation of NK cell function and their modulation in different malignancies. *Immunol Res.* (2012) 52:139–56. doi: 10.1007/s12026-012-8285-7
- 112. Tarle M, Kraljic I, Kastelan M. Comparison between NK cell activity and prostate cancer stage and grade in untreated patients: correlation with tumor markers and hormonal serotest data. *Urol Res.* (1993) 21:17–21. doi: 10.1007/BF00295186
- Waldhauer I, Steinle A. NK cells and cancer immunosurveillance. Oncogene. (2008) 27:5932–43. doi: 10.1038/onc.2008.267
- 114. Mamessier E, Sylvain A, Thibult ML, Houvenaeghel G, Jacquemier J, Castellano R, et al. Human breast cancer cells enhance self tolerance by promoting evasion from NK cell antitumor immunity. *J Clin Invest.* (2011) 121:3609–22. doi: 10.1172/JCI45816
- 115. Bruno A, Focaccetti C, Pagani A, Imperatori AS, Spagnoletti M, Rotolo N, et al. The proangiogenic phenotype of natural killer cells in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Neoplasia*. (2013) 15:133–42. doi: 10.1593/neo.121758
- 116. Carrega P, Morandi B, Costa R, Frumento G, Forte G, Altavilla G, et al. Natural killer cells infiltrating human nonsmall-cell lung cancer are enriched in CD56 bright CD16(-) cells and display an impaired capability to kill tumor cells. *Cancer.* (2008) 112:863–75. doi: 10.1002/cncr.23239
- 117. Bruno A, Bassani B, D'Urso DG, Pitaku I, Cassinotti E, Pelosi G, et al. Angiogenin and the MMP9-TIMP2 axis are up-regulated in proangiogenic, decidual NK-like cells from patients with colorectal cancer. *FASEB J.* (2018) 32:5365–77. doi: 10.1096/fj.201701103R
- 118. Rocca YS, Roberti MP, Arriaga JM, Amat M, Bruno L, Pampena MB, et al. Altered phenotype in peripheral blood and tumor-associated NK

cells from colorectal cancer patients. *Innate Immun.* (2013) 19:76–85. doi: 10.1177/1753425912453187

- 119. Schleypen JS, Baur N, Kammerer R, Nelson PJ, Rohrmann K, Grone EF, et al. Cytotoxic markers and frequency predict functional capacity of natural killer cells infiltrating renal cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2006) 12:718–25. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0857
- Delahaye NF, Rusakiewicz S, Martins I, Menard C, Roux S, Lyonnet L, et al. Alternatively spliced NKp30 isoforms affect the prognosis of gastrointestinal stromal tumors. *Nat Med.* (2011) 17:700–7. doi: 10.1038/nm.2366
- 121. Levi I, Amsalem H, Nissan A, Darash-Yahana M, Peretz T, Mandelboim O, et al. Characterization of tumor infiltrating natural killer cell subset. Oncotarget. (2015) 6:13835–43. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3453
- 122. Bosi A, Zanellato S, Bassani B, Albini A, Musco A, Cattoni M, et al. Natural killer cells from malignant pleural effusion are endowed with a deciduallike proangiogenic polarization. *J Immunol Res.* (2018) 2018:2438598. doi: 10.1155/2018/2438598
- 123. Bruno A, Ferlazzo G, Albini A, Noonan DM. A think tank of TINK/TANKs: tumor-infiltrating/tumor-associated natural killer cells in tumor progression and angiogenesis. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2014) 106:dju200. doi: 10.1093/jnci/dju200
- 124. Gotthardt D, Putz EM, Grundschober E, Prchal-Murphy M, Straka E, Kudweis P, et al. STAT5 is a key regulator in NK cells and acts as a molecular switch from tumor surveillance to tumor promotion. *Cancer Discov.* (2016) 6:414–29. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0732
- 125. Bruno A, Pagani A, Pulze L, Albini A, Dallaglio K, Noonan DM, et al. Orchestration of angiogenesis by immune cells. *Front Oncol.* (2014) 4:131. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00131
- 126. Messaoudene M, Fregni G, Fourmentraux-Neves E, Chanal J, Maubec E, Mazouz-Dorval S, et al. Mature cytotoxic CD56(bright)/CD16(+) natural killer cells can infiltrate lymph nodes adjacent to metastatic melanoma. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:81–92. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1303
- Parisi L, Bassani B, Tremolati M, Gini E, Farronato G, Bruno A. Natural killer cells in the orchestration of chronic inflammatory diseases. *J Immunol Res.* (2017) 2017:4218254. doi: 10.1155/2017/4218254
- 128. Pasero C, Gravis G, Granjeaud S, Guerin M, Thomassin-Piana J, Rocchi P, et al. Highly effective NK cells are associated with good prognosis in patients with metastatic prostate cancer. *Oncotarget.* (2015) 6:14360–73. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3965
- 129. Carrega P, Bonaccorsi I, Di Carlo E, Morandi B, Paul P, Rizzello V, et al. CD56(bright)perforin(low) noncytotoxic human NK cells are abundant in both healthy and neoplastic solid tissues and recirculate to secondary lymphoid organs via afferent lymph. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:3805–15. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301889
- Tcyganov E, Mastio J, Chen E, Gabrilovich DI. Plasticity of myeloidderived suppressor cells in cancer. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2018) 51:76–82. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2018.03.009
- Ribechini E, Greifenberg V, Sandwick S, Lutz MB. Subsets, expansion and activation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Med Microbiol Immunol.* (2010) 199:273–81. doi: 10.1007/s00430-010-0151-4
- 132. Bronte V, Brandau S, Chen SH, Colombo MP, Frey AB, Greten TF, et al. Recommendations for myeloid-derived suppressor cell nomenclature and characterization standards. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:12150. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12150
- 133. Dumitru CA, Moses K, Trellakis S, Lang S, Brandau S. Neutrophils and granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells: immunophenotyping, cell biology and clinical relevance in human oncology. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2012) 61:1155–67. doi: 10.1007/s00262-012-1294-5
- 134. Condamine T, Dominguez GA, Youn JI, Kossenkov AV, Mony S, Alicea-Torres K, et al. Lectin-type oxidized LDL receptor-1 distinguishes population of human polymorphonuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer patients. *Sci Immunol.* (2016) 1:aaf8943. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aaf8943
- 135. Eruslanov EB, Bhojnagarwala PS, Quatromoni JG, Stephen TL, Ranganathan A, Deshpande C, et al. Tumor-associated neutrophils stimulate T cell responses in early-stage human lung cancer. J Clin Invest. (2014) 124:5466–80. doi: 10.1172/JCI77053
- 136. Fridlender ZG, Sun J, Kim S, Kapoor V, Cheng G, Ling L, et al. Polarization of tumor-associated neutrophil phenotype by TGF-beta: "N1" versus "N2" TAN. *Cancer Cell.* (2009) 16:183–94. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.06.017

- 137. Mantovani A, Sica A, Allavena P, Garlanda C, Locati M. Tumor-associated macrophages and the related myeloid-derived suppressor cells as a paradigm of the diversity of macrophage activation. *Hum Immunol.* (2009) 70:325–30. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2009.02.008
- Otsuji M, Kimura Y, Aoe T, Okamoto Y, Saito T. Oxidative stress by tumorderived macrophages suppresses the expression of CD3 zeta chain of T-cell receptor complex and antigen-specific T-cell responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (1996) 93:13119–24. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.23.13119
- Cimen Bozkus C, Elzey BD, Crist SA, Ellies LG, Ratliff TL. Expression of cationic amino acid transporter 2 is required for myeloid-derived suppressor cell-mediated control of t cell immunity. *J Immunol.* (2015) 195:5237–50. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500959
- 140. Mairhofer DG, Ortner D, Tripp CH, Schaffenrath S, Fleming V, Heger L, et al. Impaired gp100-specific CD8(+) T-cell responses in the presence of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in a spontaneous mouse melanoma model. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2015) 135:2785–93. doi: 10.1038/jid.2015.241
- 141. Raber PL, Thevenot P, Sierra R, Wyczechowska D, Halle D, Ramirez ME, et al. Subpopulations of myeloid-derived suppressor cells impair T cell responses through independent nitric oxide-related pathways. *Int J Cancer.* (2014) 134:2853–64. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28622
- 142. Gabrilovich DI, Bronte V, Chen SH, Colombo MP, Ochoa A, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, et al. The terminology issue for myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Cancer Res.* (2007) 67:425. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3037
- 143. Nagaraj S, Youn JI, Gabrilovich DI. Reciprocal relationship between myeloid-derived suppressor cells and T cells. J Immunol. (2013) 191:17–23. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300654
- Gabrilovich DI. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Cancer Immunol Res. (2017) 5:3–8. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0297
- 145. Choksawangkarn W, Graham LM, Burke M, Lee SB, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Fenselau C, et al. Peptide-based systems analysis of inflammation induced myeloid-derived suppressor cells reveals diverse signaling pathways. *Proteomics.* (2016) 16:1881–8. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201500102
- 146. Gato M, Blanco-Luquin I, Zudaire M, de Morentin XM, Perez-Valderrama E, Zabaleta A, et al. Drafting the proteome landscape of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Proteomics*. (2016) 16:367–78. doi: 10.1002/pmic.2015 00229
- 147. Gato-Cañas M, Martinez de Morentin X, Blanco-Luquin I, Fernandez-Irigoyen J, Zudaire I, Liechtenstein T, et al. A core of kinase-regulated interactomes defines the neoplastic MDSC lineage. *Oncotarget.* (2015) 6:27160–75. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4746
- 148. Strauss L, Sangaletti S, Consonni FM, Szebeni G, Morlacchi S, Totaro MG, et al. RORC1 regulates tumor-promoting "Emergency" granulo-monocytopoiesis. *Cancer Cell.* (2015) 28:253–69. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.07.006
- 149. Mandruzzato S, Brandau S, Britten CM, Bronte V, Damuzzo V, Gouttefangeas C, et al.Toward harmonized phenotyping of human myeloid-derived suppressor cells by flow cytometry: results from an interim study. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2016) 65:161–9. doi: 10.1007/s00262-015-1782-5
- 150. Diaz-Montero CM, Salem ML, Nishimura MI, Garrett-Mayer E, Cole DJ, Montero AJ. Increased circulating myeloid-derived suppressor cells correlate with clinical cancer stage, metastatic tumor burden, doxorubicincyclophosphamide chemotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother.* (2009) 58:49–59. doi: 10.1007/s00262-008-0523-4
- 151. Gielen PR, Schulte BM, Kers-Rebel ED, Verrijp K, Bossman SA, Ter Laan M, et al. Elevated levels of polymorphonuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cells in patients with glioblastoma highly express S100A8/9 and arginase and suppress T cell function. *Neuro Oncol.* (2016) 18:1253–64. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/now034
- 152. Liang Y, Lü B, Zhao P, Lü W. Increased circulating GrMyeloidderived suppressor cells correlated with tumor burden and survival in locally advanced cervical cancer patient. J Cancer. (2019) 10:1341–8. doi: 10.7150/jca.29647
- 153. Vetsika EK, Koinis F, Gioulbasani M, Aggouraki D, Koutoulaki A, Skalidaki E, et al. A circulating subpopulation of monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells as an independent prognostic/predictive factor in untreated non-small lung cancer patients. *J Immunol Res.* (2014) 2014:659294. doi: 10.1155/2014/659294

- 154. Solito S, Falisi E, Diaz-Montero CM, Doni A, Pinton L, Rosato A, et al. A human promyelocytic-like population is responsible for the immune suppression mediated by myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Blood.* (2011) 118:2254–65. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-12-325753
- 155. Gabitass RF, Annels NE, Stocken DD, Pandha HA, Middleton GW. Elevated myeloid-derived suppressor cells in pancreatic, esophageal and gastric cancer are an independent prognostic factor and are associated with significant elevation of the Th2 cytokine interleukin-13. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2011) 60:1419–30. doi: 10.1007/s00262-011-1028-0
- 156. Kitano S, Postow MA, Ziegler CG, Kuk D, Panageas KS, Cortez C, et al. Computational algorithm-driven evaluation of monocytic myeloidderived suppressor cell frequency for prediction of clinical outcomes. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2014) 2:812–21. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0013
- 157. Sinha P, Clements VK, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Reduction of myeloidderived suppressor cells and induction of M1 macrophages facilitate the rejection of established metastatic disease. *J Immunol.* (2005) 174:636–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.2.636
- Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Sinha P, Beury DW, Clements VK. Cross-talk between myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC), macrophages, and dendritic cells enhances tumor-induced immune suppression. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2012) 22:275–81. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2012.01.011
- 159. Sinha P, Clements VK, Bunt SK, Albelda SM, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Crosstalk between myeloid-derived suppressor cells and macrophages subverts tumor immunity toward a type 2 response. *J Immunol.* (2007) 179:977–83. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.2.977
- Ben-Meir K, Twaik N, Baniyash M. Plasticity and biological diversity of myeloid derived suppressor cells. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2018) 51:154–61. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2018.03.015
- 161. Groth C, Hu X, Weber R, Fleming V, Altevogt P, Utikal J, et al. Immunosuppression mediated by myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) during tumour progression. Br J Cancer. (2019) 120:16–25. doi: 10.1038/s41416-018-0333-1
- 162. Vetsika EK, Koukos A, Kotsakis A. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: major figures that shape the immunosuppressive and angiogenic network in cancer. *Cells.* (2019) 8:1647. doi: 10.3390/cells8121647
- Gabrilovich DI, Velders MP, Sotomayor EM, Kast WM. Mechanism of immune dysfunction in cancer mediated by immature Gr-1+ myeloid cells. *J Immunol.* (2001) 166:5398–406. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.9.5398
- 164. Melani C, Chiodoni C, Forni G, Colombo MP. Myeloid cell expansion elicited by the progression of spontaneous mammary carcinomas in cerbB-2 transgenic BALB/c mice suppresses immune reactivity. *Blood.* (2003) 102:2138–45. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-01-0190
- 165. Budhwar S, Verma P, Verma R, Rai S, Singh K. The Yin and Yang of myeloid derived suppressor cells. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2776. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02776
- 166. Sica A, Massarotti M. Myeloid suppressor cells in cancer and autoimmunity. J Autoimmun. (2017) 85:117–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2017.07.010
- 167. Safarzadeh E, Orangi M, Mohammadi H, Babaie F, Baradaran B. Myeloidderived suppressor cells: important contributors to tumor progression and metastasis. *J Cell Physiol.* (2018) 233:3024–36. doi: 10.1002/jcp.26075
- Baniyash M. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as intruders and targets: clinical implications in cancer therapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2016) 65:857–67. doi: 10.1007/s00262-016-1849-y
- 169. Fleming V, Hu X, Weber R, Nagibin V, Groth C, Altevogt P, et al. Targeting myeloid-derived suppressor cells to bypass tumorinduced immunosuppression. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:398. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00398
- Condamine T, Mastio J, Gabrilovich DI. Transcriptional regulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. J Leukoc Biol. (2015) 98:913–22. doi: 10.1189/jlb.4RI0515-204R
- Condamine T, Gabrilovich DI. Molecular mechanisms regulating myeloidderived suppressor cell differentiation and function. *Trends Immunol.* (2011) 32:19–25. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2010.10.002
- Kumar V, Patel S, Tcyganov E, Gabrilovich DI. The nature of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment. *Trends Immunol.* (2016) 37:208–20. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016.01.004

- 173. Elkabets M, Ribeiro VS, Dinarello CA, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Di Santo JP, Apte RN, et al. IL-1β regulates a novel myeloid-derived suppressor cell subset that impairs NK cell development and function. *Eur J Immunol.* (2010) 40:3347–57. doi: 10.1002/eji.201041037
- 174. Zhao X, Rong L, Zhao X, Li X, Liu X, Deng J, et al. TNF signaling drives myeloid-derived suppressor cell accumulation. J Clin Invest. (2012) 122:4094–104. doi: 10.1172/JCI64115
- Gabrilovich DI, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Bronte V. Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2012) 12:253–68. doi: 10.1038/nri3175
- 176. Henze AT, Mazzone M. The impact of hypoxia on tumor-associated macrophages. J Clin Invest. (2016) 126:3672–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI84427
- 177. Park JE, Dutta B, Tse SW, Gupta N, Tan CF, Low JK, et al. Hypoxia-induced tumor exosomes promote M2-like macrophage polarization of infiltrating myeloid cells and microRNA-mediated metabolic shift. *Oncogene.* (2019) 38:5158–73. doi: 10.1038/s41388-019-0782-x
- 178. Corzo CA, Condamine T, Lu L, Cotter MJ, Youn JI, Cheng P, et al. HIFlα regulates function and differentiation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment. J Exp Med. (2010) 207:2439–53. doi: 10.1084/jem.20100587
- 179. Condamine T, Kumar V, Ramachandran IR, Youn JI, Celis E, Finnberg N, et al. ER stress regulates myeloid-derived suppressor cell fate through TRAIL-R-mediated apoptosis. J Clin Invest. (2014) 124:2626–39. doi: 10.1172/JCI74056
- 180. Zhu Y, Herndon JM, Sojka DK, Kim KW, Knolhoff BL, Zuo C, et al. Tissue-resident macrophages in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma originate from embryonic hematopoiesis and promote tumor progression. *Immunity*. (2017) 47:323–38.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.07.014
- 181. Tymoszuk P, Evens H, Marzola V, Wachowicz K, Wasmer MH, Datta S, et al. *In situ* proliferation contributes to accumulation of tumor-associated macrophages in spontaneous mammary tumors. *Eur J Immunol.* (2014) 44:2247–62. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344304
- 182. Zhou W, Ke SQ, Huang Z, Flavahan W, Fang X, Paul J, et al. Periostin secreted by glioblastoma stem cells recruits M2 tumour-associated macrophages and promotes malignant growth. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2015) 17:170– 82. doi: 10.1038/ncb3090
- 183. Qian BZ, Li J, Zhang H, Kitamura T, Zhang J, Campion LR, et al. CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes to facilitate breast-tumour metastasis. *Nature*. (2011) 475:222–5. doi: 10.1038/nature10138
- Cortez-Retamozo V, Etzrodt M, Newton A, Rauch PJ, Chudnovskiy A, Berger C, et al. Origins of tumor-associated macrophages and neutrophils. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:2491–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1113744109
- Movahedi K, Van Ginderachter JA. The ontogeny and microenvironmental regulation of tumor-associated macrophages. *Antioxid Redox Signal.* (2016) 25:775–91. doi: 10.1089/ars.2016.6704
- 186. Shand FH, Ueha S, Otsuji M, Koid SS, Shichino S, Tsukui T, et al. Tracking of intertissue migration reveals the origins of tumor-infiltrating monocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:7771–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1402914111
- Marvel D, Gabrilovich DI. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment: expect the unexpected. *J Clin Invest.* (2015) 125:3356–64. doi: 10.1172/JCI80005
- Movahedi K, Laoui D, Gysemans C, Baeten M, Stangé G, Van den Bossche J, et al. Different tumor microenvironments contain functionally distinct subsets of macrophages derived from Ly6C(high) monocytes. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:5728–39. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4672
- 189. Franklin RA, Liao W, Sarkar A, Kim MV, Bivona MR, Liu K, et al. The cellular and molecular origin of tumor-associated macrophages. *Science*. (2014) 344:921–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1252510
- 190. Bellora F, Castriconi R, Dondero A, Pessino A, Nencioni A, Liggieri G, et al. TLR activation of tumor-associated macrophages from ovarian cancer patients triggers cytolytic activity of NK cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2014) 44:1814–22. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344130
- 191. Bellora F, Castriconi R, Doni A, Cantoni C, Moretta L, Mantovani A, et al. M-CSF induces the expression of a membrane-bound form of IL-18 in a subset of human monocytes differentiating *in vitro* toward macrophages. *Eur J Immunol.* (2012) 42:1618–26. doi: 10.1002/eji.201142173

- 192. Lim HX, Hong HJ, Cho D, Kim TS. IL-18 enhances immunosuppressive responses by promoting differentiation into monocytic myeloidderived suppressor cells. *J Immunol.* (2014) 193:5453–60. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401282
- Vignali DA, Collison LW, Workman CJ. How regulatory T cells work. Nat Rev Immunol. (2008) 8:523–32. doi: 10.1038/nri2343
- 194. Sakaguchi S. Regulatory T cells: key controllers of immunologic selftolerance. Cell. (2000) 101:455-8. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80856-9
- 195. Shevach EM. CD4+ CD25+ suppressor T cells: more questions than answers. Nat Rev Immunol. (2002) 2:389–400. doi: 10.1038/nri821
- 196. Ohue Y, Nishikawa H. Regulatory T (Treg) cells in cancer: can Treg cells be a new therapeutic target? *Cancer Sci.* (2019) 110:2080–9. doi: 10.1111/cas.14069
- 197. Elkord E, Alcantar-Orozco EM, Dovedi SJ, Tran DQ, Hawkins RE, Gilham DE. T regulatory cells in cancer: recent advances and therapeutic potential. *Expert Opin Biol Ther.* (2010) 10:1573–86. doi: 10.1517/14712598.2010.529126
- Nishikawa H, Sakaguchi S. Regulatory T cells in cancer immunotherapy. Curr Opin Immunol. (2014) 27:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2013.12.005
- Ghiringhelli F, Ménard C, Martin F, Zitvogel L. The role of regulatory T cells in the control of natural killer cells: relevance during tumor progression. *Immunol Rev.* (2006) 214:229–38. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00445.x
- Ondondo B, Jones E, Godkin A, Gallimore A. Home sweet home: the tumor microenvironment as a haven for regulatory T cells. *Front Immunol.* (2013) 4:197. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00197
- 201. Magnuson AM, Kiner E, Ergun A, Park JS, Asinovski N, Ortiz-Lopez A, et al. Identification and validation of a tumor-infiltrating Treg transcriptional signature conserved across species and tumor types. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2018) 115:E10672–e681. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1810580115
- 202. Clark CE, Hingorani SR, Mick R, Combs C, Tuveson DA, Vonderheide RH. Dynamics of the immune reaction to pancreatic cancer from inception to invasion. *Cancer Res.* (2007) 67:9518–27. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-0175
- 203. Wang X, Lang M, Zhao T, Feng X, Zheng C, Huang C, et al. Cancer-FOXP3 directly activated CCL5 to recruit FOXP3(+)Treg cells in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Oncogene. (2017) 36:3048–58. doi: 10.1038/onc.2016.458
- 204. Tan MC, Goedegebuure PS, Belt BA, Flaherty B, Sankpal N, Gillanders WE, et al. Disruption of CCR5-dependent homing of regulatory T cells inhibits tumor growth in a murine model of pancreatic cancer. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:1746–55. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.182.3.1746
- Wachsmann MB, Pop LM, Vitetta ES. Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: a review of immunologic aspects. J Investig Med. (2012) 60:643–63. doi: 10.2310/JIM.0b013e31824a4d79
- 206. Taylor NA, Vick SC, Iglesia MD, Brickey WJ, Midkiff BR, McKinnon KP, et al. Treg depletion potentiates checkpoint inhibition in claudin-low breast cancer. J Clin Invest. (2017) 127:3472–83. doi: 10.1172/JCI90499
- 207. Siddiqui SA, Frigola X, Bonne-Annee S, Mercader M, Kuntz SM, Krambeck AE, et al. Tumor-infiltrating Foxp3-CD4+CD25+ T cells predict poor survival in renal cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2007) 13:2075–81. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2139
- Messmer MN, Netherby CS, Banik D, Abrams SI. Tumor-induced myeloid dysfunction and its implications for cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother.* (2015) 64:1–13. doi: 10.1007/s00262-014-1639-3
- Solito S, Marigo I, Pinton L, Damuzzo V, Mandruzzato S, Bronte V. Myeloidderived suppressor cell heterogeneity in human cancers. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2014) 1319:47–65. doi: 10.1111/nyas.12469
- 210. Zhang S, Ma X, Zhu C, Liu L, Wang G, Yuan X. The role of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in patients with solid tumors: a meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0164514. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0164514
- 211. Hoechst B, Gamrekelashvili J, Manns MP, Greten TF, Korangy F. Plasticity of human Th17 cells and iTregs is orchestrated by different subsets of myeloid cells. *Blood*. (2011) 117:6532–41. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-11-317321
- 212. Schlecker E, Stojanovic A, Eisen C, Quack C, Falk CS, Umansky V, et al. Tumor-infiltrating monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells mediate CCR5-dependent recruitment of regulatory T cells favoring tumor growth. *J Immunol.* (2012) 189:5602–11. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201018
- 213. Yang J, Yan J, Liu B. Targeting VEGF/VEGFR to modulate antitumor immunity. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:978. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00978

- 214. Siret C, Collignon A, Silvy F, Robert S, Cheyrol T, André P, et al. Deciphering the crosstalk between myeloid-derived suppressor cells and regulatory T cells in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:3070. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.03070
- 215. Stromnes IM, Brockenbrough JS, Izeradjene K, Carlson MA, Cuevas C, Simmons RM, et al. Targeted depletion of an MDSC subset unmasks pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma to adaptive immunity. *Gut.* (2014) 63:1769–81. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2013-306271
- Fujimura T, Ring S, Umansky V, Mahnke K, Enk AH. Regulatory T cells stimulate B7-H1 expression in myeloid-derived suppressor cells in ret melanomas. J Invest Dermatol. (2012) 132:1239–46. doi: 10.1038/jid.2011.416
- 217. Yang R, Cai Z, Zhang Y, W.Yutzy Ht, Roby KF, Roden RB. CD80 in immune suppression by mouse ovarian carcinoma-associated Gr-1+CD11b+ myeloid cells. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:6807–15. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3755
- 218. Pan PY, Ma G, Weber KJ, Ozao-Choy J, Wang G, Yin B, et al. Immune stimulatory receptor CD40 is required for T-cell suppression and T regulatory cell activation mediated by myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:99–108. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1882
- Jiang Y, Li Y, Zhu B. T-cell exhaustion in the tumor microenvironment. Cell Death Dis. (2015) 6:e1792. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2015.162
- Bianchi G, Borgonovo G, Pistoia V, Raffaghello L. Immunosuppressive cells and tumour microenvironment: focus on mesenchymal stem cells and myeloid derived suppressor cells. *Histol Histopathol.* (2011) 26:941–51.
- 221. Labani-Motlagh A, Ashja-Mahdavi M, Loskog A. The tumor microenvironment: a milieu hindering and obstructing antitumor immune responses. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:940. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00940
- 222. M. De Simone, Arrigoni A, Rossetti G, Gruarin P, Ranzani V, Politano C, et al. Transcriptional landscape of human tissue lymphocytes unveils uniqueness of tumor-infiltrating t regulatory cells. *Immunity.* (2016) 45:1135–47. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.10.021
- 223. Yuan Y, Jiang YC, Sun CK, Chen QM. Role of the tumor microenvironment in tumor progression and the clinical applications (Review). Oncol Rep. (2016) 35:2499–515. doi: 10.3892/or.2016.4660
- 224. Monu NR, Frey AB. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells and anti-tumor T cells: a complex relationship. *Immunol Invest.* (2012) 41:595–613. doi: 10.3109/08820139.2012.673191
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2009) 9:162–74. doi: 10.1038/nri2506
- 226. Marigo I, Bosio E, Solito S, Mesa C, Fernandez A, Dolcetti L, et al. Tumor-induced tolerance and immune suppression depend on the C/EBPbeta transcription factor. *Immunity*. (2010) 32:790–802. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010.05.010
- 227. Hoechst B, Voigtlaender T, Ormandy L, Gamrekelashvili J, Zhao F, Wedemeyer H, et al. Myeloid derived suppressor cells inhibit natural killer cells in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma via the NKp30 receptor. *Hepatology.* (2009) 50:799–807. doi: 10.1002/hep.23054
- 228. Stiff A, Trikha P, Mundy-Bosse B, McMichael E, Mace TA, Benner B, et al. Nitric oxide production by myeloid-derived suppressor cells plays a role in impairing Fc receptor-mediated natural killer cell function. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:1891–904. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-0691
- 229. Vaknin I, Blinder L, Wang L, Gazit R, Shapira E, Genina O, et al. A common pathway mediated through Toll-like receptors leads to Tand natural killer-cell immunosuppression. *Blood.* (2008) 111:1437–47. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-07-100404
- Li H, Han Y, Guo Q, Zhang M, Cao X. Cancer-expanded myeloid-derived suppressor cells induce anergy of NK cells through membrane-bound TGF-beta 1. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:240–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.182. 1.240
- Wei SC, Duffy CR, Allison JP. Fundamental mechanisms of immune checkpoint blockade therapy. *Cancer Discov.* (2018) 8:1069–86. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0367
- Cacalano NA. Regulation of natural killer cell function by STAT3. Front Immunol. (2016) 7:128. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00128
- Condamine T, Ramachandran I, Youn JI, Gabrilovich DI. Regulation of tumor metastasis by myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Annu Rev Med.* (2015) 66:97–110. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-051013-052304

- 234. Nefedova Y, Huang M, Kusmartsev S, Bhattacharya R, Cheng P, Salup R, et al. Hyperactivation of STAT3 is involved in abnormal differentiation of dendritic cells in cancer. *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:464–74. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.1.464
- 235. Rebe C, Vegran F, Berger H, Ghiringhelli F. STAT3 activation: a key factor in tumor immunoescape. *Jakstat.* (2013) 2:e23010. doi: 10.4161/jkst.23010
- 236. Yu J, Wang Y, Yan F, Zhang P, Li H, Zhao H, et al. Noncanonical NF-kappaB activation mediates STAT3-stimulated IDO upregulation in myeloid-derived suppressor cells in breast cancer. J Immunol. (2014) 193:2574–86. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400833
- 237. Proia TA, Singh M, Woessner R, Carnevalli L, Bommakanti G, Magiera L, et al. STAT3 Antisense oligonucleotide remodels the suppressive tumor microenvironment to enhance immune activation in combination with anti-PD-L1. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2020) 26:6335–49. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-20-1066
- Harris SG, Padilla J, Koumas L, Ray D, Phipps RP. Prostaglandins as modulators of immunity. *Trends Immunol.* (2002) 23:144–50. doi: 10.1016/S1471-4906(01)02154-8
- 239. Mao Y, Sarhan D, Steven A, Seliger B, Kiessling R, Lundqvist A. Inhibition of tumor-derived prostaglandin-e2 blocks the induction of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and recovers natural killer cell activity. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:4096–106. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0635
- 240. Newson J, Motwani MP, Kendall AC, Nicolaou A, Muccioli GG, Alhouayek M, et al. Inflammatory resolution triggers a prolonged phase of immune suppression through COX-1/mPGES-1-derived prostaglandin E2. *Cell Rep.* (2017) 20:3162–75. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.08.098
- 241. Santin AD, Bellone S, Ravaggi A, Roman J, Smith CV, Pecorelli S, et al. Increased levels of interleukin-10 and transforming growth factor-beta in the plasma and ascitic fluid of patients with advanced ovarian cancer. *Bjog.* (2001) 108:804–8. doi: 10.1016/S0306-5456(00)00206-0
- 242. Song L, Asgharzadeh S, Salo J, Engell K, Wu HW, Sposto R, et al. Valpha24-invariant NKT cells mediate antitumor activity via killing of tumor-associated macrophages. *J Clin Invest.* (2009) 119:1524–36. doi: 10.1172/JCI37869
- 243. Lee CR, Lee W, Cho SK, Park SG. Characterization of multiple cytokine combinations and TGF-β on differentiation and functions of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:869. doi: 10.3390/ijms19030869
- 244. Allan DS, Rybalov B, Awong G, Zúñiga-Pflücker JC, Kopcow HD, Carlyle JR, et al. TGF-β affects development and differentiation of human natural killer cell subsets. *Eur J Immunol.* (2010) 40:2289–95. doi: 10.1002/eji.200939910
- 245. Cerdeira AS, Rajakumar A, Royle CM, Lo A, Husain Z, Thadhani RI, et al. Conversion of peripheral blood NK cells to a decidual NK-like phenotype by a cocktail of defined factors. *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:3939–48. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202582
- 246. Keskin DB, Allan DS, Rybalov B, Andzelm MM, Stern JN, Kopcow HD, et al. TGFbeta promotes conversion of CD16+ peripheral blood NK cells into CD16- NK cells with similarities to decidual NK cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2007) 104:3378–83. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0611098104
- 247. Derynck R, Akhurst RJ, Balmain A. TGF-beta signaling in tumor suppression and cancer progression. *Nat Genet.* (2001) 29:117–29. doi: 10.1038/ng1001-117
- 248. Tai LH, Alkayyal AA, Leslie AL, Sahi S, Bennett S, Tanese de Souza C, et al. Phosphodiesterase-5 inhibition reduces postoperative metastatic disease by targeting surgery-induced myeloid derived suppressor cell-dependent inhibition of Natural Killer cell cytotoxicity. *Oncoimmunology.* (2018) 7:e1431082. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.14 31082
- Nausch N, Galani IE, Schlecker E, Cerwenka A. Mononuclear myeloidderived "suppressor" cells express RAE-1 and activate natural killer cells. *Blood.* (2008) 112:4080–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-03-143776
- 250. Friese MA, Wischhusen J, Wick W, Weiler M, Eisele G, Steinle A, et al. RNA interference targeting transforming growth factor-beta enhances NKG2D-mediated antiglioma immune response, inhibits glioma cell migration and invasiveness, and abrogates tumorigenicity *in vivo. Cancer Res.* (2004) 64:7596–603. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1627
- 251. Trotta R, Dal Col J, Yu J, Ciarlariello D, Thomas B, Zhang X, et al. TGFbeta utilizes SMAD3 to inhibit CD16-mediated IFN-gamma production and

antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity in human NK cells. J Immunol. (2008) 181:3784–92. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.6.3784

- 252. Sun X, Sui Q, Zhang C, Tian Z, Zhang J. Targeting blockage of STAT3 in hepatocellular carcinoma cells augments NK cell functions via reverse hepatocellular carcinoma-induced immune suppression. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2013) 12:2885–96. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-12-1087
- 253. Sui Q, Zhang J, Sun X, Zhang C, Han Q, Tian Z. NK cells are the crucial antitumor mediators when STAT3-mediated immunosuppression is blocked in hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Immunol.* (2014) 193:2016–23. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302389
- Lebrun JJ. The dual role of TGFbeta in human cancer: from tumor suppression to cancer metastasis. ISRN Mol Biol. (2012) 2012:381428. doi: 10.5402/2012/381428
- Bierie B, Moses HL. Tumour microenvironment: TGFbeta: the molecular Jekyll and Hyde of cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. (2006) 6:506–20. doi: 10.1038/nrc1926
- 256. Massague J. TGFbeta in Cancer. Cell. (2008) 134:215-30. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.07.001
- 257. Lob S, Konigsrainer A, Rammensee HG, Opelz G, Terness P. Inhibitors of indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase for cancer therapy: can we see the wood for the trees? *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2009) 9:445–52. doi: 10.1038/nrc2639
- Munn DH, Mellor AL. IDO in the tumor microenvironment: inflammation, counter-regulation, and tolerance. *Trends Immunol.* (2016) 37:193–207. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016.01.002
- 259. Sucher R, Kurz K, Weiss G, Margreiter R, Fuchs D, Brandacher G. IDOmediated tryptophan degradation in the pathogenesis of malignant tumor disease. *Int J Tryptophan Res.* (2010) 3:113–20. doi: 10.4137/IJTR.S4157
- 260. Gostner JM, Becker K, Uberall F, Fuchs D. The potential of targeting indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase for cancer treatment. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*. (2015) 19:605–15. doi: 10.1517/14728222.2014.995092
- 261. Hornyak L, Dobos N, Koncz G, Karanyi Z, Pall D, Szabo Z, et al. The role of indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase in cancer development, diagnostics, and therapy. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:151. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00151
- 262. Zhang J, Han X, Hu X, Jin F, Gao Z, Yin L, et al. IDO1 impairs NK cell cytotoxicity by decreasing NKG2D/NKG2DLs via promoting miR-18a. *Mol Immunol.* (2018) 103:144–55. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2018.09.011
- 263. M. Della Chiesa, Carlomagno S, Frumento G, Balsamo M, Cantoni C, Conte R, et al. The tryptophan catabolite L-kynurenine inhibits the surface expression of NKp46- and NKG2D-activating receptors and regulates NK-cell function. *Blood.* (2006) 108:4118–25. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-03-006700
- 264. Bruno A, Mortara L, Baci D, Noonan DM, Albini A. Myeloid derived suppressor cells interactions with natural killer cells and pro-angiogenic activities: roles in tumor progression. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:771. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00771
- Veglia F, Perego M, Gabrilovich D. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells coming of age. Nat Immunol. (2018) 19:108–19. doi: 10.1038/s41590-017-0022-x
- 266. Choudhari SK, Chaudhary M, Bagde S, Gadbail AR, Joshi V. Nitric oxide and cancer: a review. World J Surg Oncol. (2013) 11:118. doi: 10.1186/1477-7819-11-118
- 267. Ying L, Hofseth LJ. An emerging role for endothelial nitric oxide synthase in chronic inflammation and cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2007) 67:1407–10. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2149
- 268. Yang L, DeBusk LM, Fukuda K, Fingleton B, Green-Jarvis B, Shyr Y, et al. Expansion of myeloid immune suppressor Gr+CD11b+ cells in tumorbearing host directly promotes tumor angiogenesis. *Cancer Cell.* (2004) 6:409–21. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2004.08.031
- 269. Karakhanova S, Link J, Heinrich M, Shevchenko I, Yang Y, Hassenpflug M, et al. Characterization of myeloid leukocytes and soluble mediators in pancreatic cancer: importance of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Oncoimmunology. (2015) 4:e998519. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2014.998519
- 270. Shojaei F, Wu X, Zhong C, Yu L, Liang XH, Yao J, et al. Bv8 regulates myeloid-cell-dependent tumour angiogenesis. *Nature*. (2007) 450:825–31. doi: 10.1038/nature06348
- 271. Yang L, Huang J, Ren X, Gorska AE, Chytil A, Aakre M, et al. Abrogation of TGF beta signaling in mammary carcinomas recruits Gr-1+CD11b+ myeloid cells that promote metastasis. *Cancer Cell.* (2008) 13:23–35. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2007.12.004

- Murdoch C, Muthana M, Coffelt SB, Lewis CE. The role of myeloid cells in the promotion of tumour angiogenesis. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2008) 8:618–31. doi: 10.1038/nrc2444
- 273. Jacob A, Prekeris R. The regulation of MMP targeting to invadopodia during cancer metastasis. *Front Cell Dev Biol.* (2015) 3:4. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2015.00004
- 274. Horikawa N, Abiko K, Matsumura N, Hamanishi J, Baba T, Yamaguchi K, et al. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in ovarian cancer inhibits tumor immunity through the accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:587–99. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0387
- Voron T, Marcheteau E, Pernot S, Colussi O, Tartour E, Taieb J, et al. Control of the immune response by pro-angiogenic factors. *Front Oncol.* (2014) 4:70. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00070
- 276. Chun E, Lavoie S, Michaud M, Gallini CA, Kim J, Soucy G, et al. CCL2 promotes colorectal carcinogenesis by enhancing polymorphonuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cell population and function. *Cell Rep.* (2015) 12:244–57. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.06.024
- 277. Obermajer N, Muthuswamy R, Odunsi K, Edwards RP, Kalinski P. PGE(2)-induced CXCL12 production and CXCR4 expression controls the accumulation of human MDSCs in ovarian cancer environment. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:7463–70. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2449
- 278. Alfaro C, Teijeira A, Onate C, Perez G, Sanmamed MF, Andueza MP, et al. Tumor-produced interleukin-8 attracts human myeloid-derived suppressor cells and elicits extrusion of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:3924–36. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2463
- Pouyssegur J, Dayan F, Mazure NM. Hypoxia signalling in cancer and approaches to enforce tumour regression. *Nature*. (2006) 441:437–43. doi: 10.1038/nature04871
- 280. Ahn GO, Seita J, Hong BJ, Kim YE, Bok S, Lee CJ, et al. Transcriptional activation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) in myeloid cells promotes angiogenesis through VEGF and S100A8. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:2698–703. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1320243111
- Allard B, Beavis PA, Darcy PK, Stagg J. Immunosuppressive activities of adenosine in cancer. *Curr Opin Pharmacol.* (2016) 29:7–16. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2016.04.001
- Antonioli L, Blandizzi C, Pacher P, Hasko G. Immunity, inflammation and cancer: a leading role for adenosine. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2013) 13:842–57. doi: 10.1038/nrc3613
- 283. Chiu DK, Tse AP, Xu IM, Di Cui J, Lai RK, Li LL, et al. Hypoxia inducible factor HIF-1 promotes myeloid-derived suppressor cells accumulation through ENTPD2/CD39L1 in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:517. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00530-7
- 284. Ryzhov SV, Pickup MW, Chytil A, Gorska AE, Zhang Q, Owens P, et al. Role of TGF-beta signaling in generation of CD39+CD73+ myeloid cells in tumors. *J Immunol.* (2014) 193:3155–64. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.14 00578
- 285. Raskovalova T, Lokshin A, Huang X, Jackson EK, Gorelik E. Adenosinemediated inhibition of cytotoxic activity and cytokine production by IL-2/NKp46-activated NK cells: involvement of protein kinase A isozyme I (PKA I). *Immunol Res.* (2006) 36:91–9. doi: 10.1385/IR:36:1:91
- 286. Cekic C, Day YJ, Sag D, Linden J. Myeloid expression of adenosine A2A receptor suppresses T and NK cell responses in the solid tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:7250–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-3583
- 287. Lindau D, Gielen P, Kroesen M, Wesseling P, Adema GJ. The immunosuppressive tumour network: myeloid-derived suppressor cells, regulatory T cells and natural killer T cells. *Immunology*. (2013) 138:105–15. doi: 10.1111/imm.12036
- 288. Shevach EM. Mechanisms of foxp3+ T regulatory cellmediated suppression. *Immunity*. (2009) 30:636–45. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.04.010
- Schmidt A, Oberle N, Krammer PH. Molecular mechanisms of treg-mediated T cell suppression. *Front Immunol.* (2012) 3:51. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00051
- 290. Pedroza-Pacheco I, Madrigal A, Saudemont A. Interaction between natural killer cells and regulatory T cells: perspectives for immunotherapy. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2013) 10:222–9. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2013.2

- 291. Ghiringhelli F, Ménard C, Terme M, Flament C, Taieb J, Chaput N, et al. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells inhibit natural killer cell functions in a transforming growth factor-beta-dependent manner. J Exp Med. (2005) 202:1075–85. doi: 10.1084/jem.20051511
- 292. Chang WC, Li CH, Chu LH, Huang PS, Sheu BC, Huang SC. Regulatory T cells suppress natural killer cell immunity in patients with human cervical carcinoma. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. (2016) 26:156–62. doi: 10.1097/IGC.000000000000578
- 293. Hansen GL, Gaudernack G, Brunsvig PF, Cvancarova M, Kyte JA. Immunological factors influencing clinical outcome in lung cancer patients after telomerase peptide vaccination. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2015) 64:1609–21. doi: 10.1007/s00262-015-1766-5
- 294. Talmadge JE, Gabrilovich DI. History of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Nat Rev Cancer. (2013) 13:739–52. doi: 10.1038/nrc3581
- 295. Khaled YS, Ammori BJ, Elkord E. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer: recent progress and prospects. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2013) 91:493–502. doi: 10.1038/icb.2013.29
- 296. Dannenmann SR, Thielicke J, Stöckli M, Matter C, von Boehmer L, Cecconi V, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages subvert T-cell function and correlate with reduced survival in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Oncoimmunology*. (2013) 2:e23562. doi: 10.4161/onci.23562
- 297. Mantovani A. The growing diversity and spectrum of action of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2010) 40:3317–20. doi: 10.1002/eji.201041170
- 298. Katoh H, Watanabe M. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells and therapeutic strategies in cancer. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2015) 2015:159269. doi: 10.1155/2015/159269
- Mandruzzato S, Solito S, Falisi E, Francescato S, Chiarion-Sileni V, Mocellin S, et al. IL4Ralpha+ myeloid-derived suppressor cell expansion in cancer patients. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:6562–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803831
- Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Sinha P. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: linking inflammation and cancer. J Immunol. (2009) 182:4499–506. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0802740
- 301. Lambrechts D, Wauters E, Boeckx B, Aibar S, Nittner D, Burton O, et al. Phenotype molding of stromal cells in the lung tumor microenvironment. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:1277–89. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0096-5
- 302. Weber R, Fleming V, Hu X, Nagibin V, Groth C, Altevogt P, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells hinder the anti-cancer activity of immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1310. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01310
- 303. Yamauchi Y, Safi S, Blattner C, Rathinasamy A, Umansky L, Juenger S, et al. Circulating and tumor myeloid-derived suppressor cells in resectable non-small-cell lung cancer. *Am J Resp Crit Care Med.* (2018) 198:777–87. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201708-1707OC
- 304. Liu CY, Wang YM, Wang CL, Feng PH, Ko HW, Liu YH, et al. Population alterations of L-arginase- and inducible nitric oxide synthaseexpressed CD11b+/CD14(-)/CD15+/CD33+ myeloid-derived suppressor cells and CD8+ T lymphocytes in patients with advanced-stage nonsmall cell lung cancer. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. (2010) 136:35–45. doi: 10.1007/s00432-009-0634-0
- Pyzer AR, Cole L, Rosenblatt J, Avigan DE. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as effectors of immune suppression in cancer. *Int J Cancer.* (2016) 139:1915–26. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30232
- 306. Weed DT, Vella JL, Reis IM, De la Fuente AC, Gomez C, Sargi Z, et al. Tadalafil reduces myeloid-derived suppressor cells and regulatory T cells and promotes tumor immunity in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21:39–48. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-1711
- 307. Nagaraj S, Youn JI, Weber H, Iclozan C, Lu L, Cotter MJ, et al. Antiinflammatory triterpenoid blocks immune suppressive function of MDSCs and improves immune response in cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2010) 16:1812– 23. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-3272
- Alizadeh D, Larmonier N. Chemotherapeutic targeting of cancerinduced immunosuppressive cells. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:2663–8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-0301
- Draghiciu O, Lubbers J, Nijman HW, Daemen T. Myeloid derived suppressor cells-An overview of combat strategies to increase immunotherapy efficacy. *Oncoimmunology*. (2015) 4:e954829. doi: 10.4161/21624011.2014.954829

- 310. Suzuki E, Kapoor V, Jassar AS, Kaiser LR, Albelda SM. Gemcitabine selectively eliminates splenic Gr-1+/CD11b+ myeloid suppressor cells in tumor-bearing animals and enhances antitumor immune activity. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2005) 11:6713–21. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0883
- 311. Vincent J, Mignot G, Chalmin F, Ladoire S, Bruchard M, Chevriaux A, et al. 5-Fluorouracil selectively kills tumor-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells resulting in enhanced T cell-dependent antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:3052–61. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3690
- 312. Alizadeh D, Trad M, Hanke NT, Larmonier CB, Janikashvili N, Bonnotte B, et al. Doxorubicin eliminates myeloid-derived suppressor cells and enhances the efficacy of adoptive T-cell transfer in breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:104–18. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1545
- 313. Gujar SA, Clements D, Dielschneider R, Helson E, Marcato P, Lee PW. Gemcitabine enhances the efficacy of reovirus-based oncotherapy through anti-tumour immunological mechanisms. Br J Cancer. (2014) 110:83–93. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2013.695
- 314. Cao G, Wang J, Zheng X, Wei H, Tian Z, Sun R. Tumor therapeutics work as stress inducers to enhance tumor sensitivity to natural killer (NK) cell cytolysis by up-regulating NKp30 Ligand B7-H6. J Biol Chem. (2015) 290:29964–73. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.674010
- 315. Shi L, Lin H, Li G, Sun Y, Shen J, Xu J, et al. Cisplatin enhances NK cells immunotherapy efficacy to suppress HCC progression via altering the androgen receptor (AR)-ULBP2 signals. *Cancer Lett.* (2016) 373:45–56. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2016.01.017
- 316. Xia C, Liu C, He Z, Cai Y, Chen J. Metformin inhibits cervical cancer cell proliferation by modulating PI3K/Akt-induced major histocompatibility complex class I-related chain A gene expression. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. (2020) 39:127. doi: 10.1186/s13046-020-01627-6
- 317. Wang Y, Jia A, Bi Y, Wang Y, Yang Q, Cao Y, et al. Targeting myeloidderived suppressor cells in cancer immunotherapy. *Cancers*. (2020) 12:2626. doi: 10.3390/cancers12092626
- 318. Tran HC, Wan Z, Sheard MA, Sun J, Jackson JR, Malvar J, et al. TGFβR1 blockade with galunisertib (LY2157299) enhances antineuroblastoma activity of the anti-GD2 antibody dinutuximab (ch14.18) with natural killer cells. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:804–13. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1743
- 319. Shaim H, Basar R, Wang F, Daher M, Zamler D, Gumin J, et al. Inhibition of the αv integrin-TGF- β axis improves natural killer cell function against glioblastoma stem cells. *bioRxiv* [*Preprint*]. (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.03.30.016667
- 320. Yingling JM, McMillen WT, Yan L, Huang H, Sawyer JS, Graff J, et al. Preclinical assessment of galunisertib (LY2157299 monohydrate), a first-inclass transforming growth factor-β receptor type I inhibitor. *Oncotarget.* (2018) 9:6659–77. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.23795
- 321. Fujiwara Y, Nokihara H, Yamada Y, Yamamoto N, Sunami K, Utsumi H, et al. Phase 1 study of galunisertib, a TGF-beta receptor I kinase inhibitor, in Japanese patients with advanced solid tumors. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* (2015) 76:1143–52. doi: 10.1007/s00280-015-2895-4
- 322. Otegbeye F, Ojo E, Moreton S, Mackowski N, Lee DA, de Lima M, et al. Inhibiting TGF-beta signaling preserves the function of highly activated, *in vitro* expanded natural killer cells in AML and colon cancer models. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0191358. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0191358
- 323. Morris JC, Tan AR, Olencki TE, Shapiro GI, Dezube BJ, Reiss M, et al. Phase I study of GC1008 (fresolimumab): a human anti-transforming growth factor-beta (TGFβ) monoclonal antibody in patients with advanced malignant melanoma or renal cell carcinoma. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e90353. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090353
- 324. Wang QM, Tang PM, Lian GY, Li C, Li J, Huang XR, et al. Enhanced cancer immunotherapy with Smad3-silenced NK-92 cells. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2018) 6:965–77. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0491
- 325. Wang Z, Guo L, Song Y, Zhang Y, Lin D, Hu B, et al. Augmented anti-tumor activity of NK-92 cells expressing chimeric receptors of TGFβR II and NKG2D. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2017) 66:537–48. doi: 10.1007/s00262-017-1959-1
- 326. Foltz JA, Moseman JE, Thakkar A, Chakravarti N, Lee DA. TGFβ imprinting during activation promotes natural killer cell cytokine hypersecretion. *Cancers*. (2018) 10:423. doi: 10.3390/cancers10110423

- 327. Horn LA, Riskin J, Hempel HA, Fousek K, Lind H, Hamilton DH, et al. Simultaneous inhibition of CXCR1/2, TGF-β, and PD-L1 remodels the tumor and its microenvironment to drive antitumor immunity. *J Immunother Cancer*. (2020) 8:e000326. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2019-000326
- 328. Morelli MB, Amantini C, Santoni M, Soriani A, Nabissi M, Cardinali C, et al. Axitinib induces DNA damage response leading to senescence, mitotic catastrophe, and increased NK cell recognition in human renal carcinoma cells. Oncotarget. (2015) 6:36245–59. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5768
- 329. Huang Y, Wang Y, Li Y, Guo K, He Y. Role of sorafenib and sunitinib in the induction of expressions of NKG2D ligands in nasopharyngeal carcinoma with high expression of ABCG2. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. (2011) 137:829–37. doi: 10.1007/s00432-010-0944-2
- 330. Xin H, Zhang C, Herrmann A, Du Y, Figlin R, Yu H. Sunitinib inhibition of Stat3 induces renal cell carcinoma tumor cell apoptosis and reduces immunosuppressive cells. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:2506–13. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4323
- 331. Guislain A, Gadiot J, Kaiser A, Jordanova ES, Broeks A, Sanders J, et al. Sunitinib pretreatment improves tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte expansion by reduction in intratumoral content of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in human renal cell carcinoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2015) 64:1241– 50. doi: 10.1007/s00262-015-1735-z
- 332. Ozao-Choy J, Ma G, Kao J, Wang GX, Meseck M, Sung M, et al. The novel role of tyrosine kinase inhibitor in the reversal of immune suppression and modulation of tumor microenvironment for immune-based cancer therapies. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:2514–22. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4709
- 333. Stiff A, Trikha P, Wesolowski R, Kendra K, Hsu V, Uppati S, et al. Myeloidderived suppressor cells express Bruton's tyrosine kinase and can be depleted in tumor-bearing hosts by ibrutinib treatment. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:2125– 36. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-1490
- Castro F, Cardoso AP, Gonçalves RM, Serre K, Oliveira MJ. Interferongamma at the crossroads of tumor immune surveillance or evasion. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:847. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00847
- 335. Xiao W, Klement JD, Lu C, Ibrahim ML, Liu K. IFNAR1 Controls autocrine type I IFN regulation of PD-L1 expression in myeloid-derived suppressor cells. J Immunol. (2018) 201:264–77. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1800129
- 336. Liu JF, Deng WW, Chen L, Li YC, Wu L, Ma SR, et al. Inhibition of JAK2/STAT3 reduces tumor-induced angiogenesis and myeloid-derived suppressor cells in head and neck cancer. *Mol Carcinog.* (2018) 57:429–39. doi: 10.1002/mc.22767
- 337. Bill MA, Fuchs JR, Li C, Yui J, Bakan C, Benson DM, et al. The small molecule curcumin analog FLLL32 induces apoptosis in melanoma cells via STAT3 inhibition and retains the cellular response to cytokines with anti-tumor activity. *Mol Cancer*. (2010) 9:165. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-9-165
- Kortylewski M, Moreira D. Myeloid cells as a target for oligonucleotide therapeutics: turning obstacles into opportunities. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2017) 66:979–88. doi: 10.1007/s00262-017-1966-2
- 339. Veglia F, Tyurin VA, Blasi M, De Leo A, Kossenkov AV, Donthireddy L, et al. Fatty acid transport protein 2 reprograms neutrophils in cancer. *Nature*. (2019) 569:73–8. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1118-2
- 340. Mao Y, Eissler N, Blanc KL, Johnsen JI, Kogner P, Kiessling R. Targeting Suppressive Myeloid Cells Potentiates Checkpoint Inhibitors to Control Spontaneous Neuroblastoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:3849–59. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1912
- 341. Orillion A, Hashimoto A, Damayanti N, Shen L, Adelaiye-Ogala R, Arisa S, et al. Entinostat neutralizes myeloid-derived suppressor cells and enhances the antitumor effect of PD-1 inhibition in murine models of lung and renal cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:5187–201. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-0741
- 342. Ni L, Wang L, Yao C, Ni Z, Liu F, Gong C, et al. The histone deacetylase inhibitor valproic acid inhibits NKG2D expression in natural killer cells through suppression of STAT3 and HDAC3. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:45266. doi: 10.1038/srep45266
- Ogbomo H, Michaelis M, Kreuter J, Doerr HW, Cinatl J Jr. Histone deacetylase inhibitors suppress natural killer cell cytolytic activity. *FEBS Lett.* (2007) 581:1317–22. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2007.02.045

- Kiany S, Huang G, Kleinerman ES. Effect of entinostat on NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity against osteosarcoma cells and osteosarcoma lung metastasis. Oncoimmunology. (2017) 6:e1333214. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1333214
- 345. Steggerda SM, Bennett MK, Chen J, Emberley E, Huang T, Janes JR, et al.A. Inhibition of arginase by CB-1158 blocks myeloid cell-mediated immune suppression in the tumor microenvironment. *J Immunother Cancer*. (2017) 5:101. doi: 10.1186/s40425-017-0308-4
- Rodriguez PC, Ochoa AC, Al-Khami AA. Arginine metabolism in myeloid cells shapes innate and adaptive immunity. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:93. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00093
- 347. Heys SD, Segar A, Payne S, Bruce DM, Kernohan N, Eremin O. Dietary supplementation with L-arginine: modulation of tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes in patients with colorectal cancer. Br J Surg. (1997) 84:238–41. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2168.1997.02528.x
- 348. Rodriguez PC, Quiceno DG, Zabaleta J, Ortiz B, Zea AH, Piazuelo MB, et al. Arginase I production in the tumor microenvironment by mature myeloid cells inhibits T-cell receptor expression and antigen-specific T-cell responses. *Cancer Res.* (2004) 64:5839–49. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-0465
- 349. Rodríguez PC, Ochoa AC. Arginine regulation by myeloid derived suppressor cells and tolerance in cancer: mechanisms and therapeutic perspectives. *Immunol Rev.* (2008) 222:180–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00608.x
- 350. Sandner P, Hütter J, Tinel H, Ziegelbauer K, Bischoff E. PDE5 inhibitors beyond erectile dysfunction. Int J Impot Res. (2007) 19:533–43. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijir.3901577
- 351. Serafini P, Meckel K, Kelso M, Noonan K, Califano J, Koch W, et al. Phosphodiesterase-5 inhibition augments endogenous antitumor immunity by reducing myeloid-derived suppressor cell function. *J Exp Med.* (2006) 203:2691–702. doi: 10.1084/jem.20061104
- 352. Califano JA, Khan Z, Noonan KA, Rudraraju L, Zhang Z, Wang H, et al. Tadalafil augments tumor specific immunity in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21:30–8. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-1716
- 353. Castaigne S, Chomienne C, Daniel MT, Ballerini P, Berger R, Fenaux P, et al. All-trans retinoic acid as a differentiation therapy for acute promyelocytic leukemia. I. Clinical results. *Blood.* (1990) 76:1704–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.V76.9.1704.bloodjournal7691704
- 354. Warrell RP Jr., Frankel SR, Miller WH Jr., Scheinberg DA, Itri LM, Hittelman WM, et al. Differentiation therapy of acute promyelocytic leukemia with tretinoin (all-trans-retinoic acid). N Engl J Med. (1991) 324:1385–93. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199105163242002
- Breitman TR, Collins SJ, Keene BR. Terminal differentiation of human promyelocytic leukemic cells in primary culture in response to retinoic acid. *Blood.* (1981) 57:1000–4. doi: 10.1182/blood.V57.6.1000.1000
- 356. Liang C, Yang L, Guo S. All-trans retinoic acid inhibits migration, invasion and proliferation, and promotes apoptosis in glioma cells *in vitro*. Oncol Lett. (2015) 9:2833–8. doi: 10.3892/ol.2015.3120
- 357. Hsu SL, Hsu JW, Liu MC, Chen LY, Chang CD. Retinoic acid-mediated G1 arrest is associated with induction of p27(Kip1) and inhibition of cyclindependent kinase 3 in human lung squamous carcinoma CH27 cells. *Exp Cell Res.* (2000) 258:322–31. doi: 10.1006/excr.2000.4933
- 358. Cui J, Gong M, He Y, Li Q, He T, Bi Y. All-trans retinoic acid inhibits proliferation, migration, invasion and induces differentiation of hepa1-6 cells through reversing EMT *in vitro*. Int J Oncol. (2016) 48:349–57. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2015.3235
- Li Y, Wongsiriroj N, Blaner WS. The multifaceted nature of retinoid transport and metabolism. *Hepatobiliary Surg Nutr.* (2014) 3:126–39. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2304-3881.2014.05.04
- 360. Iclozan C, Antonia S, Chiappori A, Chen DT, Gabrilovich D. Therapeutic regulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and immune response to cancer vaccine in patients with extensive stage small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother.* (2013) 62:909–18. doi: 10.1007/s00262-013-1396-8
- 361. Mirza N, Fishman M, Fricke I, Dunn M, Neuger AM, Frost TJ, et al. All-trans-retinoic acid improves differentiation of myeloid cells and immune response in cancer patients. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:9299–307. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-1690

- 362. Kusmartsev S, Cheng F, Yu B, Nefedova Y, Sotomayor E, Lush R, et al. Alltrans-retinoic acid eliminates immature myeloid cells from tumor-bearing mice and improves the effect of vaccination. *Cancer Res.* (2003) 63:4441–9.
- 363. Ahmad SM, Haskell MJ, Raqib R, Stephensen CB. Markers of innate immune function are associated with vitamin a stores in men. J Nutr. (2009) 139:377– 85. doi: 10.3945/jn.108.100198
- 364. Jinushi M, Takehara T, Tatsumi T, Kanto T, Groh V, Spies T, et al. Expression and role of MICA and MICB in human hepatocellular carcinomas and their regulation by retinoic acid. *Int J Cancer.* (2003) 104:354–61. doi: 10.1002/ijc.10966
- Nwangwu CA, Weiher H, Schmidt-Wolf IGH. Increase of CIK cell efficacy by upregulating cell surface MICA and inhibition of NKG2D ligand shedding in multiple myeloma. *Hematol Oncol.* (2017) 35:719–25. doi: 10.1002/hon.2326
- 366. Tobin RP, Jordan KR, Robinson WA, Davis D, Borges VF, Gonzalez R, et al. Targeting myeloid-derived suppressor cells using all-trans retinoic acid in melanoma patients treated with Ipilimumab. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2018) 63:282–91. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2018.08.007
- 367. Bauer R, Udonta F, Wroblewski M, Ben-Batalla I, Santos IM, Taverna F, et al. Blockade of myeloid-derived suppressor cell expansion with all-trans retinoic acid increases the efficacy of antiangiogenic therapy. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:3220–32. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-3415
- Umansky V, Blattner C, Gebhardt C, Utikal J. The role of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) in cancer progression. *Vaccines*. (2016) 4:36. doi: 10.3390/vaccines4040036
- 369. Wang Y, Ding Y, Guo N, Wang S. MDSCs: key criminals of tumor pre-metastatic niche formation. Front Immunol. (2019) 10:172. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00172
- 370. Gabrilovich DI, Chen HL, Girgis KR, Cunningham HT, Meny GM, Nadaf S, et al. Production of vascular endothelial growth factor by human tumors inhibits the functional maturation of dendritic cells. *Nat Med.* (1996) 2:1096– 103. doi: 10.1038/nm1096-1096
- 371. Kusmartsev S, Eruslanov E, Kübler H, Tseng T, Sakai Y, Su Z, et al. Oxidative stress regulates expression of VEGFR1 in myeloid cells: link to tumorinduced immune suppression in renal cell carcinoma. *J Immunol.* (2008) 181:346–53. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.1.346
- 372. Koinis F, Vetsika EK, Aggouraki D, Skalidaki E, Koutoulaki A, Gkioulmpasani M, et al. Effect of first-line treatment on myeloid-derived suppressor cells' subpopulations in the peripheral blood of patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *J Thorac Oncol.* (2016) 11:1263–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2016.04.026
- 373. Parker KH, Beury DW, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: critical cells driving immune suppression in the tumor microenvironment. Adv Cancer Res. (2015) 128:95–139. doi: 10.1016/bs.acr.2015.04.002
- 374. Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Fenselau C. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: immune-suppressive cells that impair antitumor immunity and are sculpted by their environment. *J Immunol.* (2018) 200:422–31. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1701019
- 375. Klose R, Krzywinska E, Castells M, Gotthardt D, Putz EM, Kantari-Mimoun C, et al. Targeting VEGF-A in myeloid cells enhances natural killer cell responses to chemotherapy and ameliorates cachexia. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:12528. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12528
- 376. Ferrero JM, Hardy-Bessard AC, Capitain O, Lortholary A, Salles B, Follana P, et al. Weekly paclitaxel, capecitabine, and bevacizumab with maintenance capecitabine and bevacizumab as first-line therapy for triple-negative, metastatic, or locally advanced breast cancer: results from the GINECO A-TaXel phase 2 study. *Cancer.* (2016) 122:3119–26. doi: 10.1002/cncr. 30170
- 377. Blattner C, Fleming V, Weber R, Himmelhan B, Altevogt P, Gebhardt C, et al. CCR5(+) Myeloid-derived suppressor cells are enriched and activated in melanoma lesions. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:157–67. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-0348
- 378. Sceneay J, Chow MT, Chen A, Halse HM, Wong CS, Andrews DM, et al. Primary tumor hypoxia recruits CD11b+/Ly6Cmed/Ly6G+ immune suppressor cells and compromises NK cell cytotoxicity in the premetastatic niche. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:3906–11. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3873

- 379. Wang Y, Zhang X, Yang L, Xue J, Hu G. Blockade of CCL2 enhances immunotherapeutic effect of anti-PD1 in lung cancer. J Bone Oncol. (2018) 11:27–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jbo.2018.01.002
- 380. Veltman JD, Lambers ME, van Nimwegen M, Hendriks RW, Hoogsteden HC, Aerts JG, et al. COX-2 inhibition improves immunotherapy and is associated with decreased numbers of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in mesothelioma. Celecoxib influences MDSC function. *BMC Cancer*. (2010) 10:464. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-10-464
- 381. Kosaka A, Ohkuri T, Okada H. Combination of an agonistic anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody and the COX-2 inhibitor celecoxib induces anti-glioma effects by promotion of type-1 immunity in myeloid cells and T-cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2014) 63:847–57. doi: 10.1007/s00262-014-1561-8
- 382. Iachininoto MG, Nuzzolo ER, Bonanno G, Mariotti A, Procoli A, Locatelli F, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibition constrains indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 (IDO1) activity in acute myeloid leukaemia cells. *Molecules*. (2013) 18:10132–45. doi: 10.3390/molecules180910132
- 383. Kim SJ, Ha GH, Bae JH, Kim GR, Son CH, Park YS, et al. COX-2- and endoplasmic reticulum stress-independent induction of ULBP-1 and enhancement of sensitivity to NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity by celecoxib in colon cancer cells. *Exp Cell Res.* (2015) 330:451–9. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2014.09.008
- Majumder M, Nandi P, Omar A, Ugwuagbo KC, Lala PK. EP4 as a therapeutic target for aggressive human breast cancer. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:1019. doi: 10.20944/preprints201802.0095.v1
- 385. Shaashua L, Shabat-Simon M, Haldar R, Matzner P, Zmora O, Shabtai M, et al. Perioperative COX-2 and β-adrenergic blockade improves metastatic biomarkers in breast cancer patients in a phase-II randomized trial. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:4651–61. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-0152
- Lee GY, Han SN. The role of vitamin e in immunity. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:1614. doi: 10.3390/nu10111614
- Ohl K, Tenbrock K. Reactive oxygen species as regulators of MDSCmediated immune suppression. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2499. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02499
- 388. Beury DW, Carter KA, Nelson C, Sinha P, Hanson E, Nyandjo M, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cell survival and function are regulated by the transcription factor Nrf2. *J Immunol.* (2016) 196:3470–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1501785
- Corzo CA, Cotter MJ, Cheng P, Cheng F, Kusmartsev S, Sotomayor E, et al. Mechanism regulating reactive oxygen species in tumorinduced myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:5693–701. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900092
- 390. Dietlin TA, Hofman FM, Lund BT, Gilmore W, Stohlman SA, van der Veen RC. Mycobacteria-induced Gr-1+ subsets from distinct myeloid lineages have opposite effects on T cell expansion. J Leukoc Biol. (2007) 81:1205–12. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1006640
- 391. Saddawi-Konefka R, Seelige R, Gross ET, Levy E, Searles SC, Washington A, et al. Nrf2 induces IL-17D to mediate tumor and virus surveillance. *Cell Rep.* (2016) 16:2348–58. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.07.075
- 392. Wang YY, Yang YX, Zhe H, He ZX, Zhou SF. Bardoxolone methyl (CDDO-Me) as a therapeutic agent: an update on its pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties. *Drug Des Dev Ther.* (2014) 8:2075–88. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S68872
- 393. Seelige R, Saddawi-Konefka R, Adams NM, Picarda G, Sun JC, Benedict CA, et al. Interleukin-17D and Nrf2 mediate initial innate immune cell recruitment and restrict MCMV infection. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:13670. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-32011-2
- 394. Greene S, Robbins Y, Mydlarz WK, Huynh AP, Schmitt NC, Friedman J, et al. Inhibition of MDSC trafficking with SX-682, a CXCR1/2 inhibitor, enhances NK-cell immunotherapy in head and neck cancer models. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2020) 26:1420–31. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-2625
- 395. Highfill SL, Cui Y, Giles AJ, Smith JP, Zhang H, Morse E, et al. Disruption of CXCR2-mediated MDSC tumor trafficking enhances anti-PD1 efficacy. *Sci Transl Med.* (2014) 6:237ra67. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.30 07974
- 396. Noman MZ, Desantis G, Janji B, Hasmim M, Karray S, Dessen P, et al. PD-L1 is a novel direct target of HIF-1α, and its blockade under hypoxia enhanced MDSC-mediated T cell activation. J Exp Med. (2014) 211:781–90. doi: 10.1084/jem.20131916

- 397. Noman MZ, Hasmim M, Lequeux A, Xiao M, Duhem C, Chouaib S, et al. Improving cancer immunotherapy by targeting the hypoxic tumor microenvironment: new opportunities and challenges. *Cells.* (2019) 8:1083. doi: 10.3390/cells8091083
- 398. Borad MJ, Reddy SG, Bahary N, Uronis HE, Sigal D, Cohn AL, et al. Randomized phase II trial of gemcitabine plus TH-302 versus gemcitabine in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* (2015) 33:1475–81. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.55.7504
- 399. Chawla SP, Cranmer LD, Van Tine BA, Reed DR, Okuno SH, Butrynski JE, et al. Phase II study of the safety and antitumor activity of the hypoxiaactivated prodrug TH-302 in combination with doxorubicin in patients with advanced soft tissue sarcoma. J Clin Oncol. (2014) 32:3299–306. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.54.3660
- 400. Jayaprakash P, Ai M, Liu A, Budhani P, Bartkowiak T, Sheng J, et al. Targeted hypoxia reduction restores T cell infiltration and sensitizes prostate cancer to immunotherapy. J Clin Invest. (2018) 128:5137–49. doi: 10.1172/JCI96268
- 401. Lim HX, Choi S, Cho D, Kim TS. IL-33 inhibits the differentiation and immunosuppressive activity of granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2017) 95:99–107. doi: 10.1038/icb.2016.72
- 402. Lim HX, Kim TS, Poh CL. Understanding the differentiation, expansion, recruitment and suppressive activities of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancers. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:3599. doi: 10.3390/ijms21103599
- 403. Zheng Y, Tian X, Wang T, Xia X, Cao F, Tian J, et al. Long noncoding RNA Pvt1 regulates the immunosuppression activity of granulocytic myeloidderived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. *Mol Cancer*. (2019) 18:61. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-0978-2
- 404. Shang W, Gao Y, Tang Z, Zhang Y, Yang R. The pseudogene Olfr29-ps1 promotes the suppressive function and differentiation of monocytic MDSCs. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:813–27. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0443
- 405. Dai J, Kumbhare A, Williams DA, Youssef D, Yao ZQ, McCall CE, et al. El Gazzar, Nfia deletion in myeloid cells blocks expansion of myeloidderived suppressor cells during sepsis. *Innate Immun.* (2018) 24:54–65. doi: 10.1177/1753425917742956
- Geller MA, Miller JS. Use of allogeneic NK cells for cancer immunotherapy. Immunotherapy. (2011) 3:1445–59. doi: 10.2217/imt.11.131
- 407. Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Robbins PF, Yang JC, Hwu P, Schwartzentruber DJ, et al. Cancer regression and autoimmunity in patients after clonal repopulation with antitumor lymphocytes. *Science.* (2002) 298:850–4. doi: 10.1126/science.1076514
- 408. Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Topalian SL, Restifo NP, et al. Adoptive cell transfer therapy following non-myeloablative but lymphodepleting chemotherapy for the treatment of patients with refractory metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. (2005) 23:2346–57. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.00.240
- 409. Dudley ME, Yang JC, Sherry R, Hughes MS, Royal R, Kammula U, et al. Adoptive cell therapy for patients with metastatic melanoma: evaluation of intensive myeloablative chemoradiation preparative regimens. *J Clin Oncol.* (2008) 26:5233–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.16.5449
- 410. Rosenberg SA, Sherry RM, Morton KE, Scharfman WJ, Yang JC, Topalian SL, et al. Tumor progression can occur despite the induction of very high levels of self/tumor antigen-specific CD8+ T cells in patients with melanoma. J Immunol. (2005) 175:6169–76. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.9.6169
- 411. Lamers CH, Sleijfer S, Vulto AG, Kruit WH, Kliffen M, Debets R, et al. Treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma with autologous T-lymphocytes genetically retargeted against carbonic anhydrase IX: first clinical experience. *J Clin Oncol.* (2006) 24:e20–2. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.05.9964
- 412. Dhupkar P, Gordon N. Interleukin-2: old and new approaches to enhance immune-therapeutic efficacy. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (2017) 995:33–51. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-53156-4_2
- 413. Perez-Martinez A, Fernandez L, Valentin J, Martinez-Romera I, Corral MD, Ramirez M, et al. A phase I/II trial of interleukin-15-stimulated natural killer cell infusion after haplo-identical stem cell transplantation for pediatric refractory solid tumors. *Cytotherapy.* (2015) 17:1594–603. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2015.07.011
- 414. Daud AI, DeConti RC, Andrews S, Urbas P, Riker AI, Sondak VK, et al. Phase I trial of interleukin-12 plasmid electroporation in patients with metastatic melanoma. *J Clin Oncol.* (2008) 26:5896–903. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.15.6794

- Little RF, Pluda JM, Wyvill KM, Rodriguez-Chavez IR, Tosato G, Catanzaro AT, et al. Activity of subcutaneous interleukin-12 in AIDS-related Kaposi sarcoma. *Blood.* (2006) 107:4650–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-11-4455
- 416. Robertson MJ, Kirkwood JM, Logan TF, Koch KM, Kathman S, Kirby LC, et al. A dose-escalation study of recombinant human interleukin-18 using two different schedules of administration in patients with cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2008) 14:3462–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4740
- 417. Simpkins F, Flores A, Chu C, Berek JS, Lucci J, 3rd, Murray S, et al. Chemoimmunotherapy using pegylated liposomal Doxorubicin and interleukin-18 in recurrent ovarian cancer: a phase I dose-escalation study. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2013) 1:168–78. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0098
- 418. Le DT, Burt B, Buren GV, Abeynaike S, Zalfa C, Nikzad R, et al. NK cells and CTLs are required to clear solid tumor in a novel model of patient-derivedxenograft. *BioRxiv* [*Preprint*]. (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.05.24.112722
- 419. Wrangle JM, Velcheti V, Patel MR, Garrett-Mayer E, Hill EG, Ravenel JG, et al. ALT-803, an IL-15 superagonist, in combination with nivolumab in patients with metastatic non-small cell lung cancer: a non-randomised, open-label, phase 1b trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2018) 19:694–704. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30148-7
- 420. Dubois S, Conlon KC, Müller JR, Hsu-Albert J, Beltran N, Bryant BR, et al. IL15 infusion of cancer patients expands the subpopulation of cytotoxic CD56(bright) NK cells and increases nk-cell cytokine release capabilities. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2017) 5:929–38. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0279
- 421. Perez-Santos M, Guerrero-González T, Gómez-Conde E, Cebada J, Flores A, Villa-Ruano N. Treatment of cancer with an anti-KIR antibody: a patent evaluation of US9879082 and US2018208652. *Expert Opin Ther Pat.* (2020) 30:159–62. doi: 10.1080/13543776.2020.1717469
- 422. He Y, Liu S, Mattei J, Bunn PA Jr., Zhou C, et al. The combination of anti-KIR monoclonal antibodies with anti-PD-1/PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies could be a critical breakthrough in overcoming tumor immune escape in NSCLC. Drug Des Devel Ther. (2018) 12:981–6. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S163304
- 423. Lanier LL, Follow the leader: NK cell receptors for classical nonclassical MHC class I. Cell. (1998) 92:705–7. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81398-7
- 424. Lanier LL. Up on the tightrope: natural killer cell activation and inhibition. *Nat Immunol.* (2008) 9:495–502. doi: 10.1038/ni1581
- Roder JC, Pross HF. The biology of the human natural killer cell. J Clin Immunol. (1982) 2:249–63. doi: 10.1007/BF00915064
- Cerwenka A, Lanier LL. Natural killer cells, viruses and cancer. Nat Rev Immunol. (2001) 1:41–9. doi: 10.1038/35095564
- 427. Miller JS. The biology of natural killer cells in cancer, infection, and pregnancy. *Exp Hematol.* (2001) 29:1157–68. doi: 10.1016/S0301-472X(01)00696-8
- Davis ZB, Felices M, Verneris MR, Miller JS. Natural killer cell adoptive transfer therapy: exploiting the first line of defense against cancer. *Cancer* J. (2015) 21:486–91. doi: 10.1097/PPO.000000000000156
- 429. Lee DA, Denman CJ, Rondon G, Woodworth G, Chen J, Fisher T, et al. Haploidentical natural killer cells infused before allogeneic stem cell transplantation for myeloid malignancies: a phase I trial. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2016) 22:1290–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2016.04.009
- Lupo KB, Matosevic S. Natural killer cells as allogeneic effectors in adoptive cancer immunotherapy. *Cancers.* (2019) 11:769. doi: 10.3390/cancers11060769
- Bernareggi D, Pouyanfard S, Kaufman DS. Development of innate immune cells from human pluripotent stem cells. *Exp Hematol.* (2019) 71:13–23. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2018.12.005
- June CH, Sadelain M. Chimeric antigen receptor therapy. N Engl J Med. (2018) 379:64–73. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1706169
- 433. Siegler EL, Zhu Y, Wang P, Yang L. Off-the-shelf CAR-NK cells for cancer immunotherapy. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2018) 23:160–1. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2018.07.007
- 434. Chow VA, Gopal AK, Maloney DG, Turtle CJ, Smith SD, Ujjani CS, et al. Outcomes of patients with large B-cell lymphomas and progressive disease following CD19-specific CAR T-cell therapy. *Am J Hematol.* (2019) 94:E209– 13. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-99-110747
- 435. Lim WA, June CH. The principles of engineering immune cells to treat cancer. *Cell.* (2017) 168:724–40. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.01.016

- Wang W, Jiang J, Wu C. CAR-NK for tumor immunotherapy: clinical transformation and future prospects. *Cancer Lett.* (2020) 472:175–80. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2019.11.033
- 437. Barry KC, Hsu J, Broz ML, Cueto FJ, Binnewies M, Combes AJ, et al. A natural killer-dendritic cell axis defines checkpoint therapyresponsive tumor microenvironments. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:1178–91. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0085-8
- 438. Veluchamy JP, Kok N, van der Vliet HJ, Verheul HMW, de Gruijl TD, Spanholtz J. The rise of allogeneic natural killer cells as a platform for cancer immunotherapy: recent innovations and future developments. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:631. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00631
- 439. Imai C, Mihara K, Andreansky M, Nicholson IC, Pui CH, Geiger TL, et al. Chimeric receptors with 4-1BB signaling capacity provoke potent cytotoxicity against acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia*. (2004) 18:676– 84. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2403302
- 440. Porter DL, Levine BL, Kalos M, Bagg A, June CH. Chimeric antigen receptormodified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med. (2011) 365:725–33. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1103849
- 441. Sadelain M, Rivière I, Riddell S. Therapeutic T cell engineering. Nature. (2017) 545:423–31. doi: 10.1038/nature22395
- 442. Chmielewski M, Abken H. TRUCKs: the fourth generation of CARs. *Expert* Opin Biol Ther. (2015) 15:1145–54. doi: 10.1517/14712598.2015.1046430
- 443. Sadelain M. Chimeric antigen receptors: driving immunology towards synthetic biology. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2016) 41:68–76. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2016.06.004
- 444. Wang J, Jensen M, Lin Y, Sui X, Chen E, Lindgren CG, et al. Optimizing adoptive polyclonal T cell immunotherapy of lymphomas, using a chimeric T cell receptor possessing CD28 and CD137 costimulatory domains. *Hum Gene Ther.* (2007) 18:712–25. doi: 10.1089/hum.2007.028
- 445. Chmielewski M, Hombach AA, Abken H. Of CARs and TRUCKs: chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells engineered with an inducible cytokine to modulate the tumor stroma. *Immunol Rev.* (2014) 257:83–90. doi: 10.1111/imr.12125
- 446. González S, López-Soto A, Suarez-Alvarez B, López-Vázquez A, López-Larrea C. NKG2D ligands: key targets of the immune response. *Trends Immunol.* (2008) 29:397–403. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2008.04.007
- 447. Raffaghello L, Prigione I, Airoldi I, Camoriano M, Levreri I, Gambini C, et al. Downregulation and/or release of NKG2D ligands as immune evasion strategy of human neuroblastoma. *Neoplasia*. (2004) 6:558-68. doi: 10.1593/neo.04316
- 448. Dasgupta S, Bhattacharya-Chatterjee M, O'Malley BW Jr., Chatterjee SK. Inhibition of NK cell activity through TGF-beta 1 by down-regulation of NKG2D in a murine model of head and neck cancer. J Immunol. (2005) 175:5541–50. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.8.5541
- 449. Parihar R, Rivas C, Huynh M, Omer B, Lapteva N, Metelitsa LS, et al. NK cells expressing a chimeric activating receptor eliminate MDSCs and rescue impaired CAR-T cell activity against solid tumors. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:363–75. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0572
- 450. Barber A, Rynda A, Sentman CL. Chimeric NKG2D expressing T cells eliminate immunosuppression and activate immunity within the ovarian tumor microenvironment. *J Immunol.* (2009) 183:6939–47. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902000
- 451. Liu E, Marin D, Banerjee P, Macapinlac HA, Thompson P, Basar R, et al. Use of CAR-transduced natural killer cells in CD19-positive lymphoid tumors. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 382:545–53. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1910607
- 452. Liu E, Tong Y, Dotti G, Shaim H, Savoldo B, Mukherjee M, et al. Cord blood NK cells engineered to express IL-15 and a CD19-targeted CAR show longterm persistence and potent antitumor activity. *Leukemia*. (2018) 32:520–31. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.226
- 453. Li Y, Hermanson DL, Moriarity BS, Kaufman DS. Human iPSCderived natural killer cells engineered with chimeric antigen receptors enhance anti-tumor activity. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2018) 23:181–92.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2018.06.002
- 454. Xiao L, Cen D, Gan H, Sun Y, Huang N, Xiong H, et al. Adoptive transfer of NKG2D CAR mRNA-engineered natural killer cells in colorectal cancer patients. *Mol Ther.* (2019) 27:1114–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2019. 03.011

- 455. G. Del Zotto, Marcenaro E, Vacca P, Sivori S, Pende D, Della Chiesa M, et al. Markers and function of human NK cells in normal and pathological conditions. *Cytometry B Clin Cytom.* (2017) 92:100–14. doi: 10.1002/cyto.b.21508
- 456. Zhang C, Hu Y, Shi C. Targeting natural killer cells for tumor immunotherapy. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:60. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00060
- 457. Legg JA, Herbert JM, Clissold P, Bicknell R. Slits and Roundabouts in cancer, tumour angiogenesis and endothelial cell migration. *Angiogenesis*. (2008) 11:13–21. doi: 10.1007/s10456-008-9100-x
- 458. Kidd T, Brose K, Mitchell KJ, Fetter RD, Tessier-Lavigne M, Goodman CS, et al. Roundabout controls axon crossing of the CNS midline and defines a novel subfamily of evolutionarily conserved guidance receptors. *Cell.* (1998) 92:205–15. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80915-0
- 459. Wang B, Xiao Y, Ding BB, Zhang N, Yuan X, Gui L, et al. Induction of tumor angiogenesis by Slit-Robo signaling and inhibition of cancer growth by blocking Robo activity. *Cancer Cell.* (2003) 4:19–29. doi: 10.1016/S1535-6108(03)00164-8
- 460. Prasad A, Qamri Z, Wu J, Ganju RK. Slit-2/Robo-1 modulates the CXCL12/CXCR4-induced chemotaxis of T cells. J Leukoc Biol. (2007) 82:465–76. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1106678
- 461. He H, Di Y, Liang M, Yang F, Yao L, Hao S, et al. The microRNA-218 and ROBO-1 signaling axis correlates with the lymphatic metastasis of pancreatic cancer. *Oncol Rep.* (2013) 30:651–8. doi: 10.3892/or.2013.2516
- 462. Lo Nigro C, Macagno M, Sangiolo D, Bertolaccini L, Aglietta M, Merlano MC. NK-mediated antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity in solid tumors: biological evidence and clinical perspectives. *Ann Transl Med.* (2019) 7:105. doi: 10.21037/atm.2019.01.42

- 463. Zhu H, Blum RH, Bjordahl R, Gaidarova S, Rogers P, Lee TT, et al. Pluripotent stem cell-derived NK cells with high-affinity noncleavable CD16a mediate improved antitumor activity. *Blood.* (2020) 135:399–410. doi: 10.1182/blood.2019000621
- 464. Zhu H, Blum RH, Bernareggi D, Ask EH, Wu Z, Hoel HJ, et al. Metabolic reprograming via deletion of CISH in human iPSC-derived NK cells promotes *in vivo* persistence and enhances anti-tumor activity. *Cell Stem Cell*. (2020) 27:224–37. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3544410
- 465. Pesce S, Greppi M, Grossi F, Del Zotto G, Moretta L, Sivori S, et al. PD/1-PD-Ls checkpoint: insight on the potential role of NK cells. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1242. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01242
- 466. Khan M, Arooj S, Wang H. NK cell-based immune checkpoint inhibition. Front Immunol. (2020) 11:167. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020. 00167
- 467. Molgora M, Bonavita E, Ponzetta A, Riva F, Barbagallo M, Jaillon S, et al. IL-1R8 is a checkpoint in NK cells regulating anti-tumour and anti-viral activity. *Nature*. (2017) 551:110–4. doi: 10.1038/nature24293

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Zalfa and Paust. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Characterization and Manipulation of the Crosstalk Between Dendritic and Natural Killer Cells Within the Tumor Microenvironment

Benedikt Jacobs^{1*}, Veronika Gebel^{2,3,4}, Lukas Heger⁵, Victoria Grèze^{2,3,4}, Hansjörg Schild^{6,7}, Diana Dudziak⁵ and Evelyn Ullrich^{2,3,4*}

¹ Department of Internal Medicine 5, Haematology and Oncology, Friedrich Alexander University Erlangen-Nuremberg (FAU), University Hospital Erlangen, Erlangen, Germany, ² Children's Hospital, Goethe-University Frankfurt, Frankfurt, Germany, ³ Experimental Immunology, Goethe University Frankfurt, Frankfurt, Germany, ⁴ Frankfurt Cancer Institute, Goethe University, Frankfurt, Germany, ⁵ Department of Dermatology, Laboratory of Dendritic Cell Biology, University Hospital Erlangen and Friedrich-Alexander University Erlangen-Nuremberg (FAU), Erlangen, Germany, ⁶ Institute of Immunology, University Medical Center Mainz, Mainz, Germany, ⁷ Research Centre for Immunotherapy, University Medical Center Mainz, Mainz, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Erik Wennerberg, Institute of Cancer Research (ICR), United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Evelien Smits, University of Antwerp, Belgium Jurjen Tel, Eindhoven University of Technology, Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Benedikt Jacobs Benedikt.Jacobs@uk-erlangen.de Evelyn Ullrich Evelyn.Ullrich@kgu.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 21 February 2021 Accepted: 19 April 2021 Published: 14 May 2021

Citation:

Jacobs B, Gebel V, Heger L, Grèze V, Schild H, Dudziak D and Ullrich E (2021) Characterization and Manipulation of the Crosstalk Between Dendritic and Natural Killer Cells Within the Tumor Microenvironment. Front. Immunol. 12:670540. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.670540 Cellular therapy has entered the daily clinical life with the approval of CAR T cell therapeutics and dendritic cell (DCs) vaccines in the US and the EU. In addition, numerous other adoptive cellular products, including natural killer (NK) cells, are currently evaluated in early phase I/ II clinical trials for the treatment of cancer patients. Despite these promising accomplishments, various challenges remain to be mastered in order to ensure sustained therapeutic success. These include the identification of strategies by which tumor cells escape the immune system or establish an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment (TME). As part of the innate immune system, DCs and NK cells are both present within the TME of various tumor entities. While NK cells are well known for their intrinsic anti-tumor activity by their cytotoxicity capacities and the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines, the role of DCs within the TME is a double-edged sword as different DC subsets have been described with either tumor-promoting or -inhibiting characteristics. In this review, we will discuss recent findings on the interaction of DCs and NK cells under physiological conditions and within the TME. One focus is the crosstalk of various DC subsets with NK cells and their impact on the progression or inhibition of tumor growth. In addition, we will provide suggestions to overcome the immunosuppressive outcome of the interaction of DCs and NK cells within the TME.

Keywords: NK cells, dendritic cells, DC-NK cell interaction, tumor microenvironment, cellular therapies

INTRODUCTION

Tumor surveillance is achieved by a complex interplay of the components of the innate and adaptive immune system. Here, we summarize our current knowledge on the role and interaction of dendritic cells (DCs) and natural killer (NK) cells in the tumor microenvironment (TME). While circulating NK cells are efficient at identifying and eliminating tumor cells, DCs bridge the innate and adaptive

DC-NK Interaction Within the TME

immune system via the uptake of tumor cell debris and the subsequent presentation of tumor-specific antigens to T cells (1). NK cells and DCs are currently used for immunotherapies to treat tumor patients, for NK cells exhibit the ability to directly eliminate tumor cells without prior sensitization, while DCs are able to initiate an immune response by presenting antigens and inducing tumor-antigen specific CD8⁺ T cell (2). Moreover, when DCs and NK cells encounter each other, they are able to promote each other's activation, maturation, and functional activity (3). Within the TME, conventional type 1 DCs (cDC1s) show a bidirectional crosstalk with NK cells, increasing the selective recruitment of cDC1 together with their differentiation, and maturation as well as NK cell activation. This allows a better tumor control, patient survival and improved therapeutic responses (4, 5). However, it is known that tumor cells develop highly efficient mechanisms to impair the functionality of NK cells and DCs to escape immune surveillance in order to ensure their own survival. The tumor establishes an immune suppressive environment by the secretion of immune suppressive cytokines and chemokines, by metabolic acidification (6), by the recruitment of immune-regulatory cells, such as regulatory T cells (T regs) and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), by affecting the polarization of macrophages as well as by up-regulation of immunosuppressive proteins including ligands for immune checkpoint (ICP) receptors, such as PD-L1. The latter have the ability to suppress the anti-tumor activity of DCs and NK cells as well as their ability to promote each other. Moreover, DCs may even switch from a tumor-inhibiting to a tumor-promoting subtype within the TME (7). In order to overcome the suppressive effect of the TME on NK cells and DCs, the bidirectional crosstalk of NK cells and DC1 plays a very important role in the coordination of immune responses against cancer. That is why the presence of both DC1s and NK cells within the TME is primordial, and their interaction represents a potential target to improve the efficacy of cancer immunotherapy (2).

In this review, we will first give a short overview about the biology of DCs and NK cells. Next, we will describe their interaction under physiological conditions and within the TME. Finally, we will discuss possibilities to overcome the suppressive impact of the TME and to restore efficient tumor immune surveillance.

NK CELL BIOLOGY

As part of the innate immune system, NK cells have the ability to lyse virally infected and malignant cells. They play an important role at eradicating cancer cells and in shaping the response of adaptive immune cells. NK cells develop and differentiate in the bone marrow and represent approximately 10% of the lymphocytes in the peripheral blood (PB). NK cells express CD56 on their surface and lack CD3 expression (CD56⁺CD3⁻). Human NK cells are separated into two subsets, with an immune regulatory CD56^{bright}CD16⁻ population harboring potent cytokine production capability and a highly cytotoxic CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ population, representing the major NK cell population within the peripheral blood (90%). CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ express the Fc gamma receptor III CD16 recognizing the Fc portion of antigen-bound antibodies allowing them to lyse the opsonized cell, a mechanism called antibody dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) (8).

In contrast to T or B cells, NK cells recognize their target cells in an antigen-independent manner regulated by a variety of activating and inhibiting receptors. NK cell cytotoxicity is regulated by balanced signals of these activating and inhibitory receptors (9, 10).

Major histocompatibility (MHC) class I molecules, expressed on all healthy nucleated cells, act as ligands for the killerimmunoglobulin-like receptor-group (KIR) or natural killer group 2A (NKG2A), which are mainly responsible for providing NK cell inhibiting signals. These mechanisms ensure that NK cells become selectively activated by cells that lack MHC-I-expression, such as tumor cells, but tolerate healthy tissue in their immune response, the so called "missing-self"theory. If MHC-I expression is absent, the inhibitory receptor signal is missing, and NK cells can be activated (11). Usually MHC-I-expression is reduced or completely down-regulated on virally infected or malignantly transformed cells as an escape mechanism from cytotoxic T cell recognition, which on the other hand renders them sensitive to NK cell killing (8, 12).

The most important signals for activation of NK cells are mediated by the family of the natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs), the C-type lectin-like receptor NKG2D and also certain KIR-subtypes. NKp30, NKp44 and NKp46 that belong to the group of NCRs are expressed on all activated NK cells and bind non-HLA-specific ligands like virus-derived molecules (HA/HN for NKp46, NKp44) or intracellular proteins (BAT3/ BAG6 for NKp30), which are released following cell stress or transformation (13). Furthermore, MICA-, MICB- and ULPB (or RAETI)-encoded proteins bind to the NKG2D-receptor with their MHC-I-like extracellular domain. Those encoded proteins belong to a group of at least 100 different ligands which are selectively expressed on non-healthy cells for the induction of NK cell activation (14).

NK cell killing includes a variety of mechanisms. Upon engagement an immunological synapse is established between NK cells and their target cells. Subsequently, they release the content of their cytotoxic granules, including perforin and granzyme b, into the synaptic gap. While perforin penetrates the target cell's membrane, granzyme b gets inside the cell and induce programmed cell death (2, 8). Moreover, NK cells are able to induce apoptotic cell death via expression of death receptor ligands like FasL and TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) on their surface (8, 12).

DC BIOLOGY

DCs are important regulators of immune responses (15). They are sentinels of the immune system and settle all lymphoid as well as peripheral tissues. Here, they constantly take up antigens from the surrounding and process these antigens. After migration to the local draining lymph node, they present these processed antigens as peptide MHC complexes to T cells. Depending on the environment during encounter of the antigen, DCs either induce peripheral tolerance (steady state) or T cell immunity (inflammation) (16–18). In steady state, DCs induce peripheral tolerance by presenting antigens without costimulatory molecules leading to anergy or the deletion of antigen-specific T cells. However, in inflammatory settings and instructed by microbiota-derived cues resulting in tonic IFNAR signaling DCs can be activated by danger signals or pathogens via pattern recognition receptors such as Toll-like receptors (TLR) or C-type lectin receptors (CLR) (1, 19, 20). This leads to enhanced expression of peptide MHC complexes as well as costimulatory molecules (e.g. CD40, CD86) and the secretion of T cell polarizing cytokines such as IL-12 (17). Thereby, DCs are capable to induce and direct T cell responses. However, DCs are also able to interact with cells of the innate immune system such as NK cells (4, 21–24).

As all immune cells, except for yolk sac-derived macrophages, including Langerhans cells, DCs originate from hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) in the bone marrow (25). After differentiation of HSCs into common myeloid progenitor (MPP) cells via the steps of multipotent progenitor (MPP) and lymphoid-primed multipotent progenitor (LMPP) cells, the common DC progenitor (CDP) separates from the common monocyte progenitor (cMoP). The CDP can give rise to all DC subsets including plasmacytoid (pDC) as well as conventional DCs (cDC). Depending on the expression of specific transcription factors such as IRF8 and IRF4, cDCs further differentiate in cDC1 and cDC2, respectively (18). In contrast to cDCs, pDCs can also arise from a common lymphoid progenitor (CLP). Terminal-differentiated as well as preDCs are able to leave the bone marrow and settle all lymphoid as well as peripheral tissues.

Based on ontogeny, surface receptor expression as well as functions, DCs are subdivided into different subsets, which are mainly conserved between human and mice (17, 18, 25–27). pDCs share high transcriptional similarities between humans and mice and are identified by the expression of Siglec-H, CD45R (B220), and CD317 (PDCA-1) in mice, and by CD303a (BDCA-2), CD304 (BDCA-4) as well as CD123 (IL-3Rα chain) in humans. In both species, they share the expression of TLR7 and TLR9 and strongly react to viral infections with the secretion of vast amounts of type I IFN. However, their true role in T cell stimulation is a matter of ongoing discussions (28–31).

cDCs can be further separated into cDC1 and cDC2 in both, mice, and humans. Human and murine cDC1 share the specific expression of CLEC9A, XCR1, and CADM1 (17, 32–36). While murine cDC1 further express CD8 α in lymphoid and CD103 in non-lymphoid tissues, human cDC1 are identified by a high expression of CD141 (BDCA-3) (1). In both species, cDC1 highly express TLR3 and respond to stimulation of TLR3 with production of type III IFN (37). They further produce IL-12, which is crucial for interaction with T cells as well as with NK cells. In mice, cDC1 are the only cross-presenting DC subpopulation for the activation of cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells. This highlights their vital role in the immune response in the context of tumors as well as viral infections (4, 38–40). Furthermore, they polarize CD4⁺ T cells preferentially into Th1 cells. However, recent studies on human DCs suggest that all DC subpopulations are able to cross-present antigens and cDC1 excel only in the cross-presentation of necrotic cell-derived antigens, presumably due to the expression of the F-actin receptor CLEC9A (41–44).

Human and murine cDC2 transcriptionally rely on IRF4 and share the expression of CD11c and SIRP α (18). Human cDC2 can be identified by the expression of CD1c (BDCA-1), CD301 (CLEC10A) as well as the $Fc \in R1\alpha$, while murine cDC2 express CD11b as well as CD4 and DCIR2 in lymphoid tissues (27, 45, 46). In general, cDC2 are a more heterogeneous DC subpopulation than cDC1. Recent approaches, using single cell transcriptomics, showed that both human and murine cDC2 harbor different subpopulations termed DC2/DC3 and cDC2a/b, respectively (25, 31, 46-49). In the murine system, cDC2 have a lower capacity to cross-present antigens to CD8⁺ T cells, however they are efficient to polarize naïve T cells into Th2 and Th17 cells (50-52). In contrast, in comparison to human cDC1, human cDC2 have been suggested to harbor similar capacity to cross-present antigens to CD8⁺ T cells. Furthermore, they have been shown to polarize CD4⁺ T cells into Th1 cells, which can be linked to the ability of human cDC2 to secrete IL-12p70 under inflammatory conditions (27). Both, cDC1 and cDC2 have a detrimental role in the preservation of peripheral tolerance as murine cDC1 convert naïve CD4⁺ T cells into FoxP3⁺ T reg cells, whereas cDC2 expand already existing $FoxP3^+$ T reg cells in the periphery (53).

NK-DC INTERACTION UNDER PHYSIOLOGICAL CONDITIONS

The first key report on the interaction between DCs and NK cells to control tumor growth was published in 1999, describing the coordinated control of mesothelioma tumors in mice by both subsets (54). Since then, several groups have explored their complex relationship revealing a bidirectional crosstalk between DCs and NK cells. Human NK cells are able to induce DC maturation and IL-12 production upon co-culture with immature monocyte-derived DCs (moDCs), which was suggested to be contact-dependent and relies on the secretion of NK cell-derived cytokines like TNF- α (55, 56). In contrast, freshly isolated human NK cells are activated by lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-treated mature moDCs (55). NK cell activation by moDCs was shown to be mediated mainly by cytokines of the IL-12 family. Initial reports demonstrated that IL-12 secretion by LPS-matured human moDCs stimulates IFN-y production in NK cells (57), and similar results have been reported for other members of this cytokine family. Further, IL-23 has been suggested to directly stimulate IFN-γ production in human CD56^{bright} NK cells, and in cooperation with IL-18, in CD56^{bright} and CD56^{dim} NK cells (58). Additionally, LPSmatured moDC-derived IL-27 increased IFN-y production and upregulation of NKp46- and ADCC-dependent NK cell cytotoxicity (59). The importance of DC-derived IL-12 for NK cell activation has been illustrated within an in vivo model of mouse cytomegalovirus (MCMV) infection. Upon MCMV

infection cDCs secrete IL-12p40 and IL-15 in a TLR9/MyD88dependent manner leading to NK cell activation and IFN- γ production which ultimately results in MCMV clearance (60).

Moreover, other cytokines such as IL-15 or IFN- α were able to increase NK cell proliferation and survival as well as cytotoxicity, respectively (21, 61-64). Both cytokines are involved within the NK cell-mediated rejection of CD8⁺ T cellresistant tumors within various tumor mouse models upon treatment with the STING agonist cyclic dinucleotide (CDN). CDN activated NK cells directly via type I IFN signaling and indirectly via IL-15Ra up-regulation in DCs, which also depended on type I IFN (65). Moreover, co-incubation of human peripheral blood NK cells with autologous lung DCs from smokers suffering from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) resulted in an IL-15-dependent increased killing of epithelial lungs cells compared to DCs from smokers without COPD. Similar results were obtained when using lung DCs from mice who were exposed to cigarette smoke compared to pure air exposed ones (66).

In addition, activated NK cells were reported to specifically kill immature moDCs (56) via NKp30 (67) and DNAM-1 (68). This process was executed mainly by NKG2A⁺KIR⁻ NK cells. This observation can be explained due to the week expression of the inhibitory NKG2A receptor ligand HLA-E on immature moDCs compared to LPS-matured moDCs, whereas HLA class I molecules, the ligands for the inhibitory KIRs, are expressed on both DCs populations (69). Similar, NK cells have been shown to interfere with the induction of Th2-biased T cell responses by killing Th2 immune response inducing moDCs in a NKp30 and DNAM-1 dependent manner (70).

Interestingly, apart from its involvement in the killing of immature moDCs, engagement of NKp30 resulted in increased secretion of TNF- α and IFN- γ by NK cells, which were able to induce moDC maturation (71). Recently a study revealed that the interaction between CD155⁺ DCs and laquinimod-activated NK cells, which up regulated their DNAM-1 expression (recognizing CD155), led to suppression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Interestingly, the immunoregulatory effect was not due to increased NK cell cytotoxicity against DCs, but rather due to induced reduction of HLA class II expression on DCs (72). Moreover, another group highlighted the role of the NK cell receptor NKG2D and its ligands during NK-DC interaction. They demonstrated that upon footpad injection of ectromelia virus, virus-infected murine skin-derived migratory DCs up regulated NKG2D ligands on their surface and migrated to the draining lymph nodes (dLN), where they stimulated IFNy production by NK cells. IFNy secretion then stimulated CXCL9 production in inflammatory monocytes resulting in an increased recruitment of circulating CXCR3⁺ NK cells to the dLN (73).

Interaction of NK cells and DCs was also suggested to control tissue-specific autoimmunity through an innate IFN- γ -IL-27 axis resulting in the generation if IL-10-producing Tr1-like cells (74) and to promote the tumor surveillance of other immune cells, a process described as the NK cell helper function. Activated human NK cells play a role in the induction of cDC1, which are producers of high amounts of

IL-12p70. In this process, CD4⁺ T cells are primed to produce increased amounts of IFN- γ and less IL-4 favoring the induction of antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells (75). Furthermore, mouse NK cells, recruited via CXCR3 into local lymph nodes, provide an early IFN- γ source to induce a Th1 immune response (76). In accordance with this report, only stimuli associated with the Th1 response are able to induce IFN- γ production in mouse NK cells, but not those, which are associated with the Th2 response (77).

NK-DC INTERACTION WITHIN THE TME

The TME is a complex network comprising T reg cells, tumorassociated macrophages (TAMs), regulatory gamma-delta cells, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), soluble factors, the extracellular matrix and suppressive molecules expressed on tumor cells (78).

The interaction between DCs, NK cells and CD8⁺ T cells within the TME is diverse (**Figure 1**). Here, it was shown that the maturation of DCs is depending on NK cell derived HMGB1. Further, the chemokines CCL5 and XCL1/2 mediate the recruitment of cDCs to the TME, while the NK cell derived growth factor Flt3L ensures their survival. In return, IL-15 and IL-18 released by DCs active NK cells whereas DCs derived chemokines like CXCL9 and CXCL10 recruits NK cells and CD8⁺ T cells into the TME. Moreover, NK cells' cytotoxic abilities and cytokine production, especially IFN- γ , is enhanced by cDCs in a cell-contact dependent and independent way (79, 80).

In a murine model, Allen et al. showed that tumor-derived CCL3 contributes to attract NK cells into the TME, leading to IFN- γ , DCs accumulation and T-cell recruitment (81). Also, in mouse, Wculek et al. demonstrated the capacity of cDCs bearing dead tumor cell antigens to highly induce CD8⁺ T cell response (82).

cDC1 express different chemokine receptors on their surface including the only receptor for XCL1, XCR1 (35) as well as receptors for CCL5 including CCR1 and CCR5 (83). Bottcher et al. demonstrated a reduced abundancy of cDC1, within tumors, when CCL5 and XCL1 was blocked in mice *in vivo*. Their data indicated that NK cell derived CCL5 and XCL1 recruits cDC1 into the TME of mouse tumors (4).

The localization of DCs within tumors is not only due to NK cell-derived chemokines but also depends on the local abundancy of growth factors like Flt3L. By depleting NK cells in tumor-bearing mice Barry et al. demonstrated that NK cell derived Flt3L regulates the amount of DCs within the tumor. These findings were further supported by the establishment of DC-NK cell conjugates within the TME (84).

It is well known that the TME induces tolerance and immunosuppression via various mechanism by dampening the functional activity of various immune cells, including NK cells and DCs (3). The TME alter the activation and cytokines production of pDCs and these pDCs are involved in tumor growth (85). Breast cancer or melanoma cells may reduce the expression of TLR or engage ILT7 (immunoglobulin like transcript 7) on pDC_s due to their BST2 expression leading to reduced IFN- α productions and release. They further induce the



chemokines, like CCL5/XCL1 by NK cells to recruit DCs or CXCL9/10 by DCs to recruit NK and CD8⁺ T cells. Moreover, DCs activates CD8⁺ T cells via tumor antigen presentation and IL-12 production as well as TNF α and IFN γ secretion by NK cells through their own production of IL-12 and IL-18. In return, NK cell derived TNF α and IFN γ induce DC maturation. In addition, NK cells are the major source of the DC growth factor Flt3L. However, tumor cells are able to secret different compounds into the TME, like TGF- β , soluble MIC A+B or PGE₂, which are all able to down-regulate activating NK cell receptors (e.g. NKG2D and NKp30) resulting in reduced NK cell function and DC-NK cell interaction within the TME.

production of immunosuppressive TGF-B, resulting in reduced expression of activating NK cell receptors, including NKp30 and NKG2D, but not NKp46. Reduced NKp30 expression decrease NK cell cytotoxicity against immature DCs, subsequently leading to the accumulation of immature immunosuppressive DCs, probably supporting tumor growth. The release of soluble NKG2D ligands from tumor cells has been described to cause reduced expression of NKG2D on NK cells, reducing NK-DCinteraction upon IFN-stimulation. Moreover, data indicated that lower NKG2D levels on NK cells not only decreased their cytotoxic activity against NKG2D ligand-expressing tumor cells but also negatively influence IFN-α-mediated NK-DCinteractions, since NKG2D ligands are up regulated upon IFN- α stimulation on DCs. In addition, PGE₂ was demonstrated to reduce NKG2D and 2B4 expression on NK cells, which not only inhibits IFN-y production and cytotoxicity, but potentially effect NK-DC-interactions as well. When DCs are matured with PGE₂s they were unable to recruit NK cells and were less effective in inducing IFN-y production in NK cells. Tumor cell induced T reg cells inhibit the IL-15R α -expression on DCs and thereby play a role in preventing the formation of a NK-DC immuno-synapse. The release of PGE₂ by tumor cells was suggested to inhibit

IL-18-secretion by DCs, which was associated with a reduction of HMGB1-production by NK cells leading to reduced DC maturation (3, 86).

DISCUSSION

As pointed out the interaction between NK cells and DCs is negatively influenced by the TME in various ways. Therefore, strategies are needed to overcome these obstacles in order to restore anti-tumor surveillance within the TME (**Figure 2**).

Optimization of DC Vaccination Products

One approach to optimize DC vaccination products might be to generate large amounts of pro-inflammatory DCs *ex vivo*, pulsed with tumor antigens, to lift immunosuppression within the TME. Until today various clinical trials using different DC products to treat cancer patients have been performed. Despite encouraging clinical responses in glioblastoma, pancreatic and prostate tumor patients (87–89), only sipuleucel-T has been approved by the FDA for the treatment of metastatic hormone refractory prostate cancer so far (90). This demonstrates that further improvement



against ICP receptors or their ligands restores NK cell function and DC-NK cell interaction. NK cells may further be stimulated by *ex vivo* generated DC-derived exosomes (Dex). In addition, adoptive transfer of *ex vivo* generated and engineered DCs (e.g. by transfecting them with a constitutively active IKKB (calKKB) of the NF-kB pathway to enhance IL-12 production) could improve DC-NK cell interaction and eventually lift immunosuppression within the TME.

of the DC products is needed. For example, many trials used moDCs, which are quite convenient to be generated in vitro, but have the disadvantage, that they do not secrete IL12p70, when matured with a standard DC maturation cocktail (91, 92). This could be overcome by using mRNA electroporation to transfect moDCs with a caIKKB-RNA (constitutively active IKKB of the NF-kB pathway) enabling the transfected cells to enhance cytotoxic activity and IFN-y production of autologous NK cells (92, 93). Another group used mRNA electroporation to engineer moDCs to produce IL-15/IL-15Ra or IFN-a leading to increased NK cell activation and cytotoxic activity against Burkitt lymphoma cells in vitro (94, 95). Increased NK cell cytotoxicity in vitro against Burkitt lymphoma cells was also achieved by coculturing human NK cells together with TLR-activated CD1c⁺ myeloid and plasmacytoid DCs together instead of culturing them with only one specific DC subset alone (96). An additional approach is to optimize the DCs' capacity to attract other immune cells, such as NK cells. Here, it would be interesting to understand the influence of IL-15 addition in the generation of ex vivo moDCs instead of IL-4. While IL-4 generated DCs secrete Th2 and T reg cell attracting chemokines such as CCL17 und CCL22, IL-15 rather induces the secretion of chemokines such as

CCL2, CCL4, CCL7, CXCL9, CXCL10 and CXCL11, with CCL4 being the most important one to recruit NK and $\gamma\delta$ T cells (97). Of note, IL-15 derived moDCs induced a stronger NK cell activation than IL-4 generated ones did (98). Moreover, IL-15 generated moDCs, that were matured with a human papilloma virus (HPV) vaccine, demonstrated a Th1-polarized cytokine profile, and increased the cytotoxicity of NK cells against cervical cancer cell lines (99).

DC-Derived Exosomes a Vaccination Product

Nevertheless, certain obstacles remain when using DC vaccination with the aim to modulate the TME. DCs are still under the influence of the immunosuppressive milieu of the TME, need chemotactic signaling to reach their destination and a high amount of work is needed to produce and properly store them. One solution to overcome these obstacles could be the use of DCderived exosomes (so called Dex) instead of whole DCs. Exosomes are nano-sized membrane vesicles, which can be secreted by various cell types. These exosomes are not only coated with HLA and costimulatory molecules on their surface, they also contain cytosolic proteins such as heat shock proteins and in addition mRNAs and small RNAs (100, 101). DC-derived exosomes have already been used within clinical phase I/II trials (102-104). Within an initial phase 1 trial, 15 melanoma patients were treated with DC-derived exosomes from tumor-antigen pulsed moDCs (102). A subsequent analysis demonstrated that the used DC-derived exosomes were able to stimulate proliferation and activation of NK cells in vitro, due to their expression of NKG2D ligands and IL-15Ra. Moreover, DC-derived exosomes treatment increased the absolute number of NK cells in vivo and restored NKG2D expression levels as well as K562-specific cytotoxicity in 7 out of 14 melanoma patients (105). Similar results were observed during a phase II trial treating inoperable non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients with DC-derived exosomes from IFNy-matured moDCs as maintenance therapy after induction chemotherapy. Here, an increase of NKp30dependent NK cell function was observed, although NKp30 expression itself was not increased on patients' NK cells. Interestingly, NKp30-dependent function was associated with longer progression-free survival and with BAG6 expression, the ligand for NKp30, on the final DC-derived exosomes product (104). Taken together, DC-derived exosomes have the potential to induce NK cell proliferation and activation in vivo and in vitro. In addition, they have the unique property to resist the immunosuppressive milieu of the TME and to easily reach various compartments without the need of chemokinedependent recruitment, making them an interesting option to manipulate NK-DC interaction within the TME.

Blockade of Immune Checkpoint (ICP) Receptors

One of the major breakthrough in the treatment of tumor patients during the last decade was the introduction of blocking antibodies against immune checkpoint (ICP) receptors, especially against CTLA-4 and PD1, leading to long-term tumor control in melanoma, NSCLC and renal cell carcinoma patients. An important role for ICP receptors during the interaction between NK cells and DCs has been described for PD1, NKG2A and TIGIT.

PD-L1, the ligand for the ICP receptor PD1, is expressed on murine cDC1 and cDC2 (106) as well as on tumor and peripheral cDC and pDC of lung cancer patients (107). Its expression may limit the efficacy of DC vaccination trials, since PD-L1 inhibits proliferation and cytotoxic activity of PD1⁺ T and NK cells, respectively (108). The importance of PD1 expression on NK cells for tumor surveillance was demonstrated within the RMA-S lymphoma mouse model, which rather depends on NK cells controlling tumor growth than T cells. PD1 was strongly upregulated on NK cells within the TME and in draining lymph nodes. PD1 blockade led to a significantly reduced rate of tumor progression, which was not observed when NK cells were previously depleted. Interestingly, only a fraction of the NK cells expressed PD1. These cells were mostly activated NK cells and demonstrated higher functional activity than PD1 negative ones (109). PD1 expression on NK cells has been demonstrated as well in other tumor entities like Kaposi sarcoma (110), digestive cancers (111) and multiple myeloma (112). Using GM-CSF/IL-4 bone marrow-derived DCs (BMDCs) for vaccination in combination with pomalidomide and PD-L1 blockade, a significant tumor growth inhibition within a multiple myeloma mouse model could be achieved (113). Similar results were reported when using vaccination with GM-CSF/IL-4-derived BMDCs together with lenalidomide and PD1 blockade, which resulted in an increased functional activity of T and NK cells as well as a reduction of immunosuppressive cytokines within the TME (114). In addition, pDCs derived from the bone marrow of multiple myeloma patients expressed increased levels of PD-L1 and *in vitro* blockade of PD1 was able to enhance T cell proliferation and NK cell cytotoxicity during co-culture with myeloma-derived pDCs (115).

NKG2A is one of the major ICP receptors on NK cells recognizing the non-classical HLA molecule E (HLA-E) resulting in reduced cytotoxic activity against HLA-E positive target cells. MoDCs are able to upregulate NKG2A expression on NK cells in an IL12p70dependent manner (116, 117). In addition, upon interaction with HLA-E expressing cells, NKG2A⁺ NK cells secreted increased amounts of IL-10 and TGF-ß resulting in reduced activation of moDCs and DC-mediated induction of CD4+CD25+ T reg cells. However, blockade of NKG2A was able to restore the activation of moDCs (118, 119). Currently, various clinical trials are testing NKG2A blockade within tumor patients. The first published and completed phase I/II trial in patients with advanced gynecologic malignancies demonstrated that the treatment was well tolerated, but only achieved a stable disease as maximal response (120). However, in patients with refractory/recurrent squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck, the combination of an anti-NKG2A blocking antibody (monalizumab) together with an approved anti-EGFR antibody (cetuximab) demonstrated a confirmed RECIST (Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors) partial response in 8 of 26 (31%) and a stable disease in 14 of 26 (54%) patients during the interim's analysis (121).

In addition, TIGIT is an inhibitory receptor recognizing the poliovirus receptor (PVR, CD155), such as the activating NK cell receptor DNAM1, but with a higher affinity. Importantly, binding of CD155 on moDCs by TIGIT⁺ T cells resulted in increased IL-10 and reduced IL-12p40 production (122). Interestingly, Flt3L-derived BMDCs derived from CD155⁻/⁻ mice were more sensitive towards NK cell killing than Flt3L-derived BMDCs from WT mice indicating a potential role for the CD155-TIGIT signaling pathway during the interaction of NK cells and DCs (123). Currently, various clinical trials are testing the potential of TIGIT blockade in tumor patients.

CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

We have delineated that functions of DCs and NK cells as well as their interaction with each other are severely compromised within the TME. For this reason, various strategies to counteract immunosuppression within the TME have been discussed here. Although only PD1-PD-L1 blockade and sipuleucel-T have entered daily clinical life until today, further promising treatment options are currently being tested within clinical trials. Importantly, due to the complex and multiple facets of the TME, a combination of distinct treatment approaches will be inevitable to successfully lift immunosuppression from the TME without causing an immediate counter measurement by the tumor.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BJ and EU designed and coordinated the review. BJ, EU, VGe, LH, VGr, HS, and DD wrote the manuscript. All authors agree to be accountable for the content of the work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The laboratory of EU has been supported by the Frankfurt Cancer Institute FCI/DKTK (to EU), by the German Research

REFERENCES

- Amon L, Hatscher L, Heger L, Dudziak D, Lehmann CHK. Harnessing the Complete Repertoire of Conventional Dendritic Cell Functions for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Pharmaceutics* (2020) 12(7):1–80. doi: 10.3390/ pharmaceutics12070663
- Bodder J, Zahan T, van Slooten R, Schreibelt G, de Vries IJM, Florez-Grau G. Harnessing the Cdc1-NK Cross-Talk in the Tumor Microenvironment to Battle Cancer. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:631713. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2020.631713
- Jacobs B, Ullrich E. The Interaction of NK Cells and Dendritic Cells in the Tumor Environment: How to Enforce NK Cell & DC Action Under Immunosuppressive Conditions? *Curr Med Chem* (2012) 19(12):1771–9. doi: 10.2174/092986712800099857
- Bottcher JP, Bonavita E, Chakravarty P, Blees H, Cabeza-Cabrerizo M, Sammicheli S, et al. Nk Cells Stimulate Recruitment of cDC1 Into the Tumor Microenvironment Promoting Cancer Immune Control. *Cell* (2018) 172 (5):1022–1037 e1014. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.01.004
- Peterson EE, Barry KC. The Natural Killer-Dendritic Cell Immune Axis in Anti-Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:621254. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.621254
- Bohn T, Rapp S, Luther N, Klein M, Bruehl TJ, Kojima N, et al. Tumor Immunoevasion Via Acidosis-Dependent Induction of Regulatory Tumor-Associated Macrophages. *Nat Immunol* (2018) 19(12):1319–29. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0226-8
- Hinshaw DC, Shevde LA. The Tumor Microenvironment Innately Modulates Cancer Progression. *Cancer Res* (2019) 79(18):4557–66. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-3962
- Meza Guzman LG, Keating N, Nicholson SE. Natural Killer Cells: Tumor Surveillance and Signaling. *Cancers (Basel)* (2020) 12(4):952. doi: 10.3390/ cancers12040952
- Terme M, Ullrich E, Delahaye NF, Chaput N, Zitvogel L. Natural Killer Cell-Directed Therapies: Moving From Unexpected Results to Successful Strategies. Nat Immunol (2008) 9(5):486–94. doi: 10.1038/ni1580
- Ullrich E, Koch J, Cerwenka A, Steinle A. New Prospects on the NKG2D/ NKG2DL System for Oncology. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2(10):e26097. doi: 10.4161/onci.26097
- Ljunggren HG, Karre K. In Search of the 'Missing Self': MHC Molecules and NK Cell Recognition. *Immunol Today* (1990) 11(7):237–44. doi: 10.1016/ 0167-5699(90)90097-s
- Reindl LM, Albinger N, Bexte T, Muller S, Hartmann J, Ullrich E. Immunotherapy With NK Cells: Recent Developments in Gene Modification Open Up New Avenues. Oncoimmunology (2020) 9 (1):1777651. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2020.1777651
- Sivori S, Vacca P, Del Zotto G, Munari E, Mingari MC, Moretta L. Human NK Cells: Surface Receptors, Inhibitory Checkpoints, and Translational

Foundation DFG (CRC 1292, UL316/5-1), by the German Cancer Aid, the "Alfred & Angelika Gutermuth-Stiftung" and by "Menschen für Kinder e.V.". HS was supported by the DFG (CRC 1292). DD was supported by funding from the German Research Foundation DFG (DU548/5-1, TRR305/1 project B05) and Agency national research (ANR)/German Research Foundation program (DU548/6-1) as well as intramural funds by the IZKF (A80).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First of all, we thank all the patients who participated in the cited clinical trials. In addition, we apologize to all investigators whose scientific contribution and/or clinical trials could not be cited in this review article due to space limitations.

Applications. Cell Mol Immunol (2019) 16(5):430-41. doi: 10.1038/ s41423-019-0206-4

- Lanier LL. Nkg2d Receptor and Its Ligands in Host Defense. Cancer Immunol Res (2015) 3(6):575–82. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0098
- Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic Cells and the Control of Immunity. Nature (1998) 392(6673):245–52. doi: 10.1038/32588
- Steinman RM, Nussenzweig MC. Avoiding Horror Autotoxicus: The Importance of Dendritic Cells in Peripheral T Cell Tolerance. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2002) 99(1):351–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.231606698
- Heidkamp GF LC, Heger L, Baransk A, Hoffmann A, Lühr J, Dudziak D. Functional Specialization of Dendritic Cell Subsets. *Encyclopedia Cell Biol* (*Elsevier*) (2016) 3:588–604. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-394447-4.30076-1
- Amon L, Lehmann CHK, Baranska A, Schoen J, Heger L, Dudziak D. Transcriptional Control of Dendritic Cell Development and Functions. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol* (2019) 349:55–151. doi: 10.1016/bs.ircmb.2019.10.001
- Merad M, Sathe P, Helft J, Miller J, Mortha A. The Dendritic Cell Lineage: Ontogeny and Function of Dendritic Cells and Their Subsets in the Steady State and the Inflamed Setting. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2013) 31:563–604. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074950
- Schaupp L, Muth S, Rogell L, Kofoed-Branzk M, Melchior F, Lienenklaus S, et al. Microbiota-Induced Type I Interferons Instruct a Poised Basal State of Dendritic Cells. *Cell* (2020) 181(5):1080–96.e1019. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2020.04.022
- Ferlazzo G, Pack M, Thomas D, Paludan C, Schmid D, Strowig T, et al. Distinct Roles of IL-12 and IL-15 in Human Natural Killer Cell Activation by Dendritic Cells From Secondary Lymphoid Organs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2004) 101(47):16606–11. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0407522101
- Piqueras B, Connolly J, Freitas H, Palucka AK, Banchereau J. Upon Viral Exposure, Myeloid and Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells Produce 3 Waves of Distinct Chemokines to Recruit Immune Effectors. *Blood* (2006) 107 (7):2613–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-07-2965
- Holmes TD, Wilson EB, Black EV, Benest AV, Vaz C, Tan B, et al. Licensed Human Natural Killer Cells Aid Dendritic Cell Maturation Via TNFSF14/ LIGHT. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2014) 111(52):E5688–5696. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1411072112
- Messlinger H, Sebald H, Heger L, Dudziak D, Bogdan C, Schleicher U. Monocyte-Derived Signals Activate Human Natural Killer Cells in Response to Leishmania Parasites. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:24. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.00024
- Amon L, Lehmann CHK, Heger L, Heidkamp GF, Dudziak D. The Ontogenetic Path of Human Dendritic Cells. *Mol Immunol* (2020) 120:122–9. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2020.02.010
- Heger L, Amon L, Lehmann CHK, Dudziak D. Systems Immunology Approaches for Understanding of Primary Dendritic Cell Subpopulations in the Past, Presence and Future. *Elsevier Inc* (2021) 2:501–10. doi: 10.1016/ B978-0-12-801238-3.11609-5

- Heidkamp GF, Sander J, Lehmann CHK, Heger L, Eissing N, Baranska A, et al. Human Lymphoid Organ Dendritic Cell Identity is Predominantly Dictated by Ontogeny, Not Tissue Microenvironment. *Sci Immunol* (2016) 1 (6):1–17. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aai7677
- Villadangos JA, Young L. Antigen-Presentation Properties of Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells. *Immunity* (2008) 29(3):352-61. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2008.09.002
- Kaisho T. Molecular Mechanisms for Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cell Function and Development. Vaccine (2010) 28(50):8046–7. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.09.025
- Reizis B, Bunin A, Ghosh HS, Lewis KL, Sisirak V. Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells: Recent Progress and Open Questions. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2011) 29:163–83. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101345
- 31. Villani AC, Satija R, Reynolds G, Sarkizova S, Shekhar K, Fletcher J, et al. Single-Cell RNA-seq Reveals New Types of Human Blood Dendritic Cells, Monocytes, and Progenitors. *Science* (2017) 356(6335):eaah4573. doi: 10.1126/science.aah4573
- Caminschi I, Proietto AI, Ahmet F, Kitsoulis S, Shin Teh J, Lo JC, et al. The Dendritic Cell Subtype-Restricted C-type Lectin Clec9A is a Target for Vaccine Enhancement. *Blood* (2008) 112(8):3264–73. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-05-155176
- Huysamen C, Willment JA, Dennehy KM, Brown GD. CLEC9A is a Novel Activation C-type Lectin-Like Receptor Expressed on BDCA3+ Dendritic Cells and a Subset of Monocytes. J Biol Chem (2008) 283(24):16693–701. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M709923200
- Sancho D, Mourao-Sa D, Joffre OP, Schulz O, Rogers NC, Pennington DJ, et al. Tumor Therapy in Mice Via Antigen Targeting to a Novel, DC-restricted C-Type Lectin. J Clin Invest (2008) 118(6):2098–110. doi: 10.1172/JCI34584
- Dorner BG, Dorner MB, Zhou X, Opitz C, Mora A, Guttler S, et al. Selective Expression of the Chemokine Receptor XCR1 on Cross-Presenting Dendritic Cells Determines Cooperation With CD8+ T Cells. *Immunity* (2009) 31(5):823–33. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.08.027
- Contreras V, Urien C, Guiton R, Alexandre Y, Vu Manh TP, Andrieu T, et al. Existence of CD8alpha-like Dendritic Cells With a Conserved Functional Specialization and a Common Molecular Signature in Distant Mammalian Species. J Immunol (2010) 185(6):3313–25. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000824
- Lauterbach H, Bathke B, Gilles S, Traidl-Hoffmann C, Luber CA, Fejer G, et al. Mouse CD8alpha+ Dcs and Human BDCA3+ Dcs are Major Producers of IFN-lambda in Response to Poly IC. J Exp Med (2010) 207(12):2703–17. doi: 10.1084/jem.20092720
- den Haan JM, Lehar SM, Bevan MJ. Cd8(+. But Not CD8(-) Dendritic Cells Cross-Prime Cytotoxic T Cells In Vivo. J Exp Med (2000) 192(12):1685–96. doi: 10.1084/jem.192.12.1685
- Coussens LM, Zitvogel L, Palucka AK. Neutralizing Tumor-Promoting Chronic Inflammation: A Magic Bullet? *Science* (2013) 339(6117):286–91. doi: 10.1126/science.1232227
- Maier B, Leader AM, Chen ST, Tung N, Chang C, LeBerichel J, et al. A Conserved Dendritic-Cell Regulatory Program Limits Antitumour Immunity. *Nature* (2020) 580(7802):257–62. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2134-y
- Bachem A, Guttler S, Hartung E, Ebstein F, Schaefer M, Tannert A, et al. Superior Antigen Cross-Presentation and XCR1 Expression Define Human CD11c+CD141+ Cells as Homologues of Mouse CD8+ Dendritic Cells. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(6):1273–81. doi: 10.1084/jem.20100348
- Jongbloed SL, Kassianos AJ, McDonald KJ, Clark GJ, Ju X, Angel CE, et al. Human CD141+ (Bdca-3)+ Dendritic Cells (Dcs) Represent a Unique Myeloid DC Subset That Cross-Presents Necrotic Cell Antigens. J Exp Med (2010) 207(6):1247–60. doi: 10.1084/jem.20092140
- Poulin LF, Salio M, Griessinger E, Anjos-Afonso F, Craciun L, Chen JL, et al. Characterization of Human DNGR-1+ BDCA3+ Leukocytes as Putative Equivalents of Mouse CD8alpha+ Dendritic Cells. J Exp Med (2010) 207 (6):1261–71. doi: 10.1084/jem.20092618
- 44. Segura E, Durand M, Amigorena S. Similar Antigen Cross-Presentation Capacity and Phagocytic Functions in All Freshly Isolated Human Lymphoid Organ-Resident Dendritic Cells. J Exp Med (2013) 210 (5):1035–47. doi: 10.1084/jem.20121103
- 45. Heger L, Balk S, Luhr JJ, Heidkamp GF, Lehmann CHK, Hatscher L, et al. Clec10a Is a Specific Marker for Human Cd1c(+) Dendritic Cells and Enhances Their Toll-Like Receptor 7/8-Induced Cytokine Secretion. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:744. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00744

- Heger L, Hofer TP, Bigley V, de Vries IJM, Dalod M, Dudziak D, et al. Subsets of CD1c(+) Dcs: Dendritic Cell Versus Monocyte Lineage. Front Immunol (2020) 11:559166. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.559166
- Brown CC, Gudjonson H, Pritykin Y, Deep D, Lavallee VP, Mendoza A, et al. Transcriptional Basis of Mouse and Human Dendritic Cell Heterogeneity. *Cell* (2019) 179(4):846–63.e824. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.09.035
- Dutertre CA, Becht E, Irac SE, Khalilnezhad A, Narang V, Khalilnezhad S, et al. Single-Cell Analysis of Human Mononuclear Phagocytes Reveals Subset-Defining Markers and Identifies Circulating Inflammatory Dendritic Cells. *Immunity* (2019) 51(3):573–589 e578. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2019.08.008
- Bourdely P, Anselmi G, Vaivode K, Ramos RN, Missolo-Koussou Y, Hidalgo S, et al. Transcriptional and Functional Analysis of CD1c(+) Human Dendritic Cells Identifies a CD163(+) Subset Priming Cd8(+)Cd103(+) T Cells. *Immunity* (2020) 53(2):335–352 e338. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.06.002
- Gao Y, Nish SA, Jiang R, Hou L, Licona-Limon P, Weinstein JS, et al. Control of T Helper 2 Responses by Transcription Factor IRF4-dependent Dendritic Cells. *Immunity* (2013) 39(4):722–32. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.028
- Persson EK, Uronen-Hansson H, Semmrich M, Rivollier A, Hagerbrand K, Marsal J, et al. IRF4 Transcription-Factor-Dependent CD103(+)CD11b(+) Dendritic Cells Drive Mucosal T Helper 17 Cell Differentiation. *Immunity* (2013) 38(5):958–69. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.03.009
- Schlitzer A, McGovern N, Teo P, Zelante T, Atarashi K, Low D, et al. IRF4 Transcription Factor-Dependent CD11b+ Dendritic Cells in Human and Mouse Control Mucosal IL-17 Cytokine Responses. *Immunity* (2013) 38 (5):970–83. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.04.011
- Yamazaki S, Dudziak D, Heidkamp GF, Fiorese C, Bonito AJ, Inaba K, et al. Cd8+ CD205+ Splenic Dendritic Cells are Specialized to Induce Foxp3+ Regulatory T Cells. J Immunol (2008) 181(10):6923–33. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.181.10.6923
- Fernandez NC, Lozier A, Flament C, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Bellet D, Suter M, et al. Dendritic Cells Directly Trigger NK Cell Functions: Cross-Talk Relevant in Innate Anti-Tumor Immune Responses In Vivo. *Nat Med* (1999) 5(4):405– 11. doi: 10.1038/7403
- Gerosa F, Baldani-Guerra B, Nisii C, Marchesini V, Carra G, Trinchieri G. Reciprocal Activating Interaction Between Natural Killer Cells and Dendritic Cells. J Exp Med (2002) 195(3):327–33. doi: 10.1084/jem.20010938
- Piccioli D, Sbrana S, Melandri E, Valiante NM. Contact-Dependent Stimulation and Inhibition of Dendritic Cells by Natural Killer Cells. *J Exp Med* (2002) 195(3):335–41. doi: 10.1084/jem.20010934
- Borg C, Jalil A, Laderach D, Maruyama K, Wakasugi H, Charrier S, et al. NK Cell Activation by Dendritic Cells (Dcs) Requires the Formation of a Synapse Leading to IL-12 Polarization in Dcs. *Blood* (2004) 104(10):3267– 75. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-01-0380
- Ziblat A, Nunez SY, Raffo Iraolagoitia XL, Spallanzani RG, Torres NI, Sierra JM, et al. Interleukin (IL)-23 Stimulates IFN-Gamma Secretion by CD56 (bright) Natural Killer Cells and Enhances Il-18-Driven Dendritic Cells Activation. Front Immunol (2017) 8:1959. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01959
- Ziblat A, Domaica CI, Spallanzani RG, Iraolagoitia XL, Rossi LE, Avila DE, et al. Il-27 Stimulates Human NK-cell Effector Functions and Primes NK Cells for IL-18 Responsiveness. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45(1):192–202. doi: 10.1002/eji.201444699
- Puttur F, Francozo M, Solmaz G, Bueno C, Lindenberg M, Gohmert M, et al. Conventional Dendritic Cells Confer Protection Against Mouse Cytomegalovirus Infection Via TLR9 and MyD88 Signaling. *Cell Rep* (2016) 17(4):1113–27. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.09.055
- Della Chiesa M, Romagnani C, Thiel A, Moretta L, Moretta A. Multidirectional Interactions are Bridging Human NK Cells With Plasmacytoid and Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells During Innate Immune Responses. *Blood* (2006) 108(12):3851–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-02-004028
- Lucas M, Schachterle W, Oberle K, Aichele P, Diefenbach A. Dendritic Cells Prime Natural Killer Cells by Trans-Presenting Interleukin 15. *Immunity* (2007) 26(4):503–17. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.03.006
- Luu TT, Ganesan S, Wagner AK, Sarhan D, Meinke S, Garbi N, et al. Independent Control of Natural Killer Cell Responsiveness and Homeostasis At Steady-State by CD11c+ Dendritic Cells. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:37996. doi: 10.1038/srep37996

- Gorvel L, Korenfeld D, Tung T, Klechevsky E. Dendritic Cell-Derived IL-32alpha: A Novel Inhibitory Cytokine of NK Cell Function. J Immunol (2017) 199(4):1290–300. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601477
- Nicolai CJ, Wolf N, Chang IC, Kirn G, Marcus A, Ndubaku CO, et al. NK Cells Mediate Clearance of CD8(+) T Cell-Resistant Tumors in Response to STING Agonists. *Sci Immunol* (2020) 5(45):eaaz2738. doi: 10.1126/ sciimmunol.aaz2738
- 66. Finch DK, Stolberg VR, Ferguson J, Alikaj H, Kady MR, Richmond BW, et al. Lung Dendritic Cells Drive Natural Killer Cytotoxicity in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Via IL-15Ralpha. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2018) 198(9):1140–50. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201712-2513OC
- Ferlazzo G, Tsang ML, Moretta L, Melioli G, Steinman RM, Munz C. Human Dendritic Cells Activate Resting Natural Killer (NK) Cells and are Recognized Via the NKp30 Receptor by Activated NK Cells. J Exp Med (2002) 195(3):343–51. doi: 10.1084/jem.20011149
- Pende D, Castriconi R, Romagnani P, Spaggiari GM, Marcenaro S, Dondero A, et al. Expression of the DNAM-1 Ligands, Nectin-2 (CD112) and Poliovirus Receptor (CD155), on Dendritic Cells: Relevance for Natural Killer-Dendritic Cell Interaction. *Blood* (2006) 107(5):2030–6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-07-2696
- 69. Della Chiesa M, Vitale M, Carlomagno S, Ferlazzo G, Moretta L, Moretta A. The Natural Killer Cell-Mediated Killing of Autologous Dendritic Cells is Confined to a Cell Subset Expressing CD94/NKG2A, But Lacking Inhibitory Killer Ig-like Receptors. *Eur J Immunol* (2003) 33(6):1657–66. doi: 10.1002/ eji.200323986
- Walwyn-Brown K, Guldevall K, Saeed M, Pende D, Onfelt B, MacDonald AS, et al. Human NK Cells Lyse Th2-Polarizing Dendritic Cells Via NKp30 and DNAM-1. J Immunol (2018) 201(7):2028–41. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1800475
- Vitale M, Della Chiesa M, Carlomagno S, Pende D, Arico M, Moretta L, et al. NK-Dependent DC Maturation is Mediated by TNFalpha and IFNgamma Released Upon Engagement of the NKp30 Triggering Receptor. *Blood* (2005) 106(2):566–71. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-10-4035
- 72. Ott M, Avendano-Guzman E, Ullrich E, Dreyer C, Strauss J, Harden M, et al. Laquinimod, a Prototypic quinoline-3-carboxamide and Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Agonist, Utilizes a CD155-mediated Natural Killer/Dendritic Cell Interaction to Suppress CNS Autoimmunity. J Neuroinflamm (2019) 16 (1):49. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1437-0
- 73. Wong E, Xu RH, Rubio D, Lev A, Stotesbury C, Fang M, et al. Migratory Dendritic Cells, Group 1 Innate Lymphoid Cells, and Inflammatory Monocytes Collaborate to Recruit Nk Cells to the Virus-Infected Lymph Node. *Cell Rep* (2018) 24(1):142–54. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.06.004
- 74. Chong WP, van Panhuys N, Chen J, Silver PB, Jittayasothorn Y, Mattapallil MJ, et al. Nk-DC Crosstalk Controls the Autopathogenic Th17 Response Through an Innate IFN-gamma-IL-27 Axis. J Exp Med (2015) 212(10):1739– 52. doi: 10.1084/jem.20141678
- 75. Mailliard RB, Son YI, Redlinger R, Coates PT, Giermasz A, Morel PA, et al. Dendritic Cells Mediate NK Cell Help for Th1 and CTL Responses: Two-Signal Requirement for the Induction of NK Cell Helper Function. *J Immunol* (2003) 171(5):2366–73. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.5.2366
- Martin-Fontecha A, Thomsen LL, Brett S, Gerard C, Lipp M, Lanzavecchia A, et al. Induced Recruitment of NK Cells to Lymph Nodes Provides IFN-gamma for T(H)1 Priming. *Nat Immunol* (2004) 5(12):1260–5. doi: 10.1038/ni1138
- Zanoni I, Foti M, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Granucci F. TLR-Dependent Activation Stimuli Associated With Th1 Responses Confer NK Cell Stimulatory Capacity to Mouse Dendritic Cells. J Immunol (2005) 175 (1):286–92. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.1.286
- Zhang C, Liu Y. Targeting NK Cell Checkpoint Receptors or Molecules for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1295. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2020.01295
- Fu C, Jiang A. Dendritic Cells and CD8 T Cell Immunity in Tumor Microenvironment. Front Immunol (2018) 9:3059. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.03059
- Lucarini V, Melaiu O, Tempora P, D'Amico S, Locatelli F, Fruci D. Dendritic Cells: Behind the Scenes of T-Cell Infiltration Into the Tumor Microenvironment. *Cancers (Basel)* (2021) 13(3):433. doi: 10.3390/ cancers13030433
- Allen F, Bobanga ID, Rauhe P, Barkauskas D, Teich N, Tong C, et al. CCL3 Augments Tumor Rejection and Enhances CD8(+) T Cell Infiltration

Through NK and CD103(+) Dendritic Cell Recruitment Via Ifngamma. Oncoimmunology (2018) 7(3):e1393598. doi: 10.1080/2162402X. 2017.1393598

- Wculek SK, Amores-Iniesta J, Conde-Garrosa R, Khouili SC, Melero I, Sancho D. Effective Cancer Immunotherapy by Natural Mouse Conventional Type-1 Dendritic Cells Bearing Dead Tumor Antigen. *J Immunother Cancer* (2019) 7(1):100. doi: 10.1186/s40425-019-0565-5
- McColl SR. Chemokines and Dendritic Cells: A Crucial Alliance. Immunol Cell Biol (2002) 80(5):489–96. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1711.2002.01113.x
- Barry KC, Hsu J, Broz ML, Cueto FJ, Binnewies M, Combes AJ, et al. A Natural Killer-Dendritic Cell Axis Defines Checkpoint Therapy-Responsive Tumor Microenvironments. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(8):1178–91. doi: 10.1038/ s41591-018-0085-8
- Terra M, Oberkampf M, Fayolle C, Rosenbaum P, Guillerey C, Dadaglio G, et al. Tumor-Derived TGFbeta Alters the Ability of Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells to Respond to Innate Immune Signaling. *Cancer Res* (2018) 78 (11):3014–26. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-2719
- Van Elssen CH, Vanderlocht J, Oth T, Senden-Gijsbers BL, Germeraad WT, Bos GM. Inflammation-Restraining Effects of Prostaglandin E2 on Natural Killer-Dendritic Cell (NK-DC) Interaction are Imprinted During DC Maturation. *Blood* (2011) 118(9):2473–82. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-09-307835
- Jiang N, Qiao G, Wang X, Morse MA, Gwin WR, Zhou L, et al. Dendritic Cell/Cytokine-Induced Killer Cell Immunotherapy Combined With S-1 in Patients With Advanced Pancreatic Cancer: A Prospective Study. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23(17):5066–73. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-0492
- 88. Fucikova J, Podrazil M, Jarolim L, Bilkova P, Hensler M, Becht E, et al. Phase I/II Trial of Dendritic Cell-Based Active Cellular Immunotherapy With DCVAC/ PCa in Patients With Rising PSA After Primary Prostatectomy or Salvage Radiotherapy for the Treatment of Prostate Cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother (2018) 67(1):89–100. doi: 10.1007/s00262-017-2068-x
- Liau LM, Ashkan K, Tran DD, Campian JL, Trusheim JE, Cobbs CS, et al. Correction to: First Results on Survival From a Large Phase 3 Clinical Trial of an Autologous Dendritic Cell Vaccine in Newly Diagnosed Glioblastoma. *J Transl Med* (2018) 16(1):179. doi: 10.1186/s12967-018-1552-1
- Higano CS, Schellhammer PF, Small EJ, Burch PA, Nemunaitis J, Yuh L, et al. Integrated Data From 2 Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Phase 3 Trials of Active Cellular Immunotherapy With Sipuleucel-T in Advanced Prostate Cancer. *Cancer* (2009) 115(16):3670–9. doi: 10.1002/cncr.24429
- Kalinski P, Hilkens CM, Snijders A, Snijdewint FG, Kapsenberg ML. Il-12deficient Dendritic Cells, Generated in the Presence of Prostaglandin E2, Promote Type 2 Cytokine Production in Maturing Human Naive T Helper Cells. J Immunol (1997) 159(1):28–35.
- Pfeiffer IA, Hoyer S, Gerer KF, Voll RE, Knippertz I, Guckel E, et al. Triggering of NF-kappaB in Cytokine-Matured Human DCs Generates Superior DCs for T-cell Priming in Cancer Immunotherapy. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44(11):3413–28. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344417
- Bosch NC, Voll RE, Voskens CJ, Gross S, Seliger B, Schuler G, et al. NF-Kappab Activation Triggers NK-cell Stimulation by Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells. *Ther Adv Med Oncol* (2019) 11:1758835919891622. doi: 10.1177/1758835919891622
- 94. Van den Bergh J, Willemen Y, Lion E, Van Acker H, De Reu H, Anguille S, et al. Transpresentation of interleukin-15 by IL-15/IL-15Ralpha mRNAengineered Human Dendritic Cells Boosts Antitumoral Natural Killer Cell Activity. Oncotarget (2015) 6(42):44123–33. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.6536
- 95. Willemen Y, Van den Bergh JM, Lion E, Anguille S, Roelandts VA, Van Acker HH, et al. Engineering Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells to Secrete Interferon-Alpha Enhances Their Ability to Promote Adaptive and Innate Anti-Tumor Immune Effector Functions. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2015) 64(7):831–42. doi: 10.1007/s00262-015-1688-2
- 96. van Beek JJ, Gorris MA, Skold AE, Hatipoglu I, Van Acker HH, Smits EL, et al. Human Blood Myeloid and Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells Cross Activate Each Other and Synergize in Inducing NK Cell Cytotoxicity. *Oncoimmunology* (2016) 5(10):e1227902. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1227902
- Van Acker HH, Beretta O, Anguille S, De Caluwe L, Papagna A, Van den Bergh JM, et al. Desirable Cytolytic Immune Effector Cell Recruitment by interleukin-15 Dendritic Cells. Oncotarget (2017) 8(8):13652–65. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.14622

- 98. Anguille S, Van Acker HH, Van den Bergh J, Willemen Y, Goossens H, Van Tendeloo VF, et al. Interleukin-15 Dendritic Cells Harness Nk Cell Cytotoxic Effector Function in a Contact- and IL-15-Dependent Manner. *PloS One* (2015) 10(5):e0123340. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0123340
- Van den Bergh JM, Guerti K, Willemen Y, Lion E, Cools N, Goossens H, et al. HPV Vaccine Stimulates Cytotoxic Activity of Killer Dendritic Cells and Natural Killer Cells Against HPV-positive Tumour Cells. J Cell Mol Med (2014) 18(7):1372–80. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.12284
- 100. Pitt JM, Andre F, Amigorena S, Soria JC, Eggermont A, Kroemer G, et al. Dendritic Cell-Derived Exosomes for Cancer Therapy. J Clin Invest (2016) 126(4):1224–32. doi: 10.1172/JCI81137
- Pitt JM, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Extracellular Vesicles: Masters of Intercellular Communication and Potential Clinical Interventions. J Clin Invest (2016) 126(4):1139–43. doi: 10.1172/JCI87316
- 102. Escudier B, Dorval T, Chaput N, Andre F, Caby MP, Novault S, et al. Vaccination of Metastatic Melanoma Patients With Autologous Dendritic Cell (DC) Derived-Exosomes: Results of Thefirst Phase I Clinical Trial. *J Transl Med* (2005) 3(1):10. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-3-10
- 103. Morse MA, Garst J, Osada T, Khan S, Hobeika A, Clay TM, et al. A Phase I Study of Dexosome Immunotherapy in Patients With Advanced non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. J Transl Med (2005) 3(1):9. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-3-9
- 104. Besse B, Charrier M, Lapierre V, Dansin E, Lantz O, Planchard D, et al. Dendritic Cell-Derived Exosomes as Maintenance Immunotherapy After First Line Chemotherapy in NSCLC. *Oncoimmunology* (2016) 5(4): e1071008. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1071008
- 105. Viaud S, Terme M, Flament C, Taieb J, Andre F, Novault S, et al. Dendritic Cell-Derived Exosomes Promote Natural Killer Cell Activation and Proliferation: A Role for NKG2D Ligands and IL-15Ralpha. *PloS One* (2009) 4(3):e4942. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004942
- 106. Peng Q, Qiu X, Zhang Z, Zhang S, Zhang Y, Liang Y, et al. Pd-L1 on Dendritic Cells Attenuates T Cell Activation and Regulates Response to Immune Checkpoint Blockade. Nat Commun (2020) 11(1):4835. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-18570-x
- 107. Mayoux M, Roller A, Pulko V, Sammicheli S, Chen S, Sum E, et al. Dendritic Cells Dictate Responses to PD-L1 Blockade Cancer Immunotherapy. *Sci Transl Med* (2020) 12(534):eaav7431. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aav7431
- 108. Martinez VG, Hidalgo L, Valencia J, Hernandez-Lopez C, Entrena A, del Amo BG, et al. Autocrine Activation of Canonical BMP Signaling Regulates PD-L1 and PD-L2 Expression in Human Dendritic Cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44(4):1031–8. doi: 10.1002/eji.201343693
- 109. Hsu J, Hodgins JJ, Marathe M, Nicolai CJ, Bourgeois-Daigneault MC, Trevino TN, et al. Contribution of NK Cells to Immunotherapy Mediated by PD-1/PD-L1 Blockade. J Clin Invest (2018) 128(10):4654–68. doi: 10.1172/JCI99317
- 110. Beldi-Ferchiou A, Lambert M, Dogniaux S, Vely F, Vivier E, Olive D, et al. PD-1 Mediates Functional Exhaustion of Activated NK Cells in Patients With Kaposi Sarcoma. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(45):72961–77. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.12150
- 111. Liu Y, Cheng Y, Xu Y, Wang Z, Du X, Li C, et al. Increased Expression of Programmed Cell Death Protein 1 on NK Cells Inhibits NK-cell-mediated Anti-Tumor Function and Indicates Poor Prognosis in Digestive Cancers. Oncogene (2017) 36(44):6143–53. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.209
- 112. Benson DMJr., Bakan CE, Mishra A, Hofmeister CC, Efebera Y, Becknell B, et al. The PD-1/PD-L1 Axis Modulates the Natural Killer Cell Versus Multiple Myeloma Effect: A Therapeutic Target for CT-011, a Novel Monoclonal anti-PD-1 Antibody. *Blood* (2010) 116(13):2286–94. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-02-271874
- 113. Chu TH, Vo MC, Park HS, Lakshmi TJ, Jung SH, Kim HJ, et al. Potent Anti-Myeloma Efficacy of Dendritic Cell Therapy in Combination With Pomalidomide and Programmed Death-Ligand 1 Blockade in a Preclinical

Model of Multiple Myeloma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2021) 70(1):31-45. doi: 10.1007/s00262-020-02654-0

- 114. Vo MC, Jung SH, Chu TH, Lee HJ, Lakshmi TJ, Park HS, et al. Lenalidomide and Programmed Death-1 Blockade Synergistically Enhances the Effects of Dendritic Cell Vaccination in a Model of Murine Myeloma. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1370. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01370
- 115. Ray A, Das DS, Song Y, Richardson P, Munshi NC, Chauhan D, et al. Targeting PD1-PDL1 Immune Checkpoint in Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cell Interactions With T Cells, Natural Killer Cells and Multiple Myeloma Cells. *Leukemia* (2015) 29(6):1441–4. doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.11
- 116. Curran SA, Romano E, Kennedy MG, Hsu KC, Young JW. Phenotypic and Functional Activation of Hyporesponsive KIRnegNKG2Aneg Human NKcell Precursors Requires IL12p70 Provided by Poly(I:C)-matured Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2(10):1000–10. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0054-T
- 117. Tognarelli S, Wirsching S, von Metzler I, Rais B, Jacobs B, Serve H, et al. Enhancing the Activation and Releasing the Brakes: A Double Hit Strategy to Improve Nk Cell Cytotoxicity Against Multiple Myeloma. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2743. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02743
- 118. Jinushi M, Takehara T, Tatsumi T, Kanto T, Miyagi T, Suzuki T, et al. Negative Regulation of NK Cell Activities by Inhibitory Receptor CD94/ NKG2A Leads to Altered NK Cell-Induced Modulation of Dendritic Cell Functions in Chronic Hepatitis C Virus Infection. J Immunol (2004) 173 (10):6072–81. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.10.6072
- 119. Jinushi M, Takehara T, Tatsumi T, Yamaguchi S, Sakamori R, Hiramatsu N, et al. Natural Killer Cell and Hepatic Cell Interaction Via NKG2A Leads to Dendritic Cell-Mediated Induction of CD4 Cd25 T Cells With PD-1dependent Regulatory Activities. *Immunology* (2007) 120(1):73–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2006.02479.x
- 120. Tinker AV, Hirte HW, Provencher D, Butler M, Ritter H, Tu D, et al. Dose-Ranging and Cohort-Expansion Study of Monalizumab (IPH2201) in Patients With Advanced Gynecologic Malignancies: A Trial of the Canadian Cancer Trials Group (Cctg): Ind221. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25 (20):6052–60. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-0298
- 121. Andre P, Denis C, Soulas C, Bourbon-Caillet C, Lopez J, Arnoux T, et al. Anti-NKG2A Mab Is a Checkpoint Inhibitor That Promotes Anti-Tumor Immunity by Unleashing Both T and NK Cells. *Cell* (2018) 175(7):1731– 43.e1713. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.10.014
- 122. Yu X, Harden K, Gonzalez LC, Francesco M, Chiang E, Irving B, et al. The Surface Protein TIGIT Suppresses T Cell Activation by Promoting the Generation of Mature Immunoregulatory Dendritic Cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(1):48–57. doi: 10.1038/ni.1674
- 123. Smith LE, Olszewski MA, Georgoudaki AM, Wagner AK, Hagglof T, Karlsson MC, et al. Sensitivity of Dendritic Cells to NK-mediated Lysis Depends on the Inflammatory Environment and is Modulated by CD54/ CD226-driven Interactions. *J Leukoc Biol* (2016) 100(4):781–9. doi: 10.1189/ jlb.3A0615-271RR

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Jacobs, Gebel, Heger, Grèze, Schild, Dudziak and Ullrich. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



пП

IMPACT METRICS

 \bigcirc

FOLLOW US



EXTENSIVE PROMOTION Marketing and promotion of impactful research

DIGITAL PUBLISHING

90

FAST PUBLICATION

TRANSPARENT PEER-REVIEW

LOOP RESEARCH NETWORK Our network increases your article's readership